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PART I
ITEM 1.

Business

(a) General Development of Business
In 2003, Myers Industries, Inc. (the Company) had net sales of $661.1 million, an increase of 9 percent from the $608.0 million in 2002.
Despite the increased sales, 2003 net income of $16.3 million declined 32 percent from the $24 million in 2002 as higher raw material costs
and competitive pricing pressures combined to reduce profitability.
For the quarter ended December 31, 2003, net sales were a record $176.5 million, an increase of 11 percent from the prior year. Net income
for the quarter was $4.4 million, an increase of 8 percent from the prior year.
In February 2004, the Company entered into a new $225 million unsecured revolving credit facility. Initial borrowings under the new credit
facility were used to refinance the Company’s existing multi-currency loan agreement which was due to expire in February 2005. In December
2003, the Company issued $100 million in Senior Unsecured Notes consisting of $65 million of 6.08 percent, 7 year notes and $35 million of
6.81 percent, ten year notes. Proceeds from the issuance of these notes were used to repay bank debt outstanding at that time. During 2003 total
debt was reduced by $17.4 million and debt as a percentage of total capitalization was reduced to 42 percent at December 31, 2003 compared to
48 percent at the end of 2002.
(b) Financial Information About Industry Segments
The response to this section of Item 1 is contained in the Industry Segments footnote of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
under Item 8 of this report.
(c) Description of Business
The Company conducts its business activities in two segments, manufacturing and distribution. For the fiscal year ended December 31,
2003, the manufacturing segment generated approximately 77% of sales, while the distribution segment contributed approximately 23% of
sales.
Our manufacturing segment designs, manufactures, and markets a variety of plastic and rubber products, ranging from plastic material
handling containers and storage boxes to rubber OEM parts and tire repair materials. These products are made through a variety of molding
processes in 25 facilities located throughout North America and Europe.
Our distribution segment is engaged in the distribution of tools, equipment, and supplies used for tire and wheel service and automotive
underbody repair. The distribution segment operates through 40 branches located in major cities throughout the United States and in foreign
countries through export and businesses in which we hold an equity interest.
Our Manufacturing Segment
In our manufacturing segment, we design, manufacture, and market more than 11,000 products from plastic and rubber. We currently
operate 18 manufacturing facilities in the United States, six in Western Europe and one in Canada. Our manufactured plastic and rubber
products are sold nationally and internationally by a direct sales force and through independent sales representatives.
Key Manufactured Product Areas
• Reusable Plastic Material Handling Containers
• Plastic Planters
• Plastic Storage & Organization Products
• Plastic Storage Tanks
• Plastic and Metal Material Handling Carts
• Rubber OEM & Replacement Parts
1
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• Tire Repair & Retreading Products
• Custom Rubber Sheet Stock
• Reflective Highway Marking Products
Product Brands
• Buckhorn
• Akro-Mils
• Allibert Équipement
• Ameri-Kart
• Buckhorn Rubber
• Dillen
• Listo
• Patch Rubber
• raaco
Manufacturing Capabilities
• Plastic & Rubber Injection Molding
• Compression Molding
• Winding Extrusion
• Vacuum Forming
• Rotational Molding
• Rubber Compounding, Calendering & Extrusion
• Rubber-to-Metal Bonding
• Blow Molding
• Metal Forming
Representative Markets
• Agriculture
• Automotive
• Chemical
• Construction
• Consumer
• Food Processing & Distribution
• General Industrial
• Healthcare
• Horticulture
• Marine/ Watercraft
• Recreational Vehicle
• Telecommunications
• Tire Repair & Retread
• Transportation
• Waste Collection
• Water Control
Our largest product line is reusable plastic material handling containers. These products help customers efficiently and economically move
products and reduce solid waste in closed-loop distribution systems. We are one of the leading manufacturers of these material handling
products, which include collapsible bulk boxes, hand-held containers and trays, small parts bins, pallets, and a variety of other specialty items.
We believe that we are one of the few manufacturers positioned to supply material handling product solutions to customers worldwide.
Our material handling products are utilized for shipping and handling a wide range of industrial and commercial items, including
automotive, appliance, and electronic components; food products such as meat, poultry, and produce; bulk seed and feed; health and beauty
care products; apparel and textiles; and hardware. These products deliver specific cost-saving and productivity benefits to our customers. At the
Saturn plant in
2
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Springhill, Tennessee, our containers and pallets are reused hundreds of times to carry fasteners and bumpers from suppliers directly to the
assembly area, reducing the scrap rate and eliminating costly solid waste from cardboard boxes and wood pallets. Chicken delivered to KFC
restaurants across the United States comes in the reusable container that we pioneered; the container better protects the chicken during transport
and is more sanitary than cardboard boxes. Our plastic bins are used on assembly lines, at distribution centers and in retail outlets throughout
the world to organize small parts and other items.
Growers, retailers, and consumers use our plastic planters and trays to create plant and floral displays. We manufacture a broad line of
indoor/outdoor decorative planters, pots, bowls, window boxes, urns, and grower containers and trays; we are also North America’s largest
producer of hanging baskets. These items serve the needs of the grower at greenhouses and nurseries, as well as retail garden centers, home
centers, and mass merchandisers such as Target®, Kmart®, and Wal-Mart®.
For consumers, we adapt storage solutions for industry to home and office settings. Our popular KeepBox® containers help consumers
organize everything from holiday decorations to school supplies. Storage organizers and cabinets provide efficient storage for small items and
accessories in the home workshop or at the office. Hobbyists and craftsmen use our popular CraftDesign® products for efficient, portable
storage of craft, sewing, and art supplies.
Part of our product line is plastic storage tanks used for storage and transport of a wide variety of solid and liquid materials. These tanks are
produced in the United States using rotational molding and in Europe with both winding extrusion and rotational molding. Our extruded tanks
are primarily used for storage in industries such as chemical and water treatment and are an effective alternative to stainless steel tanks, giving
customers the same performance for a lower price. For industries such as agriculture, plastics, and food, our roto-molded tanks are commonly
used as intermediate bulk containers (IBCs), transporting material from one location to another or as a temporary storage vessel; these uses are
often “returnable” applications, in which the tanks can be reused for multiple round trips in a closed loop distribution system.
We manufacture plastic carts used in material handling and waste collection. Manufacturers apply our carts and dumpers for in-plant
transport of products and scrap. Over 700 municipalities use the carts for residential waste collection.
From seals for water supply lines to hood latches and air hose assemblies for trucks, our engineered, molded OEM and replacement parts
meet precise specifications for the waterworks, agriculture, transportation, and civil construction industries. Specialized manufacturing
expertise enables us to create a range of specific-performance custom rubber products, including rubber-to-metal bonded items used in marine
and maintenance equipment, water control, and environmental applications.
More than 50 years ago we started making tire patches. We now offer the most comprehensive line of tire repair and retreading products in
the United States. To service the more than 221 million damaged tires that occur each year, we make all the materials and products customers
need to perform safe and profitable tire repairs: the plug that fills a puncture, the cement that seats the plug, the tire innerliner patch, and the
final sealing compound. Our products are used to repair the smallest puncture in passenger tires and the most severe tear in large, off-the-road
tires.
Our calendered rubber sheet stock is used in many applications. The telecommunications industry splices cabling with our specialty tapes.
In the mining industry, our materials are used to create linings for material handling conveyor systems. Another of our custom sheet stocks is
used as the base material to produce the world’s top-selling line of golf grips, “Golf Pride®”.
We have applied our rubber calendering and compounding expertise to create reflective marking products for the road repair and
construction industry. Transportation professionals use our reflective tape striping, symbols, and legends for marking roadways, intersections,
and hazardous areas. Our tape stock is easier to apply, more reflective, and longer lasting than paint. We make the tape in both temporary and
permanent grades.
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The Company’s manufacturing business is dependent upon outside suppliers for raw materials, principally polyethylene, polypropylene,
polystyrene and synthetic and natural rubber. We believe that the loss of any one supplier or group of suppliers would not have a materially
adverse effect on our business, since in most instances identical or similar materials are readily obtainable from other suppliers.
Our Distribution Segment
In our distribution segment, we are the largest distributor of tools, equipment, and supplies to tire, wheel, and undervehicle service
specialists in the United States. We buy and sell nearly 10,000 different tool, equipment, and supply items ranging from computerized
alignment systems and tire balancers to tire valves and small hand tools.
Key Distribution Products
• Tire Valves & Accessories
• Tire Changing & Balancing Equipment
• Lifts & Alignment Equipment
• Service Equipment & Tools
• Tire Repair/ Retread Equipment & Supplies
Product Brand
• Myers Tire Supply
Capabilities
• International Distribution
• Broad Sales Coverage
• Personalized Service
• Customer Product Training
• National Accounts
Representative Markets
• Retail Tire Dealers
• Truck Tire Dealers
• Auto Dealers
• Commercial Auto & Truck Fleets
• Tire Retreaders
• General Repair Facilities
Within the continental United States, we provide widespread distribution and sales coverage from 40 branches in 31 states. Each branch
operates as a profit center and is staffed by a branch manager, salespeople, office, warehouse, and delivery personnel.
Internationally, we have five wholly owned warehouse distributors located in Canada and Central America. We also own interests in
several foreign warehouse distributors. Sales personnel from our Akron, Ohio headquarters cover the Far East, Middle East, South Pacific and
South American territories.
We buy products from top suppliers to ensure quality is delivered to our customers. Each of the brand-name products we sell is associated
with superior performance in its respective area. Some of these leading brands include: Chicago Pneumatic air tools; Hennessy tire changing,
balancing, and alignment equipment; Corghi tire changers and balancers; Ingersoll-Rand air service equipment; John Bean Co. tire balancing
and changing equipment; our own Patch Rubber brand tire patches, cements, and repair supplies; and Rotary lifts and related equipment.
An essential element of our success in the distribution segment is our nearly 170 sales representatives, who deliver personalized service on
a local level. Customers rely on Myers’ sales representatives to introduce the latest tools and technologies and provide training in new product
features and applications. Representatives also teach the proper use of diagnostic equipment, and present on-site workshops demonstrating
industry approved techniques for tire repair and undercar service.
4
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Competition
Competition in the manufacturing segment is substantial and varied in form and size from manufacturers of similar products and of other
products which can be readily substituted for those produced by the Company. Competition in the distribution segment is generally from local
and regional businesses.
Employees
As of December 31, 2003 the Company had a total of 4,218 full-time and part-time employees. Of these employees, 3,532 were engaged in
the manufacturing segment, 589 were employed in the distribution segment and 97 were employed at the Company’s corporate offices.
Approximately 10% of the Company’s employees are members of unions, however, in certain countries in which the Company operates union
membership is not known due to confidentiality laws. The Company believes it has a good relationship with its union employees.
(d)

Financial Information About Foreign and Domestic Operations and Export Sales

The Response to this section of Item 1 is contained in the Industry Segments footnote of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
under Item 8 of this Report.
ITEM 2.

Properties

The following table sets forth by segment certain information with respect to facilities owned by the Registrant:
Distribution

Location

Akron, Ohio
Akron, Ohio
Akron, Ohio
Pomona, California
Englewood, Colorado
San Antonio, Texas
Phoenix, Arizona
Akron, Ohio
Houston, Texas
Indianapolis, Indiana
Cincinnati, Ohio
York, Pennsylvania
Atlanta, Georgia
Minneapolis, Minnesota
Charlotte, North Carolina
Syracuse, New York
Franklin Park, Illinois

Approximate
Floor Space
(Square Feet)

129,000
60,000
31,000
17,700
9,500
4,500
8,200
8,000
7,900
7,800
7,500
7,400
7,000
5,500
5,100
4,800
4,400
5

Approximate
Land Area
(Acres)

8
5
2
1
1
1
1
1
1
2
1
3
1
1
1
1
1

Use

Executive offices and warehousing
Warehousing
Warehousing
Sales and distribution
Sales and distribution
Sales and distribution
Sales and distribution
Leased to non-affiliated party
Sales and distribution
Sales and distribution
Sales and distribution
Sales and distribution
Sales and distribution
Sales and distribution
Sales and distribution
Sales and distribution
Sales and distribution
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Manufacturing

Location

Approximate
Floor Space
(Square Feet)

Approximate
Land Area
(Acres)

Use

500,000
227,000
227,000
209,000
197,000
196,000
185,000
175,000
172,000
160,000
155,000
139,000
121,000
118,000
85,000
85,000
71,000
62,000
61,000
50,000
49,000
42,000
40,000
30,000
14,000
13,000

23
68
19
36
23
10
11
17
20
8
8
12
17
3
5
7
4
7
3
3
6
3
2
5
2
3

Manufacturing and distribution
Manufacturing and distribution
Manufacturing and distribution
Manufacturing and distribution
Manufacturing and distribution
Manufacturing and distribution
Manufacturing and distribution
Manufacturing and distribution
Manufacturing and distribution
Manufacturing and distribution
Manufacturing and distribution
Manufacturing and distribution
Manufacturing and distribution
Manufacturing and distribution
Manufacturing and distribution
Manufacturing and distribution
Manufacturing and distribution
Manufacturing and distribution
Manufacturing and distribution
Manufacturing and distribution
Manufacturing and distribution
Manufacturing and distribution
Distribution and warehousing
Manufacturing and distribution
Sales and distribution
Sales and distribution

Gaillon, France
Nykobing, Falster Denmark
Springfield, Missouri
Dawson Springs, Kentucky
Wadsworth, Ohio
Hannibal, Missouri
Sparks, Nevada
Bluffton, Indiana
Roanoke Rapids, N. Carolina
Shelbyville, Kentucky
Sandusky, Ohio
Bristol, Indiana
Akron, Ohio
Gloucester, England
Dayton, Ohio
Palua De Plegamans, Spain
Prunay, France
Goddard, Kansas
Santa Perpetua De Mogoda, Spain
Fostoria, Ohio
Akron, Ohio
Surrey, B.C., Canada
Ontario, California
Mebane, North Carolina
Nivelles, Belguim
Maia, Portugal

The following table sets forth by segment certain information with respect to facilities leased by the Registrant:
Manufacturing

Location

Middlefield, Ohio
Cassopolis, Michigan
Droitwich, England
Mulheim, Germany
Brampton, Ontario,
Canada
Nanterre Cedex, France
Milford, Ohio
Orbassano, Italy

Approximate
Floor Space
(Square Feet)

Expiration Date
of Lease

Use

400,000
210,000
73,000
54,000

August 31, 2018
October 31, 2005
August 31, 2004
December 31, 2005

Manufacturing and distribution
Manufacturing and distribution
Sales and distribution
Sales and distribution

43,000
25,000
22,000
3,000

December 31, 2007
April 30, 2008
August 31, 2006
October 14, 2006

Sales and distribution
Administration and sales
Administration and sales
Sales and distribution
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The Registrant also leases distribution facilities in 32 locations throughout the United States and Canada which, in the aggregate, amount to
approximately 167,000 square feet of warehouse and office space. All of these locations are used by the distribution of aftermarket repair
products and services segment.
The Registrant believes that all of its properties, machinery and equipment generally are well maintained and adequate for the purposes for
which they are used.
ITEM 3.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

There are no pending legal proceedings other than ordinary routine litigation incidental to the Registrant’s business.
ITEM 4.

SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

During the fourth quarter of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003, there were no matters submitted to a vote of security holders.
Executive Officers of the Registrant
Set forth below is certain information concerning the executive officers of the Registrant. Executive officers are elected annually by the
Board of Directors and serve at the pleasure of the Board.
Name

Stephen E. Myers
John C. Orr
Milton I. Wiskind
Gregory J. Stodnick
Jean-Paul Lesage
Kevin C. O’Neil

Years as
Age Executive Officer

60
53
78
61
59
48

31
1
32
24
4
5

Title

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
President and Chief Operating Officer
Vice Chairman and Secretary
Vice President — Finance
Vice President
General Counsel and Assistant Secretary

Each executive officer has been principally employed in the capacities shown or similar ones with the Registrant for over the past five years
with the exception of Mr. O’Neil. Mr. O’Neil consulted as Assistant Secretary until June 2002 at which time he became a full time employee of
by the Company. Prior to his full time employment, he was a partner and shareholder of Brouse McDowell Co., LPA.
Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 requires the Registrant’s Directors, certain of its executive officers and persons who
own more than ten percent of its Common Stock (“Insiders”) to file reports of ownership and changes in ownership with the Securities and
Exchange Commission and the American Stock Exchange, Inc., and to furnish the Company with copies of all such forms they file. The
Company understands from the information provided to it by the Insiders that they adhered to all filing requirements applicable to the
Section 16 Filers.
7
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PART II
ITEM 5.

Market for Registrant’s Common Stock and Related Stockholder Matters

The Company’s Common Stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange (ticker symbol MYE). The approximate number of record
holders at December 31, 2003 was 2,045. High and low stock prices and dividends for the last two years were:
Sales Price
2003
Quarter Ended

March 31
June 30
September 30
December 31

High

Low

11.43
11.16
11.67
13.30

8.80
9.20
9.35
10.02

Dividends
Paid

.05
.05
.05
.05

Sales Price
2002
Quarter Ended

March 31
June 30
September 30
December 31
ITEM 6.

High

Low

11.64
14.48
14.20
13.70

9.20
11.22
10.21
10.02

Dividends
Paid

.05
.05
.05
.05

Selected Financial Data
MYERS INDUSTRIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Five-Year Summary
2003

Operations for the Year
Net sales
Cost of sales
Selling
General and administrative
Interest — net

2002

2001

2000

1999

$661,091,504
460,803,695
98,536,272
67,030,583
10,074,438

$607,991,158
406,572,783
88,407,389
60,840,409
11,809,749

$607,950,431
403,011,346
88,020,857
70,979,067
18,699,142

$652,659,900
435,081,945
85,632,525
68,675,568
22,360,255

$580,760,740
367,635,460
83,352,607
60,265,518
15,205,809

636,444,988

567,630,330

580,710,412

611,750,293

526,459,394

24,646,516
8,321,000

40,360,828
16,401,000

27,240,019
12,049,000

40,909,607
16,909,000

54,301,346
23,125,000

Net Income

$ 16,325,516

$ 23,959,828

$ 15,191,019

$ 24,000,607

$ 31,176,346

Net income per share*

$

$

$

$

$

Income before income taxes
Income taxes

.54

.80
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.80
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2003

Financial Position — At Year End
Total assets

2002

2001

2000

1999

$621,626,806

$602,482,330

$582,166,378

$622,103,970

$600,409,632

Current assets
Current liabilities

207,933,141
94,175,498

201,140,357
117,368,956

196,618,597
104,899,238

219,307,253
112,890,230

206,990,990
102,244,419

Working capital
Other assets
Property, plant and equipment — net
Less:
Long-term debt
Deferred income taxes

113,757,643
229,849,237
183,844,428

83,771,401
210,546,946
190,795,027

91,719,359
194,811,960
190,735,821

106,417,023
201,291,971
201,504,746

104,746,571
203,923,134
189,495,508

211,002,691
21,924,269

212,222,615
17,201,131

247,145,234
12,595,697

284,273,097
11,037,935

280,103,906
10,314,490

$294,524,348

$255,689,628

$217,526,209

$213,902,708

$207,746,817

30,183,256

30,071,736

29,809,618

29,686,266

30,231,013

Shareholders’ Equity
Common Shares Outstanding
Book Value Per Common Share

$

9.76

$

8.50

$

7.30

$

7.21

$

6.87

Other Data
Dividends paid
Dividends paid per Common Share*

$

6,026,349
0.20

$

5,878,169
0.20

$

5,454,870
0.18

$

4,969,876
0.17

$

4,626,471
0.15

Average Common Shares
Outstanding during the year

30,125,533

29,971,843

29,752,373

29,828,210

30,502,466

* Adjusted for the five-for-four stock split distributed in August 2002; the ten percent stock dividends paid in August, 2001; August, 2000;
and August, 1999.
ITEM 7.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Financial Condition and Operations

2003 Results of Operations
For the year ended December 31, 2003, net sales of $661.1 million were up 9 percent from the $608.0 million reported in 2002. Despite the
increased sales, 2003 net income of $16.3 million declined 32 percent from $24 million in the prior year as higher raw material costs and
significant competitive pricing pressures combined to reduce profitability. Favorable foreign currency translations, primarily from a strong
euro, increased sales for the year by $28.3 million and net income by approximately $800,000 or $.03 per share.
On a segment basis, sales in the distribution segment increased $4.3 million or 3 percent, reflecting higher unit volumes for both supplies
and capital equipment. In the manufacturing segment, sales for 2003 increased $48.7 million or 10 percent compared with the prior year.
Favorable foreign currency translation accounted for approximately 56 percent of the sales increase with the remaining improvement the result
of higher unit sales, particularly in automotive, industrial, horticultural and heavy truck markets.
Gross profit, expressed as a percentage of sales, was reduced to 30.3 percent for the year ended December 31, 2003, compared with
33.1 percent in the prior year. The decline in margin was related to the manufacturing segment as raw material costs, primarily plastic resins,
were significantly higher as compared to 2002 and competitive pressures resulted in slightly lower average selling prices. During the course of
2003, raw material costs were higher for virtually all of the plastic resins used by the Company’s manufacturing businesses and were, on
average, 36 percent higher on high density polyethylene, the type of resin most widely used.
Total operating expenses increased $16.3 million or 11 percent for the year ended December 31, 2003 compared with the prior year.
Approximately $9.8 million or 60 percent of this increase was due to the impact of foreign currency translation for costs incurred in foreign
business units. Other increases in operating expenses were for selling expenses related to higher unit volume sales, and bad debts, principally
arising from
9
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export sales in the distribution segment. The Company also experienced an increase in information systems and software costs. Expressed as a
percentage of sales, operating expenses increased slightly to 25.0 percent in 2003 compared to 24.5 percent in the prior year.
Net interest expense for 2003 decreased $1.7 million or 15 percent compared with the previous year. This reduction was primarily the result
of lower average borrowing levels as the Company repaid $17.4 million of debt during the year.
Income taxes as a percent of income before taxes was reduced to 33.8 percent in 2003 compared to 40.6 percent in 2002. This reduction in
the Company’s effective tax rate is primarily the result of foreign tax rate differences, including the realization of approximately $600,000 in
net operating loss carryforwards previously reserved.
2002 Results of Operations
Net sales of $608.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2002 were virtually unchanged from the prior year. Despite the flat sales, net
income for 2002 of $24.0 million or $.80 per share increased 58 percent from the net income of $15.2 million or $.51 per share reported in
2001, as a result of the cessation of goodwill amortization and significantly lower interest expense.
On a segment basis, sales in the distribution segment increased $3.1 million or 2 percent as sales of capital equipment picked up following
several years of weak demand. In the manufacturing segment, sales declined $1.7 million or less than one percent, however, excluding the
favorable translation effect of foreign currencies, primarily from a stronger euro, sales in the manufacturing segment would have been down
2 percent for the year. Weak demand in most of the Company’s markets combined with competitive pressures on pricing, particularly for
horticultural containers and consumer products, led to the decline.
Gross profit, expressed as a percentage of sales, declined slightly to 33.1 percent for the year ended December 31, 2002, compared with
33.7 percent in the prior year. In the distribution segment, margins increased slightly based on continuing favorable sales mix of higher margin
supplies. In the manufacturing segment, margins declined as a result of lower selling prices and an increase of unabsorbed fixed manufacturing
costs due to lower production levels. Raw material costs, primarily for plastic resins, were lower than prior year costs through the first half of
2002 but increased throughout the year and were unfavorable in the third and fourth quarters.
Total operating expenses decreased $9.8 million or 6 percent to $149.2 million. Expressed as a percentage of sales, operating expenses were
reduced to 24.5 percent in 2002 compared to 26.1 percent in 2001. The reduction in current year operating expenses was primarily due to the
elimination of goodwill amortization which totaled $9.2 million in 2001. Other reductions in general and administrative expenses resulting
from cost containment efforts were largely offset by significantly higher costs for medical, property, casualty and other insurances.
Net interest expense of $11.8 million for 2002 was down $6.9 million or 37 percent from the prior year. This decrease was primarily the
result of lower interest rates, however, the Company also received the benefit of lower average borrowing levels by repaying $35.8 million of
debt during the year.
Income taxes as a percentage of pretax income was 40.6 percent compared with 44.2 percent in the prior year. The lower effective tax rate
reflects the elimination of the impact which non-deductible goodwill amortization had in prior years. In addition, the Company experienced a
more favorable foreign tax rate difference in 2002 compared with the prior year.
Financial Condition
Liquidity and Capital Resources
In 2003, the Company generated cash from operating activities of $51.1 million. During the year ended December 31, 2003, investments in
property, plant and equipment totaled $20.0 million and total debt was
10
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reduced by $17.4 million. Debt as a percentage of total capitalization was reduced to 42 percent at December 31, 2003 compared to 48 percent
at the end of 2002.
In December 2003, the Company issued $100 million of senior unsecured notes consisting of $65 million of 6.08 percent notes with a
7 year maturity and $35 million of 6.81 percent notes with a 10 year maturity. Proceeds from the senior notes were used to repay outstanding
bank debt under the Company’s existing term loan and revolving credit facility. The issuance of the senior notes resulted in an increase in the
Company’s current overall interest rate; however, it provides long-term financing at relatively favorable fixed rates.
On February 27, 2004, the Company entered into a new five year, $225 million unsecured revolving credit facility (the Credit Facility).
Borrowings under the new Credit Facility were used to refinance the Company’s existing bank debt and fund the acquisition of ATP
Automotive, Inc. for approximately $60 million (see Subsequent Event and Long-Term Debt and Credit Agreements Footnotes).
During the next five years management anticipates on-going capital expenditures in the range of $25 to $30 million annually. Cash flows
from operations and funds available under the new Credit Facility will provide the Company’s primary source of future financing. Management
believes that it has sufficient financial resources available to meet anticipated business requirements in the foreseeable future including capital
expenditures, dividends, working capital and debt service.
The following summarizes the Company’s future cash outflows for the next five years, adjusted to reflect payments under the new Credit
Facility, resulting from financial contracts and commitments:
2004

2005

2006

2007

2008

Total

(Dollars in Thousands)

Long-term Debt
Operating Leases

$ 4,452
9,491

$ 2,200
8,472

$ 962
6,616

$ 932
5,349

$ 894
4,974

$ 9,440
34,902

Total

$13,943

$10,672

$7,578

$6,281

$5,868

$44,342

Market Risk and Derivative Financial Instruments
The Company has financing arrangements that require interest payments based on floating interest rates. As such, the Company’s financial
results are subject to changes in the market rate of interest. Our objective in managing the exposure to interest rate changes is to limit the
volatility and impact of rate changes on earnings while maintaining the lowest overall borrowing cost. At present, the Company has not entered
into any interest rate swaps or other derivative instruments to fix the interest rate on any portion of its financing arrangements with floating
rates. Accordingly, based on current debt levels at December 31, 2003, if market interest rates increase one percent, the Company’s interest
expense would increase approximately $1,000,000.
Some of the Company’s subsidiaries operate in foreign countries and, as such, their financial results are subject to the variability that arises
from exchange rate movements. The Company believes that foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations do not represent a significant market
risk due to the nature of the foreign countries in which we operate, primarily Canada and Western Europe, as well as the size of those
operations relative to the total Company.
The Company uses certain commodities, primarily plastic resins, in its manufacturing processes. As such, the cost of operations is subject
to fluctuation as the market for these commodities changes. The Company monitors this risk but currently has no derivative contracts to hedge
this risk; however, the Company also has no significant purchase obligations to purchase fixed quantities of such commodities in future
periods.
Critical Accounting Policies
Our discussion and analysis of the Company’s financial condition and results of operations are based on the accompanying consolidated
financial statements, which are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. As
indicated in the Summary of Significant Accounting Policies included in the footnotes to the consolidated financial statements, the amount of
assets,
11
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liabilities, revenue and expenses reported are affected by estimates and judgements that are necessary to comply with generally accepted
accounting principles. We base our estimates on prior experience and other assumptions that we consider reasonable to our circumstances.
While estimates and judgements are applied in arriving at reported amounts such as pension benefits and provisions for self-insured risks, we
believe the following matters may involve a high degree of judgement and complexity.
Revenue Recognition — The Company recognizes revenues from the sale of products, net of actual and estimated returns, at the point of
passage of title, which is generally at the time of shipment.
Bad Debts — The Company evaluates the collectibility of accounts receivable based on a combination of factors. In circumstances where
the Company is aware of a specific customer’s inability to meet its financial obligations, a specific allowance for doubtful accounts is recorded
against amounts due to reduce the net recognized receivable to the amount the Company reasonably believes will be collected. Additionally,
the Company reviews historical trends for collectibility in determining an estimate for its allowance for doubtful accounts. If economic
circumstances change substantially, estimates of the recoverability of amounts due the Company could be reduced by a material amount.
Inventory — Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market. Cost is determined by the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method for
approximately 34 percent of the Company’s inventories and the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method for all other inventories. Where appropriate,
standard cost systems are utilized for purposes of determining cost; the standards are adjusted as necessary to ensure they approximate actual
costs. Estimates of lower of cost or market value of inventory are determined based upon current economic conditions, historical sales
quantities and patterns and, in some cases, the specific risk of loss on specifically identified inventories.
Goodwill — As a result of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” recorded
goodwill is subjected to annual impairment testing. Goodwill impairment testing requires, in part, that we estimate the fair value of our
business units which, in turn, requires that we make judgements concerning future cash flows and appropriate discount rates for those
businesses. Our estimate of the fair value of these business units and the related goodwill, could change over time based on a variety of factors,
including the actual operating performance of the underlying businesses or the impact of future events on the cost of capital and the related
discount rates used.
Contingencies — In the ordinary course of business, we are involved in various legal proceedings and contingencies. We have recorded
liabilities for these matters in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 5, “Accounting for Contingencies” (SFAS 5).
SFAS 5 requires a liability to be recorded based on our estimate of the probable cost of the resolution of a contingency. The actual resolution of
these contingencies may differ from our estimates. If a contingency were settled for an amount greater than our estimates, a future charge to
income would result. Likewise, if a contingency were settled for an amount that is less than our estimate, a future credit to income would result.
Income Taxes — Deferred income taxes are provided to recognize the effect of temporary differences between financial and tax reporting.
Deferred income taxes are not provided for undistributed earnings of foreign consolidated subsidiaries as it is our intention to reinvest such
earnings for an indefinite period of time. The Company has significant operations outside the United States and in jurisdictions with statutory
tax rates both higher and lower than in the United States. As a result, significant tax and treasury planning and analysis of future operations are
necessary to determine the proper amounts of tax assets, liabilities and expense to be recognized.
The Company has reserved the deferred tax benefit of certain tax loss carryforwards in foreign countries that, if realized, would reduce
future income tax expense by approximately $6,504,000. Of this amount, $2,451,000 expires in various years from 2004 through 2008, and
$4,053,000 has no expiration date. The Company also has U.S. foreign tax credit carryforwards of approximately $800,000 expiring in 2004.
12
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ITEM 7A.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The Company has financing arrangements that require interest payments based on floating interest rates. As such, the Company’s financial
results are subject to changes in the market rate of interest. Our objective in managing the exposure to interest rate changes is to limit the
volatility and impact of rate changes on earnings while maintaining the lowest overall borrowing cost. At present, the Company has not entered
into any interest rate swaps or other derivative instruments to fix the interest rate on any portion of its financing arrangements with floating
rates. Accordingly, based on current debt levels at December 31, 2003, if market interest rates increase one percent, the Company’s interest
expense would increase approximately $1,000,000.
Some of the Company’s subsidiaries operate in foreign countries and, as such, their financial results are subject to the variability that arises
from exchange rate movements. The Company believes that foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations do not represent a significant market
risk due to the nature of the foreign countries in which we operate, primarily Canada and Western Europe, as well as the size of those relative
to the total Company.
The Company uses certain commodities, primarily plastic resins, in its manufacturing processes. As such, the cost of operations is subject
to fluctuation as the market for these commodities changes. The Company monitors this risk but currently has no derivative contracts to hedge
this risk, however, the Company also has no significant purchase obligations to purchase fixed quantities of such commodities in future
periods.
ITEM 8.

Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes and the reports of management and independent accountants follow Item 9
of this Report.
Summarized Quarterly Results of Operations
(Unaudited) Thousands of Dollars, Except Per Share Data
March 31

June 30

Sept. 30

Dec. 31

Total

Quarter Ended 2003

Net Sales
Gross Profit
Net Income
Per Share

$163,221
53,843
7,192
.24

$168,964
49,724
3,276
.11

$152,400
44,160
1,507
.05

$176,507
52,561
4,351
.14

March 31

June 30

Sept. 30

Dec. 31

$661,092
200,288
16,326
.54
Total

Quarter Ended 2002

Net Sales
Gross Profit
Net Income
Per Share

$148,939
54,499
10,046
.34

$153,095
51,730
6,802
.23
13

$146,626
44,395
3,068
.10

$159,331
50,794
4,044
.13

$607,991
201,418
23,960
.80
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This report is a copy and has not been reissued by Arthur Andersen, LLP.
This report references the Company’s balance sheet as of December 31, 2001 and 2000 and its related consolidated statements of income,
shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2000 and 1999 which are not presented herein.
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS
We have audited the accompanying statements of consolidated financial position of Myers Industries, Inc. (an Ohio Corporation) and
Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the related statements of consolidated income, shareholders’ equity and comprehensive
income and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2001. These financial statements are the responsibility of
the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Myers Industries,
Inc. and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in
the period ended December 31, 2001, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.
ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP
/s/ Arthur Andersen LLP
Cleveland, Ohio,
February 15, 2002
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REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG, LLP, INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
We have audited the accompanying statements of consolidated financial position of Myers Industries, Inc. (an Ohio Corporation) and
Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2003 and 2002 and the related statements of consolidated income, shareholders’ equity and comprehensive
income and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. The consolidated financial statements of Myers
Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2001 and for the year then ended were audited by other auditors who have ceased
operations and whose report dated February 15, 2002, expressed an unqualified opinion on those statements before the revisions described
below and in the Goodwill and Intangible Assets note and the 2002 restatement adjustment for the retroactive effect of the five-for-four stock
split described below and in the Net Income Per Share note.
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Myers
Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries at December 31, 2003 and 2002 and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for the
years then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.
As explained in the Goodwill and Intangible Assets note, effective January 1, 2002, the Company changed its method of accounting for
goodwill.
As discussed above, the financial statements of Myers Industries, Inc. as of December 31, 2001, and for the year then ended were audited
by other auditors who have ceased operations. As described in the Goodwill and Intangible Assets note, these financial statements have been
revised to include the transitional disclosures required by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 142, Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets , which was adopted by the Company as of January 1, 2002. Our audit procedures with respect to the disclosures for 2001 in
the Goodwill and Intangible Assets note included (a) agreeing the previously reported net income and net income per share to the previously
issued financial statements and the adjustments to those amounts representing amortization expense (including any related tax effects)
recognized in the period related to goodwill to the Company’s underlying records obtained from management, and (b) testing the mathematical
accuracy of the calculation of adjusted net income. Also, as described in the Net Income Per Share note, in 2002 the Company’s Board of
Directors approved a five-for-four stock split, and all references to the number of shares, per share information and the number of stock options
in the financial statements have been adjusted to reflect the stock split on a retroactive basis. We audited the adjustments that were applied to
restate the number of shares and per share information and the number of stock options reflected in the 2001 financial statements. Our
procedures included (a) agreeing the authorization for the five-for-four stock split to the Company’s underlying records obtained from
management, and (b) testing the mathematical accuracy of the restated number of shares, net income per share, stock option information and all
other per share amounts.
In our opinion, the disclosures for 2001 in the Goodwill and Intangible Assets note are appropriate and the adjustments to reflect the fivefor-four stock split are appropriate and have been properly applied. However, we were not engaged to audit, review, or apply any procedures to
the 2001 financial statements of the Company other than with respect to such disclosures and adjustments and, accordingly, we do not express
an opinion or any other form of assurance on the 2001 financial statements taken as a whole.
/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP
Akron, Ohio
February 12, 2004
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MYERS INDUSTRIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Statements of Consolidated Income
For the Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001
2003

2002

2001

Net sales
Cost of sales

$661,091,504
460,803,695

$607,991,158
406,572,783

$607,950,431
403,011,346

Gross profit

200,287,809

201,418,375

204,939,085

98,536,272
67,030,583

88,407,389
60,840,409

88,020,857
70,979,067

165,566,855

149,247,798

158,999,924

34,720,954

52,170,577

45,939,161

(366,324)
10,440,762

(461,038)
12,270,787

(695,140)
19,394,282

10,074,438

11,809,749

18,699,142

24,646,516
8,321,000

40,360,828
16,401,000

27,240,019
12,049,000

Net income

$ 16,325,516

$ 23,959,828

$ 15,191,019

Net income per share

$

$

$

Operating expenses
Selling
General and administrative

Operating income
Interest
Income
Expense

Income before income taxes
Income taxes

Weighted average shares outstanding

.54
30,125,533

.80
29,971,843

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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MYERS INDUSTRIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Statements of Consolidated Financial Position
As of December 31, 2003 and 2002
2003

Assets
Current Assets
Cash
Accounts receivable — less allowances of $4,245,000 and
$4,507,000, respectively
Inventories
Finished and in-process products
Raw materials and supplies
Prepaid expenses
Total Current Assets
Other Assets
Goodwill
Patents and other intangible assets, net
Other
Property, Plant and Equipment, at Cost
Land
Buildings and leasehold improvements
Machinery and equipment
Less allowances for depreciation and amortization

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Employee compensation and related items
Taxes, other than income taxes
Accrued interest
Other
Current portion of long-term debt
Total Current Liabilities
Long-term Debt, less current portion
Deferred Income Taxes
Shareholders’ Equity
Serial Preferred Shares (authorized 1,000,000 shares)
Common Shares, without par value (authorized 60,000,000 shares;
outstanding 30,183,256 and 30,071,736 shares, respectively)
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Retained income

$

2002

5,666,997

$

1,702,334

114,038,680

111,207,172

61,240,225
22,613,029

66,819,085
16,280,910

83,853,254
4,374,210

83,099,995
5,130,856

207,933,141

201,140,357

224,298,302
2,321,584
3,229,351

204,465,504
2,422,772
3,658,670

229,849,237

210,546,946

8,461,003
80,588,395
352,995,191

7,878,664
77,061,850
318,617,656

442,044,589
258,200,161

403,558,170
212,763,143

183,844,428

190,795,027

$621,626,806

$602,482,330

$ 39,731,250

$ 49,970,910

30,975,836
2,874,171
608,575
15,533,529
4,452,137

29,843,708
3,260,304
754,668
12,849,101
20,690,265

94,175,498
211,002,691
21,924,269

117,368,956
212,222,615
17,201,131

–0–

–0–

18,369,240
217,019,810
10,934,860
48,200,438

18,301,212
216,077,838
(16,590,693)
37,901,271

294,524,348

255,689,628

$621,626,806

$602,482,330

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
17

Table of Contents
MYERS INDUSTRIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Statements of Consolidated Shareholders’ Equity
and Comprehensive Income
For the Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001

Amount

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income

Retained
Income

21,590,012

$13,234,830

$189,779,843

$(27,149,716)

$ 38,037,751

–0–
46,404
35,204
11,830

–0–
26,707
21,474
8,840

–0–
331,899
410,218
365,917

–0–
2,164,244
–0–

–0–
1,211,977
–0–

–0–
26,706,771
–0–

–0–
–0–
(7,262,039)

23,847,694

$14,503,828

$217,594,648

(34,411,755)

–0–
166,837
30,035
16,415
–0–

–0–
102,297
18,321
10,015
–0–

–0–
1,562,041
359,833
228,067
–0–

–0–
6,010,755
–0–

–0–
3,666,751
–0–

–0–
(3,666,751)
–0–

30,071,736

$18,301,212

$216,077,838

–0–
43,747
53,264
14,509
–0–
–0–

–0–
26,687
32,490
8,851
–0–
–0–

–0–
358,862
441,917
141,193
–0–
–0–

–0–
–0–
–0–
–0–
27,413,845
111,708

–0–

–0–

–0–

–0–

30,183,256

$18,369,240

$217,019,810

$ 10,934,860

Common Shares
Number
Balance at January 1, 2001
Additions
Net income
Sales under option plans
Employees stock purchase plan
Dividend reinvestment plan
Deductions
Dividends — $.18 per share
10% stock dividend
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Balance at December 31, 2001
Additions
Net income
Sales under option plans
Employees stock purchase plan
Dividend reinvestment plan
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Deductions
Dividends — $.20 per share
Five-for-four stock split
FAS 87 additional pension liability
Balance at December 31, 2002
Additions
Net income
Sales under option plans
Employees stock purchase plan
Dividend reinvestment plan
Foreign currency translation adjustment
FAS 87 additional pension liability
Deductions
Dividends — $.20 per share
Balance at December 31, 2003

–0–
–0–
–0–
–0–

$

–0–

15,191,019
–0–
–0–
–0–

15,191,019
–0–
–0–
–0–

(5,454,868)
(27,934,414)
–0–

–0–
–0–
(7,262,039)

$ 19,839,488

$ 7,928,980

–0–
–0–
–0–
–0–
19,404,517

23,959,828
–0–
–0–
–0–
–0–

23,959,828
–0–
–0–
–0–
19,404,517

–0–
–0–
(1,583,455)

(5,878,169)
(19,876)
–0–

–0–
–0–
(1,583,455)

$(16,590,693)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
18

Comprehensive
Income

$ 37,901,271

$41,780,890

16,325,516
–0–
–0–
–0–
–0–
–0–

16,325,516
–0–
–0–
–0–
27,413,845
111,708

(6,026,349)
$ 48,200,438

–0–
$43,851,069
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MYERS INDUSTRIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Statements of Consolidated Cash Flows
For the Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net income
Items not affecting use of cash
Depreciation
Amortization of goodwill
Amortization of other intangibles
Deferred income taxes
Cash flow provided by (used for) working capital
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses
Accounts payable and accrued expenses

2003

2002

2001

$ 16,325,516

$ 23,959,828

$ 15,191,019

34,777,734
–0–
1,777,258
4,415,099

34,550,402
–0–
1,163,688
4,526,372

33,361,480
9,223,542
1,320,197
1,632,285

4,855,862
2,975,650
908,618
(14,901,650)

553,688
741,868
(1,481,808)
1,491,683

18,608,281
6,359,412
(1,220,662)
(7,674,145)

51,134,087

65,505,721

76,801,409

(776,058)
(20,009,908)
439,237

(2,819,901)
(28,389,133)
(298,226)

(7,480,000)
(25,182,509)
(1,807,899)

(20,346,729)

(31,507,260)

(34,470,408)

100,000,000
(41,500,000)
(79,264,114)
(1,042,232)
(6,026,349)
1,010,000

–0–
(12,000,000)
(23,773,496)
–0–
(5,878,169)
2,280,574

–0–
(12,000,000)
(21,144,207)
–0–
(5,454,868)
1,165,055

(26,822,695)

(39,371,091)

(37,434,020)

3,964,663
1,702,334

(5,372,630)
7,074,964

4,896,981
2,177,983

Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired
Additions to property, plant and equipment, net
Other
Net cash used for investing activities
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Long-term debt proceeds
Repayment of long-term debt
Net borrowing (repayments) — on credit facility
Deferred financing costs
Cash dividends paid
Proceeds from issuance of common stock
Net cash used for financing activities
Increase (Decrease) in Cash
Cash at January 1
Cash at December 31
Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information
Cash paid during the year for
Interest
Income taxes

$

5,666,997

$ 1,702,334

$ 7,074,964

$

9,555,766

$ 12,023,900

$ 19,715,515

$

4,809,142

$ 11,617,883

$ 11,478,129

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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MYERS INDUSTRIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Myers Industries, Inc. and all wholly owned subsidiaries (Company).
Significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures at the date of the financial statements and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during
the reported period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Subsequent Event
On March 10, 2004, the Company completed the acquisition of the shares of ATP Automotive, Inc. (ATP), a subsidiary of Applied Tech,
LLC, a Delaware limited liability company. ATP, comprised of subsidiaries Michigan Rubber Products (MRP) and WEK Industries (WEK), is
a manufacturer of molded rubber products for the automotive industry with approximately 600 employees, two manufacturing facilities in
Michigan and Ohio, and 2003 sales of approximately $60 million. Total purchase price was $60 million, which includes the assumption of ATP
debt outstanding as of the date of acquisition. The acquisition was financed using a portion of the proceeds from a new $225 million Credit
Facility which the Company entered into on February 27, 2004 (see Long-Term Debt and Credit Agreements footnote). The purchase price will
be allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based upon their estimated fair values during 2004 when appraisals, other studies and
additional information become available. The results of ATP will be included in the consolidated results of operations of the Company from the
date of acquisition.
Translation of Foreign Currencies
All balance sheet accounts of consolidated foreign subsidiaries are translated at the current exchange rate as of the end of the accounting
period and income statement items are translated at an average currency exchange rate. The resulting translation adjustment is recorded in other
comprehensive income as a separate component of shareholders’ equity.
Financial Instruments
Financial instruments, consisting of trade and notes receivable, and long-term debt, including borrowings at variable interest rates, are
considered to have a fair value which approximates carrying value at December 31, 2003.
Concentration of Credit Risk
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentration of credit risk primarily consist of trade accounts receivable.
The concentration of accounts receivable credit risk is generally limited based on the Company’s diversified operations, with customers spread
across many industries and countries. No single customer accounts for more than two percent of total sales and no country, outside of the
United States, accounts for more than ten percent of total sales. In addition, management has established certain requirements that customers
must meet before credit is extended. The financial condition of customers is continually monitored and collateral is usually not required.
Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. For approximately 34 percent of its inventories, the Company uses the last-in, first-out
(LIFO) method of determining cost. All other inventories are valued at the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method of determining cost.
20

Table of Contents
MYERS INDUSTRIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — Continued
If the FIFO method of inventory cost valuation had been used exclusively by the Company, inventories would have been $4,074,000,
$4,455,000 and $3,731,000 higher than reported at December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. The Company provides for depreciation
and amortization on the basis of the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:
Buildings
Leasehold Improvements
Machinery & Equipment
Vehicles

20 to 30 years
7 to 10 years
3 to 10 years
1 to 3 years

Long-Lived Assets
The Company reviews its long-lived assets and identifiable intangible assets with finite lives for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Measurement of the amount of impairment may be based
on appraisal, market values of similar assets or discounted future cash flows resulting from the use and ultimate disposition of the asset. There
were no impairment charges recorded in connection with the long-lived assets in 2003, 2002 or 2001.
Revenue Recognition
The Company recognizes revenue from sales when goods are shipped and title has passed to the customer.
Income Taxes
Deferred income taxes are provided to recognize differences between financial statement and income tax reporting, principally for
depreciation, non-deductible reserves and certain valuation allowances. No provision is made for U.S. income taxes on the unremitted earnings
of foreign subsidiaries as the Company’s intention is to indefinitely reinvest these earnings in the operations of these subsidiaries.
Goodwill and Intangible Assets
Effective January 1, 2002, the Company adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations” and SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill
and Other Intangible Assets.” SFAS No. 141 requires that all business combinations be accounted for by the purchase method and that certain
acquired intangible assets be recognized as assets apart from goodwill. No reclassification of intangible assets apart from goodwill was
necessary as a result of the Company adopting the new standard.
Under the provisions of SFAS No. 142, the Company was required to perform a transitional goodwill impairment test within six months of
adopting the new standard and to test for impairment on at least an annual basis thereafter. The Company conducts its annual impairment
assessment of October 1. For purposes of impairment testing, the Company determines the fair value of its reporting units using discounted
cash flow models and relative market multiples for comparable businesses. The Company compares the fair value of each of its reporting units
to their respective carrying values, including related goodwill. These tests resulted in no impairment to the recorded amounts of goodwill in
2003 and 2002.
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In accordance with SFAS No. 142, the Company discontinued the amortization of goodwill effective January 1, 2002, at which time
accumulated amortization was $30.7 million. Had goodwill amortization not been recorded in 2001, income before taxes would have increased
$9.2 million, while net income would have increased $7.1 million to $22.3 million and net income per share would have increased by $.24.
Net Income Per Share
Net income per share, as shown on the Statements of Consolidated Income, is determined on the basis of the weighted average number of
common shares outstanding during the year, and for all periods shown basic and diluted earnings per share are identical. During the year ended
December 31, 2002, the Company declared a five-for-four stock split and for the year ended December 31, 2001, the Company paid a ten
percent stock dividend. All per share data has been adjusted for the stock split and stock dividends.
Stock Compensation
The Company accounts for stock compensation arrangements using the intrinsic value in Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion
No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.” In accordance with the intrinsic value method, the Company has not recognized any
expense related to stock options, as options have only been granted with an exercise price equal to the market value of the shares at the date of
the grant.
The alternative policy in SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock Based Compensation,” provides that compensation expense be recognized
based on the fair value of the options awarded, determined by an option pricing model. If the Company had recognized compensation expense
using the fair value method under SFAS No. 123 rather than APB 25, net income would not have been materially different than reported
amounts and net income per share would be identical for 2003, 2002 and 2001. In calculating the compensation expense under SFAS No. 123,
the Company uses a Block Scholes option pricing model and assumes that all options will vest and be exercised at the expiration date of the
grant. Other assumptions used in calculating the compensation expense for options granted in 2003 include a dividend yield of 2.3 percent, a
risk free interest rate of 3.875 percent and a volatility measure based on the Company’s stock beta of .85.
In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock Based Compensation — Transition and Disclosure,” as an
amendment to SFAS No. 123. SFAS No. 148 provides for alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value based
method of accounting for stock based employee compensation. In addition, SFAS No. 148 amends the disclosure requirements to require
prominent disclosure in both interim and annual financial statements about the method of accounting used for stock based employee
compensation and the effect of the method on reported results. The Company adopted the disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 148 effective
December 31, 2002.
Stock Options
In 1999, the Company and its shareholders adopted the 1999 Stock Plan allowing the Board of Directors to grant key employees and
Directors the right to purchase Common Stock of the Company at the market price on the date of grant. In general, options granted and
outstanding permit 20 percent of the shares granted to be exercised after six months, with additional vesting of 20 percent exercisable each year
thereafter, with the options expiring ten years from the date of grant. At December 31, 2003, there were 1,623,885 stock option shares available
for future grant. The activity listed below covers the 1999 Stock Plan, the 1997 Incentive Stock Plan and the 1992 Stock Option Plan.
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Options granted during the past three years:
Year

Shares

2003
2002
2001

Price

243,150
6,250
300,212

$ 8.80 to $ 9.99
$
12.32
$8.36 to $10.40

Options exercised during the past three years:
Year

2003
2002
2001

Shares

Price

33,260
255,000
72,098

$8.36 to $9.99
$ 8.18 to $9.92
$ 8.55 to $9.83

In addition, options totaling 321,036 and 20,688 expired during the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Options
outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 were as follows:
Year

2003
2002
2001

Outstanding

Range of
Exercise Prices

Exercisable

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

800,725
911,871
1,181,309

$8.18 to $13.90
$ 8.18 to $15.78
$ 8.18 to $15.78

488,369
675,288
743,719

$ 9.60
$10.51
$10.03

Long-Term Debt and Credit Agreements
Long-term debt at December 31, consisted of the following:
2003

Revolving credit agreement
Term loan
Senior Notes
Industrial revenue bonds
Other
Less current portion

2002

$ 98,900,919
0
100,000,000
4,000,000
12,553,909

$174,179,776
41,500,000
0
4,000,000
13,233,104

215,454,828
4,452,137

232,912,880
20,690,265

$211,002,691

$212,222,615

At December 31, 2003, the Company had a Multi-Currency Loan Agreement with a group of banks providing a revolving credit facility in
five currencies up to $228 million. At December 31, 2003, the amount borrowed was $89.0 million U.S. dollars and $9.9 million Canadian
dollars at an average interest rate of 3.07 percent.
On February 27, 2004, the Company entered into a new unsecured revolving credit facility (the Credit Facility) which enables the Company
to borrow up to $225 million, including up to $50 million available for multi-currency loans in freely traded foreign currencies. Borrowing
under the new Credit Facility were used to refinance the Company’s existing Multi-Currency Loan Agreement, fund the acquisition of ATP
Automotive, Inc. and for general corporate purposes. Interest is based on the Prime rate or Euro dollar rate (for U.S. or Canadian dollar loans)
or Eurocurrency Rate (for other multi-currency loans) plus an applicable margin that varies depending on the Company’s ratio of total debt to
earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
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amortization (EBITDA). In addition, the Company pays a quarterly facility fee. The Credit Facility expires in February 2009.
In December 2003, the Company issued $100 million in Senior Unsecured Notes (the Notes) consisting of $65 million of notes with an
interest rate of 6.08 percent and a 7 year maturity and $35 million with an interest rate of 6.81 percent and a 10 year maturity. Proceeds from
the issuance of the Notes were used to pay down term loan and revolving credit facility borrowing outstanding at that time.
In addition, at December 31, 2003, the Company had $16.6 million of other long-term debt consisting of industrial revenue bonds, certain
indebtedness of acquired companies, and in-country credit facilities for the Company’s international operations. The weighted average interest
rate on these amounts outstanding at December 31, 2003, was 4.01 percent.
The Credit Facility and Notes contain customary covenants including the maintenance of minimum consolidated net worth, certain financial
ratios regarding leverage and interest coverage, and limitation on annual capital expenditures. The Company was in compliance with all of its
debt covenant requirements at December 31, 2003.
Maturities of long-term debt under the loan agreements in place at December 31, 2003 for the five years ending December 31, 2008 were
approximately: $4,452,000 in 2004; $101,102,000 in 2005; $962,000 in 2006; $932,000 in 2007 and $894,000 in 2008.
Maturities of long-term debt, adjusted to reflect payments under the new Credit Facility, for the five years ending December 31, 2008 are
approximately: $4,452,000 in 2004; $2,200,000 in 2005; $962,000 in 2006; $932,000 in 2007 and $894,000 in 2008.
Retirement Plans
The Company and certain of its subsidiaries have pension and profit sharing plans covering substantially all of their employees. Two plans
are defined benefit plans with benefits primarily based upon a fixed amount for each completed year of service as defined.
For the Company’s defined benefit plans, the net periodic pension cost was as follows:
2003

2002

2001

Service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on assets
Amortization of transition obligation
Amortization of prior service cost
Amortization of net loss

$ 198,305
319,292
(239,885)
(2,945)
42,776
76,748

$ 188,990
303,202
(261,029)
(2,942)
42,776
14,032

$ 179,192
288,493
(291,192)
2,525
42,776
0

Net periodic pension cost

$ 394,291

$ 285,029

$ 221,794
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The reconciliation of changes in projected benefit obligations are as follows:
2003

2002

2001

Benefit obligation at beginning of year
Service cost
Interest cost
Plan amendments
Actuarial loss
Benefits paid

$4,884,755
198,305
319,292
0
455,307
(173,472)

$4,485,321
188,990
303,202
0
66,248
(159,006)

$3,980,688
179,192
288,493
0
190,309
(153,361)

Benefit obligation at end of year

$5,684,187

$4,884,755

$4,485,321

The assumptions used to determine the net periodic benefit cost and benefit obligations are as follows:
2003

Discount Rate
Expected long-term return of Plan Assets

6.00%
8.00%

2002

6.75%
8.00%

Future benefit increases were not considered, as there is no substantive commitment to increase benefits. The expected long-term rate of
return assumption is based on the actual historical rate of return on assets adjusted to reflect recent market conditions and future expectation
consistent with the Company’s current asset allocation and investment policy.
The following table reflects the change in the fair value of the plans’ assets:
2003

2002

2001

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year
Actual return on plan assets
Company contribution
Expenses paid
Benefits paid

$2,843,312
766,459
535,000
(33,362)
(173,472)

$3,199,226
(550,240)
369,000
(15,668)
(159,006)

$3,744,411
(380,259)
6,435
(18,000)
(153,361)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year

$3,937,937

$2,843,312

$3,199,226

The weighted average asset allocations for the Company’s defined benefit plans at December 31, 2003 and 2002, are as follows:
2003

Equities securities
Debt Securities
Cash
Total

2002

82%
17
1

76%
21
3

100%

100%

The Company’s investment policy related to the defined benefit plans is to provide for aggressive capital growth with moderate income
production. Capital growth through equity exposure is emphasized which is balanced with small to moderate use of fixed income investments.
Equity exposure is limited to a maximum of 85 percent of the total portfolios.
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The following table provides a reconciliation of the funded status of the plans, both of which were underfunded at December 31, 2003 and
2002:
2003

2002

Funded status
Unrecognized liability
Unrecognized prior service cost
Unrecognized net loss

$(1,746,250)
0
318,925
1,471,748

$(2,041,443)
(2,946)
361,702
1,586,401

Net amount recognized

$

$

44,423

(96,286)

Under the provisions of SFAS No. 87, the Company recorded an additional minimum pension liability of $1,790,673 at December 31,
2003, of which $1,471,748 has been recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income and $318,925 as an intangible
pension asset. The accumulated benefit obligation for the defined benefit plans was $5,684,187 and $4,884,755 at December 31, 2003 and
2002, respectively. The Company expects to contribute approximately $996,000 to its defined benefit pension plans in 2004.
A profit sharing plan is maintained for the Company’s U.S. based employees, not covered under defined benefit plans, who have met
eligibility service requirements. The amount to be contributed by the Company under the profit sharing plan is determined at the discretion of
the Board of Directors. Profit sharing plan expense was $1,450,000, $1,700,000, and $1,500,000 for the years 2003, 2002 and 2001,
respectively. In addition, the Company has a Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (SERP) to provide participating senior executives with
retirement benefits in addition to amounts payable under the profit sharing plan. Expense related to the SERP was $1,044,000, $253,000 and
$108,000 for the years 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The SERP is unfunded.
Leases
The Company and certain of its subsidiaries are committed under non-cancelable operating leases involving certain facilities and
equipment. Aggregate rental expense for all leased assets was $10,836,000, $9,395,000, and $9,493,000 for the years ended December 31,
2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
Future minimum rental commitments for the next five years are as follows:
Year Ended
December 31,

Commitment

2004
2005
2006
2007
2008
Thereafter

$9,491,000
8,472,000
6,616,000
5,349,000
4,974,000
3,887,000
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Income Taxes
The effective tax rate was 33.8% in 2003, 40.6% in 2002 and 44.2% in 2001. A reconciliation of the Federal statutory income tax rate to the
Company’s effective tax rate is as follows:
Percent of Pre-Tax Income
2003

2002

2001

Statutory Federal income tax rate
State Income Taxes — net of Federal tax benefit
Foreign tax rate differential
Effect of non-deductible depreciation and amortization
Other

35.0%
3.1
(4.7)
0.0
0.4

35.0%
4.2
1.1
0.0
0.3

35.0%
3.8
2.1
2.3
1.0

Effective tax rate for the year

33.8%

40.6%

44.2%

Income before income taxes was attributable to the following sources:
(Dollar in thousands)
2003

2002

2001

United States
Foreign

$16,917
7,730

$34,231
6,130

$23,799
3,441

Totals

$24,647

$40,361

$27,240

Income taxes consisted of the following:
2003

(Dollars in thousands)
Federal
Foreign
State and local

2002

2001

Current

Deferred

Current

Deferred

Current

$2,904
163
839

$2,694
1,376
345

$ 7,269
2,471
2,135

$3,921
123
482

$ 6,518
2,248
1,651

$2,140
(455)
(53)

$3,906

$4,415

$11,875

$4,526

$10,417

$1,632
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Significant components of the Company’s deferred taxes as of December 31, 2003 and 2002 are as follows:

(Dollars in thousands)
Deferred income tax liabilities
Property, plant and equipment
Tax deductible goodwill
Employee benefit trust
Other
Deferred income tax assets
Compensation
Inventory valuation
Allowance for uncollectible accounts
Non-deductible accruals

Net deferred income tax liability

2003

2002

$22,483
3,911
602
2,473

$20,101
2,206
556
1,641

29,469

24,504

3,683
1,150
817
1,895

3,282
1,108
858
2,055

7,545

7,303

$21,924

$17,201

In addition, the Company has reserved the deferred tax benefit of certain tax loss carryforwards in foreign countries that if realized would
reduce future income tax expense by approximately $6,504,000 at December 31, 2003 and $5,977,000 at December 31, 2002. Of these
carryforwards at December 31, 2003, $2,451,000 expires in various years from 2004 through 2008, and $4,053,000 has no expiration date. The
Company also has U.S. foreign tax credit carryforwards of approximately $800,000 expiring in 2004.
Industry Segments
The Company’s business units have separate management teams and offer different products and services. Using the criteria of SFAS
No. 131, these business units have been aggregated into two reportable segments; distribution of aftermarket repair products and services and
manufacturing of polymer products. The aggregation of business units is based on management by the chief operating decision-maker for the
segment as well as similarities of production processes, distribution methods and economic characteristics (e.g. average gross margin and the
impact of economic conditions on long-term financial performance).
The Company’s distribution segment is engaged in the distribution of equipment, tools and supplies used for tire servicing and automotive
underbody repair. The distribution segment operates domestically through 40 branches located in major cities throughout the United States and
in foreign countries through export sales and businesses in which the Company holds an equity interest.
The Company’s manufacturing segment designs, manufactures and markets a variety of polymer based plastic and rubber products. These
products are manufactured primarily through the molding process in facilities throughout the United States and in Europe. Sales to external
customers for manufactured plastic products were $453.0 million, $406.7 million and $411.1 million for fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001,
respectively. Outside sales of manufactured rubber products were $49.8 million, $47.3 million and $46.0 million for fiscal years 2003, 2002
and 2001.
Operating income for each segment is based on net sales less cost of products sold, and the related selling, administrative and general
expenses. In computing segment operating income, general corporate overhead expenses and interest expenses are not included. The
identifiable assets of each segment include: accounts
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receivable, inventory, net fixed assets, goodwill, patents and other intangible assets. Corporate assets are principally land, buildings, computer
equipment and cash.
Total sales from foreign business units and export were approximately $210.3 million, $182.5 million and $182.0 million for the years
2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. There are no individual foreign countries for which sales are material. Long-lived assets in foreign countries
consisting primarily of property, plant and equipment and goodwill were approximately $156.8 million at December 31, 2003 and
$133.9 million at December 31, 2002. No single customer accounts for 10 percent or more of total company net sales or the net sales of either
business segment.
2003

2002

2001

(Dollars in thousands)

Net Sales
Distribution of aftermarket repair products and services
Manufacturing of polymer products
Intra-segment elimination

Income Before Income Taxes
Distribution of aftermarket repair products and services
Manufacturing of polymer products
Corporate
Interest expense-net

Identifiable Assets
Distribution of aftermarket repair products and services
Manufacturing of polymer products
Corporate
Intra-segment elimination

Capital Additions, Net
Distribution of aftermarket repair products and services
Manufacturing of polymer products
Corporate

Depreciation
Distribution of aftermarket repair products and services
Manufacturing of polymer products
Corporate

$158,317
517,311
(14,537)

$154,028
468,633
(14,670)

$150,932
470,387
(13,369)

$661,091

$607,991

$607,950

$ 12,537
33,831
(11,647)
(10,074)

$ 16,970
45,091
(9,890)
(11,810)

$ 14,733
40,597
(9,391)
(18,699)

$ 24,647

$ 40,361

$ 27,240

$ 44,077
576,261
1,644
(355)

$ 50,934
545,970
6,008
(430)

$ 48,993
528,775
4,558
(160)

$621,627

$602,482

$582,166

$

$

$

46
19,025
939

29
24,950
206

$ 20,010

$ 28,389

$ 25,185

$

$

$

383
33,684
711

$ 34,778
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442

433
33,390
727

$ 34,550

483
32,172
706

$ 33,361
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This report is a copy and has not been reissued by Arthur Andersen, LLP.
This report references the Myers Industries, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan Statement of Assets available for plan benefits as of
December 31, 2000 and the related statement of changes in assets available for plan for the year ended December 31, 1999, which are not
presented herein.
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS
To the Myers Industries, Inc. Employee
Stock Purchase Plan Administrator:
We have audited the accompanying statements of assets available for plan benefits of the Myers Industries, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase
Plan as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the related statements of changes in assets available for plan benefits for each of the three years in
the period ended December 31, 2001. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Plan Administrator. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the assets available for plan benefits of the
Myers Industries, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the changes in its assets available for plan
benefits for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2001, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States.
ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP
/s/ Arthur Andersen LLP
Cleveland, Ohio,
February 15, 2002
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Myers Industries, Inc.
Employee Stock Purchase Plan Administrator:
We have audited the accompanying statement of assets available for plan benefits of the Myers Industries, Inc. Amended and Restated
Employee Stock Purchase Plan as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the related statements of changes in assets available for plan benefits
for the years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Plan Administrator. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the assets available for plan benefits of the
Myers Industries, Inc. Amended and Restated Employee Stock Purchase Plan as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the changes in its assets
available for plan benefits for the years then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.
Akron, Ohio,
March 15, 2004
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2003

Receivable from Trustee (Myers Industries, Inc.)

$109,202

2002

$113,348

Statements of Changes in Assets Available for Plan Benefits
For the Years Ended December 31, 2003 and 2002
2003

Contributions:
Assets Available for Plan Benefits at beginning of year
Participants’ contributions during the year
Assets Available for Stock Purchases
Less:
Assets Used for Stock Purchases
Assets Available for Plan Benefits at End of Year

$ 113,348
470,722

$ 105,837
456,979

584,070

562,816

(474,868)

(449,468)

$ 109,202

See the accompanying notes to financial statements.
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1.

Description of Plan

The following description of the Myers Industries, Inc. Amended and Restated Employee (“Company”) Stock Purchase Plan (“Stock Plan”)
provides only general information. Participants should refer to the Plan Agreement and Prospectus for the Stock Plan for a more complete
description of the Plan’s provisions.
(a) General . The shareholders of the Company approved the adoption of a nonqualified and a qualified Employee Stock Purchase Plan.
The Stock Plan is designed to encourage, facilitate and provide employees with an opportunity to share in the favorable performance of the
Company through ownership of the Company’s Common Stock. The total number of shares of the Common Stock which may be sold under
the Stock Plan is currently limited to 188,176 shares.
(b) Purpose . The purpose of the Stock Plan is to provide employees (including officers) of the Company and its subsidiaries with an
opportunity to purchase Common Stock through payroll deductions.
(c) Administration . The Stock Plan is administered by a committee appointed by the Board of Directors. All questions of interpretation or
application of the Stock Plan are determined by the Board of Directors (or its appointed committee) and its decisions are final, conclusive and
binding upon all participants.
(d) Eligibility and Participation . Any permanent employee (including an officer) who has been employed for at least one calendar year
by the Company, or its subsidiaries who have adopted the Stock Plan, is eligible to participate in the Stock Plan, provided that such employee is
employed by the Company on the date his participation is effective and subject to limitations on stock ownership described in the Stock Plan.
Eligible employees become participants in the Stock Plan by delivering to the Company a subscription agreement authorizing payroll
deductions prior to the commencement of the applicable offering period.
(e) Offering Dates . The Stock Plan is implemented by one offering during each calendar quarter. Offering periods commence on the last
day of each calendar quarter. The Board of Directors has the power to alter the duration of the offering periods without shareholder approval.
(f) Purchase Price . The price at which shares may be purchased in an offering under the Stock Plan is 90% of the fair market value of the
Common Stock on the last day of the prior calendar quarter. The fair market value of the Common Stock on a given date is the closing price for
that date as listed on the American Stock Exchange.
(g) Payroll Deductions . The purchase price of the shares to be acquired under the Stock Plan are accumulated by payroll deductions over
the offering period. The rate of deductions may not be less than five dollars ($5.00) per week or exceed 10% of a participant’s compensation,
and the aggregate of all payroll deductions during the offering may not exceed 10% of the participant’s aggregate compensation for the offering
period. A participant may discontinue their participation in the Stock Plan or may decrease or increase the rate of payroll deductions at any time
during the offering period by filing with the Company a new authorization for payroll deductions.
All payroll deductions made for a participant are credited to their account under the Stock Plan and are deposited with the general funds of
the Company to be used for any corporate purpose. The amount by which an employee’s payroll deductions exceed the amount required to
purchase whole shares will be placed in a suspense account for the employee with no interest thereon and rolled over into the next offering
period.
(h) Withdrawal . A participant in the Stock Plan may terminate their interest in a given offering in whole, but not in part, by giving written
notice to the Company of their election to withdraw at any time prior to the end of the applicable offering period. Such withdrawal
automatically terminates the participant’s
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interest in that offering, but does not have any effect upon such participant’s eligibility to participate in subsequent offerings under the Stock
Plan.
(i) Termination of Employment . Termination of a participant’s employment for any reason, including retirement or death, cancels his or
her participation in the Stock Plan immediately.
(j) Nonassignability . No rights or accumulated payroll deductions of an employee under the Stock Plan may be pledged, assigned,
transferred or otherwise disposed of in any way for any reason, other than on account of death. Any attempt to do so may be treated by the
Company as an election to withdraw from the Stock Plan.
(k) Amendment and Termination of the Plan . The Board of Directors may at any time amend or terminate the Stock Plan. Except as
provided above, no amendment may be made to the Stock Plan without prior approval of the shareholders if such amendment would increase
the number of shares reserved under the Stock Plan, permit payroll deductions at a rate in excess of 10% of a participant’s compensation,
materially modify the eligibility requirements or materially increase the benefits which may accrue to participants under the Stock Plan.
(l) Taxation . Participants in the Stock Plan, which is nonqualified for federal income tax purposes, are taxed currently on the 10%
discount in the purchase price granted by the Stock Plan in the year in which stock is purchased. The 10% discount is treated as ordinary
income to the participant and that amount is currently deductible by the Company to the extent the participant’s total compensation from the
Company is within the “reasonable compensation” limits imposed by Section 162 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.
2.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Basis of Presentation . The accompanying statements of assets available for plan benefits and statements of changes in assets available
for plan benefits are prepared on the accrual basis of accounting.
(b) Administrative Expenses . Administrative costs and expenses are absorbed by the Trustee.
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ITEM 9.

Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

On June 13, 2002, the Company filed a Current Report on Form 8-K reporting that the Company’s Audit Committee of the Board of
Directors terminated Arthur Andersen LLP and appointed Ernst & Young LLP as the Company’s independent auditors for the Company’s
fiscal year ended December 31, 2002.
The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors selects the Company’s independent accountants. On June 13, 2002 the Audit Committee
terminated Arthur Andersen LLP as its independent auditors. Simultaneously with the termination of Arthur Andersen LLP, the Audit
Committee appointed Ernst & Young LLP as the Company’s independent auditors. The appointment of Ernst & Young LLP was made after
significant consideration and review by the Audit Committee, and concluded a thorough and deliberate evaluation including discussions with
the Board of Directors and management.
The reports of Arthur Andersen LLP on the Company’s financial statements for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2000 and 2001 did not
contain an adverse opinion, disclaimer of opinion or qualification or modification as to uncertainty, audit scope or accounting principles.
During the fiscal years ended December 31, 2000 and 2001 and during the subsequent interim period, there were no disagreements with Arthur
Andersen LLP on any matters of accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure or auditing scope or procedures. During the
fiscal years ended December 31, 2000 and 2001 and during the subsequent interim period, there were no reportable events (as defined in
Item 304(a)(1)(v) of Regulation S-K).
Simultaneously with the dismissal of Arthur Andersen LLP, the Audit Committee appointed Ernst & Young LLP as the Company’s
independent auditors. During the years ended December 31, 2000 and 2001 and through the date of the Audit Committee’s decision, the
Company did not consult Ernst & Young LLP regarding the application of accounting principles to a specified transaction, either completed or
proposed, or the type of audit opinion that might be rendered on the Company’s consolidated financial statements, or any matter that was either
the subject of disagreement on any matter of accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure or auditing scope or procedures
or a reportable event as defined in Item 304 (a)(1)(v) of Regulation S-K.
ITEM 9.(A)

Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the period covered by this report, the Company carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation
of the Company’s management, including the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the
design and operation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14. Based upon the evaluation,
the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of
December 31, 2003. There have been no significant changes in the Company’s internal controls or in other factors that could significantly
affect internal controls subsequent to December 31, 2003.
PART III
ITEM 10.

Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

For information about the directors of the Registrant, see “Election of Directors” on pages 3 through 8 of Registrant’s Proxy Statement
dated March 15, 2004 (“Proxy Statement”), which is incorporated herein by reference.
Information about the Executive Officers of Registrant appears in Part I of this Report.
Disclosures by the Registrant with respect to compliance with Section 16(a) appear on page 8 of the Proxy Statement, and are incorporated
herein by reference.
36

Table of Contents

ITEM 11.

Executive Compensation

See “Executive Compensation and Other Information” on pages 9 through 13 of the Proxy Statement, which is incorporated herein by
reference.
ITEM 12.

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

See “Principal Shareholders” and “Election of Directors” on page 22, and pages 3 through 8, respectively, of the Proxy Statement, which
are incorporated herein by reference.

Plan Category

(A)
Number of Securities to
Be Issued Upon
Exercise
of Outstanding Options,
Warrants or Rights

(B)
Weighted-average
Exercise Price of
Outstanding Options,
Warrants or Rights

(C)
Number of Securities
Remaining Available for
Future Issuance Under
Equity Compensation
Plans (Excluding
Securities Reflected
in Column (A))

Equity Compensation Plans Approved by
Security Holders (1)
Equity Compensation Plans Not Approved
by Security Holders

800,725

$9.60

1,623,885

–0–

–0–

–0–

Total

800,725

$9.60

1,623,885

(1)

This information is as January 30, 2004 and includes the 1992, 1997 and 1999 Stock Plans, and the Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

ITEM 13.

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

None.
PART IV
ITEM 14.

Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Required information regarding fees paid to and services provided by the Company’s independent auditor during the years ended
December 31, 2003 and 2002 and the pre-approval policies and procedures of the Audit Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors is set
forth on page 15 of the Proxy Statement dated March 15, 2004, which is incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 15.

Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K

The following consolidated financial statements of the Registrant appear in Part II of this Report:
15. (A)(1) Financial Statements
Consolidated Financial Statements of Myers Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Report of Independent Public Accountants
Statements of Consolidated Financial Position As Of December 31, 2003 and 2002
Statements of Consolidated Income For The Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001
Statements of Consolidated Shareholders’ Equity and Comprehensive Income For The Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and
2001
Statements of Consolidated Cash Flows For The Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements For The Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001
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Financial Statements for the Myers Industries, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan
Statements of Assets Available for Plan Benefits As Of December 31, 2003 and 2002
Statements of Changes in Assets Available for Plan Benefits For The Years Ended December 31, 2003 and 2002
15. (A)(2) Financial Statement Schedules
All schedules are omitted because they are inapplicable, not required, or because the information is included in the consolidated
financial statements or notes thereto which appear in Part II of this Report.
15. (A)(3) Management Contracts or Compensatory Plans or Arrangements
See those documents listed under ITEM 15 (c) which are marked as such.
15. (B) Reports on Form 8-K
No reports on Form 8-K have been filed during the last quarter of 2003.
15. (C) Exhibits
3(a)
3(b)
10(a)
10(b)
10(c)
10(d)
10(e)
10(f)
10(g)
10(h)
10(i)
10(j)
10(k)
10(l)

Myers Industries, Inc. Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation. Reference is made to Exhibit (3)(a) to Form 10-Q
filed with the Commission on May 17, 1999.
Myers Industries, Inc. Amended and Restated Code of Regulations. Reference is made to Exhibit (3)(b) to Form 10-K filed
with the Commission on March 26, 2003.
Myers Industries, Inc. Amended and Restated Employee Stock Purchase Plan. Reference is made to Exhibit 10(a) to
Form 10-K filed with the Commission on March 30, 2001.
Form of Indemnification Agreement for Directors and Officers. Reference is made to Exhibit 10(b) to Form 10-K filed
with the Commission on March 30, 2001.*
Myers Industries, Inc. Amended and Restated 1992 Stock Option Plan. Reference is made to Exhibit 10(c) to Form 10-K
filed with the Commission on March 30, 2001.*
Myers Industries, Inc. Amended and Restated Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan. Reference is made to
Exhibit 10(d) to Form 10-K filed with the Commission on March 30, 2001.
Myers Industries, Inc. 1997 Incentive Stock Plan. Reference is made to Exhibit 10.2 to Form S-8 (Registration Statement
No. 333-90367) filed with the Commission on November 5, 1999.*
Myers Industries, Inc. Amended and Restated 1999 Incentive Stock Plan. Reference is made to Exhibit 10(f) to Form 10-Q
filed with the Commission on May 6, 2003.*
Myers Industries, Inc. Executive Supplemental Retirement Plan. Reference is made to Exhibit (10)(g) to Form 10-K filed
with the Commission on March 26, 2003.*
Employment Letter between Myers Industries, Inc. and John C. Orr dated February 14, 2003. Reference is made to
Exhibit 10(h) to Form 10-Q filed with the Commission on May 6, 2003.*
Change of Control Agreement between Myers Industries, Inc. and John C. Orr dated February 14, 2003. Reference is made
to Exhibit 10(i) to Form 10-Q filed with the Commission on May 6, 2003.*
Non-Disclosure and Non-Competition Agreement between Myers Industries, Inc. and John C. Orr dated July 18, 2000.
Reference is made to Exhibit 10(j) to Form 10-Q filed with the Commission on May 6, 2003.*
Supplemental Compensation Agreement for Milton I. Wiskind dated April 25, 1996. Reference is made to Exhibit (10)(h)
to Form 10-K filed with the Commission on March 26, 2003.*
Employment Contract between Myers Europe, SA (fka Myers AE, SA) and Jean-Paul Lesage dated February 1, 1999.
Reference is made to Exhibit (10)(i) to Form 10-K filed with the Commission on March 26, 2003.*
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10(m)
10(n)
10(o)
21
23(a)
23(b)
23(c)
31.1
31.2
32

Description of the terms of employment between Myers Industries, Inc. and Kevin C. O’Neil dated June 10, 2003.
Reference is made to Exhibit (10)(j) to Form 10-K filed with the Commission on March 26, 2003.*
Amended and Restated Loan Agreement between Myers Industries, Inc. and Banc One, NA, Agent dated as of
February 27, 2004.
Note Purchase Agreement between Myers Industries, Inc. and the Note Purchasers, dated December 12, 2003, regarding
the issuance of (i) $65,000,000 of 6.08% Series 2003-A Senior Notes due December 12, 2010, and (ii) $35,000,000 of
6.81% Series 2003-A Senior Notes due December 12, 2013.
Subsidiaries of Registrant.
Consent of Ernst & Young, LLP, Independent Auditors
Statement regarding consent of Arthur Andersen, LLP
Consent of Ernst & Young, LLP, Independent Auditors — Myers Industries, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan.
Certification of Stephen E. Myers, President and Chief Executive Officer of Myers Industries, Inc, pursuant to Section 302
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Gregory J. Stodnick, Vice President-Finance (Chief Financial Officer) of Myers Industries, Inc., pursuant
to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certifications of Stephen E. Myers, President and Chief Executive Officer, and Gregory J. Stodnick, Vice President —
Finance (Chief Financial Officer), of Myers Industries, Inc. pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

* Indicates executive compensation plan or arrangement.
15.(D) FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
See subparagraph 15(a)(1) above.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
MYERS INDUSTRIES, INC.
By:

/s/ GREGORY J. STODNICK
Gregory J. Stodnick
Vice President — Finance and
Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf
of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Signature

Title

Date

/s/ GREGORY J. STODNICK

Vice President — Finance and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

March 15,
2004

Director

March 15,
2004

Director

March 15,
2004

Director

March 15,
2004

Director

March , 2004

Director

March 15,
2004

Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Director (Principal
Executive Officer)

March 15,
2004

Director

March 15,
2004

Director

March 15,
2004

Vice Chairman, Secretary and Director

March 15,
2004

Gregory J. Stodnick
/s/ KEITH A. BROWN
Keith A. Brown
/s/ KARL S. HAY
Karl S. Hay
/s/ RICHARD P. JOHNSTON
Richard P. Johnston

Michael W. Kane
/s/ EDWARD W. KISSEL
Edward W. Kissel
/s/ STEPHEN E. MYERS
Stephen E. Myers
/s/ RICHARD L. OSBORNE
Richard L. Osborne
/s/ JON H. OUTCALT
Jon H. Outcalt
/s/ MILTON I. WISKIND
Milton I. Wiskind
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EXHIBIT 10(n)
THIS AMENDED AND RESTATED LOAN AGREEMENT (this "Agreement"), dated as of February 27, 2004, among MYERS
INDUSTRIES, INC, an Ohio corporation (the "Company"), the FOREIGN SUBSIDIARY BORROWERS (as hereinafter defined) from time to
time parties hereto (together with the Company, the "Borrowers"), the lenders from time to time parties hereto (the "Lenders"), and BANK
ONE, NA, a national banking association, as Agent.
RECITALS
A. The Borrowers, the lenders party thereto (the "Existing Lenders"), and the Agent executed a Loan Agreement dated as of February 3, 1999
(as amended, the "Existing Loan Agreement").
B. The Borrowers have requested that the Lenders and the Agent amend and restate the Existing Loan Agreement as herein provided, and the
Lenders and the Agent are willing to amend and restate the Existing Loan Agreement on the terms and conditions herein set forth.
In consideration of the premises and of the mutual agreements herein contained, the parties hereto agree that the Existing Loan Agreement is
hereby amended and restated in its entirety as follows:
ARTICLE I
DEFINITIONS
1.1 Defined Terms. As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the following meanings:
"Acquisition" means any transaction, or any series of related transactions, consummated on or after the date of this Agreement, by which the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries (i) acquires any going business or all or substantially all of the assets of any Person or division thereof,
whether through purchase of assets, merger or otherwise or (ii) directly or indirectly acquires (in one transaction or as the most recent
transaction in a series of transactions) at least a majority (in number of votes) of the Voting Stock of any Person.
"Activated Commitment" is defined in Section 2.1(e).
"Activated Non-Pro Rata Sub-Commitment" is defined in Section 2.1(e).
"Advance" means a borrowing hereunder (or conversion or continuation thereof) consisting of the aggregate amount of the several Loans or
Facility Letters of Credit of the same Type and, in the case of BA Rate Loans, Eurocurrency Loans and Eurodollar Loans, in the same Agreed
Currency and for the same Interest Period, made by the Lenders on the same Borrowing Date (or converted or continued by the Lenders on the
same date of conversion or continuation).
"Affiliate" of any Person means any other Person directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by or under common control with such Person. A
Person shall be deemed to control another Person if the controlling Person owns 10% or more of any class of Voting Stock of the controlled
Person or possesses, directly or indirectly, the power to direct or cause the direction of the management or policies of the controlled Person,
whether through ownership of Capital Stock, by contract or otherwise.

"Agent" means Bank One in its capacity as contractual representative of the Lenders pursuant to Article XI, and not in its individual capacity as
a Lender, and any successor Agent appointed pursuant to Article XI.
"Aggregate Activated Commitment" is defined in Section 2.1(e).
"Aggregate Activated Non-Pro Rata Sub-Commitment" is defined in Section 2.1(e).
"Aggregate Commitments" means, as at any date of determination, the aggregate amount, stated in U.S. Dollars, of the Commitments of all
Lenders.
"Aggregate Credit Exposure" means, as at any date of determination, the aggregate Credit Exposure of all Lenders.
"Aggregate Non-Pro Rata Foreign Currency Credit Exposure" means, as at any date of determination, the aggregate Non-Pro Rata Foreign
Currency Credit Exposure of all Non-Pro Rata Lenders.
"Aggregate Non-Pro Rata Sub-Commitments" means, as at any date of determination, the aggregate amount of the Non-Pro Rata SubCommitments of all Lenders.
"Aggregate Pro Rata Foreign Currency Credit Exposure" means, as at any date of determination, the aggregate Pro Rata Foreign Currency
Credit Exposure of all Pro Rata Lenders.
"Agreed Currencies" means (i) U.S. Dollars and (ii) Agreed Foreign Currencies.
"Agreed Foreign Currencies" means (i) Agreed Pro Rata Foreign Currencies and (ii) Agreed Non-Pro Rata Foreign Currencies.
"Agreed Non-Pro Rata Foreign Currencies" means, so long as such currencies remain Eligible Currencies, Canadian Dollars and any other
Eligible Currency (other than U.S. Dollars) agreed to by all Non-Pro Rata Lenders to a Non-Pro Rata Borrower as being an Agreed Non-Pro
Rata Foreign Currency to be advanced hereunder to such Non-Pro Rata Borrower.
"Agreed Pro Rata Foreign Currencies" means, so long as such currencies remain Eligible Currencies, British Pounds Sterling, Euros and any
other Eligible Currency which is agreed to by all the Lenders as being an Agreed Pro Rata Foreign Currency to be advanced hereunder to a Pro
Rata Borrower.
"Agreement" means this amended and restated loan agreement, as it may be amended or modified and in effect from time to time.
"Agreement Accounting Principles" means generally accepted accounting principles as in effect from time to time in the United States,
changing as and when such generally accepted accounting principles change, and applied in a manner consistent with that used in preparing the
financial statements referred to in Section 5.4.
2

"Alternate Base Rate" means, for any day, a rate of interest per annum equal to the higher of (a) the Prime Rate for such day or (b) the sum of
the Federal Funds Effective Rate for such day plus 1/2% per annum.
"Applicable Margin" means the amounts set forth in the Pricing Schedule on Exhibit A hereto.
"Arranger" means Banc One Capital Markets, Inc. a Delaware corporation, and its successors.
"Article" means an article of this Agreement unless another document is specifically referenced.
"Assignment" is defined in Section 13.3.1.
"ATP" means [the Applied Tech Products automotive division].
"ATP Acquisition" means the Acquisition by the Company of ATP.
"ATP Acquisition Documents" means all agreements, documents and instruments executed in connection with the ATP Acquisition or
otherwise pursuant thereto.
"Authorized Officer" means, with respect to any Borrower, any of the chief executive officer, the chief financial officer or the treasurer of such
Borrower or any Person designated by any of the foregoing in writing to the Agent from time to time to act on behalf of such Borrower, in each
case, acting singly.
"BA Rate" means with respect to a BA Rate Loan for the relevant Interest Period, the sum of (a) the Applicable Margin plus (b) the bid rate
quoted by Bank One Canada for its own acceptances for the relevant Interest Period as of the Borrowing Date (the first day of such Interest
Period) or such other rate agreed to by all the Canadian Lenders and the Canadian Borrower.
"BA Rate Loan" means a Loan denominated in Canadian Dollars that bears interest based on the BA Rate.
"Bank One" means Bank One, NA, a national banking association with its main office in Chicago, Illinois.
"Bank One Canada" means Bank One, NA, Canada Branch, together with its Affiliates and successors and assigns.
"Borrowers" is defined in the preamble hereto.
"Borrowing Date" means any Business Day specified in a notice pursuant to Section 2.3, 2.7, 2.15 or 2.16 as a date on which a Borrower
requests the Lenders to make Loans hereunder or, with respect to the issuance of any Facility Letter of Credit, the date the applicable Issuer
issues such Facility Letter of Credit.
"British Pounds Sterling" or "(pound)" means the lawful currency of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland.
"Business Day" means (i) with respect to any borrowing, payment or rate selection of Eurocurrency or Eurodollar Advances, a day (other than
a Saturday or Sunday) on which banks generally are open in Chicago, London and New York for the conduct of substantially all of their
commercial
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lending activities and on which dealings in the applicable Agreed Currency is carried on in the London interbank market (and a day upon which
such clearing system as is determined by the Agent to be suitable for clearing or settlement of the applicable Agreed Currency is open for
business), and (ii) for all other purposes, a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which banks generally are open in Chicago, New York
and, in the case of any Advance to the Canadian Borrower, Toronto, for the conduct of substantially all of their commercial lending activities.
"Canadian Borrower" means any Foreign Subsidiary Borrower from time to time designated by the Agent as the "Canadian Borrower".
"Canadian Dollar" and "C$" means the lawful currency of Canada.
"Canadian Facility Letter of Credit" means any Letter of Credit for the account of the Canadian Borrower.
"Canadian Facility Letter of Credit Obligations" means Facility Letter of Credit Obligations with respect to Canadian Facility Letters of Credit.
"Canadian Lender" means any Lender with a Non-Pro Rata Sub-Commitment designated on Schedule 1.1(b) for Advances denominated in
Canadian Dollars to the Canadian Borrower.
"Canadian Loans" means Loans made to the Canadian Borrower pursuant to
Section 2.1(b).
"Capital Stock" means (i) in the case of any corporation, all capital stock and any securities exchangeable for or convertible into capital stock
and any warrants, rights or other options to purchase or otherwise acquire capital stock or such securities or any other form of equity securities,
(ii) in the case of an association or business entity, any and all shares, interests, participations, rights or other equivalents (however designated)
of corporate stock, (iii) in the case of a partnership or limited liability company, partnership or membership interests (whether general or
limited) and (iv) any other interest or participation that confers on a Person the right to receive a share of the profits and losses of, or
distributions of assets of, the issuing Person.
"Capitalized Lease" of a Person means any lease of Property by such Person as lessee which would be capitalized on a balance sheet of such
Person prepared in accordance with Agreement Accounting Principles.
"Capitalized Lease Obligations" of a Person means the amount of the obligations of such Person under Capitalized Leases which would be
shown as a liability on a balance sheet of such Person prepared in accordance with Agreement Accounting Principles.
"Cash Equivalents" means (i) securities issued directly and fully guaranteed or insured by the United States of America or any agency or
instrumentality thereof (provided that the full faith and credit of the United States of America is pledged in support thereof) having maturities
of not more than one year from the date of acquisition, (ii) U.S. Dollar denominated time deposits, certificates of deposit and bankers'
acceptances of (x) any Lender or
(y) any bank whose short-term commercial paper rating from S&P is at least A-1 or the
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equivalent thereof or from Moody's is at least P-1 or the equivalent thereof (any such bank, an "Approved Lender"), in each case with
maturities of not more than 90 days from the date of acquisition, (iii) commercial paper issued by any Lender or Approved Lender or by the
parent company of any Lender or Approved Lender and commercial paper issued by, or guaranteed by, any industrial or financial company
with a short-term commercial paper rating of at least A-1 or the equivalent thereof by S&P or at least P-1 or the equivalent thereof by Moody's,
or guaranteed by any industrial company with a long term unsecured debt rating of at least A or A2, or the equivalent of each thereof, from
S&P or Moody's, as the case may be, and in each case maturing within 90 days after the date of acquisition, (iv) foreign Investments
denominated in an Eligible Currency that are of similar type of, and that have a rating comparable to, any of the Investments referred to in the
preceding clauses (i) through (iii) above, and (v) investments in money market funds substantially all the assets of which are comprised of
securities of the types described in clauses (i) through (iv) above.
"Change of Control" means (i) a majority of the members of the Board of Directors of Company shall not be Continuing Directors; or (ii) any
Person including a "group" (within the meaning of Sections 13(d) and 14(d)(2) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) which
includes such Person, shall purchase or otherwise acquire, directly or indirectly, beneficial ownership of Voting Stock of Company and, as a
result of such purchase or acquisition, any such Person (together with its Affiliates), shall directly or indirectly beneficially own in the
aggregate Voting Stock representing more than 20% of the combined voting power of Company's Voting Stock.
"Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, reformed or otherwise modified from time to time.
"Collateral" means, collectively, the "Collateral" under and as defined in, and any other assets upon which a Lien has been granted by, the
Pledge Agreements, the Guaranties or any other Collateral Document.
"Collateral Documents" means, collectively, the Guaranties, the Consent and Amendment of Collateral Documents, the Intercreditor
Agreement, the Pledge Agreements, and all other agreements or documents granting or perfecting a Lien on any Collateral or guaranteeing the
Obligations in favor of the Agent for the benefit of the Lenders at any time, as any of the foregoing may be amended or modified from time to
time.
"Commitment" means, for each Lender, the obligation of such Lender to make Loans to, and participate in Facility Letters of Credit and Swing
Loans to, the Borrowers in an aggregate amount not to exceed at any time outstanding the amount set forth opposite such Lender's name in
Schedule 1.1(a) or as otherwise established pursuant to Section 13.3, as such amount may be modified from time to time pursuant to this
Agreement.
"Common Collateral" means the 65% of the Capital Stock of each Foreign Subsidiary owned by the Company or a Domestic Subsidiary and
required to be pledged under Section 2.18(a) of this Agreement to secure the Obligations and under the Senior Note Documents to secure the
Senior Note Obligations.
"Company" is defined in the preamble hereto.
"Condemnation" is defined in Section 7.8.
"Consent and Amendment of Collateral Documents" means the Consent and Amendment of Collateral Documents executed by the Borrowers
and the Guarantors dated the date hereof and in connection herewith, in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent, as amended or modified
from time to time.
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"Consolidated Adjusted Net Worth" means, as of any date, the amount of any capital stock, paid in capital and similar equity accounts plus (or
minus in the case of a deficit) the capital surplus and retained earnings of the Company and its Subsidiaries, minus the book value of Restricted
Investments (as defined in the Senior Note Purchase Agreement in the form in effect on the date hereof) and minority interests in stock and
surplus of Subsidiaries, and excluding non-cash foreign currency translation adjustments and the cumulative effect of any charges related to
impairment of goodwill as required under SFAS No. 142, all as determined in accordance with Agreement Accounting Principles on a
consolidated basis for the Company and its Subsidiaries.
"Contingent Obligation" of a Person means any agreement, undertaking or arrangement by which such Person assumes, guaranties, endorses,
contingently agrees to purchase or provide funds for the payment of, or otherwise becomes or is contingently liable upon, the obligation or
liability of any other Person, or agrees to maintain the net worth or working capital or other financial condition of any other Person, or
otherwise assures any creditor of such other Person against loss, including, without limitation, any comfort letter, operating agreement or takeor-pay contract. The amount of any Contingent Obligation shall be equal to the amount of the obligation that is so guarantied or supported that
is actually outstanding or otherwise due and payable from time to time, if a fixed and determinable amount or if there is no fixed or
determinable amount, either (x) if a maximum amount is guaranteed, the maximum amount or (y) if there is no maximum amount the amount
of the obligation that is so guarantied or supported.
"Continuing Directors" means individuals who at the beginning of any period of two consecutive calendar years constituted the board of
directors of the Company, together with any new directors whose election by such board of directors or whose nomination for election was
approved by a vote of at least two-thirds of the members of such board of directors then still in office who either were members of such board
of directors at the beginning of such period or whose election or nomination for election was previously so approved.
"Controlled Group" means all members of a controlled group of corporations and all trades or businesses (whether or not incorporated) under
common control which, together with the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, are treated as a single employer under Section 414 of the Code.
"Conversion/Continuation Notice" is defined in Section 2.7.1.
"Cost Rate" means
1. The cost of compliance with existing requirements of the Bank of England and/or the Financial Services Authority (or any authority which
replaces all or any of their functions) in respect of Advances denominated in sterling will be calculated by the Agent in relation to each
Advance on the basis of rates supplied by the Agent by reference to the circumstances existing on the first day of each Interest Period in respect
of such Advance and, if any such Interest Period exceeds three months, at three calendar monthly intervals from the first day of such Interest
Period during its duration in accordance with the following formula:
AB +C(B-D) + E x 0.01 per cent per annum
100 - (A+C)
Where:
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A. is the percentage of eligible liabilities (assuming these to be in excess of any stated minimum) which the Agent is from time to time required
to maintain as an interest free cash ratio deposit with the Bank of England to comply with cash ratio requirements.
B. is the percentage rate per annum at which sterling deposits are offered by the Agent in accordance with its normal practice, for a period
equal to (a) the relevant Interest Period (or, as the case may be, remainder of such Interest Period) in respect of the relevant Advance of (b)
three months, whichever is the shorter, to a leading bank in the London Interbank Market at or about 11:00 a.m. in a sum approximately equal
to the amount of such Advance.
C. is the percentage of eligible liabilities which the Agent is required from time to time to maintain as interest bearing special deposits with the
Bank of England.
D. is the percentage rate per annum payable by the Bank of England to the Agent on interest bearing special deposits.
E. is the rate payable by the Agent to the Financial Services authority pursuant to the Fees Regulations (but, for this purpose, the figure at
paragraph [2.02b]/[2.03b] of the Fees Regulations shall be deemed to be zero) and expressed in pounds per (pound)1,000,000 of the Fee Base
of the Agent.
2. For the purposes of this definition:
(a) "ELIGIBLE LIABILITIES" and "SPECIAL DEPOSITS" shall bear the meanings ascribed to them from time to time under or pursuant to
the Bank of England Act 1998 or (as appropriate) by the Bank of England;
(b) "FEE REGULATIONS" shall mean the Banking Supervision (Fees) Regulations 1998 or such other regulations as may be in force from
time to time in respect of the payment of fees for banking supervision; and
(c) "FEE BASE" shall bear the meaning ascribed to it, and shall be calculated in accordance with, the Fees Regulations.
3. The percentages used in A and C above shall be those required to be maintained on the first day of the relevant period as determined in
accordance with B above.
4. In application of the above formula, A, B, C and D will be included in the formula as figures and not as percentages e.g. if A is 0.5 per cent
and B is 12 per cent, AB will be calculated as 0.5 x 12 and not as 0.5 per cent x 12 per cent.
5. Calculations will be made on the basis of a 365 day year (or, if market practice differs, in accordance with market practice).
6. A negative result obtained by subtracting D from B shall be taken as zero.
7. The resulting figures shall be rounded upwards, if not already such a multiple, to the nearest whole multiple of one-thirty second of one
percent per annum.
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8. Additional amounts calculated in accordance with this definition are payable on the last day of the Interest Period to which they relate.
9. The determination of the Associated Costs Rate by the Agent in relation to any period shall, in the absence of manifest error, be conclusive
and binding on all of the parties hereto.
10. The Agent may from time to time, after consultation with the Company and the Lenders, determine and notify to all parties any
amendments or variations which are required to be made to the formula set out above in order to comply with any requirement s from time to
time imposed by the Bank of England or the Financial Services Authority (or any other authority which replaces all or any of their functions) in
relation to Advances denominated in sterling (including any requirements relating to sterling primary liquidity) and, any such determination
shall, in the absence of manifest error, be conclusive and binding on all the parties hereto.
"Credit Exposure" means as at any date of determination with respect to any Lender, the sum of the aggregate unpaid principal amount of such
Lender's Loans on such date and the amount of such Lender's Pro Rata Share of the Facility Letter of Credit Obligations and Swing Loans on
such date, all stated in U.S. Dollars.
"Default" means an event described in Article VII.
"Defaulting Lender" means any Lender that (a) on any Borrowing Date fails to make available to the Agent such Lender's Loans required to be
made to a Borrower on such Borrowing Date or (b) shall not have made a payment to the Issuer pursuant to Section 2.15.5 or the Agent
pursuant to Section 2.16. Once a Lender becomes a Defaulting Lender, such Lender shall continue as a Defaulting Lender until such time as
such Defaulting Lender makes available to the Agent the amount of such Defaulting Lender's Loans and/or to an Issuer such payments
requested by an Issuer together with all other amounts required to be paid to the Agent and/or the Issuers pursuant to this Agreement.
"Designated Financial Officer" means, with respect to any Borrower, its chief financial officer or treasurer.
"Designation Date" is defined in Section 2.1(e).
"Disqualified Stock" means any Capital Stock that, by its terms (or by the terms of any security into which it is convertible or for which it is
exchangeable), or upon the happening of any event, matures or is mandatorily redeemable, pursuant to a sinking fund obligation or otherwise,
or redeemable at the option of the holder thereof, in whole or in part.
"Domestic Subsidiary" means each present and future Subsidiary of the Company which is not a Foreign Subsidiary.
"EBIT" means, for any period, the sum of (a) the consolidated net income (or loss) of the Company and its Subsidiaries for such period
determined in conformity with Agreement Accounting Principles, plus (b) to the extent deducted in determining such net income, income
taxes, Interest Expense, minus
(c) to the extent included in determining such net income, each of the following, without duplication: (i) the income of any Person (other than a
Wholly-Owned Subsidiary of the Company) in which any Person other than the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has a joint interest or a
partnership interest or other ownership interest, except to the extent of the amount of dividends or other distributions
8

actually paid to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries by such Person during such period, (ii) the income of any Person accrued prior to the
date it becomes a Subsidiary of the Company or is merged into or consolidated with the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or that Person's
assets are acquired by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, (iii) gains from the sale, exchange, transfer or other disposition of property or
assets not in the ordinary course of business of the Company and its Subsidiaries, and related tax effects in accordance with Agreement
Accounting Principles, (iv) any other extraordinary or non-recurring gains or other income not from the continuing operations of the Company
or its Subsidiaries, and related tax effects in accordance with Agreement Accounting Principles and (v) the income of any Subsidiary of the
Company to the extent that the declaration or payment of dividends or similar distributions by that Subsidiary of that income is not at the time
permitted by operation of the terms of its charter or any agreement, instrument, judgment, decree, order, statute, rule or governmental
regulation applicable to that Subsidiary.
"EBITDA" means, for any period, EBIT for such period plus, to the extent deducted in determining such EBIT, depreciation and amortization
expense.
"Effective Date" means the date on which the conditions precedent set forth in Sections 4.1 and 4.2 are satisfied.
"Eligible Currency" means any currency other than U.S. Dollars (i) that is readily available, (ii) that is freely traded, (iii) in which deposits are
customarily offered to banks in the London interbank market, (iv) which is convertible into U.S. Dollars in the international interbank market
and (v) as to which an Equivalent Amount may be readily calculated. If, after the designation by the Lenders of any currency as an Agreed
Currency, (x) currency control or other exchange regulations are imposed in the country in which such currency is issued with the result that
different types of such currency are introduced, (y) such currency is, in the determination of the Agent, no longer readily available or freely
traded or (z) in the determination of the Agent, an Equivalent Amount of such currency is not readily calculable, the Agent shall promptly
notify the Lenders and the Company, and such currency shall no longer be an Agreed Currency until such time as all of the Lenders agree to
reinstate such currency as an Agreed Currency and promptly, but in any event within five Business Days of receipt of such notice from the
Agent, the Borrower shall repay all Loans in such affected currency or convert such Loans into Loans in U.S. Dollars or another Agreed
Currency, subject to the other terms set forth in Article II.
"Environmental Laws" means, with respect to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, any and all federal, state, local and foreign statutes, laws,
judicial decisions, regulations, ordinances, rules, judgments, orders, decrees, plans, injunctions, permits, concessions, grants, franchises,
licenses, agreements and other governmental restrictions relating to (a) the protection of the environment, (b) the effect of the environment on
human health, (c) emissions, discharges or releases of pollutants, contaminants, hazardous substances or wastes into surface water, ground
water or land, or (d) the manufacture, processing, distribution, use, treatment, storage, disposal, transport or handling of pollutants,
contaminants, hazardous substances or wastes or the clean-up or other remediation thereof, in each case, applicable to such Borrower or
Guarantor or their respective Property.
"Equivalent Amount" of any currency with respect to any amount of U.S. Dollars at any date means the equivalent in such currency of such
amount of U.S. Dollars, calculated on the basis of the arithmetical mean of the buy and sell spot rates of exchange of the Agent for such other
currency at 11:00 a.m., London time, on the date on or as of which such amount is to be determined.
"ERISA" means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended from time to time, and any rule or regulation issued
thereunder.
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"Euro" and/or "EUR" means the euro referred to in Council Regulation (EC) No. 1103/97 dated June 17, 1997 passed by the Council of the
European Union, or, if different, the then lawful currency of the member states of the European Union that participate in the third stage of
Economic and Monetary Union.
"Eurocurrency Advance" means an Advance which bears interest at the Eurocurrency Rate.
"Eurocurrency Loan" means a Loan which bears interest at the Eurocurrency Rate.
"Eurocurrency Rate" means, with respect to a Eurocurrency Loan for the relevant Interest Period, the sum of (a) the quotient of (i) the
Eurocurrency Reference Rate applicable to such Interest Period, divided by (ii) one minus the Reserve Requirement (expressed as a decimal)
applicable to such Interest Period, plus (b) the Applicable Margin.
"Eurocurrency Reference Rate" means, with respect to each Interest Period for a Foreign Currency Loan, the applicable British Bankers'
Association LIBOR rate for deposits in the applicable Agreed Foreign Currency as reported by any generally recognized financial information
service as of 11:00 a.m. (London time) two Business Days prior to the first day of such Interest Period (or, in the case of Foreign Currency
Loan denominated in British Pounds Sterling, on the first Business Day of such Interest Period), and having a maturity equal to such Interest
Period, provided that, if no such British Bankers' Association LIBOR rate is available, the applicable Eurocurrency Reference Rate for the
relevant Interest Period shall instead be the rate determined by the Agent to be the rate at which Bank One offers to place deposits in the
applicable Agreed Foreign Currency with first-class banks in the London interbank market at approximately 11:00 a.m. (London time) two
Business Days prior to the first day of such Interest Period (or, in the case of Foreign Currency Loan denominated in British Pounds Sterling,
on the first Business Day of such Interest Period), in the approximate amount of Bank One's relevant Foreign Currency Loan and having a
maturity equal to such Interest Period, plus, in each case, the Cost Rate.
"Eurodollar Advance" means an Advance which bears interest at a Eurodollar Rate.
"Eurodollar Base Rate" means, with respect to a Eurodollar Advance for the relevant Interest Period, the applicable British Bankers'
Association LIBOR rate for deposits in U.S. dollars as reported by any generally recognized financial information service as of 11:00 a.m.
(London time) two Business Days prior to the first day of such Interest Period, and having a maturity equal to such Interest Period, provided
that, if no such British Bankers' Association LIBOR rate is available to the Agent, the applicable Eurodollar Base Rate for the relevant Interest
Period shall instead be the rate determined by the Agent to be the rate at which Bank One or one of its Affiliate banks offers to place deposits in
U.S. Dollars with first-class banks in the interbank market at approximately 11:00 a.m. (London time) two Business Days prior to the first day
of such Interest Period, in the approximate amount of Bank One's relevant Eurodollar Loan and having a maturity equal to such Interest Period.
"Eurodollar Loan" means a Loan which bears interest at a Eurodollar Rate.
"Eurodollar Rate" means, with respect to a Eurodollar Loan for the relevant Interest Period, the sum of (a) the quotient of (i) the Eurodollar
Base Rate applicable to such Interest Period, divided by (ii) one minus the Reserve Requirement (expressed as a decimal) applicable to such
Interest Period, plus
(b) the Applicable Margin. The Eurodollar Rate shall be rounded to the next higher multiple of 1/16 of 1% if the rate is not such a multiple.
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"Exchange Rate" means with respect to any non-U.S. Dollar currency on any date, the rate at which such currency may be exchanged into U.S.
Dollars, as set forth on such date on the relevant Reuters currency page at or about 11:00
a.m., LONDON TIME. In the event that such rate does not appear on any Reuters currency page, the "Exchange Rate" with respect to such
non-U.S. Dollar currency shall be determined by reference to such other publicly available service for displaying exchange rates as may be
agreed upon by the Agent and the Company or, in the absence of such agreement, such "Exchange Rate" shall instead be the Agent's spot rate
of exchange in the interbank market where its foreign currency exchange operations in respect of such non-U.S. Dollar currency are then being
conducted, at or about 10:00 a.m., local time, on such date for the purchase of U.S. Dollars with such non-U.S. Dollar currency, for delivery
three Business Days later; provided, that if at the time of any such determination, no such spot rate can reasonably be quoted, the Agent may
use any reasonable method as it deems applicable to determine such rate, and such determination shall be conclusive absent manifest error.
"Existing Lenders" is defined in the recitals to this Agreement.
"Existing Loan Agreement" is defined in the recitals to this Agreement.
"Exiting Lender" is defined in Section 2.20.
"Facility Letter of Credit" means a Letter of Credit issued by an Issuer pursuant to Section 2.15.
"Facility Letter of Credit Obligations" means, as at the time of determination thereof, all liabilities, whether actual or contingent, of a Borrower
with respect to the Facility Letters of Credit, including the sum of
(a) Reimbursement Obligations and, without duplication, (b) the aggregate undrawn face amount of the outstanding Facility Letters of Credit.
"Facility Termination Date" means the earlier to occur of (a) February 27, 2009 or (b) the date on which the Commitments are terminated
pursuant to Article VIII.
"Federal Funds Effective Rate" means, for any day, an interest rate per annum equal to the weighted average of the rates on overnight Federal
funds transactions with members of the Federal Reserve System arranged by Federal funds brokers on such day, as published for such day (or,
if such day is not a Business Day, for the immediately preceding Business Day) by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or, if such rate is
not so published for any day which is a Business Day, the average of the quotations at approximately 10:00 a.m. (Eastern Standard Time) on
such day on such transactions received by the Agent from three Federal funds brokers of recognized standing selected by the Agent in its sole
discretion or, when used in connection with any Advance denominated in any Eligible Currency, "Federal Funds Effective Rate" means the
correlative rate of interest with respect to such Eligible Currency as determined by the Agent in its sole discretion for such day.
"Financial Contract" of a Person means (a) any exchange-traded or over-the-counter futures, forward, swap or option contract or other financial
instrument with similar characteristics or (b) any Rate Hedging Agreement.
"Fixed Rate" means the BA Rate, Eurodollar Rate or the Eurocurrency Rate.
"Fixed Rate Advance" means an Advance which bears interest at a Fixed Rate.
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"Fixed Rate Loan" means a Loan which bears interest at a Fixed Rate.
"Floating Rate" means, for any day, a rate per annum (based on a year of 365 or 366 days as appropriate) equal to the sum of (a) the Applicable
Margin plus (b) the Alternate Base Rate for such day, in each case changing when and as the Alternate Base Rate changes.
"Floating Rate Advance" means an Advance which bears interest at the Floating Rate.
"Floating Rate Loan" means a Loan which bears interest at the Floating Rate.
"Foreign Currency Facility Letter of Credit" means any Letter of Credit denominated in an Agreed Foreign Currency.
"Foreign Currency Facility Letter of Credit Obligations" means Facility Letter of Credit Obligations with respect to Foreign Currency Facility
Letters of Credit.
"Foreign Currency Loans" means Loans denominated in an Agreed Foreign Currency.
"Foreign Subsidiary" means each Subsidiary organized under the laws of a jurisdiction outside of the United States.
"Foreign Subsidiary Borrower" means each Foreign Subsidiary listed as a Foreign Subsidiary Borrower in Schedule 1.1(b) as amended from
time to time in accordance with Section 8.2.2.
"Foreign Subsidiary Opinion" means with respect to any Foreign Subsidiary Borrower, a legal opinion of counsel to such Foreign Subsidiary
Borrower addressed to the Agent and the Lenders concluding that such Foreign Subsidiary Borrower and the Loan Documents to which it is a
party substantially comply with the matters listed on Exhibit B, with such assumptions, qualifications and deviations therefrom as the Agent
shall approve.
"Governmental Authority" means any nation or government, any state, or other political subdivision thereof and any entity exercising
executive, legislative, judicial, regulatory or administrative functions of or pertaining to government.
"Guarantor" means (a) with respect to the Obligations of the Foreign Subsidiary Borrowers, the Company, each present and future Domestic
Subsidiary of the Company and each Subsidiary of such Foreign Subsidiary Borrower (unless such Foreign Subsidiary Borrower is prohibited
from doing so by law) required to execute a Guaranty pursuant hereto and (b) with respect to the Company, each present and future Domestic
Subsidiary of the Company required to execute a Guaranty pursuant hereto and any other Person executing a Guaranty at any time, provided
that Securitization Entities shall not be Guarantors.
"Guaranty" means, collectively, with respect to the Company, the guarantee contained in Article IX and, with respect to any other Guarantor,
the Guaranty Agreement dated as of February 3, 1999 by Buckhorn, Inc., Ameri-Kart Corp., Buckhorn Rubber Products, Inc. and Patch Rubber
Company in favor of the Agent and the Lenders, as modified by the Joinder Agreement dated as of July 24, 2003 by MYELux LLC, Buckhorn,
Inc., Ameri-Kart Corp., Buckhorn Rubber Products, Inc. and Patch Rubber Company (adding MYELux LLC as a Guarantor under such
Guaranty Agreement), entered into pursuant to the Existing Credit Agreement (and which continue pursuant hereto) and as amended by the
Consent
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and Amendment of Collateral Documents and as further amended or modified from time to time, and any other guaranty or similar agreements
in form and substance acceptable to the Agent entered into by any Guarantor at any time for the benefit of the Agent and the Lenders pursuant
to this Agreement, as amended or modified from time to time.
"Indebtedness" of a Person means, without duplication, such Person's
(a) obligations for borrowed money or similar obligations, (b) obligations representing the deferred purchase price of Property or services
(other than accounts payable and/or accrued expenses arising in the ordinary course of such Person's business payable in accordance with
customary practices), (c) obligations, whether or not assumed, secured by Liens on property now or hereafter owned or acquired by such
Person, (d) obligations which are evidenced by notes, acceptances, or other instruments (other than Financial Contracts), to the extent of the
amounts actually borrowed, due, payable or drawn, as the case may be, (e) Capitalized Lease Obligations, (f) all obligations in respect of
Letters of Credit, whether drawn or undrawn, contingent or otherwise, (g) any other obligation for borrowed money or other financial
accommodation which in accordance with Agreement Accounting Principles would be shown as a liability on the consolidated balance sheet of
such Person, (h) all other indebtedness, obligations and liabilities incurred in connection with any asset securitizations, regardless of whether
such indebtedness, obligations or other liabilities are recourse or non recourse to such Person and regardless of whether such indebtedness,
obligations or other liabilities are required to be shown as a liability on the consolidated balance sheet of such Person in accordance with
Agreement Accounting Principles, and (i) Contingent Obligations with respect to any of the foregoing.
"Intercreditor Agreement" means the Intercreditor Agreement dated December 12, 2003 among the Company, the Guarantors, the Agent and
the Senior Note Holders, as amended or modified from time to time.
"Interest Coverage Ratio" means, as of the end of any fiscal quarter, the ratio of (a) EBIT to (b) Interest Expense, in each case calculated for the
four consecutive fiscal quarters then ending, on a consolidated basis for the Company and its Subsidiaries in accordance with Agreement
Accounting Principles.
"Interest Expense" means, with respect to any period, the aggregate of all interest expense reported by the Company and its Subsidiaries in
accordance with Agreement Accounting Principles during such period, net of any cash interest income received by the Company and its
Subsidiaries during such period from Investments. As used in this definition, the term "interest" shall include, without limitation, all interest,
fees and costs payable with respect to the obligations under this Agreement (other than fees and costs which may be capitalized as transaction
costs in accordance with Agreement Accounting Principles), any discount in respect of sales of accounts receivable and/or related contract
rights and the interest portion of Capitalized Lease payments during such period, all as determined in accordance with Agreement Accounting
Principles.
"Interest Period" means:
(a) with respect to any BA Rate Loan, the period beginning on (and including) the date on which such BA Rate Loan is made or continued to
(but excluding) the date which is 30, 60 or 90 days thereafter or such other period of time agreed to by all the Canadian Lenders, as the
Canadian Borrower may elect hereunder, and each subsequent period commencing on the expiry of the immediately preceding Interest Period
and ending on the date 30, 60 or 90 days (or such other period acceptable to such Canadian Borrower and each of the Canadian Lenders)
thereafter, as the Canadian Borrower may elect hereunder, provided, however, that (a) each Interest Period which would otherwise end on a day
which is not a
13

Business Day shall end on the next succeeding Business Day, and (b) no Interest Period shall be permitted which would end after the Facility
Termination Date; and
(b) with respect to any Eurodollar Loan or Eurocurrency Loan:
(i) initially, the period commencing on the borrowing or conversion date, as the case may be, with respect to such Eurodollar Loan or
Eurocurrency Loan and ending one, two, three, or six months thereafter, as selected by the relevant Borrower in its notice of borrowing or
notice of conversion, as the case may be, given with respect thereto; and
(ii) thereafter, each period commencing on the last day of the next preceding Interest Period applicable to such Eurodollar Loan or
Eurocurrency Loan and ending one, two, three or six months thereafter, as selected by the relevant Borrower by irrevocable notice to the Agent
not less than three Business Days prior to the last day of the then current Interest Period with respect thereto;
provided that, all of the foregoing provisions relating to Interest Periods are subject to the following:
(A) if any Interest Period pertaining to a Eurodollar Loan or Eurocurrency Loan would otherwise end on a day that is not a Business Day, such
Interest Period shall be extended to the next succeeding Business Day unless the result of such extension would be to carry such Interest Period
into another calendar month in which event such Interest Period shall end on the immediately preceding Business Day;
(B) any Interest Period applicable to a Eurodollar Loan or Eurocurrency Loan that would otherwise extend beyond the Facility Termination
Date, shall end on the Facility Termination Date; and
(C) any Interest Period pertaining to a Eurodollar Loan or Eurocurrency Loan that begins on the last Business Day of a calendar month (or on a
day for which there is no numerically corresponding day in the calendar month at the end of such Interest Period) shall end on the last Business
Day of a calendar month.
"Investment" of a Person means any loan, advance (other than commission, travel and similar advances to officers and employees made in the
ordinary course of business), extension of credit (other than accounts receivable and/or accrued expenses arising in the ordinary course of
business payable in accordance with customary practices and loans to employees in the ordinary course of business) or contribution of capital
by such Person; stocks, bonds, mutual funds, partnership interests, notes, debentures or other securities owned by such Person; any deposit
accounts and certificates of deposit owned by such Person; and structured notes, derivative financial instruments and other similar instruments
or contracts owned by such Person (other than Financial Contracts).
"Issuers" or "Issuer" means (i) Bank One, and (ii) any Lending Installation of Bank One as Bank One may determine to be the issuer for any
Facility Letter of Credit.
"Joinder Agreement" means the Joinder Agreement to be entered into by each Foreign Subsidiary Borrower subsequent to the date hereof
pursuant to
Section 8.2.2, substantially in the form of Exhibit C hereto.
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"Judgment Currency" is defined in Section 16.6.
"Lenders" means the lending institutions listed on the signature pages of this Agreement and their respective successors and, to the extent
permitted by Section 13.3, assigns.
"Lending Installation" means, with respect to a Lender or the Agent, any office, branch, subsidiary or Affiliate of such Lender or the Agent, as
the case may be.
"Letter of Credit" of a Person means a letter of credit or similar instrument which is issued upon the application of such Person or upon which
such Person is an account party or for which such Person is in any way liable.
"Letter of Credit Collateral Account" is defined in Section 2.15.7.
"Leverage Ratio" means, as of any date, the ratio of (a) Total Debt at such date to (b) EBITDA, as calculated for the four most recently ended
consecutive fiscal quarters of the Company.
"Lien" means any lien (statutory or other), mortgage, pledge, hypothecation, fixed or floating charge, assignment, deposit arrangement,
encumbrance or preference, priority or other security agreement or preferential arrangement of any kind or nature whatsoever (including,
without limitation, the interest of a vendor or lessor under any conditional sale, Capitalized Lease or other title retention agreement), provided
that the filing of financing statements solely with respect to, or other lien or claim solely on, any interest in accounts or notes receivable which
are sold or otherwise transferred in a Permitted Securitization Transaction shall not be considered a Lien.
"Loan Documents" means this Agreement, the Notes, the Collateral Documents, any Rate Hedging Agreements with any Lenders or their
Affiliates and the other agreements, certificates and other documents contemplated hereby or executed or delivered pursuant hereto by any
Borrower or any Guarantor at any time with or in favor of the Agent or any Lender.
"Loans" means, with respect to a Lender, such Lender's U.S. Loans, Pro Rata Foreign Currency Loans and Non-Pro Rata Foreign Currency
Loans and, with respect to the Agent, Swing Loans.
"Margin Stock" means margin stock as defined in Regulations T, U or X.
"Material Adverse Effect" means a material adverse effect on (i) the business, Property, prospects, condition (financial or otherwise) or results
of operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole, (ii) the ability of any Borrower or Guarantor to pay the Obligations under
the Loan Documents, or (iii) the validity or enforceability of any of the Loan Documents or the rights or remedies of the Agent or the Lenders
thereunder.
"Moody's" means Moody's Investors Service, Inc.
"Multiemployer Plan" means a plan defined in Section 4001(a)(3) of ERISA to which the Company or any member of the Controlled Group
has an obligation to contribute.
"Net Cash Proceeds" means, without duplication (a) in connection with any sale or other disposition of any asset or any settlement by, or
receipt of payment in respect of, any property insurance claim or condemnation award, the cash proceeds (including any cash payments
received by way of deferred payment of principal pursuant to a note or installment receivable or purchase price adjustment
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receivable or otherwise, but only as and when received) of such sale, settlement or payment, net of reasonable and documented attorneys' fees,
accountants' fees, investment banking fees, amounts required to be applied to the repayment of Indebtedness secured by a Lien expressly
permitted hereunder on any asset which is the subject of such sale, insurance claim or condemnation award (other than any Lien in favor of the
Agent for the benefit of the Agent and the Lenders) and other customary fees actually incurred in connection therewith and net of taxes paid or
reasonably estimated to be payable as a result thereof and (b) in connection with any issuance or sale of any equity securities or debt securities
or instruments or the incurrence of loans, the cash proceeds received from such issuance or incurrence, net of investment banking fees,
reasonable and documented attorneys' fees, accountants' fees, underwriting discounts and commissions and other reasonable and customary
fees and expenses actually incurred in connection therewith.
"Non-Excluded Taxes" is defined in Section 3.6.1.
"Non-Pro Rata Borrower" means, at any time, the Canadian Borrower and all other Foreign Subsidiary Borrowers permitted to request
Advances under
Section 2.1(b) in Agreed Non-Pro Rata Currencies pursuant to a Non-Pro Rata Sub-Commitment.
"Non-Pro Rata Facility Letter of Credit" means any Letter of Credit denominated in an Agreed Non-Pro Rata Foreign Currency for the account
of a Non-Pro Rata Borrower.
"Non-Pro Rata Facility Letter of Credit Obligations" means Facility Letter of Credit Obligations with respect to Non-Pro Rata Facility Letters
of Credit.
"Non-Pro Rata Foreign Currency Credit Exposure" means as at any date of determination with respect to any Non-Pro Rata Lender, the sum of
the aggregate unpaid principal amount of such Lender's Non-Pro Rata Foreign Currency Loans on such date and the amount of such Lender's
Pro Rata Share of the Non-Pro Rata Foreign Currency Facility Letter of Credit Obligations and Non-Pro Rata Foreign Currency Swing Loans
on such date, all stated in U.S. Dollars.
"Non-Pro Rata Foreign Currency Loans" means Loans denominated in an Agreed Non-Pro Rata Foreign Currency made to a Non-Pro Rata
Borrower pursuant to
Section 2.1(b).
"Non-Pro Rata Foreign Currency Swing Loans" means Swing Loans denominated in an Agreed Pro Rata Foreign Currency made to a Non-Pro
Rata Borrower.
"Non-Pro Rata Lender" means each Lender with a Non-Pro Rata Sub-Commitment.
"Non-Pro Rata Sub-Commitment" means, for each Non-Pro Rata Lender, the obligation of such Lender to make Non-Pro Rata Loans to, and
participate in Non-Pro Rata Facility Letters of Credit and Non-Pro Rata Swing Loans to, a Non-Pro Rata Borrower in an aggregate amount not
to exceed at any time outstanding the amount set forth opposite such Non-Pro Rata Lender's name in Schedule 1.1(a) for such Non-Pro Rata
Borrower or as otherwise established pursuant to Section 13.3, as such amount may be modified from time to time pursuant to this Agreement.
"Note" is defined in Section 2.2.3.
"Notice of Assignment" is defined in Section 13.3.2.
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"Obligations" means collectively, the unpaid principal of and interest on the Loans, all obligations and liabilities pursuant to the Facility Letters
of Credit, all Rate Hedging Obligations and all other obligations and liabilities of each Borrower and each Guarantor to the Agent or the
Lenders
(including Affiliates of such Lenders in the case of Rate Hedging obligations)
under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents (including, without limitation, interest accruing at the then applicable rate provided in this
Agreement or any other applicable Loan Document after the maturity of the Loans and interest accruing at the then applicable rate provided in
this Agreement or any other applicable Loan Document after the filing of any petition in bankruptcy, or the commencement of any insolvency,
reorganization or like proceeding, relating to any Borrower or any Guarantor, as the case may be, whether or not a claim for post-filing or postpetition interest is allowed in such proceeding), whether direct or indirect, absolute or contingent, due or to become due, or now existing or
hereafter incurred, which may arise under, out of, or in connection with, this Agreement, the other Loan Documents or any other document
made, delivered or given in connection therewith, in each case whether on account of principal, interest, reimbursement obligations, fees,
indemnities, costs, expenses or otherwise (including, without limitation, all reasonable fees and disbursements of counsel to the Agent or to the
Lenders that are required to be paid by any Borrower or any Guarantor pursuant to the terms of this Agreement or any other Loan Document).
"Obligor" means any Person which is obligated to make payments for the provision of goods and services pursuant to a Contract.
"Participants" is defined in Section 13.2.1.
"Payment Date" means the last Business Day of each March, June, September and December occurring after the Effective Date, commencing
March 31, 2004.
"PBGC" means the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation, or any successor thereto.
"Permitted Securitization Transaction" means any asset securitization transaction (i) by a Securitization Entity, (ii) which is sale or other
transfer of an interest in accounts or notes receivable, and (iii) which is otherwise permitted by the terms of this Agreement and any other
agreement binding on the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.
"Person" means any natural person, corporation, firm, joint venture, limited liability company, partnership, association, enterprise, company or
other entity or organization, or any government or political subdivision or any agency, department or instrumentality thereof.
"Plan" means an employee pension benefit plan which is covered by Title IV of ERISA or subject to the minimum funding standards under
Section 412 of the Code as to which the Company or any member of the Controlled Group has any obligation to contribute to on or after the
Effective Date.
"Pledge Agreements" means, collectively, the Pledge Agreement and Irrevocable Proxy dated as of July 28, 2003, as amended and restated by
an Amended and Restated Pledge Agreement and Irrevocable Proxy dated as of December 12, 2003 given by MYELux LLC and the Company
in favor of Bank One, NA, as collateral agent and the Pledge Over Parts (Parts D'Interets) in MYELux International Finance S.e.c.s. dated 1
August 2003 given by MYELux LLC and the Company in favor of Bank One, NA, as collateral agent, as amended by an amendment
agreement dated as of 12 December 2003, each entered into pursuant to the Existing Credit Agreement (and which continue pursuant hereto)
and as amended by the Consent and Amendment of Collateral Documents and as further amended or modified from time to time, and any other
pledge or similar agreements in form and substance acceptable to the
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Agent entered into by any Borrower or Guarantor at any time for the benefit of the Agent and the Lenders pursuant to this Agreement, as
amended or modified from time to time.
"Prime Rate" means (a) with respect to Loans denominated in U.S. Dollars, the per annum rate announced or established by the Agent from
time to time as its "prime rate" (it being acknowledged that such announced rate may not necessarily be the lowest rate charged by the Agent to
any of its customers),
(b) with respect to Loans denominated in Canadian Dollars, the sum of 130 basis points plus the per annum rate announced or established by
Bank One Canada from time to time as its "prime rate" (it being acknowledged that such announced rate may not necessarily be the lowest rate
charged by Bank One Canada to any of its customers) or (c) when used in connection with any Advance denominated in any Eligible Currency
other than Canadian Dollars, the correlative floating rate of interest customarily applicable to similar extensions of credit to corporate
borrowers denominated in such currency in the country of issue, as determined by the Agent, which Prime Rate shall change simultaneously
with any change in such announced or established rates.
"Pro Rata Borrower" means, at any time, all Foreign Subsidiary Borrowers entitled to request Advances under Section 2.1(a) denominated in
Agreed Pro Rata Foreign Currencies from all Lenders.
"Pro Rata Facility Letter of Credit" means any Letter of Credit denominated in an Agreed Pro Rata Foreign Currency for the account of a Pro
Rata Borrower.
"Pro Rata Facility Letter of Credit Obligations" means Facility Letter of Credit Obligations with respect to Pro Rata Facility Letters of Credit.
"Pro Rata Foreign Currency Loans" means Loans denominated in an Agreed Pro Rata Foreign Currency made to a Pro Rata Borrower pursuant
to Section 2.1(a).
"Pro Rata Foreign Currency Credit Exposure" means, as at any date of determination with respect to any Lender, the sum of the aggregate
unpaid principal amount of such Lender's Pro Rata Foreign Currency Loans on such date and the amount of such Lender's Pro Rata Share of
the Pro Rata Foreign Currency Facility Letter of Credit Obligations and Pro Rata Swing Loans on such date, all stated in U.S. Dollars.
"Pro Rata Foreign Currency Swing Loans" means Swing Loans denominated in an Agreed Pro Rata Foreign Currency made to a Pro Rata
Borrower.
"Pro Rata Share" means, for each Lender, the ratio of such Lender's Commitment to the Aggregate Commitment, provided that (a) with respect
to U.S. Loans, U.S. Facility Letters of Credit, U.S. Swing Loans, Pro Rata Foreign Currency Loans, Pro Rata Foreign Currency Facility Letters
of Credit and Pro Rata Foreign Currency Swing Loans, Pro Rata Share means, for each Lender, the ratio that (x) such Lender's Activated
Commitment minus such Lender's Activated Non-Pro Rata Sub-Commitments bears to (y) the Aggregate Activated Commitment minus the
Aggregate Activated Non-Pro Rata Sub-Commitment, and (b) with respect to Non-Pro Rata Foreign Currency Loans, Non-Pro Rata Foreign
Currency Facility Letters of Credit and Non-Pro Rata Foreign Currency Swing Loans to any Non-Pro Rata Borrower, Pro Rata Share means,
for each Lender, the ratio such Lender's Activated Non-Pro Rata Sub-Commitment with respect to such Non-Pro Rata Borrower bear to the
Aggregate Activated Non-Pro Rata Sub-Commitment with respect to such Non-Pro Rata Borrower. If at any time the Commitments have been
terminated, the amount of any Commitment for the purposes of this definition of "Pro Rata Share" only shall be deemed equal to the amount of
such Commitment immediately prior to its termination.
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"Property" of a Person means any and all property, whether real, personal, movable, immovable, tangible, intangible, or mixed, of such Person,
or other assets owned, leased or operated by such Person.
"Purchasers" is defined in Section 13.3.1.
"Rate Hedging Agreement" means an agreement, device or arrangement providing for payments which are related to fluctuations of interest
rates, exchange rates or forward rates, including, but not limited to, dollar-denominated or cross-currency interest rate exchange agreements,
forward currency exchange agreements, interest rate cap or collar protection agreements, forward rate currency or interest rate options, puts and
warrants.
"Rate Hedging Obligations" of a Person means any and all obligations of such Person, whether absolute or contingent and howsoever and
whensoever created, arising, evidenced or acquired (including all renewals, extensions and modifications thereof and substitutions therefor),
under (a) any and all Rate Hedging Agreements, and (b) any and all cancellations, buy backs, reversals, terminations or assignments of any
Rate Hedging Agreement.
"Regulation D" means Regulation D of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System as from time to time in effect and any successor
thereto or other regulation or official interpretation of said Board of Governors relating to reserve requirements applicable to member banks of
the Federal Reserve System.
"Regulation T" means Regulation T of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System as from time to time in effect and any successor
or other regulation or official interpretation of said Board of Governors.
"Regulation U" means Regulation U of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System as from time to time in effect and any successor
or other regulation or official interpretation of said Board of Governors.
"Regulation X" means Regulation X of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System as from time to time in effect and any successor
or other regulation or official interpretation of said Board of Governors.
"Reimbursement Obligations" means, at any time, the aggregate of the obligations of the Borrowers to the Lenders and the Issuers in respect of
all unreimbursed payments or disbursements made by the Issuers and the Lenders under or in respect of the Facility Letters of Credit.
"Reportable Event" means a reportable event as defined in Section 4043 of ERISA and the regulations issued under such section with respect to
a Plan, excluding, however, such events as to which the PBGC by regulation waived the requirement of Section 4043(a) of ERISA that it be
notified within 30 days of the occurrence of such event, provided, however, that a failure to meet the minimum funding standard of Section 412
of the Code and of Section 302 of ERISA shall be a Reportable Event regardless of the issuance of any such waiver of the notice requirement
in accordance with either Section 4043(a) of ERISA or Section 412(d) of the Code.
"Required Lenders" means (a) at any time prior to the termination of the Commitments, Lenders holding not less than 51% of the aggregate
Commitments of all Lenders; and (b) at any time after the
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termination of the Commitments, Lenders whose Aggregate Credit Exposure aggregate at least 51% of the Aggregate Credit Exposure of all
Lenders.
"Requirement of Law" means as to any Person, the certificate of incorporation and by-laws or other organizational or governing documents of
such Person, and any law, treaty, rule or regulation or determination of an arbitrator or a court or other Governmental Authority, in each case
applicable to or binding upon such Person or any of its Property or to which such Person or any of its Property is subject.
"Reserve Requirement" means, with respect to an Interest Period for Eurodollar Loans or Eurocurrency Loans, the maximum aggregate reserve
requirement (including all basic, supplemental, marginal and other reserves), assessments or similar requirements under any regulations of the
Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System or other Governmental Authority having jurisdiction with respect thereto dealing with
reserve requirements prescribed for eurocurrency funding (currently referred to as "Eurocurrency Liabilities" in Regulation D).
"S&P" means Standard & Poor's Rating Services, a division of The McGraw Hill Companies, Inc.
"Same Day Funds" means (a) with respect to disbursements and payments in U.S. Dollars, immediately available funds, and (b) with respect to
disbursements and payments in any other Agreed Currency, same day or other funds as may be determined by the Agent to be customary in the
place of disbursement or payment for the settlement of international banking transactions in such Agreed Currency.
"Section" means a numbered section of this Agreement, unless another document is specifically referenced.
"Securitization Entity" means a wholly-owned Subsidiary of the Company that engages in no activities other than Permitted Securitization
Transactions and any necessary related activities and owns no assets other than as required for Permitted Securitization Transactions and no
portion of the Indebtedness (contingent or otherwise) of which is guaranteed by the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company or is recourse
to or obligates the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company in any way, other than pursuant to customary representations, warranties,
covenants, indemnities, performance guaranties and other obligations entered into in connection with a Permitted Securitization Transaction.
"Senior Note Documents" means the Senior Notes, the Senior Note Purchase Agreement and all other agreements, instruments or documents
executed or issued in connection with the Senior Notes.
"Senior Note Purchase Agreement" means the Note Purchase Agreement dated December 12, 2003 among the Senior Note Holders and the
Company, as amended or modified from time to time if permitted hereunder.
"Senior Note Holders" means the holders of the Senior Notes.
"Senior Note Obligations" means the current and future obligations and liabilities owing pursuant to the Senior Note Documents.
"Senior Notes" means the Company's $65,000,000 6.08% Series 2003-A Senior Notes, Tranche 1, due December 12, 2010 and $35,000,000
6.81% Series 2003-A Senior Notes, Tranche 2, due December 12, 2013.
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"Significant Subsidiary" means each present or future subsidiary of the Company which would constitute a "significant subsidiary" within the
meaning of Rule 1-02 of Regulation S-X as currently in effect promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission.
"Single Employer Plan" means a Plan which is maintained by the Company or any member of the Controlled Group for employees of the
Company or any member of the Controlled Group.
"Subsidiary" of a Person means (a) any corporation more than 50% of the outstanding securities having ordinary voting power of which shall at
the time be owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by such Person or by one or more of its Subsidiaries or by such Person and one or more
of its Subsidiaries, or
(b) any partnership, limited liability company, association, joint venture or similar business organization more than 50% of the ownership
interests having ordinary voting power of which shall at the time be so owned or controlled. Unless otherwise expressly provided, all references
herein to a "Subsidiary" means a Subsidiary of the Company.
"Substantial Portion" means, with respect to the Property of the Company and its Subsidiaries, Property which (a) represents more than 10% of
the consolidated assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries as would be shown in the consolidated financial statements of the Company and its
Subsidiaries as at the beginning of the twelve-month period ending with the month in which such determination is made, (b) is responsible for
more than 10% of the consolidated net sales or of the consolidated net income of the Company and its Subsidiaries as reflected in the financial
statements referred to in clause (a) above, (c) represents more than 25% of the consolidated assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries as
would be shown in the consolidated financial statements of the Company and its Subsidiaries as of the Effective Date or (d) is responsible for
more than 25% of the consolidated net sales or of the consolidated net income of the Company and its Subsidiaries as reflected in the financial
statements referred to in clause (c) above.
"Swing Loans" is defined in Section 2.16.
"Total Debt" as of any date, means all of the following for the Company and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis and without duplication:
(i) all debt for borrowed money and similar monetary obligations evidenced by bonds, notes, debentures, Capitalized Lease Obligations or
otherwise, including without limitation obligations in respect of the deferred purchase price of properties or assets, in each case whether
director indirect; (ii) all liabilities secured by any Lien existing on property owned or acquired subject thereto, whether or not the liability
secured thereby shall have been assumed; (iii) all reimbursement obligations under outstanding letters of credit in respect of drafts which (A)
may be presented at any time or (B) have been presented and have not yet been paid and are not included in clause (i) above; (iv) all
redemption obligations in respect of mandatorily redeemable Capital Stock; (v) all liabilities for the deferred purchase price of property
acquired by the Company or its Subsidiaries (excluding accounts payable and other accrued liabilities arising in the ordinary course of business
but including, without limitation, all liabilities created or arising under any conditional sale or other title retention agreement with respect to
any such property); (vi) all Indebtedness of the type described in clause (h) of the definition of Indebtedness, including without limitation any
Permitted Securitization Transaction, based on the outstanding amount securitized or financed; and (vii) all guarantees and other Contingent
Obligation relating to indebtedness or liabilities of the type described in the foregoing clauses (i), (ii), (iii),
(iv), (v) or (vi).
"Transferee" is defined in Section 13.4.
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"Type" means, with respect to any Advance, its nature as a Floating Rate Advance, Eurocurrency Loan or Eurodollar Loan.
"Unfunded Liabilities" means the amount (if any) by which the actuarial present value of all benefit liabilities under all Single Employer Plans
exceeds the fair market value of all such Plan assets allocable to such benefit liabilities, all determined as of the then most recent valuation date
for such Plans using FASB actuarial assumptions for single employer plan terminations.
"Unmatured Default" means an event which but for the lapse of time or the giving of notice, or both, would constitute a Default.
"U.S. Dollar Equivalent" means, on any date with respect to an amount denominated in any currency other than U.S. Dollars, the equivalent in
U.S. Dollars of such amount determined at the Exchange Rate on the date of determination of such equivalent.
"U.S. Dollars" and "$" means dollars in lawful currency of the United States of America.
"U.S. Facility Letter of Credit" means any Letter of Credit denominated in U.S. Dollars for the account of the Company.
"U.S. Facility Letter of Credit Obligations" means Facility Letter of Credit Obligations with respect to U.S. Facility Letters of Credit.
"U.S. Loans" means Loans denominated in U.S. Dollars made to the Company pursuant to Section 2.1(a).
"U.S. Swing Loans" means Swing Loans denominated in U.S. Dollars made to the Company.
"Voting Stock" of a Person means all classes of Capital Stock of such Person then outstanding and normally entitled (without regard to the
occurrence of any contingency) to vote in the election of directors, managers, trustees or similar persons thereof.
"Wholly-Owned Subsidiary" of a Person means any other Person of which 100% of the outstanding Voting Stock of which shall at the time be
owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by such Person or one or more Wholly-Owned Subsidiaries of such Person, or by such Person and
one or more Wholly-Owned Subsidiaries of such Person.
1.2 Rules of Construction. All terms defined in Section 1.1 shall include both the singular and the plural forms thereof and shall be construed
accordingly. Use of the terms "herein", "hereof", and "hereunder" shall be deemed references to this Agreement in its entirety and not to the
Section or clause in which such term appears. References to "Sections" and "subsections" shall be to Sections and subsections, respectively, of
this Agreement unless otherwise specifically provided. Notwithstanding anything herein, in any financial statements of the Company or in
Agreement Accounting Principles to the contrary, for purposes of calculating the Applicable Margin and of calculating and determining
compliance with the financial covenants in Sections 6.19, 6.20 and 6.21, including defined terms used therein, any Acquisitions made by the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries, including through mergers or consolidations and including the incurrence of all Indebtedness related
thereto and any other related financial transactions, during the period for which such financial covenants were calculated shall be deemed to
have occurred on the first day of the relevant period for which such financial covenants and the Applicable Margin were calculated on a pro
forma basis acceptable to the Agent.
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ARTICLE II
THE CREDITS
2.1 Commitments.
(a) Pro Rata Loans. Each Lender agrees, for itself only, subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, to make U.S. Dollar Loans to the
Company and Pro Rata Foreign Currency Loans to the Company and the Pro Rata Borrowers and to participate in U.S. Dollar Facility Letters
of Credit, U.S. Dollar Swing Loans, Pro Rata Foreign Currency Letters of Credit and Pro Rata Foreign Currency Swing Loans, from time to
time from and including the Effective Date to but excluding the Facility Termination Date, not to exceed in aggregate principal amount at any
time outstanding the amount determined pursuant to Section 2.1(c). U.S. Dollar Loans or any portion thereof, at the Company's option, may be
Floating Rate Loans or Eurodollar Loans or any combination thereof subject to the terms hereof. Pro Rata Foreign Currency Loans shall be
Eurocurrency Loans, subject to the terms hereof.
(b) Non-Pro Rata Loans Each Non-Pro Rata Lender agrees, for itself only, subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, to make NonPro Rata Foreign Currency Loans to each Non-Pro Rata Borrower for which such Non-Pro Rata Lender has a Non-Pro Rata Sub-Commitment
and to participate in Non-Pro Rata Foreign Currency Letters of Credit and Non-Pro Rata Foreign Currency Swing Loans to each Non-Pro Rata
Borrower for which such Non-Pro Rata Lender has a Non-Pro Rata Sub-Commitment, from time to time from and including the Effective Date
to but excluding the Facility Termination Date, not to exceed in aggregate principal amount at any time outstanding the amount determined
pursuant to
Section 2.1(c). Non-Pro Rata Loans denominated in Canadian Dollars or any portion thereof, at the Canadian Borrower's option, may be
Floating Rate Loans or BA Rate Loans or any combination thereof subject to the terms hereof. Other Non-Pro Rata Foreign Currency Loans
shall be Eurocurrency Loans or Loans bearing interest at such other rate agreed to in writing by the applicable Non-Pro Rata Borrower and all
Non-Pro Rata Lenders having a Non-Pro Rata Sub-Commitment with respect to such Non-Pro Rata Borrower, subject to the terms hereof.
(c) Limitation on Amount of Advances. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary:
(i) the U.S. Dollar Equivalent of the aggregate principal amount of the Aggregate Credit Exposure at any time shall not exceed the Aggregate
Commitment;
(ii) the U.S. Dollar Equivalent of the aggregate Facility Letter of Credit Obligations at any time outstanding shall not exceed $25,000,000;
(iii) the U.S. Dollar Equivalent of the aggregate Facility Letter of Credit Obligations issued for the account of Foreign Subsidiary Borrowers at
any time outstanding shall not exceed $15,000,000;
(iv) the U.S. Dollar Equivalent of the aggregate of Swing Loans at any time outstanding shall not exceed $20,000,000;
23

(v) the U.S. Dollar Equivalent of the aggregate of Swing Loans owing by Foreign Subsidiary Borrowers at any time outstanding shall not
exceed $10,000,000;
(vi) the U.S. Dollar Equivalent of the aggregate principal amount of the sum of the Aggregate Non-Pro Rata Foreign Currency Credit Exposure
and the Aggregate Pro Rata Foreign Currency Credit Exposure at any time shall not exceed $50,000,000;
(vii) the U.S. Dollar Equivalent of the aggregate principal amount of the Aggregate Non-Pro Rata Foreign Currency Credit Exposure at any
time shall not exceed $20,000,000; and
(viii) the U.S. Dollar Equivalent of the Aggregate Credit Exposure of any Lender shall not exceed the Commitment of such Lender.
(d) As of the Effective Date, the Non-Pro Rata Sub-Commitments are set forth on Schedule 1.1(a). The Company may, by written notice to the
Agent at least ten (10) Business Days prior to a Designation Date and to be effective as of such Designation Date, reduce, increase or terminate
any Non-Pro Rata Sub-Commitments and request the establishment of additional Non-Pro Rata Sub-Commitments to other Non-Pro Rata
Borrowers in additional Non-Pro Rata Foreign Currencies, provided that (i) the Dollar Equivalent of the aggregate amount of all of the NonPro Rata Sub-Commitments does not exceed $20,000,000,
(ii) any new Non-Pro Rata Borrower shall have satisfied all conditions described in Section 8.2.2 for adding a new Foreign Borrowing
Subsidiary, (iii) the Company and the Agent shall have agreed to the Non-Pro Rata Lenders to such new Non-Pro Rata Borrower or, in the case
of an increase in an existing Non-Pro Rata Sub-Commitments, the Non-Pro Rata Lenders with respect to such increase, and agreed to the
amount of the Non-Pro Rata Sub-Commitments thereof, and (iv) all such Non-Pro Rata Lenders to a new Non-Pro Rata Borrower or with an
increase in an existing Non-Pro Rata Sub-Commitments described in the foregoing clause (iii) for such Designation Date shall have agreed to
the amount of the hereto. The Agent will distribute to the Lenders a revised Schedule 1.1(a) reflecting such modifications pursuant to this
Section 2.1(d) on or before each Designation Date on which a modification in Schedule 1.1(a) occurs. It is the intent of this
Section 2.1(d) that a Non-Pro Rata Borrower will be added only when all Lenders cannot lend to such Non-Pro Rata Borrower without
withholding tax issues or other legal impediments as determined by the Agent and the Company.
(e) (i) The Company may, effective as of the Effective Date and each date each successive three months thereafter (a "Designation Date"),
designate a portion of the Commitments and the Non-Pro Rata Sub-Commitments as activated or de-activated (the amount of the Commitment
of any Lender designated as activated by the Company is defined as its "Activated Commitment", the aggregate amount of all such Activated
Commitments is defined as the "Aggregate Activated Commitment", the amount of the Non-Pro Rata Sub-Commitment of any Lender
designated as activated by the Company is defined as its "Activated Non-Pro Rata Sub-Commitment" and the aggregate amount of all
Activated Non-Pro Rata Sub-Commitment is defined as the "Aggregate Activated Non-Pro Rata Sub-Commitment"), provided that (A) such
activation or de-activation shall be in increments of $10,000,000, (B) the aggregate Activated Non-Pro Rata Sub-Commitments may not exceed
$20,000,000, and the aggregate amount of the Activated Commitments plus the Activated Non-Pro Rata Sub-Commitments shall equal the
Commitments, and (C) the Company gives written notification to the Agent of such designation at least five (5) Business Days prior to such
Designation Date.
(ii) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Agent shall determine each Lender's Activated Commitment, Activated Non-Pro Rata
Sub-Commitments and Pro Rata Share as of each Designation Date. The amount of each Lender's Activated Commitment and Activated NonPro Rata Sub-Commitments will approximate such Lender's Commitment as determined by the Agent. The
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Activated Commitment of any Lender that does not have a Non-Pro Rata Sub-Commitment will equal its Commitment. The Agent will
distribute to the Lenders their revised Activated Commitments and Activated Non-Pro Rata Sub-Commitments and respective Pro Rata Shares
on or before each Designation Date.
(iii) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, all Advances will be funded based on such Pro Rata Shares determined as of the most
recent Designation Date and the Borrowers shall pay the Aggregate Credit Exposure on each Designation Date by an amount, if any, such that
each Lender is holding its appropriate revised Pro Rata Share of the appropriate Aggregate Credit Exposure on such Designation Date
2.2 Repayment of Loans; Evidence of Debt.
2.2.1 (a) Each Borrower hereby unconditionally promises to pay to the Agent for the account of each Lender in the relevant Agreed Currency
the then unpaid principal amount of each Loan owing by such Borrower to such Lender on the Facility Termination Date and on such other
dates and in such other amounts as may be required from time to time pursuant to this Agreement. Each Borrower hereby further agrees to pay
to the Agent for the account of each Lender interest in the relevant Agreed Currency on the unpaid principal amount of the Loans owing by
such Borrower from time to time outstanding until payment thereof in full at the rates per annum, and on the dates, set forth in Section 2.8.
(b) In addition to all other payments of the Loans required hereunder, the Borrowers shall prepay the Loans by an amount equal to 50% of all
Net Cash Proceeds of any Indebtedness for borrowed money incurred at any time after the Effective Date, other than indebtedness permitted by
Section
6.10 (exclusive of clause (v) of Section 6.10). Such mandatory prepayments shall be applied pro rata to the Advances and shall reduce all
Commitments pro rata based on the amount of such prepayment.
(c) In addition to all other payments of the Advance required hereunder, the Borrowers shall prepay the Loans by an amount equal to 100% of
all Net Cash Proceeds of any Indebtedness for asset securitizations or similar obligations, including without limitation in connection with any
Permitted Securitization Transaction incurred at any time after the Effective Date. Such mandatory prepayments shall be applied first to the
U.S. Advances until paid in full and shall reduce all Commitments based on the amount of such Net Cash Proceeds, and thereafter any such
payments shall be applied pro rata to the other Advances and shall reduce all such other Commitments pro rata based on the amount of such
Net Cash Proceeds remaining after payment in full of the U.S. Advances.
(d) In addition to all payments of the Advance required hereunder, the Borrowers shall prepay the Loans by an amount equal to 100% of the
Net Cash Proceeds in excess of $15,000,000 in aggregate amount after the Effective Date from the issuance or other sale of any Capital Stock
of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries. Such mandatory prepayments on the Loans shall be applied pro rata on the Advances and shall
reduce all Commitments pro rata based on the amount of such Net Cash Proceeds.
(e) In addition to all other payments of the Loans required hereunder, the Borrowers shall prepay the Advances at any time the Advances
exceed the amounts permitted under Section 2.1(c) by an amount equal to or greater than the amount of such excess.
(f) The Borrowers shall give the Agent at least three Business Days' irrevocable written notice of each prepayment that the Borrowers expect to
make pursuant Sections 2.2.1(b), (c) and
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(d), in each case specifying the amount of such prepayment and a brief description of the event or events which cause such prepayment to be
made.
2.2.2 The books and records of the Agent and of each Lender shall, to the extent permitted by applicable law, be prima facie evidence of the
existence and amounts of the obligations of the Borrowers therein recorded; provided, however, that the failure of any Lender or the Agent to
maintain any such books and records or any error therein, shall not in any manner affect the obligation of the Borrowers to repay (with
applicable interest) the Loans made to such Borrowers by such Lender in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.
2.2.3 The Borrowers agree that, upon the request to the Agent by any Lender, the relevant Borrowers will execute and deliver to such Lender
promissory notes of each Borrower evidencing the Loans of such Lender, substantially in the form of Exhibit D with appropriate insertions as
to date, currency and principal amount (each, a "Note"); provided, that the delivery of such Notes shall not be a condition precedent to the
Effective Date.
2.3 Procedures for Borrowing. (a) Each Borrower may borrow under the Commitments from time to time prior to the Facility Termination Date
on any Business Day.
(b) The Company shall give the Agent irrevocable notice (which notice must be received by the Agent prior to 10:00 a.m., Eastern Standard
Time) (i) three Business Days prior to the requested Borrowing Date, if all or any part of the requested Loans are to be initially Eurodollar
Loans, or
(ii) one Business Day prior to the requested Borrowing Date otherwise, specifying in each case (w) the amount to be borrowed, (x) the
requested Borrowing Date, (y) whether the borrowing is to be of Eurodollar Loans, Floating Rate Loans or a combination thereof and (z) if the
borrowing is to be entirely or partly of Eurodollar Loans, the amount of such Type of Loan and the length of the initial Interest Periods
therefor. Each borrowing under the Commitments shall be in an amount equal to (A) in the case of Floating Rate Loans, $5,000,000 or a whole
multiple of $1,000,000 in excess thereof (or, if the then aggregate available Commitments are less than $5,000,000, such lesser amount) and
(B) in the case of Eurodollar Loans, $5,000,000 or a whole multiple of $1,000,000 in excess thereof. Upon receipt of any such notice from the
Company, the Agent shall promptly notify each Lender thereof. Not later than 11:00 a.m., Eastern Standard Time on each requested Borrowing
Date each Lender shall make an amount equal to its Pro Rata Share of the principal amount of the Loans requested to be made on such
Borrowing Date available to the Agent at its office specified in Section 14.1 in U.S. Dollars and in Same Day Funds. The Agent shall on such
date credit the account of the Company on the books of such office with the aggregate of the amounts made available to the Agent by the
Lenders and in like funds as received by the Agent.
(c) Each Pro Rata Borrower shall give the Agent irrevocable notice (which notice must be received by the Agent prior to 10:00
a.m., London time four Business Days prior to the requested Borrowing Date) specifying in each case (i) the amount to be borrowed, (ii) the
requested Borrowing Date and (iii) the length of the initial Interest Period therefor. The Canadian Borrower shall give the Agent irrevocable
notice (which notice must be received by the Agent prior to 10:00 a.m., Eastern Standard Time) (i) three Business Days (or such other time
agreed to by all the Canadian Lenders and the Canadian Borrower) prior to the requested Borrowing Date, if all or any part of the requested
Loans are to be initially BA Rate Loans, or (ii) one Business Day (or such other time agreed to by all the Canadian Lenders and the Canadian
Borrower) prior to the requested Borrowing Date otherwise, specifying in each case (w) the amount to be borrowed, (x) the requested
Borrowing Date, (y) whether the borrowing is to be of BA Rate Loans, Floating Rate Loans or a combination thereof and (z) if the borrowing is
to be entirely or partly of BA Rate Loans, the amount of such Type of Loan and the length of the initial
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Interest Periods therefor. Each other Non-Pro Rata Borrower shall give the Agent irrevocable notice by such time and specifying such matters
as required by the Agent and the Non-Pro Rata Lenders to such Non-Pro Rata Borrower. Each borrowing by a Pro Rata Borrower shall be in
U.S. Dollars or an Agreed Pro Rata Foreign Currency and each borrowing by a Non-Pro Rata Borrower shall be in an Agreed Non-Pro Rata
Foreign Currency for such Borrower. Each borrowing by any Foreign Subsidiary Borrower shall be in an amount equal to an amount in the
relevant Agreed Foreign Currency which is 5,000,000 units or a whole multiple of 1,000,000 units in excess thereof or such other amounts as
may be agreed upon among the Company and the Agent. Upon receipt of any such notice from any such Borrower, the Agent shall promptly
notify the relevant Lenders with respect to such Borrower. Not later than 2:00 p.m., local time of the Agent's funding office for such Borrower,
on the requested Borrowing Date, each such Lender shall make an amount equal to its Pro Rata Share of the principal amount of such Loans
requested to be made on such Borrowing Date available to the Agent at the Agent's funding office for such Borrower specified by the Agent
from time to time by notice to such Lenders and in Same Day Funds. The amounts made available by each such Lender will then be made
available to the relevant Borrower at the funding office for such Borrower and in like funds as received by the Agent.
2.4 Termination or Reduction of Commitments. The Company may permanently reduce the Commitments, in whole or in part, ratably among
the Lenders in integral multiples of $5,000,000; provided, however, that the Aggregate Commitments may not be reduced below the Aggregate
Credit Exposure of all Lenders. In addition, all accrued facility fees shall be payable on the effective date of any termination of the
Commitments.
2.5 Facility and Agent Fees. (a) THE COMPANY agrees to pay to the Agent for the account of each Lender a facility fee at the rate per annum
set forth in the Pricing Schedule on Exhibit A attached hereto, on the average daily amount of each Commitment of such Lender, whether used
or unused, activated or deactivated, from and including the Effective Date to but excluding the Facility Termination Date, payable on each
Payment Date hereafter and on the Facility Termination Date.
(b) The Company agrees to pay to the Agent for its own account, such other fees as agreed to in writing between the Company and the Agent.
2.6 Optional Principal Payments on All Loans.
2.6.1 The Company may at any time and from time to time prepay Floating Rate Loans, in whole or in part, without penalty or premium, upon
at least one Business Day's irrevocable notice to the Agent, specifying the date and amount of prepayment. If any such notice is given, the
amount specified in such notice shall be due and payable on the date specified therein. Partial prepayment of Floating Rate Loans shall be in a
minimum aggregate amount of $1,000,000 or any integral multiple of $1,000,000 in excess thereof, or such lesser principal amount as may
equal the outstanding Floating Rate Loans to a Borrower or such lesser amount as may be agreed to by the Agent.
2.6.2 Each Borrower may at any time and from time to time prepay, without premium or penalty (but together with payment of any amount
payable pursuant to Section 3.4), its Fixed Rate Loans in whole or in part, upon at least three Business Days' irrevocable notice to the Agent
(WHICH NOTICE MUST BE RECEIVED BY THE AGENT PRIOR TO 10:00 A.M., EASTERN STANDARD TIME, IN THE CASE OF
PREPAYMENTS BY THE COMPANY AND PRIOR TO 10:00 A.M., LONDON TIME, IN THE CASE OF PREPAYMENTS BY ANY
OTHER BORROWER) specifying the date and amount of prepayment. Partial payments of Fixed Rate
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Loans shall be in a minimum aggregate amount of 5,000,000 units in the applicable Agreed Currency or in an integral multiple of 1,000,000
units in excess thereof, or such lesser principal amount as may equal the outstanding Fixed Rate Loans to a Borrower or such lesser amount as
may be agreed to by the Agent.
2.6.3 Each prepayment pursuant to this Section 2.6 and each conversion pursuant to Section 2.7 shall be accompanied by accrued and unpaid
interest on the amount prepaid to the date of prepayment and any amounts payable under Section 3.4 in connection with such payment.
2.6.4 Prepayments by any Borrower pursuant to this Section 2.6 shall be applied first to any Floating Rate Loans of such Borrower and second
to any Fixed Rate Loans of such Borrower then outstanding in such order as such Borrower may direct, provided that all prepayments on any
Loans to a Borrower shall be applied pro rata to the Loans owing by such Borrower.
2.6.5 All amounts prepaid may be reborrowed and successively repaid and reborrowed, subject to the other terms and conditions in this
Agreement.
2.7. Conversion and Continuation of Outstanding Advances.
2.7.1 U.S. Advances. U.S. Loans that are Floating Rate Advances shall continue as Floating Rate Advances unless and until such Floating Rate
Advances are converted into Eurodollar Advances. Each Eurodollar Advance shall continue as a Eurodollar Advance until the end of the then
applicable Interest Period therefor, at which time such Eurodollar Advance shall be automatically converted into a Floating Rate Advance
unless the Company shall have given the Agent a Conversion/Continuation Notice requesting that, at the end of such Interest Period, such
Eurodollar Advance either continue as a Eurodollar Advance for the same or another Interest Period or be converted into a Floating Rate
Advance. Subject to the terms hereof, the Company may elect from time to time to convert all or any part of a Advance of any Type to the
Company into any other Type or Types of Advance; provided that any conversion of any Eurodollar Advance shall be made on, and only on,
the last day of the Interest Period applicable thereto. The Company shall give the Agent irrevocable notice (a "Conversion/Continuation
Notice") of each conversion of an Advance or continuation of a Eurodollar Advance not later than 10:00 a.m. (Eastern Standard Time) at least
one Business Day, in the case of a conversion into a Floating Rate Advance, or three Business Days, in the case of a conversion into or
continuation of a Eurodollar Advance, prior to the date of the requested conversion or continuation, specifying:
the requested date, which shall be a Business Day, of such conversion or continuation,
the aggregate amount and Type of the Advance which is to be converted or continued, and
the amounts and Type(s) of Advance(s) into which such Advance is to be converted or continued and, in the case of a conversion into or
continuation of a Eurodollar Advance, the duration of the Interest Period applicable thereto.
2.7.2 Eurocurrency Advances. Any Eurocurrency Advances may be continued as such upon the expiration of the then current Interest Period
with respect thereto by the relevant Borrower giving the Agent at least three Business Days' prior irrevocable notice (WHICH NOTICE MUST
BE RECEIVED BY THE AGENT PRIOR TO 10:00 A.M., EASTERN STANDARD TIME, IN THE CASE OF CONTINUATIONS BY THE
COMPANY AND PRIOR TO 10:00 A.M., LONDON TIME, IN THE CASE OF CONTINUATIONS BY ANY OTHER BORROWER) of
such election and specifying the duration of the Interest Period applicable thereto, provided, that if the relevant
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Borrower shall fail to give such notice, such Eurocurrency Advance shall be automatically continued for an Interest Period of one month
provided that such continuation would not extend the Interest Period beyond the Facility Termination Date.
2.7.3 Canadian Advances. Canadian Loans that are Floating Rate Advances shall continue as Floating Rate Advances unless and until such
Floating Rate Advances are converted into BA Rate Advances. Each BA Rate Advance shall continue as a BA Rate Advance until the end of
the then applicable Interest Period therefor, at which time such BA Rate Advance shall be automatically converted into a Floating Rate
Advance unless the Canadian Borrower shall have given the Agent a Conversion/Continuation Notice requesting that, at the end of such
Interest Period, such BA Rate Advance either continue as a BA Rate Advance for the same or another Interest Period or be converted into a
Floating Rate Advance. Subject to the terms hereof, the Canadian Borrower may elect from time to time to convert all or any part of a Advance
of any Type to the Canadian Borrower into any other Type or Types of Advance; provided that any conversion of any BA Rate Advance shall
be made on, and only on, the last day of the Interest Period applicable thereto. The Canadian Borrower shall give the Agent irrevocable notice
(a "Conversion/Continuation Notice") of each conversion of an Advance or continuation of a BA Rate Advance not later than 10:00 a.m.
(Toronto time) at least one Business Day (or such other time agreed to by all the Canadian Lenders and the Canadian Borrower), in the case of
a conversion into a Floating Rate Advance, or three Business Days (or such other time agreed to by all the Canadian Lenders and the Canadian
Borrower), in the case of a conversion into or continuation of a BA Rate Advance, prior to the date of the requested conversion or continuation,
specifying:
the requested date, which shall be a Business Day, of such conversion or continuation,
the aggregate amount and Type of the Advance which is to be converted or continued, and
the amounts and Type(s) of Advance(s) into which such Advance is to be converted or continued and, in the case of a conversion into or
continuation of a BA Rate Advance, the duration of the Interest Period applicable thereto.
2.8 Interest Rates, Interest Payment Dates; Interest and Fee Basis. (a) Each Floating Rate Loan shall bear interest on the outstanding principal
amount thereof, for each day from and including the date such Loan is made or is converted from a Fixed Rate Loan into a Floating Rate Loan
pursuant to Section 2.7 to but excluding the date it becomes due or is converted into a Fixed Rate Loan pursuant to Section 2.7 hereof, at a rate
per annum equal to the Floating Rate for such day. Each Eurodollar Loan shall bear interest for each day during each Interest Period with
respect thereto at a rate per annum equal to the Eurodollar Rate determined for such Interest Period. Each Eurocurrency Loan to any Foreign
Subsidiary Borrower shall bear interest for each day during each Interest Period with respect thereto at a rate per annum equal to the applicable
Eurocurrency Rate determined for such Interest Period or at such other interest rate as agreed to by all Lenders. Each BA Rate Loan to the
Canadian Borrower shall bear interest for each day during each Interest Period with respect thereto at a rate per annum equal to the applicable
BA Rate determined for such Interest Period or as such other interest rate as agreed to by all Canadian Lenders.
(b) Interest accrued on each Floating Rate Advance shall be payable on each Payment Date, commencing with the first such date to occur after
the Effective Date and at maturity. Interest accrued on each Fixed Rate Advance shall be payable on the last day of its applicable Interest
Period, on any date on which the Fixed Rate Advance is prepaid, whether by acceleration or otherwise, and at maturity.
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Interest accrued on each Fixed Rate Advance having an Interest Period longer than three months shall also be payable on the last day of each
three-month interval during such Interest Period.
(c) Interest shall be payable for the day an Advance is made but not for the day of any payment on the amount paid if payment is received prior
to noon (local time) at the place of payment. If any payment of principal of or interest on an Advance shall become due on a day which is not a
Business Day, except as otherwise provided in the definition of Interest Period, such payment shall be made on the next succeeding Business
Day and, in the case of a principal payment, such extension of time shall be included in computing interest in connection with such payment.
(d) All interest and fees shall be computed on the basis of the actual number of days (including the first day but excluding the last day)
occurring during the period such interest or fee is payable over a year comprised of 360 days, except for interest on Loans denominated in
British Pounds Sterling which shall be calculated for actual days elapsed on the basis of a 365 day year or unless otherwise specified herein.
(e) Changes in the rate of interest on that portion of any Advance maintained as a Floating Rate Advance will take effect simultaneously with
each change in the Alternate Base Rate. Each Fixed Rate Advance shall bear interest on the outstanding principal amount thereof from and
including the first day of the Interest Period applicable thereto to (but not including) the last day of such Interest Period at the interest rate
determined as applicable to such Fixed Rate Advance. No Interest Period may end after the Facility Termination Date.
(f) In accordance with Article L. 313-1 of the Code de la Consommation of the Republic of France (former law n(degree) 66-1010 of December
28, 1966) and with Decree n(degree) 85-944 of September 4, 1985, an estimate of the effective overall rate ("taux effectif global") of the
Advances to any Foreign Subsidiary Borrower organized under the laws of the Republic of France will be set forth in a separate letter from the
Agent to any such Foreign Subsidiary Borrower, and each such separate letter is incorporated herein by reference and forms a part of this
Agreement.
2.9 Rates Applicable After Default. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, during the continuance of a Default
or Unmatured Default the Required Lenders may, at their option, by notice to the Borrowers (which notice may be revoked at the option of the
Required Lenders notwithstanding any provision of Section 8.2 requiring unanimous consent of the Lenders to changes in interest rates),
declare that no Advance may be made as, converted into or continued (after the expiration of the then current Interest Period) as a Fixed Rate
Advance, provided that, notwithstanding the foregoing, any outstanding Eurocurrency Advance may be continued for an Interest Period not to
exceed one month after such notice to the Borrowers by the Required Lenders. Upon and during the continuance of any Default, the Required
Lenders may, at their option, by notice to the Company (which notice may be revoked at the option of the Required Lenders notwithstanding
any provision of Section 8.2 requiring unanimous consent of the Lenders as to changes and interest rates) declare that (i) each Fixed Rate
Advance shall bear interest for the remainder of the applicable Interest Period at the rate otherwise applicable to such Interest Period (with the
Applicable Margin automatically adjusted to the highest amount provided in the definition of "Applicable Margin", notwithstanding where the
Applicable Margin would otherwise be set) plus 2% per annum, and (ii) each Floating Rate Advance and any other amount due under this
Agreement shall bear interest at a rate per annum equal to the Floating Rate otherwise applicable to Floating Rate Loans (with the Applicable
Margin automatically adjusted to the highest amount provided in the definition of "Applicable Margin", notwithstanding where the Applicable
Margin would otherwise be set) plus 2% per annum, provided that, upon and during the continuance of
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any acceleration for any reason of any of the Obligations, the interest rate set forth in clauses (i) and (ii) shall be applicable to all Advances
without any election or action on the part of the Agent or any Lender.
2.10 Pro Rata Payment, Method of Payment.
2.10.1 Each borrowing of Loans by the Company from the Lenders shall be made pro rata according to the Pro Rata Shares of such Lenders in
effect on the date of such borrowing. Each payment by the Company on account of any facility fee shall be allocated by the Agent among the
Lenders in accordance with their respective Pro Rata Shares. Any reduction of the Commitments of the Lenders shall be allocated by the Agent
among the Lenders pro rata according to the Pro Rata Shares of the Lenders with respect thereto. Except as otherwise provided in this
Agreement, each optional prepayment by the Company on account of principal or interest on its Loans shall be allocated by the Agent pro rata
according to the respective outstanding principal amounts thereof. All payments (including prepayments) to be made by the Company
hereunder in respect of amounts denominated in U.S. Dollars, whether on account of principal, interest, fees or otherwise, shall be made,
without setoff, deduction, or counterclaim, in Same Day Funds to the Agent at the Agent's address specified pursuant to Article XIV, or at any
other Lending Installation of the Agent specified in writing by the Agent to the Company, by 12:00 P.M. (Eastern Standard Time) on the date
when due. Each payment delivered to the Agent for the account of any Lender shall be delivered promptly by the Agent to such Lender in the
same type of funds that the Agent received at its address specified pursuant to Article XIV or at any Lending Installation specified in a notice
received by the Agent from such Lender. The Agent is hereby authorized to charge the account of the Company maintained with Bank One for
each payment of principal, interest and fees as it becomes due hereunder.
2.10.2 Each borrowing of Pro Rata Foreign Currency Loans by any Pro Rata Borrower shall be allocated by the Agent pro rata according to the
Pro Rata Shares of the Lenders in effect on the date of such Loans. Each Borrowing of Non-Pro Rata Loans by any Non-Pro Rata Borrower
shall be allocated by the Agent pro rata according to the Pro Rata Shares of the applicable Non-Pro Rata Lenders with respect to such Non-Pro
Rata Borrower in effect on the date of such Loan. Except as provided in Section 2.6, each payment (including each prepayment) by a Foreign
Subsidiary Borrower on account of principal of and interest on its Loans shall be allocated by the Agent pro rata according to the respective
principal amounts of the Loans then due and owing by such Borrower to each Lender that made such Loans. All payments (including
prepayments) to be made by a Borrower on account of Loans, whether on account of principal, interest, fees or otherwise, shall be made
without setoff, deduction, or counterclaim in the currency of such Loan (in Same Day Funds) to the Agent for the account of the Lenders that
made such Loans, at the payment office for such Loans specified from time to time by the Agent by notice to the Borrowers prior to 12:00 p.m.
local time at such payment office on the due date thereof. The Agent shall distribute such payment to the Lenders entitled to receive the same
promptly upon receipt in like funds as received. The Agent shall distribute such payment to the Lenders entitled to receive the same promptly
upon receipt in like funds as received.
2.11 Telephonic Notices. Each Borrower hereby authorizes the Lenders and the Agent to extend, convert or continue Advances, effect
selections of Types of Advances and to transfer funds based on telephonic notices made by any Person or Persons the Agent or any Lender
reasonably and in good faith believes to be an Authorized Officer. Each Borrower agrees to deliver promptly to the Agent a written
confirmation, if such confirmation is requested by the Agent or any Lender, of each telephonic notice signed by an Authorized Officer. If the
written confirmation differs in any material respect from the action taken by the Agent and the Lenders, the records of the Agent and the
Lenders shall govern absent manifest error.
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2.12 Notification of Advances, Interest Rates, Prepayments and Commitment Reductions. Promptly after receipt thereof, the Agent will notify
each Lender of the contents of each Commitment reduction notice, Borrowing notice, Conversion/Continuation Notice, and repayment notice
received by it hereunder. The Agent will notify each Lender of the interest rate applicable to each Fixed Rate Advance promptly upon
determination of such interest rate and will give each Lender prompt notice of each change in the Alternate Base Rate.
2.13 Lending Installations. Each Lender may make and book its Loans at any Lending Installation(s) selected by such Lender and may change
its Lending Installation(s) from time to time. All terms of this Agreement shall apply to any such Lending Installation(s) and the Notes, if any,
shall be deemed held by each Lender for the benefit of such Lending Installation(s). Each Lender may, by written or telex notice to the Agent
and the applicable Borrower, designate one or more Lending Installations which are to make and book Loans and for whose account Loan
payments are to be made.
2.14 Non-Receipt of Funds by the Agent. Unless a Borrower or a Lender, as the case may be, notifies the Agent prior to the date on which it is
scheduled to make payment to the Agent of (a) in the case of a Lender, the proceeds of a Loan or (b) in the case of a Borrower, a payment of
principal, interest or fees to the Agent for the account of the Lenders, that it does not intend to make such payment, the Agent may assume that
such payment has been made. The Agent may, but shall not be obligated to, make the amount of such payment available to the intended
recipient in reliance upon such assumption. If such Lender or Borrower, as the case may be, has not in fact made such payment to the Agent,
the recipient of such payment shall, on demand by the Agent, repay to the Agent the amount so made available together with interest thereon in
respect of each day during the period commencing on the date such amount was so made available by the Agent until the date the Agent
recovers such amount at a rate per annum equal to (i) in the case of payment by a Lender, the Federal Funds Effective Rate for the first five
days and the interest rate applicable to the relevant Loan for each day thereafter or (ii) in the case of payment by a Borrower, the interest rate
applicable to the relevant Loan.
2.15 Facility Letters of Credit.
2.15.1 Obligation to Issue. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement and in reliance upon the representations and warranties of the
Borrowers herein set forth, the Issuers hereby agree to issue for the account of a Borrower through such of the Issuer's Lending Installations or
Affiliates as the Issuer may determine, one or more Facility Letters of Credit in accordance with this Section 2.15, from time to time during the
period, commencing on the Effective Date and ending five Business Days prior to the Facility Termination Date.
2.15.2 Conditions for Issuance. In addition to being subject to the satisfaction of the conditions contained in Sections 4.1 and 4.2, the obligation
of an Issuer to issue any Facility Letter of Credit is subject to the satisfaction in full of the following conditions:
(a) the aggregate maximum amount then available for drawing under Facility Letters of Credit issued by the Issuers, after giving effect to the
Facility Letter of Credit requested hereunder, shall not exceed any limit imposed by law or regulation upon the Issuer;
(b) the requested Facility Letter of Credit has an expiration date at least five Business Days prior to the Facility Termination Date;
(c) after giving effect to the Facility Letter of Credit requested hereunder, the aggregate maximum amount then available for drawing under
Facility Letters of Credit issued by the Issuers, shall
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not exceed the amount permitted by Section 2.1(c), and no prepayment would be required under this Agreement and no provision of this
Agreement would be breached;
(d) the applicable Borrower shall have delivered to the applicable Issuer at such times and in such manner as such Issuer may reasonably
prescribe such documents and materials as may be required pursuant to the terms of the proposed Letter of Credit and the proposed Letter of
Credit shall be reasonably satisfactory to such Issuer as to form and content; and
(e) as of the date of issuance, no order, judgment or decree of any Court, arbitrator or governmental authority shall purport by its terms to
enjoin or restrain such Issuer from issuing the Facility Letter of Credit and no law, rule or regulation applicable to such Issuer and no request or
directive (whether or not having the force of law) from any governmental authority with jurisdiction over such Issuer shall prohibit or request
that such Issuer refrain from the issuance of Letters of Credit generally or the issuance of that Facility Letter of Credit.
2.15.3 Procedure for Issuance of Facility Letters of Credit. (a) The applicable Borrower shall give one of the Issuers and the Agent five
Business Days' prior written notice of any requested issuance of a Facility Letter of Credit under this Agreement (except that, in lieu of such
written notice, a Borrower may give an Issuer (i) notice of such request by tested telex or other tested arrangement satisfactory to such Issuer or
(ii) telephonic notice of such request if confirmed in writing by delivery to such Issuer (A) immediately (x) of a telecopy of the written notice
required hereunder which has been signed by an Authorized Officer of such Borrower or (y) of a telex containing all information required to be
contained in such written notice and (B) promptly (but in no event later than the requested time of issuance) of a copy of the written notice
required hereunder containing the original signature of an Authorized Officer of such Borrower); such notice shall be irrevocable and shall
specify the stated amount and Agreed Currency of the Facility Letter of Credit requested, (which requested currency shall be limited to the
currency in which such Borrower may obtain Loans under this Agreement), the effective date (which day shall be a Business Day) of issuance
of such requested Facility Letter of Credit, the date on which such requested Facility Letter of Credit is to expire (which date shall be a
Business Day and shall in no event be later than the fifth day prior to Facility Termination Date), the purpose for which such Facility Letter of
Credit is to be issued, and the Person for whose benefit the requested Facility Letter of Credit is to be issued. The Agent shall give notice to
each applicable Lender of the issuance of each Facility Letter of Credit reasonably promptly after such Facility Letter of Credit is issued. At the
time such request is made, the requesting Borrower shall also provide the applicable Issuer with a copy of the form of the Facility Letter of
Credit it is requesting be issued. Such notice, to be effective, must be received by such Issuer not later than 2:00 p.m. (local time) or the time
agreed upon by such Issuer and such Borrower on the last Business Day on which notice can be given under this
Section 2.15.3.
(b) Subject to the terms and conditions of this Section 2.15.3 and provided that the applicable conditions set forth in Sections 4.1 and 4.2 hereof
have been satisfied, the Issuer shall, on the requested date, issue a Facility Letter of Credit on behalf of the applicable Borrower in accordance
with such Issuer's usual and customary business practices.
(c) The Issuers shall not extend or amend any Facility Letter of Credit unless the requirements of this Section 2.15 are met as though a new
Facility Letter of Credit was being requested and issued.
2.15.4 Reimbursement Obligations. (a) Each Borrower agrees to pay to the Issuer the amount of all Reimbursement Obligations, interest and
other amounts payable to the Issuer under or in connection with any Facility Letter of Credit issued on behalf of such Borrower immediately
when due,
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irrespective of any claim, set-off, defense or other right which the Borrower, the Company or any Subsidiary may have at any time against the
Issuer or any other Person, under all circumstances, including without limitation, any of the following circumstances:
(i) any lack of validity or enforceability of this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents;
(ii) the existence of any claim, setoff, defense or other right which any Borrower or any Subsidiary may have at any time against a beneficiary
named in a Facility Letter of Credit or any transferee of any Facility Letter of Credit (or any Person for whom any such transferee may be
acting), any Issuer, any Lender, or any other Person, whether in connection with this Agreement, any Facility Letter of Credit, the transactions
contemplated herein or any unrelated transactions (including any underlying transactions between any Borrower or any Subsidiary and the
beneficiary named in any Facility Letter of Credit);
(iii) any draft, certificate or any other document presented under the Facility Letter of Credit proving to be forged, fraudulent, invalid or
insufficient in any respect or any statement therein being untrue or inaccurate in any respect;
(iv) the surrender or impairment of any security for the performance or observance of any of the terms of any of the Loan Documents; or
(v) the occurrence of any Default or Unmatured Default.
(b) The Issuer shall promptly notify the applicable Borrower of any draw under a Facility Letter of Credit. Such Borrower shall reimburse the
applicable Issuer for drawings under a Facility Letter of Credit issued by it on behalf of such Borrower promptly after the payment by the
Issuer. Any Reimbursement Obligation with respect to any Facility Letter of Credit shall bear interest from the date of the relevant drawings
under the pertinent Facility Letter of Credit at (i) in the case of such Obligations denominated in U.S. Dollars, the interest rate for Floating Rate
Loans or (ii) in the case of such Obligations denominated in an Agreed Foreign Currency, at the correlative floating rate of interest customarily
applicable to similar extensions of credit to corporate borrowers denominated in such currency in the country of issue of such currency, as
determined by the Agent. In addition to its other rights, the Issuers shall also have all rights for indemnification and reimbursement as each
Lender is entitled under this Agreement.
2.15.5 Participation. (a) Immediately upon issuance by an Issuer of any Facility Letter of Credit in accordance with the procedures set forth in
Section 2.15.3, (i) with respect to each U.S. Facility Letter of Credit and Pro Rata Foreign Currency Letter of Credit, each Lender shall be
deemed to have irrevocably and unconditionally purchased and received from such Issuer, without recourse or warranty, an undivided interest
and participation equal to its Pro Rata Share of such U.S. Facility Letter of Credit and Pro Rata Foreign Currency Letter of Credit (including,
without limitation, all obligations of the applicable Borrower with respect thereto) and any security therefor or guaranty pertaining thereto and
(ii) with respect to each Non-Pro Rata Foreign Currency Facility Letter of Credit, each Non-Pro Rata Lender with respect to the Borrower for
the account of which such Non-Pro Rata Foreign Currency Facility Letter of Credit is issued shall be deemed to have irrevocably and
unconditionally purchased and received from such Issuer, without recourse or warranty, an undivided interest and participation equal to its Pro
Rata Share in such Non-Pro Rata Foreign Currency Facility Letter of Credit (including, without limitation, all obligations of the applicable
Borrower with respect thereto), any security therefor or guaranty pertaining thereto; provided, that a Letter of Credit issued by an Issuer shall
not be deemed to
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be a Facility Letter of Credit for purposes of this Section 2.15.5 if such Issuer shall have received written notice from any Lender on or before
one Business Day prior to the date of its issuance of such Letter of Credit that one or more of the conditions contained in Sections 4.1 or 4.2 are
not then satisfied, and, in the event an Issuer receives such a notice, it shall have no further obligation to issue any Letter of Credit until such
notice is withdrawn by that Lender or such condition has been effectively waived in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement.
(b) In the event that an Issuer makes any payment under any Facility Letter of Credit and the applicable Borrower shall not have repaid such
amount to the Issuer pursuant to Section 2.15.4, the Issuer shall promptly notify the Agent and each Lender participating in such Letter of
Credit of such failure, and each Lender participating in such Letter of Credit shall promptly and unconditionally pay to the Agent for the
account of such Issuer the amount of such Lender's Pro Rata Share of the unreimbursed amount of any such payment in such currency. If any
Lender participating in such Facility Letter of Credit fails to make available to such Issuer any amounts due to such Issuer pursuant to this
Section 2.15.5(b), such Issuer shall be entitled to recover such amount, together with interest thereon (i) in the case of amounts denominated in
U.S. Dollars, at the Federal Funds Effective Rate, for the first three Business Days after such Lender receives such notice and thereafter, at the
Floating Rate, or
(ii) in the case of amounts denominated in an Agreed Foreign Currency, at a local cost of funds rate for obligations in such currency as
determined by the Agent for the first three Business Days after such Lender receives such notice, and thereafter at the floating rate of interest
correlative to the Floating Rate customarily applicable to similar extensions of credit to corporate borrowers denominated in such currency in
the country of issue of such currency, as determined by the Agent, in either case payable (i) on demand, (ii) by setoff against any payments
made to such Issuer for the account of such Lender or (iii) by payment to such Issuer by the Agent of amounts otherwise payable to such
Lender under this Agreement. The failure of any Lender to make available to the Agent its Pro Rata Share of the unreimbursed amount of any
such payment shall not relieve any other Lender of its obligation hereunder to make available to the Agent its Pro Rata Share of the
unreimbursed amount of any payment on the date such payment is to be made, but no Lender shall be responsible for the failure of any other
Lender to make available to the Agent its Pro Rata Share of the unreimbursed amount of any payment on the date such payment is to be made.
(c) Whenever the Issuer receives a payment on account of a Reimbursement Obligation, including any interest thereon, it shall promptly pay to
each Lender which has funded its participating interest therein, in like funds as received an amount equal to such Lender's Pro Rata Share
thereof.
(d) The obligations of a Lender to make payments to the Agent with respect to a Facility Letter of Credit shall be absolute, unconditional and
irrevocable, not subject to any counterclaim, set-off, qualification or exception whatsoever and shall be made in accordance with the terms and
conditions of this Agreement under all circumstances.
(e) In the event any payment by a Borrower received by the Agent with respect to a Facility Letter of Credit and distributed by the Agent to the
Lenders on account of their participations is thereafter set aside, avoided or recovered from the Agent in connection with any receivership,
liquidation, reorganization or bankruptcy proceeding, each Lender which received such distribution shall, upon demand by the Agent,
contribute such Lender's Pro Rata Share of the amount set aside, avoided or recovered together with interest at the rate required to be paid by
the Agent upon the amount required to be repaid by it.
2.15.6 Compensation for Facility Letters of Credit. The Issuer of a Facility Letter of Credit shall have the right to receive from the Borrower
which requested issuance of such Facility Letter of
35

Credit, solely for the account of such Issuer, a fronting fee in an amount equal to 0.125% per annum as well as the Issuer's reasonable and
customary costs of issuing and servicing the Facility Letters of Credit. In addition, such Borrower shall pay to the Agent for the account of each
Lender participating in such Facility Letter of Credit a non-refundable fee at a per annum rate in the amount shown on the Pricing Schedule on
Exhibit A applied to the face amount of the Facility Letter of Credit, payable quarterly in advance to all Lenders participating in such Facility
Letter of Credit (including the Issuers) ratably from the date such Facility Letter of Credit is issued until its stated expiry date.
2.15.7 Letter of Credit Collateral Account. Each Borrower hereby agrees that it will, until the final expiration date of any Facility Letter of
Credit and thereafter as long as any amount is payable to the Lenders in respect of any Facility Letter of Credit, maintain a special collateral
account (the "Letter of Credit Collateral Account") at the Agent's office at the address specified pursuant to Article XIV, in the name of such
Borrower but under the sole dominion and control of the Agent, for the benefit of the Lenders and in which such Borrower shall have no
interest other than as set forth in Section
8.1. The Agent will invest any funds on deposit from time to time in the Letter of Credit Collateral Account in certificates of deposit of the
Agent having a maturity not exceeding 30 days. Nothing in this Section 2.15.7 shall either obligate the Agent to require any Borrower to
deposit any funds in the Letter of Credit Collateral Account or limit the right of the Agent to release any funds held in the Letter of Credit
Collateral Account other than as required by
Section 8.1, and the Borrower's obligations to deposit funds in the Letter of Credit Collateral Account are limited to the circumstances required
by Section 8.1 after the occurrence of a Default and during the continuance thereof.
2.15.8 Nature of Obligations. (a) As among the Borrowers, the Issuers and the Lenders, each Borrower assumes all risks of the acts and
omissions of, or misuse of the Facility Letters of Credit by, the respective beneficiaries of the Facility Letters of Credit requested by it. In
furtherance and not in limitation of the foregoing, the Issuers and the Lenders shall not be responsible for (i) the form, validity, sufficiency,
accuracy, genuineness or legal effect of any document submitted by any party in connection with the application for and issuance of any
Facility Letter of Credit, even if it should in fact prove to be in any or all respects invalid, insufficient, inaccurate, fraudulent or forged; (ii) the
validity or sufficiency of any instrument transferring or assigning or purporting to transfer or assign a Facility Letter of Credit or the rights or
benefits thereunder or proceeds thereof, in whole or in part, which may prove to be invalid or ineffective for any reason; (iii) failure of the
beneficiary of a Facility Letter of Credit to comply fully with conditions required in order to draw upon such Facility Letter of Credit; (iv)
errors, omissions, interruptions or delays in transmission or delivery of any messages, by mail, cable, telegraph, telex or otherwise; (v) errors in
interpretation of technical terms; (vi) misapplication by the beneficiary of a Facility Letter of Credit of the proceeds of any drawing under such
Facility Letter of Credit; or (vii) any consequences arising from causes beyond the control of the Issuers or the Lenders. In addition to amounts
payable as elsewhere provided in this Section 2.15, such Borrower hereby agrees to protect, indemnify, pay and save the Agent, each Issuer and
each Lender harmless from and against any and all claims, demands, liabilities, damages, losses, costs, charges and expenses (including
reasonable attorneys' fees) arising from the claims of third parties against the Agent or such Issuer in respect of any Facility Letter of Credit
requested by such Borrower.
(b) In furtherance and extension and not in limitation of the specific provisions hereinabove set forth, any action taken or omitted by the Issuers
or any Lender under or in connection with the Facility Letters of Credit or any related certificates, if taken or omitted in good faith, shall not
put such Issuer or such Lender under any resulting liability to any Borrower or relieve any Borrower of any of its obligations hereunder to the
Issuers, the Agent or any Lender.
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(c) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this
Section 2.15.8, a Borrower shall not have any obligation to indemnify the Agent an Issuer and each Lender under this Section 2.15 in respect of
any liability incurred by each arising primarily out of the willful misconduct of such Issuer, as determined by a court of competent jurisdiction,
or out of the wrongful dishonor by such Issuer of a proper demand for payment made under the Facility Letters of Credit issued by such Issuer
as determined by a court of competent jurisdiction, unless such dishonor was made at the request of such Borrower in writing, or out of the
wrongful honor by such Issuer of a demand for payment made under the Facility Letters of Credit issued by such Issuer which demand for
payment does not comply with the conditions required in order to draw upon such Facility Letter of Credit as determined by a court of
competent jurisdiction, unless such dishonor was made at the request of such Borrower in writing.
2.16. Swing Loans.
(a) Making of Swing Loans. The Agent may elect in its sole discretion to make revolving loans (the "Swing Loans") to any Borrower solely for
the Agent's own account, from time to time prior to the Facility Termination Date up to an aggregate principal amount at any one time
outstanding not to exceed the amount permitted by Section 2.1(c). The Agent may make Swing Loans (subject to the conditions precedent set
forth in Article IV), provided that the Agent has received a request in writing or via telephone from an Authorized Officer of such Borrower for
funding of a Swing Loan no later than such time required by the Agent, on the Business Day on which such Swing Loan is requested to be
made IN THE CASE OF SWING LOANS DENOMINATED IN U.S. DOLLARS, EUROS OR BRITISH POUNDS STERLING OR ON OR,
IF REQUIRED BY THE AGENT, ONE BUSINESS DAY PRIOR TO THE DATE SUCH SWING LOAN IS REQUESTED TO BE MADE
IN THE CASE OF SWING LOANS DENOMINATED IN ANY OTHER AGREED CURRENCY. The Agent shall not make any Swing Loan
in the period commencing one Business Day after the Agent shall have received written notice from any Lender that one or more of the
conditions contained in Sections 4.1 or 4.2 are not then satisfied and ending upon the satisfaction or waiver of such condition(s). Each
outstanding Swing Loan shall be payable on the Business Day following demand therefor, with interest at the rate agreed to between the Agent
and such Borrower accrued thereon, shall be secured as part of the Obligations by the Collateral and shall otherwise be subject to all the terms
and conditions applicable to Loans, except that all interest thereon shall be payable to the Agent solely for its own account.
(b) Swing Loan Borrowing Requests. Each Borrower agrees to deliver promptly to the Agent a written confirmation of each telephonic notice
for Swing Loans signed by an Authorized Officer. If the written confirmation differs in any material respect from the action taken by the
Agent, the records of the Agent shall govern, absent manifest error.
(c) Repayment of Swing Loans. At any time after making a Swing Loan, the Agent may request such Borrower to, and upon request by the
Agent such Borrower shall, promptly request an Advance from all Lenders to such Borrower and apply the proceeds of such Advance to the
repayment of any Swing Loan owing by such Borrower not later than the Business Day following the Agent's request. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, upon the earlier to occur of (a) three Business Days after demand is made by the Agent, and (b) the Facility Termination Date, each
Lender to such Borrower (other than the Agent) shall irrevocably and unconditionally purchase from the Agent, without recourse or warranty,
an undivided interest and participation in such Swing Loan in an amount equal to such Lender's Pro Rata Share of such Swing Loan and
promptly pay such amount to the Agent in Same Day Funds. Such payment shall be made by the other Lenders whether or not a Default is then
continuing or any other condition precedent set forth in Section 4.2 is then met and whether or not such Borrower has then requested an
Advance in such amount. If any Lender fails to make available to the Agent, any amounts
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due to the Agent from such Lender pursuant to this Section, the Agent shall be entitled to recover such amount, together with interest thereon at
the Federal Funds Effective Rate or such other local cost of funds rate determined by the Agent with respect to any Swing Loan denominated in
any Agreed Foreign Currency for the first three Business Days after such Lender receives notice of such required purchase and thereafter, at the
rate applicable to such Loan, payable
(i) on demand, (ii) by setoff against any payments made to the Agent for the account of such Lender or (iii) by payment to the Agent by the
Agent of amounts otherwise payable to such Lender under this Agreement. The failure of any Lender to make available to the Agent its Pro
Rata Share of any unpaid Swing Loan shall not relieve any other Lender of its obligation hereunder to make available to the Agent its Pro Rata
Share of any unpaid Swing Loan on the date such payment is to be made, but no Lender shall be responsible for the failure of any other Lender
to make available to the Agent its Pro Rata Share of any unpaid Swing Loan.
2.17 Application of Payments with Respect to Defaulting Lenders. No payments of principal, interest or fees delivered to the Agent for the
account of any Defaulting Lender shall be delivered by the Agent to such Defaulting Lender. Instead, such payments shall, for so long as such
Defaulting Lender shall be a Defaulting Lender, be held by the Agent, and the Agent is hereby authorized and directed by all parties hereto to
hold such funds in escrow and apply such funds as follows:
(i) First, if applicable to any payments due to an Issuer pursuant to Section 2.15.5 or the Agent under Section 2.16; and
(ii) Second, to Loans required to be made by such Defaulting Lender on any Borrowing Date to the extent such Defaulting Lender fails to make
such Loans.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, upon the termination of the Commitments and the payment and performance of all of the Obligations (other
than those owing to a Defaulting Lender), any funds then held in escrow by the Agent pursuant to the preceding sentence shall be distributed to
each Defaulting Lender, pro rata in proportion to amounts that would be due to each Defaulting Lender but for the fact that it is a Defaulting
Lender.
2.18 Collateral Security; Further Assistance.
(a) As security for the payment of the Obligations, the Company shall execute and deliver, or cause to be executed and delivered, to the
Lenders and the Agent Loan Documents granting the following: first priority liens and security interests, pursuant to Pledge Agreements, on
65% of the present and future Capital Stock of certain present and future Foreign Subsidiaries and Guaranties of certain present and future
Domestic Subsidiaries such that, at all times, the Domestic Subsidiaries which are not Guarantors and the Foreign Subsidiaries that are owned
by the Company or any Domestic Subsidiary that do not have 65% of their Capital Stock pledged pursuant to Pledge Agreements do not, if
considered in the aggregate as a single Subsidiary, constitute a Significant Subsidiary. For purposes of this Section 2.18, the assets of any
Subsidiary shall be calculated based on the consolidated assets of such Subsidiary and its Subsidiaries. In connection with the delivery of any
such Guaranties and Pledge Agreement, the Company shall provide such other documentation to the Agent, including, without limitation, one
or more opinions of counsel satisfactory to the Agent, corporate documents and resolutions, which in the reasonable opinion of the Agent is
necessary or advisable in connection therewith.
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(b) Each of the Borrowers agrees that it will execute and deliver, and cause each Guarantor to execute and deliver, promptly upon the request of
the Agent, such additional Collateral Documents and other agreements, documents and instruments, each in form and substance satisfactory to
the Agent, sufficient to grant to the Agent, for the benefit of the relevant Lenders and the Agent, the liens and security interests contemplated
by this Agreement and the Collateral Documents.
2.19 Optional Increase in Commitments.
(a) Subject to the conditions set forth below, the Company may, upon at least thirty (30) days prior written notice to the Agent and the Lenders,
increase the Aggregate Commitment, either by designating a lender not theretofore a Lender to become a Lender (such designation to be
effective only with the prior written consent of the Agent, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld) or by agreeing with an existing
Lender that such Lender's Commitment shall be increased (thus increasing the Aggregate Commitment); provided that:
(i) no Default or Unmatured Default shall have occurred and be continuing hereunder as of the effective date;
(ii) any lender not theretofore a Lender shall meet the criteria set forth in the definition of Eligible Assignee;
(iii) the representations and warranties made by the Company and contained in Article V shall be true and correct on and as of the effective
date with the same effect as if made on and as of such date (other than those representations and warranties that by their terms speak as of a
particular date, which representations and warranties shall be true and correct as of such particular date);
(iv) the aggregate amount of all such increases in the Aggregate Commitments shall not exceed $50,000,000;
(v) The Company and the Lender or lender not theretofore a Lender, shall execute and deliver to the Agent a Lender Addition and
Acknowledgement Agreement, in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent and acknowledged by the Agent and each Borrower and
Guarantor and substantially in the form of Exhibit E attached hereto;
(vi) no existing Lender shall be obligated in any way to increase its Commitment;
(vii) the Company shall pay any amount required to be paid pursuant to Section 3.4 hereof resulting from the reallocation of Loans pursuant to
the increase in the Aggregate Commitment;
(viii) the Company shall have paid commitment fees to additional Lenders sufficient to induce such Lenders to provide the requested
Commitments; and
(ix) the Agent may request any other documents or information in its reasonable discretion.
(b) Upon the execution, delivery, acceptance and recording of the Lender Addition and Acknowledgement Agreement, from and after the
effective date specified in a Lender Addition and Acknowledgement Agreement, which effective date shall be five (5) Business Days after the
delivery
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thereof to the Agent, such existing Lender shall have a Commitment as therein set forth or such other Lender shall become a Lender with a
Commitment as therein set forth and all the rights and obligations of a Lender with such a Commitment hereunder.
(c) Upon its receipt of a Lender Addition and Acknowledgement Agreement together with any Note or Notes subject to such addition and
assumption and the written consent to such addition and assumption, the Agent shall, if such Lender Addition and Acknowledgement
Agreement has been completed and is substantially in the form of Exhibit E:
(i) accept such Lender Addition and Acknowledgement Agreement;
(ii) record the information contained therein in the Register; and
(iii) give prompt notice thereof to the Lenders and the Company.
Within five (5) Business Days after receipt of notice, the Company shall execute and deliver to the Agent, in exchange for the surrendered Note
or Notes of any existing Lender or with respect to any Lender not theretofore a Lender, a new Note or Notes to the order of the applicable
Lenders in amounts equal to the Commitments of such Lenders pursuant to the Lender Addition and Acknowledgement Agreement. Such new
Note or Notes shall be in an aggregate principal amount equal to the aggregate principal amount of such Commitments, shall be dated the
effective date of such Lender Addition and Acknowledgement Agreement and shall otherwise be in substantially the form of the existing
Notes. Each surrendered Note and/or Notes shall be canceled and returned to Company.
2.20 Amendment and Restatement.This Agreement amends and restates the Existing Credit Agreement as of the date hereof. All loans and
letters of credit outstanding under the Existing Credit Agreement shall constitute Loans and Facility Letters of Credit under this Agreement and
all fees and other obligations accrued under the Existing Credit Agreement as of the date of this Agreement will be paid under this Agreement
according to the terms of this Agreement. The Loans and Facility Letters of Credit and other obligations pursuant hereto are issued in exchange
and replacement for the loans, letters of credit other obligations under the Existing Credit Agreement, shall not be a novation or satisfaction
thereof and shall be entitled to and secured by the same collateral with the same priority. The Lenders and each Existing Lender which will not
continue as a Lender hereunder (an "Exiting Lender") will make such payments among themselves as directed by the Agent so that, after giving
effect thereto, each Lender will hold its Pro Rata Share of the outstanding Aggregate Credit Exposure on the Effective Date and with Interest
Periods that all begin on the Effective Date and the Company shall be liable for any breakage costs under Section 3.4.
ARTICLE III
CHANGE IN CIRCUMSTANCES, TAXES
3.1 Yield Protection. If after the date hereof any law or any governmental or quasi-governmental rule, regulation, policy, guideline or directive
(whether or not having the force of law), or any change or modification thereof, or any interpretation thereof, or the compliance of any Lender
therewith,
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(a) subjects any Lender or any applicable Lending Installation to any tax, duty, charge or withholding on or from payments due from any
Borrower or changes the basis of taxation of payments to any Lender in respect of its Loans or other amounts due it hereunder (excluding
income taxes and franchise taxes (imposed in lieu of income taxes) imposed on the Agent or any Lender as a result of a present or former
connection between the Agent or such Lender and the jurisdiction of the Governmental Authority imposing such tax or any political
subdivision or taxing authority thereof or therein, other than any such connection arising solely from the Agent or such Lender having
executed, delivered or performed its obligations or received a payment under, or enforced, this Agreement or any other Loan Document), or
(b) imposes or increases or deems applicable any reserve, assessment, insurance charge, special deposit or similar requirement against assets of,
deposits with or for the account of, or credit extended by, any Lender or any applicable Lending Installation (other than reserves and
assessments taken into account in determining the interest rate applicable to Fixed Rate Advances), or
(c) imposes any other condition the result of which is to increase the cost to any Lender or any applicable Lending Installation of making,
funding or maintaining loans or reduces any amount receivable by any Lender or any applicable Lending Installation in connection with loans,
or requires any Lender or any applicable Lending Installation to make any payment calculated by reference to the amount of loans held or
interest received by it, by an amount deemed material by such Lender,
then, within 15 days of demand by such Lender, the affected Borrower shall pay such Lender that portion of such increased expense incurred or
reduction in an amount received which such Lender determines is attributable to making, funding and maintaining its Loans or its
Commitments.
3.2 Changes in Capital Adequacy Regulations. If a Lender determines that the amount of capital required or expected to be maintained by such
Lender, any Lending Installation of such Lender or any corporation controlling such Lender is increased as a result of a Change, then, within 15
days of demand by such Lender, the Company shall pay such Lender the amount necessary to compensate for any shortfall in the rate of return
on the portion of such increased capital which such Lender determines is attributable to this Agreement, its Loans or its obligation to make
Loans hereunder (after taking into account such Lender's policies as to capital adequacy). "Change" means (a) any change after the date of this
Agreement in the Risk-Based Capital Guidelines or (b) any adoption of or change in any other law, governmental or quasi-governmental rule,
regulation, policy, guideline, interpretation, or directive (whether or not having the force of law) after the date of this Agreement which affects
the amount of capital required or expected to be maintained by any Lender or any Lending Installation or any corporation controlling any
Lender. "Risk-Based Capital Guidelines" means (i) the risk-based capital guidelines in effect in the United States on the date of this
Agreement, including transition rules, and (ii) the corresponding capital regulations promulgated by regulatory authorities outside the United
States implementing the July 1988 report of the Basle Committee on Banking Regulation and Supervisory Practices Entitled "International
Convergence of Capital Measurements and Capital Standards," including transition rules, and any amendments to such regulations adopted
prior to the date of this Agreement.
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3.3 Availability of Types of Advances. If any Lender determines that maintenance of its Fixed Rate Loans at a suitable Lending Installation
would violate any applicable law, rule, regulation, or directive, whether or not having the force of law, or if the Required Lenders with respect
to Eurodollar Loans or the majority (by amount) of Non-Pro Rata Lenders with respect to Non-Pro Rata Loans to any Non-Pro Rata Borrower
determine that (i) deposits of a currency, type and maturity appropriate to match fund Eurodollar or Eurocurrency Loans are not available or (ii)
the interest rate applicable to a Fixed Rate Loan does not accurately reflect the cost of making or maintaining such Loans, then the Agent shall
suspend the availability of the affected Type of Loans and require any Loans of the affected Type to be repaid at the end of the Interest Period
for the affected Loan. Notwithstanding the satisfaction of all conditions referred to in Article II and Article IV with respect to any Advance in
any Agreed Foreign Currency, if there shall occur on or prior to the date of such Advance any change in national or international financial,
political or economic conditions or currency exchange rates or exchange controls which would in the reasonable opinion of the Agent or the
Required Lenders make it impracticable for the Fixed Rate Loans comprising such Advance to be denominated in the Agreed Currency
specified by a borrower, then the Agent shall forthwith give notice thereof to such Borrower and the Lenders, and such Loans shall not be
made.
3.4 Funding Indemnification. If any payment of a Fixed Rate Advance occurs on a date which is not the last day of the applicable Interest
Period, whether because of acceleration, prepayment or otherwise, or a Fixed Rate Advance is not made on the date specified by a Borrower for
any reason other than default by the Lenders, such Borrower will indemnify each Lender for any reasonable loss or cost incurred by it resulting
therefrom, including, without limitation, any loss or cost in liquidating or employing deposits acquired to fund or maintain the Fixed Rate
Advance.
3.5 Lender Statements; Survival of Indemnity. To the extent reasonably possible, each Lender shall designate an alternate Lending Installation
with respect to its Fixed Rate Loans to reduce any liability of a Borrower to such Lender under Sections 3.1 and 3.2 or to avoid the
unavailability of a Type of Advance under Section 3.3, so long as such designation is not disadvantageous to such Lender in any material
respect. Each Lender shall deliver a written statement of such Lender to the applicable Borrower (with a copy to the Agent) as to the amount
due, if any, under Section 3.1, 3.2 or 3.4. Such written statement shall set forth in reasonable detail the calculations upon which such Lender
determined such amount and shall state that amounts determined in accordance with such procedures are being charged by such Lender to other
borrowers with credit facilities similar to this Agreement and credit characteristics comparable to the Company as determined by such Lender
and shall be final, conclusive and binding on the Borrowers in the absence of manifest error. Determination of amounts payable under such
sections in connection with a Fixed Rate Loans shall be calculated as though each Lender funded such Loans through the purchase of a deposit
of the type and maturity corresponding to the deposit used as a reference in determining the interest rate applicable to such Loan, whether in
fact that is the case or not. Unless otherwise provided herein, the amount specified in the written statement of any Lender shall be payable on
demand after receipt by the applicable Borrower of such written statement. The obligations of the Borrowers under Sections 3.1, 3.2, 3.4 and
3.6 shall survive payment of the Obligations and termination of this Agreement. The Borrowers shall have no obligation to compensate any
Lender with respect to amounts provided in Sections 3.1, 3.2, 3.4 or 3.6 with respect to any period prior to the date which is 120 days prior to
the date such Lender delivers its written statement hereunder requesting compensation.
3.6 Taxes.
3.6.1 All payments of principal and interest made by the Borrowers under this Agreement and any Note, if any, and all Reimbursement
Obligations with respect to Facility Letters of Credit shall be
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made free and clear of, and without deduction or withholding for or on account of, any present or future income, stamp or other taxes, levies,
imposts, duties, charges, fees, deductions or withholdings, now or hereafter imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed by any
Governmental Authority, excluding income taxes and franchise taxes (imposed in lieu of income taxes) imposed on the Agent or any Lender as
a result of a present or former connection between the Agent or such Lender and the jurisdiction of the Governmental Authority imposing such
tax or any political subdivision or taxing authority thereof or therein (other than any such connection arising solely from the Agent or such
Lender having executed, delivered or performed its obligations or received a payment under, or enforced, this Agreement or any other Loan
Document). If any such non-excluded taxes, levies, imposts, duties, charges, fees, deductions or withholdings ("Non-Excluded Taxes") are
required to be withheld from any amounts payable to the Agent, any Issuer or any Lender hereunder or under any Note or Facility Letter of
Credit, the amounts so payable to the Agent, such Issuer or such Lender shall be increased to the extent necessary to yield to the Agent or such
Lender (after payment of all Non-Excluded Taxes) interest or any such other amounts payable hereunder at the rates and in the amounts
specified in this Agreement provided, however, that (i) with respect to any Loan or Facility Letter of Credit in U.S. Dollars to the Company, the
Company shall not be required to increase any such amounts payable to any Lender that is not organized under the laws of the United States of
America or a state thereof if such Lender fails to comply with the requirements of Section 3.6.2, (ii) with respect to any Loan or Facility Letter
of Credit in any Agreed Foreign Currency, a Borrower shall not be required to increase any such amounts payable to any Lender if such Lender
fails to comply with the requirements of Section 3.6.3 and
(iii) with respect to any Foreign Currency Loan or any Foreign Currency Facility Letter of Credit, the Foreign Subsidiary Borrower shall not be
required to increase any such amounts payable to any Lender or the Agent to the extent such Lender could avoid the payment of such amount
by changing its Lending Installation, provided that any such change in any Lending Installation shall not be required if such Lender cannot
change its Lending Installation for any reason or such Lender has determined that it is disadvantageous to it to do so. Whenever any NonExcluded Taxes are payable by a Borrower, as promptly as possible thereafter such Borrower shall send to the Agent for its own account or for
the account of such Lender, as the case may be, a certified copy of an original official receipt received by such Borrower showing payment
thereof. If a Borrower fails to pay any Non-Excluded Taxes when due to the appropriate taxing authority or fails to remit to the Agent the
required receipts or other required documentary evidence, such Borrower shall indemnify the Agent and the Lenders for any incremental taxes,
interest or penalties that may become payable by the Agent or any Lender as a result of any such failure. The agreements in this Section shall
survive the termination of this Agreement and the payment of the Loans and all other amounts payable hereunder.
3.6.2 Each Lender that is not incorporated under the laws of the United States of America or a state thereof shall:
(a) at least five Business Days before the date of the initial payment to be made by the Company under this Agreement to such Lender, deliver
to the Company and the Agent (A) two duly completed copies of U.S. Internal Revenue Service Form W-8BEN or W-8ECI, or successor
applicable form, as the case may be, certifying in either case that such Lender is entitled to receive payments under this Agreement without
deduction or withholding of any U.S. federal income taxes, and (ii) a U.S. Internal Revenue Form W-8 or W-9, or successor applicable form, as
the case may be, and certify that it is entitled to an exemption from U.S. backup withholding tax;
(b) deliver to the Company and the Agent two further copies of any such form or certification at least five Business Days before the date that
any such form or certification expires or becomes obsolete and after the occurrence of any event requiring a change in the most recent form
previously delivered by it to the Agent and the Company;
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(c) obtain such extensions of time for filing and complete such forms or certifications as may reasonably be requested by the Company or the
Agent; and
(d) file amendments to such forms as and when required; and each Lender (or Transferee) that is incorporated or organized under the laws of
the United States of America or a State thereof shall provide two properly completed and duly executed copies of Form W-9, or successor
applicable form, at the times specified for delivery of forms under this Section 3.6.2 unless an event (including, without limitation, any change
in treaty, law or regulation) has occurred after the date such Person becomes a Lender hereunder which renders all such forms inapplicable or
which would prevent such Lender from duly completing and delivering any such form with respect to it and such Lender so advises the
Company and the Agent; provided, however, that the Company may rely upon such forms provided to the Company for all periods prior to the
occurrence of such event. Each Person that shall become a Lender or a Participant pursuant to Section 13.2 shall, upon the effectiveness of the
related transfer, be required to provide all of the forms, certifications and statements required pursuant to this Section, provided that in the case
of such Participant, the obligations of such Participant pursuant to this Section 3.6.2 shall be determined as if such Participant were a Lender,
except that such Participant shall furnish all such required forms, certifications and statements to the Lender from which the related
participation shall have been purchased.
3.6.3 Each Lender that is not incorporated or organized under the laws of the jurisdiction (a) under the laws of which a Foreign Subsidiary
Borrower is incorporated or organized, or (b) in which such Foreign Subsidiary Borrower is located, and, in either case, is a Lender to such
Foreign Subsidiary Borrower shall, upon request by such Foreign Subsidiary Borrower, within a reasonable period of time after such request,
deliver to such Foreign Subsidiary Borrower or the applicable governmental or taxing authority, as the case may be, any form or certificate
required in order that any payment by such Foreign Subsidiary Borrower under this Agreement or any Notes to such Lender may be made free
and clear of, and without deduction or withholding for or on account of any Non-Excluded Tax (or to allow any such deduction or withholding
to be at a reduced rate) imposed on such payment under the laws of the jurisdiction under which such Foreign Subsidiary Borrower is
incorporated or organized, provided that such Lender is legally entitled to complete, execute and deliver such form or certificate and such
completion, execution or submission would not prejudice the legal position of such Lender.
3.6.4 Each Lender agrees to use reasonable efforts to avoid or to minimize any amounts which might otherwise be payable pursuant to this
Section 3.6, provided that such effort shall not impose on any such Lender any additional costs or legal or regulatory burdens deemed by such
Lender in its reasonable judgment to be material. In the event that any Lender determines that any event or circumstance that will lead to a
claim by it under this Section 3.6 has occurred or will occur, such Lender will use its best efforts to so notify the Company in writing, provided
that any failure to provide such notice shall in no way impair the rights of any Lender to demand and receive compensation under this Section
3.6.
3.6.5 Any Lender that is entitled to an exemption from or reduction of withholding tax with respect to payments under this Agreement or any
Note pursuant to the law of any relevant jurisdiction or any treaty shall deliver to the Borrowers (with a copy to the Agent), at the time or times
prescribed by applicable law, such properly completed and executed documentation prescribed by applicable law as will permit such payments
to be made without withholding or at a reduced rate. If the U.S. Internal Revenue Service or any other governmental authority of the United
States or any other country or any political subdivision thereof asserts a claim that the Agent did not properly withhold tax from amounts paid
to or for the account of any Lender (because the appropriate form was not delivered or properly
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completed, because such Lender failed to notify the Agent of a change in circumstances which rendered its exemption from withholding
ineffective, or for any other reason), such Lender shall indemnify the Agent fully for all amounts paid, directly or indirectly, by the Agent as
tax, withholding therefor, or otherwise, including penalties and interest, and including taxes imposed by any jurisdiction on amounts payable to
the Agent under this subsection, together with all costs and expenses related thereto (including attorneys fees and time charges of attorneys for
the Agent, which attorneys may be employees of the Agent). The obligations of the Lenders under this Section 3.6.5 shall survive the payment
of the Obligations and termination of this Agreement.
3.7 Substitution of Lender. If (a) the obligation of any Lender to make or maintain Eurodollar Loans has been suspended pursuant to Section
3.3 when not all Lenders' obligations to do so have been suspended, (b) any Lender has demanded compensation under Sections 3.1 or 3.2
when all Lenders have not done so or (c) any Lender is a Defaulting Lender, the Company shall have the right, if no Default then exists, to
replace such Lender (a "Replaced Lender") with one or more other lenders (collectively, the "Replacement Lender") acceptable to the Agent,
provided that (i) at the time of any replacement pursuant to this Section 3.7, the Replacement Lender shall enter into one or more Assignments
pursuant to which the Replacement Lender shall acquire the Commitments and outstanding Loans and other obligations of the Replaced Lender
and, in connection therewith, shall pay to the Replaced Lender in respect thereof an amount equal to the sum of (A) the amount of principal of,
and all accrued interest on, all outstanding Loans of the Replaced Lender, (B) the amount of all accrued, but theretofore unpaid, fees owing to
the Replaced Lender hereunder and (C) the amount which would be payable by the Borrowers to the Replaced Lender pursuant to Section 3.4,
if any, if the Borrowers prepaid at the time of such replacement all of the Loans of such Replaced Lender outstanding at such time and (ii) all
obligations of the Borrowers then owing to the Replaced Lender (other than those specifically described in clause (i) above in respect of which
the assignment purchase price has been, or is concurrently being, paid) shall be paid in full to such Replaced Lender concurrently with such
replacement. Upon the execution of the respective Assignments, the payment of amounts referred to in clauses (i) and (ii) above and, if so
requested by the Replacement Lender, delivery to the Replacement Lender of the appropriate Note or Notes executed by the Borrowers, the
Replacement Lender shall become a Lender hereunder and the Replaced Lender shall cease to constitute a Lender hereunder. The provisions of
this Agreement (including without limitation Sections 3.4 and 10.7) shall continue to govern the rights and obligations of a Replaced Lender
with respect to any Loans made or any other actions taken by such lender while it was a Lender. Nothing herein shall release any Defaulting
Lender from any obligation it may have to any Borrower, the Agent, Issuer or any other Lender.
ARTICLE IV
CONDITIONS PRECEDENT
4.1 Closing Conditions. On the date hereof, the Borrowers shall furnish, or shall cause to be furnished, to the Agent, with sufficient copies for
the Lenders, each of the following:
(a) Copies of the articles of incorporation or similar organizational documents of each Borrower and, at or promptly after the date hereof, each
Guarantor, together with all amendments thereto, and a certificate of good standing or similar governmental evidence of corporate existence, all
certified by the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of each Borrower and each Guarantor.
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(b) Copies, certified by the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary or other duly authorized representative of each Borrower and each Guarantor, of
its by-laws and of its Board of Directors' resolutions (and resolutions of other bodies, if any are deemed necessary by counsel for any Lender)
authorizing the execution of the Loan Documents.
(c) An incumbency certificate, executed by the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of each Borrower and each Guarantor, which shall identify
by name and title and bear the signature of the officers of such Borrower or such Guarantor authorized to sign the applicable Loan Documents
and to make borrowings hereunder, upon which certificate the Agent and the Lenders shall be entitled to rely until informed of any change in
writing by such Borrower or such Guarantor.
(d) An opening compliance certificate, signed by any Designated Financial Officer of the Company, in a form satisfactory to the Agent.
(e) A written opinion of the Borrowers' and Guarantors' counsel, addressed to the Lenders in substantially the form of Exhibit F hereto.
(f) If requested by the Agent, written money transfer instructions, in substantially the form of Exhibit G hereto, addressed to the Agent and
signed by an Authorized Officer, together with such other related money transfer authorizations as the Agent may have reasonably requested
(provided that the Agent may continue to rely on any existing instructions from the Borrowers).
(g) Executed copies of the Consent and Amendment of Collateral Documents and any additional Collateral Documents, Guaranties and other
agreements, certificates, lien searches and other documents in connection therewith requested by the Agent, each duly executed by the
Borrowers or the Guarantors, as appropriate.
(h) Copies of all governmental and nongovernmental consents, approvals, authorizations, declarations, registrations or filings required on the
part of any Borrower or any Guarantor in connection with the execution, delivery and performance of the Loan Documents or the transactions
contemplated hereby or thereby or as a condition to the legality, validity or enforceability of the Loan Documents, certified as true and correct
in full force and effect as of the Effective Date by a duly authorized officer of the Borrowers, or if none is required, a certificate of such officer
to that effect.
(i) The Guaranty executed by all of the Guarantors.
(j) Payment of all fees owing by the Borrowers and the Guarantors as of the Effective Date.
(k) Satisfactory results of all due diligence required by the Agent or the Required Lenders, including a review of all contingent liabilities, a
review of contracts and insurance, a review of all litigation, and environmental matters and other due diligence.
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(l) Executed agreements from each Exiting Lender in form satisfactory to the Agent, and all parties hereto (i) agree that such agreements will
constitute an assignment of the each Exiting Lender's interest under the Existing Agreement to the Lenders to effectuate the Commitments and
Pro Rata Shares contemplated by this Agreement and (ii) acknowledge that each Exiting Lender will not be a party hereto.
(m) Copies of the unqualified audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and its Subsidiaries for the fiscal year ended December
31, 2002 and copies of the internally prepared consolidated financial statements of the Company and its Subsidiaries for the fiscal quarter
ended September 30, 2003, together with prospective financial statements for the Company and its Subsidiaries, in each case in form and
substance satisfactory to the Agent.
(n) Since December 31, 2002, evidence reasonably satisfactory to the Agent that there has been no change in the business, property, prospects,
condition (financial or otherwise) or results of operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries which could reasonably be expected to have a
Material Adverse Effect.
(o) Such other agreements and documents, and the satisfaction of such other conditions as may be required by the Agent.
4.2 Each Advance. The Lenders shall not be required to make any Loans nor shall any Issuer be required to issue any Letter of Credit, unless
on the applicable Borrowing Date, both before and after giving effect on a pro forma basis to such Loan or Letter of Credit:
(a) There exists no Default or Unmatured Default.
(b) The representations and warranties contained in Article V are true and correct as of such Borrowing Date except to the extent any such
representation or warranty is stated to relate solely to an earlier date, in which case such representation or warranty shall be true and correct on
and as of such earlier date.
(c) All legal matters incident to the making of such Loans or the issuance of such Facility Letter of Credit shall be satisfactory to the Agent and
its counsel.
(d) If such Loan is an initial Loan to a Foreign Subsidiary Borrower, the Agent shall have received a Foreign Subsidiary Opinion in respect of
such Foreign Subsidiary Borrower and such other documents requested by the Agent.
Each Borrowing notice with respect to each borrowing by a Borrower hereunder or each request for an issuance of a Facility Letter of Credit
shall constitute a representation and warranty by the Company and such Borrower that the conditions contained in Sections 4.2(a), (b) and (c)
have been satisfied.
ARTICLE V
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES
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Each of the Company and the Foreign Subsidiary Borrowers (insofar as the representations and warranties set forth below relate to such
Foreign Subsidiary Borrower) represents and warrants to the Lenders that:
5.1 Corporate Existence and Standing. Each of the Company and its Subsidiaries is a corporation, partnership, limited liability company or
other organization, duly organized and validly existing under the laws of its jurisdiction of organization and has all requisite corporate,
partnership, company or similar authority to conduct its business as presently conducted.
5.2 Authorization and Validity. Each Borrower has the corporate or other power and authority and legal right to execute and deliver the Loan
Documents and to perform its obligations thereunder. The execution and delivery by each of the Borrowers of the Loan Documents and the
performance of their obligations thereunder have been duly authorized by proper corporate proceedings, and the Loan Documents to which
they are a party constitute legal, valid and binding obligations of the Borrowers enforceable against the Borrowers in accordance with their
terms, except as enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency or similar laws affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights generally
and by general principles of equity.
5.3 No Conflict; Government Consent. Neither the execution and delivery by the Borrowers of the Loan Documents, nor the consummation of
the transactions therein contemplated, nor compliance with the provisions thereof will violate any law, rule, regulation, order, writ, judgment,
injunction, decree or award binding on the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or the Company's or any Subsidiary's articles of incorporation,
code of regulations or by-laws or the provisions of any indenture, instrument or agreement to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a
party or is subject, or by which it, or its Property, is bound, or conflict with or constitute a default thereunder, or result in the creation or
imposition of any Lien (other than any Lien permitted by Section 6.14) in, of or on the Property of the Company or a Subsidiary pursuant to the
terms of any such indenture, instrument or agreement. Other than those which have been obtained, no order, consent, approval, license,
authorization, or validation of, or filing, recording or registration with, or exemption by, or other action in respect of any governmental or
public body or authority, or any subdivision thereof, is required to authorize, or is required in connection with the execution, delivery and
performance of, or the legality, validity, binding effect or enforceability of, any of the Loan Documents.
5.4 Financial Statements. All financial statements of the Company and its Subsidiaries heretofore delivered to the Lenders were prepared in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in effect on the date such statements were prepared and fairly present in all material
respects the consolidated financial condition and operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries.
5.5 Material Adverse Change. Since December 31, 2002, there has been no change in the business, Property, prospects, condition (financial or
otherwise) or results of operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries which could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
5.6 Taxes. The Company and its Subsidiaries have filed all United States federal tax returns and all other material tax returns which are
required to be filed by any Governmental Authority and have paid all taxes shown as due pursuant to said returns or pursuant to any assessment
received by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries by any Governmental Authority, except such taxes, if any, as are being contested in good
faith and as to which adequate reserves have been provided in accordance with Agreement Accounting Principles and as to which no Lien
(other than as permitted by Section 6.14) exists. No tax liens have been filed and no claims are being asserted with respect to any such taxes,
other
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than as permitted by Section 6.14. The charges, accruals and reserves on the books of the Company and its Subsidiaries in respect of any taxes
or other governmental charges are adequate.
5.7 Litigation and Contingent Obligations. Except as set forth on Schedule 5.7 hereto, there is no litigation, arbitration or proceeding pending
or, to the knowledge of any of the Company's executive officers, any governmental investigation or inquiry pending or any litigation,
arbitration, governmental investigation, proceeding or inquiry threatened against or affecting the Company or any of its Subsidiaries which
could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect or which seeks to prevent, enjoin or delay the making of the Loans or
Advances. Other than any liability incident to such litigation, arbitration or proceedings listed on Schedule 5.7, the Company and its
Subsidiaries have no material contingent obligations not provided for or disclosed in the financial statements referred to in Section 5.4.
5.8 Subsidiaries. Schedule 5.8 hereto contains an accurate list of all Subsidiaries of the Company as of the date of this Agreement, setting forth
their respective jurisdictions of incorporation or organization and the percentage of their respective capital stock owned by the Company or
other Subsidiaries. All of the issued and outstanding shares of Capital Stock of such Subsidiaries held by the Company have been duly
authorized and issued and are fully paid and non-assessable.
5.9 ERISA. Each member of the Controlled Group has fulfilled its material obligations under the minimum funding standards of ERISA and
the Code with respect to each Plan. Each member of the Controlled Group is in material compliance with the applicable provisions of ERISA
and the Code with respect to each Plan except where such non compliance would not have a Material Adverse Effect. Each Plan complies in all
material respects with all applicable requirements of law and regulations, no Reportable Event which has or may result in any material liability
has occurred with respect to any Plan, and no steps have been taken to reorganize or terminate any Single Employer Plan. No member of the
Controlled Group has (i) sought a waiver of the minimum funding standard under Section 412 of the Code in respect of any Plan, (ii) failed to
make any contribution or payment to any Single Employer Plan or Multiemployer Plan, or made any amendment to any Plan, which has
resulted or could result in the imposition of a Lien or the posting of a bond or other security under ERISA or the Code or (iii) incurred any
material, actual liability under Title IV of ERISA other than a liability to the PBGC for premiums under Section 4007 of ERISA.
5.10 Accuracy of Information. No information, exhibit or report furnished by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries in writing to the Agent or
to any Lender in connection with the negotiation of the Loan Documents contained any material misstatement of fact or omitted to state a
material fact or any fact necessary to make the statements contained therein not misleading in light of the circumstances in which made, as of
the date thereof.
5.11 Regulations T, U and X. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries extends or maintains, in the ordinary course of business, credit
for the purpose, whether immediate, incidental, or ultimate, of buying or carrying margin stock (within the meaning of Regulations T, U or X
of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System), and no part of the proceeds of any Advance will be used for the purpose, whether
immediate, incidental, or ultimate, of buying or carrying any such margin stock or maintaining or extending credit to others for such purpose.
After applying the proceeds of each Advance, such margin stock will not constitute more than 25% of the value of the assets (either of the
Company alone or of the Company and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis) that are subject to any provisions of any Loan Document that
may cause the Advances to be deemed secured, directly or indirectly, by such margin stock. The Company and its Subsidiaries are in
compliance with Section 6.2.
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5.12 Material Agreements. Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary is a party to any agreement or instrument or subject to any charter or other
corporate restriction which could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary is in
default in the performance, observance or fulfillment of any of the obligations, covenants or conditions contained in any agreement to which it
is a party (including any agreement or instrument evidencing or governing Indebtedness), which default could reasonably be expected to have a
Material Adverse Effect.
5.13 Compliance With Laws. The Company and its Subsidiaries have complied with all applicable statutes, rules, regulations, orders and
restrictions of any domestic or foreign government or any instrumentality or agency thereof, having jurisdiction over the conduct of their
respective businesses or the ownership of their respective Property if failure to comply could reasonably be expected to have a Material
Adverse Effect.
5.14 Plan Assets; Prohibited Transactions. The Company and its Subsidiaries have not engaged in any prohibited transaction within the
meaning of Section 406 of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code which could result in any material liability; and neither the execution of this
Agreement nor the making of Loans (assuming that the Lenders do not fund any of the Loans with any "plan assets" as defined above)
hereunder give rise to a non-exempt prohibited transaction within the meaning of Section 406 of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code.
5.15 Environmental Matters. In the ordinary course of its business, the officers of the Company consider the effect of Environmental Laws on
the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries, in the course of which they identify and evaluate potential risks and liabilities accruing to the
Company and its Subsidiaries due to Environmental Laws. On the basis of this consideration, the Company has reasonably concluded that
Environmental Laws cannot reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary has received
any notice to the effect that its operations are not in material compliance with any of the requirements of applicable Environmental Laws or are
the subject of any federal or state investigation evaluating whether any remedial action is needed to respond to a release of any toxic or
hazardous waste or substance into the environment, which non-compliance or remedial action could reasonably be expected to have a Material
Adverse Effect.
5.16 Investment Company Act. No Borrower is an "investment company" or a company "controlled" by an "investment company", within the
meaning of the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended.
5.17 Public Utility Holding Company Act. No Borrower is a "holding company" or a "subsidiary company" of a "holding company", or an
"affiliate" of a "holding company" or of a "subsidiary company" of a "holding company", within the meaning of the Public Utility Holding
Company Act of 1935, as amended.
5.18 Foreign Subsidiary Borrowers. (a) Except as described on Schedule 5.8, each Foreign Subsidiary Borrower is a direct or indirect WhollyOwned Subsidiary of the Company (excluding director qualifying shares); and
(b) Each Foreign Subsidiary Borrower will have, upon becoming a party hereto, all right and authority to enter into this Agreement and each
other Loan Document to which it is a party, and to perform all of its obligations under this and each other Loan Document to which it is a
party; all of the foregoing actions will have been taken prior to any request for Loans by such Borrower, duly authorized by all necessary action
on the part of such Borrower, and when such Foreign Subsidiary Borrower
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becomes a party hereto, this Agreement and each other Loan Document to which it is a party will constitute valid and binding obligations of
such Borrower enforceable in accordance with their respective terms except as such terms may be limited by the application of bankruptcy,
moratorium, insolvency and similar laws affecting the rights of creditors generally and by general principles of equity.
5.19 Insurance. The Company maintains fire and extended coverage insurance on its and each Domestic Subsidiary's equipment and inventory
containing a lender's loss payable, additional insured and mortgagee clause in favor of the Agent and providing that said insurance will not be
terminated except after at least 30 days' written notice from the insurance company to the Agent. The certificate signed by the President or
Chief Financial Officer of the Company, that attests to the existence and adequacy of (as comparable to insurance customarily maintained by
similar companies in the Company's line of business), and summarizes, the Property and casualty insurance program carried by the Company
and that has been furnished by the Company to the Agent and the Lenders, is complete and accurate. This summary includes the insurer's or
insurers' name(s), policy number(s), expiration date(s), amount(s) of coverage, type(s) of coverage, exclusion(s), and deductibles. This
summary also includes similar information, and describes any reserves, relating to any self-insurance program that is in effect.
5.20 Ownership of Properties. On the Effective Date, the Company and its Subsidiaries will have good title, free of all Liens (other than as
permitted by Section 6.14), to all Property and assets reflected in the financial statements as owned by it.
5.21 Solvency. (i) Immediately after the consummation of the transactions to occur on the Effective Date and immediately following the
making of each Loan, if any, made on the Effective Date and after giving effect to the application of the proceeds of such Loans, (a) the fair
value of the assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, at a fair valuation, will exceed the debts and liabilities,
subordinated, contingent or otherwise, of the Company and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis; (b) the present fair saleable value of the
Property of the Company and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis will be greater than the amount that will be required to pay the probable
liability of the Company and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis on their debts and other liabilities, subordinated, contingent or otherwise,
as such debts and other liabilities become absolute and matured; (c) the Company and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis will be able to
pay their debts and liabilities, subordinated, contingent or otherwise, as such debts and liabilities become absolute and matured; and (d) the
Company and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis will not have unreasonable small capital with which to conduct the business in which
they are engaged as such businesses are now conducted and are proposed to be conducted after the Effective Date.
5.22 Collateral Documents. Except as set forth on Schedule 6.14, the Collateral Documents grant a first priority, perfected and enforceable lien
and security interest on all Collateral subject to the Collateral Documents, which lien and security interest is not void or voidable.
5.23 Labor Controversies. There are no labor controversies pending or, to the best of the Company's knowledge, threatened against the
Company or any Subsidiary, which could have a Material Adverse Effect.
5.24 Burdensome Obligations. The Company does not presently anticipate that future expenditures needed to meet the provisions of federal or
state statutes, orders, rules or regulations will be so burdensome as to cause a Material Adverse Effect.
5.25 Intellectual Property. Each of the Company and its Subsidiaries owns, or is licensed to use, all trademarks, tradenames, service marks,
copyrights, technology, know-how and processes
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necessary for the conduct of its business as currently conducted (the "Intellectual Property") except for those the failure to own or license which
could not be reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. No claim has been asserted and is pending by any Person challenging
or questioning the use by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries of any such Intellectual Property or the validity or effectiveness of any such
Intellectual Property, nor does the Company or any of its Subsidiaries know of any valid basis for any such claim. To the knowledge of the
Company, the use of such Intellectual Property by the Company and each of its Subsidiaries does not infringe on the rights of any Person, and,
to the knowledge of the Company, no such Intellectual Property of the Company and its Subsidiaries has been infringed, misappropriated or
diluted by any other Person except for such claims, infringements, misappropriation and dilution that, in the aggregate, could not have a
Material Adverse Effect.
5.26. Reportable Transaction. The Borrowers do not intend to treat the Advances and the other transactions contemplated hereby as being a
"reportable transaction" (within the meaning of Treasury Regulation Section 1.6011-4). In the event any Borrower determines to take any
action inconsistent with such intention, it will promptly notify the Agent thereof. The Borrowers acknowledge that the Agent and/or one or
more of the Lenders may treat its Advances and the other transactions contemplated hereby as part of a transaction that is subject to Treasury
Regulation Section 1.6011-4 or Section 301.6112-1, and the Agent and such Lender or Lenders, as applicable, may file such IRS forms or
maintain such lists and other records as they may determine is required by such Treasury Regulations.
ARTICLE VI
COVENANTS
During the term of this Agreement, unless the Required Lenders shall otherwise consent in writing:
6.1 Financial Reporting. The Company will maintain, for itself and each Subsidiary, a system of accounting enabling it to provide consolidated
financial statements for the Company and each Subsidiary in accordance with Agreement Accounting Principles and furnish to the Lenders:
(i) Within 90 days after the close of each of its fiscal years, an unqualified (except for qualifications relating to changes in accounting principles
or practices reflecting changes in generally accepted accounting principles and required or approved by the Company's independent certified
public accountants) audit report certified by nationally recognized independent certified public accountants certifying that the Company's
consolidated financial statements are fairly stated in all material respects, in accordance with Agreement Accounting Principles for itself and
the Subsidiaries, including balance sheets as of the end of such period, related income statements, and statements of cash flows, accompanied
by a certificate of said accountants that, in the course of their examination necessary for their certification of the foregoing, they have obtained
no knowledge of any Default or Unmatured Default, or if, in the opinion of such accountants, any Default or Unmatured Default shall exist,
stating the nature and status thereof.
(ii) Within 45 days after the close of the first three quarterly periods of each of its fiscal years, for itself and the Subsidiaries, consolidated
unaudited balance sheets as at the close of each such period and related income statement and a statement of cash flows for the period
52

from the beginning of such fiscal year to the end of such quarter, all certified by a Designated Financial Officer of the Company.
(iii) Together with the financial statements required under Sections 6.1(i) and (ii) a compliance certificate in substantially the form of Exhibit H
hereto signed by a Designated Financial Officer of the Company showing the calculations necessary to determine compliance with this
Agreement and stating that no Default or Unmatured Default exists, or if any Default or Unmatured Default exists, stating the nature and status
thereof.
(iv) As soon as possible and in any event within 5 days after (x) receipt by the Company, and (y) a determination is made by the Company
concerning a Material Adverse Effect with respect thereto, a copy of (a) any notice or claim to the effect, that the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries is or may be liable to any Person as a result of the release by the Company, any of its Subsidiaries, or any other Person of any
toxic or hazardous waste or substance into the environment, (b) any notice alleging any violation of any federal, state or local environmental,
health or safety law or regulation by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, and (c) any notice of occurrence of any Reportable Event, which,
in each case, could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
(v) Promptly after the sending or filing thereof, copies of all reports, proxy statements and financial statements which the Company or any of
its Subsidiaries sends to or files with any of their respective security holders or any securities exchange or the Securities and Exchange
Commission or any successor agency thereof pertaining to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries as the issuer of securities:
(vi) Promptly and in any event within 10 Business Days after receipt, a copy of any management letter or comparable analysis prepared by the
auditors for the Company or any of its Subsidiaries;
(vii) Within 90 days before the end of each fiscal year of the Company, a budget and forecast prepared by the Company for the following fiscal
year in detail satisfactory to the Agent;
(viii) Promptly, such other information respecting the business, properties, operations or condition, financial or otherwise, of the Company or
any of their respective Subsidiaries as any Lender or the Agent may from time to time reasonably request.
6.2 Use of Proceeds. The Borrowers will use the initial Advances as described on Schedule 6.2. The Company will, and will cause each
Subsidiary to, use the proceeds of all other Advances, for working capital or general corporate purposes and to repay outstanding Advances.
None of the proceeds of any of the Advances made under this Agreement will be used, whether directly or indirectly, in violation of any
applicable law or regulation, including without limitation Regulations T, U or X, or to purchase or carry any Margin Stock.
6.3 Notice of Default. The Company will, and will cause each Subsidiary to, give prompt notice in writing to the Lenders of the occurrence of
any Default or Unmatured Default and of any other development, financial or otherwise, which could reasonably be expected to have a
Material Adverse Effect.
6.4 Conduct of Business. The Company will, and will cause each Subsidiary to, carry on and conduct its business in substantially the same
fields of enterprise as it is presently conducted and to
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do all things necessary to remain duly incorporated, validly existing and in good standing in its jurisdiction of organization (subject to Section
6.11) and maintain all requisite authority to conduct its business in each jurisdiction in which its business is conducted, except in any such case
where such failure would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
6.5 Taxes. The Company will, and will cause each Subsidiary to, timely file, complete and correct United States federal and applicable foreign,
state and local tax returns required by law and pay when due all taxes, assessments and governmental charges and levies upon it or its income,
profits or Property, except those which are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and with respect to which adequate
reserves have been set aside in accordance with Agreement Accounting Principles and those which the failure to file or pay would not
reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
6.6 Insurance. The Company will, and will cause each Subsidiary to, maintain in full force and effect insurance with responsible and reputable
insurance companies or associations in such amounts, on such terms and covering such risks, including fire and other risks insured against by
extended coverage, as is usually carried by companies engaged in similar businesses and owning similar properties similarly situated and
maintain in full force and effect public liability insurance, insurance against claims for personal injury or death or property damage occurring in
connection with any of its activities or any of any properties owned, occupied or controlled by it, in such amount as it shall reasonably deem
necessary, and maintain such other insurance as may be required by law or as may be requested by the Agent, provided that it is acknowledged
that the Company and its Subsidiaries may continue to self insure in connection with health insurance and workers compensation consistent
with their past practices.
6.7 Compliance with Laws. The Company will, and will cause each Subsidiary to, comply with all laws, rules, regulations, orders, writs,
judgments, injunctions, decrees or awards to which it may be subject except for such noncompliance as would not reasonably be expected to
have a Material Adverse Effect.
6.8 Maintenance of Properties. The Company will, and will cause each Subsidiary to, do all things reasonably necessary to maintain, preserve,
protect and keep its material Property in good repair, working order and condition (ordinary wear and tear excepted), and make all reasonably
necessary and proper repairs, renewals and replacements.
6.9 Inspection. The Company will, and will cause each Subsidiary to, permit the Agent and the Lenders, directly or by their respective
representatives and agents, to inspect (at no cost to any Borrower and subject to confidentiality requirements of Section 10.12) any of the
Property, corporate books and financial records of the Company and each Subsidiary, to examine and make copies of the books of accounts and
other financial records of the Company and each Subsidiary, and to discuss the affairs, finances and accounts of the Company and each
Subsidiary with, and to be advised as to the same by, their respective officers or reasonable prior notice at such reasonable times and intervals
as the Agent or any Lender, as the case may be, may designate.
6.10 Indebtedness. The Company will not, nor will it permit any Subsidiary to, create, incur or suffer to exist any Indebtedness (including
without limitation Contingent Obligations), except:
(i) The Loans, the Facility Letters of Credit and the other Obligations.
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(ii) Indebtedness of the Company or any Domestic Subsidiary which is a Guarantor owing to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries and
Indebtedness of any Foreign Subsidiary consisting of loans or advances permitted by Section 6.13(vii).
(iii) Contingent Obligations with respect to the endorsement of instruments for deposit or collection in the ordinary course of business.
(iv) Indebtedness of the Borrowers under Rate Hedging Agreements.
(v) The Senior Notes in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $100,000,000, as reduced from time to time.
(vi) Existing Indebtedness described on Schedule 6.10, but no increase in the amount thereof as reduced from time to time.
(vii) Any refunding or refinancing of any Indebtedness referred to in clauses (ii) through (vi) above, provided that any such refunding or
refinancing of such Indebtedness does not increase the principal amount thereof, shorten the maturities thereof or make any of the other terms
or provisions thereof materially more onerous on the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.
(viii) Indebtedness pursuant to Permitted Securitization Transactions provided that the aggregate outstanding amount sold or financed under all
Permitted Securitization Transactions shall not exceed $50,000,000.
(ix) Other Indebtedness; provided that, at the time of the creation, incurrence or assumption of such other Indebtedness and after giving effect
thereto, no Default or Unmatured Default exists and the aggregate outstanding amount of all such other Indebtedness of the Company and its
Subsidiaries does not exceed an amount equal to $35,000,000.
6.11 Merger. The Company will not, nor will it permit any Subsidiary to, merge or consolidate with or into any other Person, except that (A) a
Subsidiary may merge into the Company or a Wholly-Owned Subsidiary, (B) if any such merger involves the Company, the Company shall be
the surviving corporation, and (C) if any such merger involves the Company, the Consolidated Adjusted Net Worth immediately after the
merger would be equal to or greater than the Consolidated Adjusted Net Worth immediately preceding such merger.
6.12 Sale of Assets. The Company will not, nor will it permit any Subsidiary to, lease, sell or otherwise dispose of its Property, to any other
Person (other than the Company or any Guarantor), except:
(i) Sales of inventory in the ordinary course of business.
(ii) Sales or other dispositions in the ordinary course of business of fixed assets for the purpose of replacing such fixed assets, provided that
such fixed assets are replaced within 180 days of such sale or other disposition with other fixed assets which have a fair market value not
materially less than the fixed assets sold or otherwise disposed of.
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(iii) Any sale or other transfer of an interest in accounts or notes receivable to a Securitization Entity pursuant to a Permitted Securitization
Transaction allowed by the terms of this Agreement.
(iv) Other leases, sales (including sale leasebacks) or other dispositions of its Property that, together with all other Property of the Company
and its Subsidiaries previously leased, sold or disposed of (other than as provided in clauses (i) through (iii) above) as permitted by this Section
during the twelve-month period ending with the month prior to the month in which any such lease, sale or other disposition occurs, do not
constitute a Substantial Portion of the Property of the Company and its Subsidiaries.
Notwithstanding anything in this Section 6.12 to the contrary, (a) no such leases, sales or other dispositions of property may be made (other
than pursuant to clause (i) above) if any Default or Unmatured Default has occurred and is continuing, and (b) all leases, sales and other
dispositions of Property at any time shall be for not less than the fair market value of such Property as determined in good faith by the
Company and at least 75% of the consideration therefor received by the Company or such Subsidiary shall be in the form of cash. Additionally,
notwithstanding anything in this Section 6.12 to the contrary, (x) any Foreign Subsidiary may transfer any or all of its assets to the Company, a
Guarantor or a Foreign Subsidiary Borrower, provided that a Foreign Subsidiary Borrower that has any Obligations outstanding may not so
transfer its assets to a Foreign Subsidiary Borrower unless the transferee of such assets assumes all such Obligations in a manner acceptable to
the Agent, and (y) any Subsidiary may transfer any or all of its assets to the Company or a Guarantor.
6.13 Investments and Acquisitions. The Company will not, nor will it permit any Subsidiary to, make or suffer to exist any Investments
(including without limitation, loans and advances to, and other Investments in, Subsidiaries which are not Wholly-Owned Subsidiaries), or
commitments therefor, or to create any Subsidiary or to become or remain a partner in any partnership or joint venture, or make any
Acquisition of any Person, except:
(i) the Company or any of its Subsidiaries may invest in cash and Cash Equivalents.
(ii) the Company and its Subsidiaries may acquire and hold receivables owing to them in the ordinary course of business and payable or
dischargeable in accordance with customary trade terms.
(iii) loans and advances to employees for business-related travel expenses, moving expenses and other similar expenses, in each case incurred
in the ordinary course of business and consistent with past practices.
(iv) Existing Investments in Subsidiaries and other Investments in existence on the Effective Date and described in Schedule 6.13 hereto.
(v) Loans and advances by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to the Company or to any Guarantor.
(vi) Investments in a Securitization Entity in connection with Permitted Securitization Transactions and in an aggregate outstanding amount
acceptable to the Agent and required to consummate the Permitted Securitization Transactions plus accounts or notes
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receivable permitted to be transferred to a Securitization Entity in connection with Permitted Securitization Transactions.
(vii) Loans and advances by Foreign Subsidiary Borrowers to Foreign Subsidiaries, provided that such loans and advances are evidenced by
documentation, and are on terms, reasonably acceptable to the Agent.
(viii) The ATP Acquisition, provided that: (x) the Agent shall be satisfied with such due diligence as they may require with respect to ATP, (y)
the amount and forms of the consideration (including without limitation all direct payments, all earnout and other deferred payments, all
Indebtedness and other obligations assumed or incurred and any other form of consideration) paid or payable for the ATP Acquisition shall be
acceptable to the Agent and all other aspects of the ATP Acquisition (including, without limitation, compliance with all laws and regulations in
connection with the ATP Acquisition and the financing thereof by the Lenders, receipt of all regulatory and legal approvals for the ATP
Acquisition and all approvals from any directors and shareholders which may be required, the acquisition agreements and all terms thereof
being acceptable to the Agent and the other financial, legal, accounting, tax and other aspects of the ATP Acquisition being acceptable to the
Agent), and (z) there shall be no material adverse change from ATP's financial condition and operations as reflected in the ATP's financial
statements previously delivered to the Agent.
(ix) Other Investments and Acquisitions (other than the ATP Acquisition) in any fiscal year, provided that the sum of
(x) the aggregate amount of such Investments in such fiscal year, plus
(y) the aggregate amount of consideration (including without limitation all direct payments, all earnout and other deferred payments, all
Indebtedness and other obligations assumed or incurred and any other form of consideration) paid or payable for such Acquisitions in such
fiscal year do not exceed in the aggregate an amount equal to $25,000,000.
Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries shall make any Investment or Acquisition
unless (A) the target of such Acquisition or Investment is in the same line of business as the Company, provided that up to $10,000,000 in the
aggregate may be paid by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries in connection with Acquisitions pursuant to which the target is not in the
same line of business as the Company, (B) the Board of Directors (or similar governing body) and the management of the target of such
Acquisition or Investment has approved such Acquisition and (c) no Default or Unmatured Default would exist after giving effect to such
Acquisition or Investment on a pro forma basis acceptable to the Agent.
6.14 Liens. The Company will not, nor will it permit any Subsidiary to, create, incur, or suffer to exist any Lien in, of or on the Property of the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries, except:
(i) Liens for taxes, assessments or governmental charges or levies on its Property if the same shall not at the time be delinquent or thereafter
can be paid without penalty, or are being contested in good faith and by appropriate proceedings and for which adequate reserves in accordance
with Agreement Accounting Principles shall have been set aside on its books.
(ii) Liens imposed by law, such as carriers', warehousemen's and mechanics' liens and other similar liens arising in the ordinary course of
business which secure payment of obligations not more than 90 days past due or which are being contested in good faith by appropriate
proceedings and for which adequate reserves shall have been set aside on its books.
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(iii) Liens arising out of pledges or deposits under worker's compensation laws, unemployment insurance, old age pensions, or other social
security or retirement benefits, or similar legislation.
(iv) Utility easements, building restrictions and such other encumbrances or charges against real property as are of a nature generally existing
with respect to properties of a similar character and which do not in any material way affect the marketability of the same or interfere with the
use thereof in the business of the Company or the Subsidiaries.
(v) Liens existing on the Effective Date and described in Schedule 6.14 hereto, but no increase in the amount secured thereby as reduced from
time to time.
(vi) Liens in favor of the Company or any Lien granted by any Subsidiary in favor of a Guarantor.
(vii) Liens in favor of the Agent, securing the Obligations, granted pursuant to any Collateral Document.
(viii) Liens, whether pursuant to purchase money loans or Capitalized Leases, and including those listed on Schedule 6.14, securing aggregate
Indebtedness of not more than $15,000,000, either (A) placed upon equipment or machinery used in the ordinary course of business of the
Company or any Subsidiary at the time of (or within 20 days after) the acquisition thereof by the Company or any such Subsidiary to secure
Indebtedness incurred to pay all or a portion of the purchase price thereof, provided that the Lien encumbering the equipment or machinery so
acquired does not encumber any other assets of the Company or any such Subsidiary; or (B) existing on property or other assets at the time
acquired by the Company or any Subsidiary or on assets of a Person at the time such Person first becomes a Subsidiary of the Company,
provided that (v) any such Liens were not created at the time of or in contemplation of the acquisition of such assets or Person by the Company
or any of its Subsidiaries, (w) in the case of any such acquisition of a Person, any such lien attaches only to the property and assets of such
Person, (x) in the case of any such acquisition of property or assets by the Company or any Subsidiary, any such Lien attaches only to the
property and assets so acquired and not to any other property or assets of the Company or any Subsidiary, (y) the Indebtedness secured by any
such Lien does not exceed 100% of the fair market value of the property and assets to which such lien attaches, determined at the time of the
acquisition of such property or assets or the time at which such Person becomes a Subsidiary of the Company (except in the circumstances
described in this clause (B) above to the extent such Liens constituted customary purchase money liens at the time of incurrence and were
entered into in the ordinary course of business).
(ix) Any extension, renewal or replacement (or successive extension, renewal, or replacement) in whole or in part, of any Lien referred to in the
foregoing clauses (i) through (viii) inclusive; provided, however, that the principal amount of Indebtedness secured thereby shall not exceed the
principal amount of Indebtedness so secured at the time of such extension, renewal or replacement, and that such extension, renewal or
replacement shall be limited to all or a part of the property which secured the Lien so extended, renewed or replaced (plus improvements on
such property).
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(x) Liens on the Common Collateral securing the Obligations and Senior Note Obligations on a pro rata basis (in accordance with the amount
of the Obligations and Senior Note Obligations) and subject to the Intercreditor Agreement.
6.15 Affiliates. Except as described on Schedule 6.15, the Company will not, and will not permit any Subsidiary to, enter into any transaction
(including, without limitation, the purchase or sale of any Property or service) with, or make any payment or transfer to, any Affiliate except in
the ordinary course of business and pursuant to the reasonable requirements of the Company's or such Subsidiary's business and upon fair and
reasonable terms (taken as a whole) no less favorable to the Company or such Subsidiary than the Company or such Subsidiary would obtain in
a comparable arms-length transaction.
6.16 Dividends. The Company will not, nor will it permit any Subsidiary to, declare or pay any dividends or make any distributions on its
Capital Stock (other than dividends payable in its own Capital Stock which is common stock) or redeem, repurchase or otherwise acquire or
retire any of its Capital Stock at any time outstanding, except that (a) any Subsidiary may declare and pay dividends or make distributions to
the Company or to a Wholly-Owned Subsidiary and (b) such other dividends, redemptions or distributions, provided that no Default or
Unmatured Default exists or would be caused thereby. The Company will not issue any Disqualified Stock.
6.17 Amendments of and Payments on Indebtedness. The Company will not, and will not permit any Subsidiary to, make any amendment or
modification to the indenture, note or other agreement evidencing or governing any Indebtedness, or directly or indirectly voluntarily prepay,
defease or in substance defease, purchase, redeem, retire or otherwise acquire, any Indebtedness, other than prepayments by Foreign
Subsidiaries of obligations owing by such Foreign Subsidiaries to Borrowers or Guarantors.
6.18 Financial Contracts. The Company will not, and will not permit any Subsidiary to, enter into any Financial Contract for purposes of
financial speculation.
6.19 Leverage Ratio. The Company shall not permit its Leverage Ratio to exceed (i) 3.40 to 1.0 as of the end of the first fiscal quarter of the
2004 fiscal year of the Company, (ii) 3.25 to 1.0 as of the end of the second fiscal quarter of the 2004 fiscal year of the Company, (iii) 3.00 to
1.0 as of the end of the third fiscal quarter of the 2004 fiscal year of the Company, or
(iv) 2.75 to 1.0 as of the end of any fiscal quarter thereafter; provided that, after the closing of the ATP Acquisition and in lieu of the foregoing
levels, the Company shall not permit its Leverage Ratio to exceed (a) 3.80 to 1.0 as of the end of the first fiscal quarter of the 2004 fiscal year
of the Company, (b) 3.65 to 1.0 as of the end of the second or third fiscal quarter of the 2004 fiscal year of the Company, (c) 3.25 to 1.0 as of
the end of end of the fourth fiscal quarter of the 2004 fiscal year of the Company or the first fiscal quarter of the 2005 fiscal year of the
Company, (d) 3.00 to 1.0 as of the end of the second or third fiscal quarter of the 2005 fiscal year of the Company, or
(e) 2.75 to 1.0 as of the end of any fiscal quarter thereafter.
6.20 Consolidated Adjusted Net Worth. The Company shall maintain at all times a Consolidated Adjusted Net Worth at least equal to the sum
of (a) $239,751,439 plus (b) 50% of the consolidated net income of the Company and its Subsidiaries, added as of the last day of each fiscal
quarter of the Company commencing with the fiscal quarter ending December 31, 2003, provided that if such net income is negative in any
fiscal year the amount added for such fiscal year shall be zero and shall not reduce the amount added for any other fiscal year, plus (c) 100% of
the Net Cash Proceeds received by the Company from the issuance or other sale of its Capital Stock.
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6.21 Interest Coverage Ratio. The Company shall not permit its Interest Coverage Ratio to be less than 2.50 to 1.0 as of the last day of any
fiscal quarter of the Company.
6.22 Negative Pledge Limitation. Except as set forth in the Senior Note Documents, the Company will not, and will not permit any of its
Subsidiaries to, enter into any agreement with any Person other than the Lenders pursuant hereto which prohibits or limits the ability of the
Company or any Subsidiary to create, incur, assume or suffer to exist any lien upon any of its assets, rights, revenues or property, real, personal
or mixed, tangible or intangible, whether now owned or hereafter acquired.
6.23 Additional Covenants. If at any time a Borrower shall enter into or be a party to any instrument or agreement with respect to any
Indebtedness which in the aggregate, together with any related Indebtedness, exceeds $1,000,000, including all such instruments or agreements
in existence as of the date hereof and all such instruments or agreements entered into after the date hereof, relating to or amending any terms or
conditions applicable to any of such Indebtedness which includes financing or similar covenants not substantially provided for in this
Agreement or more favorable to the lender or lenders thereunder than those provided for in this Agreement, then such financial or similar
covenants are hereby incorporated by reference into this Agreement to the same extent as if set forth fully herein, and no subsequent
amendment, waiver, termination or modification thereof shall affect any such financial or similar covenants incorporated herein.
6.24. Capital Expenditures. The Company will not, nor will it permit any Subsidiary to, expend, or be committed to expend, for capital
expenditures during any one fiscal year on a non-cumulative basis in the aggregate for the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, an amount in excess
of $35,000,000.
ARTICLE VII
DEFAULTS
The occurrence of any one or more of the following events shall constitute a Default:
7.1 Any representation or warranty made, including without limitation those deemed made pursuant to Section 4.2, by or on behalf of the
Company or its Subsidiaries to the Lenders or the Agent in any Loan Document, in connection with any Loan or Facility Letter of Credit, or in
any certificate or information delivered in writing in connection with any Loan Document or in any certificate or information delivered in
writing in connection with any Loan Document shall be false in any material respect on the date as of which made.
7.2 Nonpayment of principal of any Loan when due, or nonpayment of interest on any Loan or of any facility fee within three Business Days
after written notice from the Agent that the same has become due, or nonpayment of any other obligations under any of the Loan Documents
within five days after written notice from the Agent that the same has become due.
7.3 The breach by any Borrower of any of the terms or provisions in Sections 6.1, 6.2, 6.3, 6.4, 6.5, 6.10, 6.11, 6.12, 6.13, 6.14, 6.15, 6.16,
6.17, 6.18, 6.19, 6.20 or 6.21.
7.4 The breach by any Borrower or Guarantor (other than a breach which constitutes a Default under Section 7.1, 7.2 or 7.3) of any of the terms
or provisions of this Agreement or any other Loan Document which is not remedied within 30 days after written notice from the Agent.
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7.5 Failure of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to pay when due any Indebtedness or Rate Hedging Obligations aggregating in excess of
$5,000,000 ("Material Indebtedness"); or the default by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries in the performance of any term, provision or
condition contained in any agreement under which any such Material Indebtedness was created or is governed, or any other event shall occur or
condition exist, the effect of which is to cause, or to permit the holder or holders of such Material Indebtedness to cause, such Material
Indebtedness to become due prior to its stated maturity; or any Material Indebtedness of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries shall be
declared to be due and payable or required to be prepaid or repurchased (other than by a regularly scheduled payment) prior to the stated
maturity thereof; or the Company or any of its Subsidiaries shall not pay, or admit in writing its inability to pay, its debts generally as they
become due.
7.6 The Company or any of its Subsidiaries, shall (i) have an order for relief entered with respect to it under any existing or future law of any
jurisdiction, domestic or foreign, relating to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or relief of debtors, (ii) make an assignment for the benefit
of creditors, (iii) apply for, seek, consent to, or acquiesce in, the appointment of a receiver, custodian, trustee, examiner, liquidator or similar
official for it or any Substantial Portion of its Property, (iv) institute any proceeding seeking an order for relief under any existing or future law
of any jurisdiction, domestic or foreign, relating to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or relief of debtors, seeking to adjudicate it a
bankrupt or insolvent, or seeking dissolution, winding up, liquidation, reorganization, arrangement, adjustment or composition of it or its debts
or seeking similar relief under any law of any jurisdiction, domestic or foreign, relating to bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization or relief of
debtors or similar proceeding or fail to file an answer or other pleading denying the material allegations of any such proceeding filed against it,
(v) take any corporate, company or other action to authorize or effect any of the foregoing actions set forth in this Section 7.6 or (vi) fail to
contest in good faith any appointment or proceeding described in Section 7.7.
7.7 Without its application, approval or consent, a receiver, trustee, examiner, liquidator or similar official shall be appointed for the Company
or any of its Subsidiaries or any Substantial Portion of their respective Property, or a proceeding described in Section 7.6(iv) shall be instituted
against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries and such appointment continues undischarged or such proceeding continues undismissed or
unstayed for a period of 60 consecutive days.
7.8 Any court, government or governmental agency shall without appropriate compensation condemn, seize or otherwise appropriate, or take
custody or control of (each a "Condemnation"), all or any portion of the Property of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries which, when taken
together with all other Property of the Company and its Subsidiaries so condemned, seized, appropriated, or taken custody or control of, during
the twelve-month period ending with the month in which any such Condemnation occurs, constitutes a Substantial Portion and is reasonably
likely to have a Material Adverse Effect.
7.9 The Company or any of its Subsidiaries shall fail within 90 days to pay, bond or otherwise discharge any judgment or order for the payment
of money in excess of $5,000,000 in aggregate amount for the Company and its Subsidiaries, which is not stayed on appeal.
7.10 Any member of the Controlled Group shall fail to pay when due an amount or amounts aggregating in excess of $5,000,000 which it shall
have become liable to pay under Title IV of ERISA; or notice of intent to terminate a Single Employer Plan with Unfunded Liabilities in excess
of $5,000,000 (a "Material Plan") shall be filed under Section 4041(c) of ERISA by any member of the Controlled Group, any plan
administrator or any combination of the foregoing; or PBGC shall institute proceedings under Title IV of ERISA to terminate, to impose
liability (other than for premiums under Section 4007 of
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ERISA) in respect of, or to cause a trustee to be appointed to administer any Material Plan; or a condition shall exist by reason of which the
PBGC would be entitled to obtain a decree adjudicating that any Material Plan must be terminated; or there shall occur a complete or partial
withdrawal from, or a default, within the meaning of Section 4219(c)(5) of ERISA, with respect to, one or more Multiemployer Plans which
causes one or more members of the Controlled Group to incur a current payment obligation in excess of $5,000,000 in aggregate amount for
the Controlled Group.
7.11 The Company or any of its Subsidiaries shall be the subject of any proceeding or investigation pertaining to the release by the Company or
any of its Subsidiaries, or any other Person of any toxic or hazardous waste or substance into the environment, or any violation of any
applicable foreign, federal, state or local environmental, health or safety law or regulation, which, in either case, could reasonably be expected
to have a Material Adverse Effect.
7.12 The occurrence of any Change of Control.
7.13. The occurrence of any "default", as defined in any Collateral Document, or the breach of any of the terms or provisions of any Collateral
Document, which default or breach continues beyond any period of grace therein provided.
7.14. Any Collateral Document shall for any reason fail to create a valid and perfected first priority security interest in any collateral purported
to be covered thereby, except as permitted by the terms of any Collateral Document, or any Collateral Document shall fail to remain in full
force or effect or any action shall be taken to discontinue or to assert the invalidity or unenforceability of any Collateral Document.
7.15 Any Guaranty shall fail to remain in full force or effect or any action shall be taken to discontinue or assert the invalidity or
unenforceability of any Guaranty by any Guarantor, or any Guarantor shall fail to comply with any of the terms or provisions of any Guaranty
to which it is a party, or any Guarantor denies that it has any further liability under any Guaranty to which it is a party, or gives notice to such
effect.
ARTICLE VIII
ACCELERATION, WAIVERS, AMENDMENTS AND REMEDIES
8.1 Acceleration. (a) If any Default described in Section 7.6 or 7.7 occurs, (i) the obligations of the Lenders to make Loans hereunder and the
obligations of the Issuers to issue Facility Letters of Credit shall automatically terminate and the Obligations shall immediately become due and
payable without presentment, demand, protest or notice of any kind, all of which the Borrowers hereby expressly waive and without any
election or action on the part of the Agent or any Lender and (ii) each Borrower will be and become thereby unconditionally obligated, without
the need for demand or the necessity of any act or evidence, to deliver to the Agent, at its address specified pursuant to Article XIV, for deposit
into the Letter of Credit Collateral Account, an amount (the "Collateral Shortfall Amount") equal to the excess, if any, of
(A) 100% of the sum of the aggregate maximum amount remaining available to be drawn under the Facility Letters of Credit requested by such
Borrower (assuming compliance with all conditions for drawing thereunder) issued by an Issuer and outstanding as of such time, over
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(B) the amount on deposit for such Borrower in the Letter of Credit Collateral Account at such time that is free and clear of all rights and
claims of third parties (other than the Agent and the Lenders) and that has not been applied by the Lenders against the Obligations of such
Borrower.
(b) If any Default occurs and is continuing (other than a Default described in Section 7.6 or 7.7), (i) the Required Lenders may terminate or
suspend the obligations of the Lenders to make Loans and the obligation of the Issuers to issue Facility Letters of Credit hereunder, or declare
the Obligations to be due and payable, or both, whereupon (if so declared) the Obligations shall become immediately due and payable, without
presentment, demand, protest or notice of any kind, all of which the Borrowers hereby expressly waive and (ii) the Required Lenders may,
upon notice delivered to the Borrowers with outstanding Facility Letters of Credit and in addition to the continuing right to demand payment of
all amounts payable under this Agreement, make demand on each such Borrower to deliver (and each such Borrower will, forthwith upon
demand by the Required Lenders and without necessity of further act or evidence, be and become thereby unconditionally obligated to deliver),
to the Agent, at its address specified pursuant to Article XIV, for deposit into the Letter of Credit Collateral Account an amount equal to the
Collateral Shortfall Amount payable by such Borrower.
(c) If at any time while any Default is continuing, the Agent determines that the Collateral Shortfall Amount at such time is greater than zero,
the Agent may make demand on the Borrowers with outstanding Facility Letters of Credit to deliver (and each such Borrower will, forthwith
upon demand by the Agent and without necessity of further act or evidence, be and become thereby unconditionally obligated to deliver), to the
Agent as additional funds to be deposited and held in the Letter of Credit Collateral Account an amount equal to such Collateral Shortfall
Amount payable by such Borrower at such time.
(d) The Agent may at any time or from time to time after funds are deposited in the Letter of Credit Collateral Account, apply such funds to the
payment of the Obligations of the relevant Borrowers and any other amounts as shall from time to time have become due and payable by the
relevant Borrowers to the Lenders under the Loan Documents.
(e) Neither the Borrowers nor any Person claiming on behalf of or through the Borrowers shall have any right to withdraw any of the funds
held in the Letter of Credit Collateral Account. After all of the Obligations have been indefeasibly paid in full, any funds remaining in the
Letter of Credit Collateral Account shall be returned by the Agent to the applicable Borrower(s) or paid to whoever may be legally entitled
thereto at such time.
(f) The Agent shall exercise reasonable care in the custody and preservation of any funds held in the Letter of Credit Collateral Account and
shall be deemed to have exercised such care if such funds are accorded treatment substantially equivalent to that which the Agent accords its
own property, it being understood that the Agent shall not have any responsibility for taking any necessary steps to preserve rights against any
Persons with respect to any such funds.
8.2 Amendments.
8.2.1 Subject to the provisions of this Article VIII, the Required Lenders (or the Agent with the consent in writing of the Required Lenders) and
the Borrowers may enter into agreements supplemental hereto for the purpose of adding or modifying any provisions to the Loan Documents or
changing in any manner the rights of the Lenders or the Borrowers hereunder or waiving any Default hereunder; provided, however, that no
Lender's Commitment may be modified without such Lender's
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written consent and, provided, further, that no such supplemental agreement shall, without the consent of each Lender:
(a) Extend the final maturity of any Loan, Note or Reimbursement Obligation or postpone any regularly scheduled payment of principal of any
Loan or forgive all or any portion of the principal amount thereof, or reduce the rate or extend the time of payment of interest or fees thereon.
(b) Reduce the percentage specified in the definition of Required Lenders.
(c) Extend the Facility Termination Date, or reduce the amount or extend the payment date for, the mandatory payments required under Section
2.6, or increase the amount of the Aggregate Commitments other than as allowed under
Section 2.19, or permit any Borrower to assign its rights under this Agreement.
(d) Amend this Section 8.2.1.
(e) Release any Borrower or any Guarantor which is the Company or a Significant Subsidiary or, except as provided in this Agreement or the
Collateral Documents, release all or any material amount of the Collateral.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) no modification or waiver of any provision of this Agreement relating to the Agent shall be effective without
the written consent of the Agent; (ii) no modification or waiver of any provision of this Agreement relating to the Issuer shall be effective
without the written consent of the Issuer; (iii) no increase in the amount of any Non-Pro Rata Sub-Commitment of any Non-Pro Rata Lender
hereunder shall be effective without the written consent of such Non-Pro Rata Lender; (iv) the Agent may waive payment of the fee required
under Section 13.3.2 without obtaining the consent of any other party to this Agreement; and (v) any Lender's Commitment may be increased
or decreased (subject to clause (c) above) with the written consent of such Lender, the Agent and the Company, any Lender may removed as a
Lender hereunder with the written consent of such Lender, the Agent and the Company and any Person may added as a Lender hereunder with
the written consent of such Person, the Agent and the Company and subject to the execution of such supplemental agreements and documents
required by the Agent.
8.2.2 In addition to the above amendments, Schedule 1.1(b) may be amended as follows:
(i) Schedule 1.1(b) will be automatically amended to add Subsidiaries of the Company as additional Foreign Subsidiary Borrowers upon (A)
execution and delivery by the Company, any such Foreign Subsidiary Borrower and the Agent, of a Joinder Agreement providing for any such
Subsidiary to become a Foreign Subsidiary Borrower, (B) delivery to the Agent of (a) a Foreign Subsidiary Opinion in respect of such
additional Foreign Subsidiary Borrower and (b) such other documents with respect thereto as the Agent shall reasonably request and (c) the
written approval of the Agent in its sole discretion.
(ii) Schedule 1.1(b) will be automatically amended to remove any Subsidiary as a Foreign Subsidiary Borrower upon (A) written notice by the
Company to the Agent to such effect and (B) repayment in full of all outstanding Loans and all other obligations pursuant to any Loan
Document of such Foreign Subsidiary Borrower.
64

8.2.3 In addition to above amendments, Schedule 1.1(a) may be amended by the Agent to alter the Non-Pro Rata Sub-Commitments in
accordance with Section 2.1(d) or the Commitments in accordance with Section 2.19 or 8.2.1, and shall be deemed automatically amended each
time the Agent sends a revised Schedule 1.1(a) to the Lenders and the Company pursuant to this Agreement.
8.2.4 Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, any Defaulting Lender shall not be entitled to vote (whether to consent or to withhold its
consent) with respect to any amendment, modification, termination or waiver and, for purposes of determining the Required Lenders and the
Required Lenders, the Commitments and the Loans of such Defaulting Lender shall be disregarded and the Agent shall have the ability, but not
the obligation, to replace any such Defaulting Lender with another lender or lenders.
8.3 Equalization of Credit Exposure. Upon the occurrence of a Default under Section 7.2, 7.6 or 7.7, (i) each Advance denominated in an
Agreed Foreign Currency shall, automatically and with no further action required, be converted into the U.S. Dollar Equivalent of such amount
and on and after such date all amounts accruing and owed to any Lender in respect of such Obligations shall accrue and be payable in U.S.
Dollars at the rates otherwise applicable hereunder, and (ii) each Lender shall be deemed to have purchased, without recourse or warranty,
participation interests in the other Lender's Advances and/or take such other reasonable actions and make such other equitable adjustments
among the Lenders as reasonably agreed to by the Lenders, to ensure that each Lender holds a portion (its "Equalized Share") of the Aggregate
Credit Exposure determined based the ratio of such Lender's Commitment to the Aggregate Commitment (if the Commitments have been
terminated, the amount of any Commitment for the purposes of this Section 8.3 shall be deemed equal to the amount of such Commitment
immediately prior to its termination), it being the intent of the Lenders that following such participations, equalization payments and other
actions in connection therewith, each Lender shall hold, whether through participation or directly, a share of the Aggregate Credit Exposure
equal to its Equalized Share. The Lenders and the Agent agree to promptly execute any further documents and make such payments, if any,
among themselves to accomplish such equalization.
8.4 Preservation of Rights. No delay or omission of the Lenders or the Agent to exercise any right under the Loan Documents shall impair such
right or be construed to be a waiver of any Default or an acquiescence therein, and the making of a Loan notwithstanding the existence of a
Default or the inability of the Borrowers to satisfy the conditions precedent to such Loan shall not constitute any waiver or acquiescence. Any
single or partial exercise of any such right shall not preclude other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, and no waiver,
amendment or other variation of the terms, conditions or provisions of the Loan Documents whatsoever shall be valid unless in writing signed
by the Lenders required pursuant to Section 8.2, and then only to the extent in such writing specifically set forth. All remedies contained in the
Loan Documents or by law afforded shall be cumulative and all shall be available to the Agent and the Lenders until the Obligations have been
paid in full.
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ARTICLE IX
GUARANTEE
9.1 Guarantee. (a) The Company hereby unconditionally and irrevocably guarantees to the Agent and the Lenders and their respective
successors, endorsees, transferees and assigns, the prompt and complete payment and performance by the Foreign Subsidiary Borrowers when
due (whether at the stated maturity, by acceleration or otherwise) of the Obligations owing by such Foreign Subsidiary Borrowers.
(b) The Company further agrees to pay any and all expenses (including, without limitation, all reasonable fees and disbursements of counsel)
which are paid or incurred by the Agent, or any Lender in enforcing, or obtaining advice of counsel in respect of, any rights with respect to, or
collecting, any or all of the Obligations and/or enforcing any rights with respect to, or collecting against, the Company under this Section. This
Section shall remain in full force and effect until the Obligations are paid in full and the Commitments are terminated, notwithstanding that
from time to time prior thereto the Borrowers may be free from any Obligations.
(c) No payment or payments made by any Borrower or any other Person or received or collected by the Agent or any Lender from any
Borrower or any other Person by virtue of any action or proceeding or any set-off or appropriation or application, at any time or from time to
time, in reduction of or in payment of the Obligations shall be deemed to modify, reduce, release or otherwise affect the liability of the
Company hereunder which shall, notwithstanding any such payment or payments, remain liable hereunder for the Obligations until the
Obligations are paid in full and the Commitments are terminated.
(d) The Company agrees that whenever, at any time, or from time to time, it shall make any payment to the Agent or any Lender on account of
its liability under this Section, it will notify the Agent and such Lender in writing that such payment is made under this Section for such
purpose.
9.2 No Subrogation. Notwithstanding any payment or payments made by the Company hereunder, or any set-off or application of funds of the
Company by the Agent or any Lender, the Company shall not be entitled to be subrogated to any of the rights of the Agent or any Lender
against the Borrowers or against any collateral security or guarantee or right of offset held by the Agent or any Lender for the payment of the
Obligations, nor shall the Company seek or be entitled to seek any contribution or reimbursement from the Borrowers in respect of payments
made by the Company hereunder, until all amounts owing to the Agent and the Lenders by the Borrowers on account of the Obligations are
paid in full and the Commitments are terminated. If any amount shall be paid to the Company on account of such subrogation rights at any time
when all of the Obligations shall not have been paid in full, such amount shall be held by the Company in trust for the Agent and the Lenders,
segregated from other funds of the Company, and shall, forthwith upon receipt by the Company, be turned over to the Agent in the exact form
received by the Company (duly endorsed by the Company to the Agent, if required), to be applied against the Obligations, whether matured or
unmatured, in such order as Agent may determine. The provisions of this paragraph shall survive the termination of this Agreement and the
payment in full of the Obligations and the termination of the Commitments.
9.3 Amendments, etc. with respect to the Obligations; Waiver of Rights. The Company shall remain obligated hereunder notwithstanding that,
without any reservation of rights against the Company, and without notice to or further assent by the Company, any demand for payment of any
of the
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Obligations made by the Agent or the Required Lenders may be rescinded by the Agent or the Required Lenders, and any of the Obligations
continued, and the Obligations, or the liability of any other party upon or for any part thereof, or any collateral security or guarantee therefor or
right of offset with respect thereto, may, from time to time, in whole or in part be renewed, extended, amended, modified, accelerated,
compromised, waived, surrendered or released by the Agent or the Required Lenders, and any Loan Documents and any other documents
executed and delivered in connection therewith may be amended, modified, supplemented or terminated, in whole or in part, in accordance
with the provisions thereof as the Agent (or the Required Lenders, as the case may be) may deem advisable from time to time, and any
collateral security, guarantee or right of offset at any time held by the Agent or any Lender for the payment of the Obligations may be sold,
exchanged, waived, surrendered or released. None of the Agent or any Lender shall have any obligation to protect, secure, perfect or insure any
Lien at any time held by it as security for the Obligations or for this Agreement or any property subject thereto. When making any demand
hereunder against the Company, the Agent or any Lender may, but shall be under no obligation to, make a similar demand on any other
Borrower or any other guarantor, and any failure by the Agent or any Lender to make any such demand or to collect any payments from any
other Borrower or any such other guarantor or any release of the Borrowers or such other guarantor shall not relieve the Company of its
obligations or liabilities hereunder, and shall not impair or affect the rights and remedies, express or implied, or as a matter of law, of the Agent
or any Lender against the Company. For the purposes hereof "demand" shall include the commencement and continuance of any legal
proceedings.
9.4 Guarantee Absolute and Unconditional. The Company waives any and all notice of the creation, renewal, extension or accrual of any of the
Obligations and notice of or proof of reliance by the Agent or any Lender upon this Agreement or acceptance of this Agreement; the
Obligations, and any of them, shall conclusively be deemed to have been created, contracted or incurred, or renewed, extended, amended or
waived, in reliance upon this Agreement; and all dealings among the Borrowers, on the one hand, and the Agent and the Lenders, on the other,
shall likewise be conclusively presumed to have been had or consummated in reliance upon this Agreement. The Company waives diligence,
presentment, protest, demand for payment and notice of default or nonpayment to or upon the Foreign Subsidiary Borrowers and the Company
with respect to the Obligations. This Article IX shall be construed as a continuing, absolute and unconditional guarantee of payment without
regard to (a) the validity, regularity or enforceability of this Agreement, any other Loan Document, any of the Obligations or any other
collateral security therefor or guarantee or right of offset with respect thereto at any time or from time to time held by the Agent or any Lender,
(b) any defense, set-off or counterclaim (other than a defense of payment or performance by any Borrower) which may at any time be available
to or be asserted by any Borrower against the Agent or any Lender, or
(c) any other circumstance whatsoever (with or without notice to or knowledge of any Borrower) which constitutes, or might be construed to
constitute, an equitable or legal discharge of the Borrowers for the Obligations, or of the Company under this Section 9.4, in bankruptcy or in
any other instance (other than a defense of payment or performance by the Borrowers). When pursuing its rights and remedies hereunder
against the Company, the Agent and any Lender may, but shall be under no obligation to, pursue such rights and remedies as it may have
against any Borrower or any other Person or against any collateral security or guarantee for the Obligations or any right of offset with respect
thereto, and any failure by the Agent or any Lender to pursue such other rights or remedies or to collect any payments from the Borrowers or
any such other Person or to realize upon any such collateral security or guarantee or to exercise any such right of offset, or any release of the
Borrowers or any such other Person or of any such collateral security, guarantee or right of offset, shall not relieve the Company of any liability
hereunder, and shall not impair or affect the rights and remedies, whether express, implied or available as a matter of law, of the Agent or any
Lender against the Company. This Article IX shall remain in full force and effect and be binding in accordance with and to the extent of its
terms upon the Company and its successors and assigns, and shall inure to the benefit of the Agent and the Lenders, and their respective
successors, indorsees, transferees and assigns, until all
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the Obligations and the obligations of the Company under this Agreement shall have been satisfied by payment in full and the Commitments
shall be terminated, notwithstanding that from time to time during the term of this Agreement the Borrowers may be free from any Obligations.
9.5 Reinstatement. This Article IX shall continue to be effective, or be reinstated, as the case may be, if at any time payment, or any part
thereof, of any of the Obligations is rescinded or must otherwise be restored or returned by the Agent or any Lender upon the insolvency,
bankruptcy, dissolution, liquidation or reorganization of any Borrower or upon or as a result of the appointment of a receiver, intervenor or
conservator of, or Trustee or similar officer for, any Borrower or any substantial part of its property, or otherwise, all as though such payments
had not been made.
9.6 Payments. The Company hereby agrees that all payments required to be made by it hereunder will be made to the Agent without set-off or
counterclaim in accordance with the terms of the Obligations, including, without limitation, in the currency in which payment is due.
ARTICLE X
GENERAL PROVISIONS
10.1 Survival of Representations. All representations and warranties of the Borrowers Lenders, and Issuers contained in this Agreement shall
survive delivery of the Loan Documents and the making of the Loans herein contemplated.
10.2 Governmental Regulation. Anything contained in this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, no Lender shall be obligated to extend
credit to a Borrower in violation of any limitation or prohibition provided by any applicable statute or regulation.
10.3 Taxes. Any taxes (excluding income taxes and franchise taxes (imposed in lieu of income taxes), imposed on the Agent or any Lender as a
result of a present or former connection between the Agent or such Lender and the jurisdiction of the Governmental Authority imposing such
tax or any political subdivision or taxing authority thereof or therein (other than any such connection arising solely from the Agent or such
Lender having executed, delivered or performed its obligations or received a payment under, or enforced, this Agreement or any other Loan
Document)) or other similar assessments or charges made by any governmental or revenue authority in respect of the Loan Documents shall be
paid by the Company, together with interest and penalties, if any.
10.4 Headings. Section headings in the Loan Documents are for convenience of reference only, and shall not govern the interpretation of any of
the provisions of the Loan Documents.
10.5 Entire Agreement. The Loan Documents embody the entire agreement and understanding among the Borrowers, the Agent and the
Lenders and supersede all prior agreements and understandings among the Borrowers, the Agent and the Lenders relating to the subject matter
thereof other than any fee letters among any Borrowers and either of the Agent or Arranger and any other agreements of any of the Borrowers
with the Agent which survive the execution of the Loan Documents.
10.6 Several Obligations; Benefits of this Agreement. The respective obligations of the Lenders hereunder are several and not joint and no
Lender shall be the partner or agent of any other (except to the extent to which the Agent is authorized to act as such). The failure of any
Lender to perform any of its obligations hereunder shall not relieve any other Lender from any of its obligations
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hereunder. This Agreement shall not be construed so as to confer any right or benefit upon any Person other than the parties to this Agreement
and their respective successors and assigns.
10.7 Expenses; Indemnification. (i) The Borrowers shall reimburse the Agent and the Arranger for any reasonable costs, internal charges and
out-of-pocket expenses (including reasonable attorneys' fees and time charges of attorneys for the Agent, which attorneys may be employees of
the Agent) paid or incurred by the Agent or the Arranger in connection with the preparation, negotiation, execution, delivery, syndication,
review, amendment, modification, and administration (including, without limitation, preparation of the reports described below) of the Loan
Documents. The Borrowers also agree to reimburse the Agent, the Arranger and the Lenders for any reasonable costs, internal charges and outof-pocket expenses (including reasonable attorneys' fees and time charges of attorneys for the Agent, the Arranger and the Lenders, which
attorneys may be employees of the Agent, the Arranger or the Lenders) paid or incurred by the Agent, the Arranger or any Lender in
connection with the collection and enforcement of the Loan Documents. The Borrowers acknowledge and agree that from time to time the
Agent may prepare and may distribute to the Lenders (but shall have no obligation or duty to prepare or to distribute to the Lenders) certain
audit reports (the "Reports") pertaining to any Borrower's and Guarantors' assets for internal use by the Agent from information furnished to it
by or on behalf of the Borrowers, after the Agent has exercised its rights of inspection pursuant to this Agreement; provided that, if any Lender
requests copies of any future similar Reports which the Agent has prepared, then the Agent will provide such reports to such Lender provided
that such Lender has executed an indemnity agreement acceptable to the Agent. The Borrowers further acknowledge and agree that the Agent
or any of its agents or representatives may conduct comprehensive field audits of its books, records, properties and assets and of the books,
records properties and assets of each Subsidiary of the Company, including without limitation all Collateral subject to the Collateral
Documents, at the Borrowers' expense, provided that prior to the occurrence of a Default no more than one such comprehensive field audits
shall be conducted in any fiscal year.
(ii) The Borrowers hereby further agree to indemnify the Agent, the Arranger and each Lender, and their respective directors, officers and
employees against all losses, claims, damages, penalties, judgments, liabilities and expenses (including, without limitation, all expenses of
litigation or preparation therefor whether or not the Agent, the Arranger or any Lender is a party thereto) which any of them may pay or incur
at any time arising out of or relating to this Agreement, the other Loan Documents, the transactions contemplated hereby or the direct or
indirect application or proposed application of the proceeds of any Loan or Facility Letters of Credit hereunder except to the extent that they
are determined in a final non-appealable judgment by a court of competent jurisdiction to have resulted from the gross negligence or willful
misconduct of the party seeking indemnification. The obligations of the Borrowers under this Section 10.7 shall survive the termination of this
Agreement.
10.8 Numbers of Documents. All statements, notices, closing documents, and requests hereunder shall be furnished to the Agent with sufficient
counterparts so that the Agent may furnish one to each of the Lenders.
10.9. Accounting. (i) Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, all accounting terms used herein shall be interpreted, and all financial
statements and certificates and reports as to financial matters required to be delivered to the Lenders hereunder shall (unless otherwise
disclosed to the Lenders in writing at the time of delivery thereof in the manner described in subsection (ii) below) be prepared, in accordance
with Agreement Accounting Principles (subject, in the case of financial statements which are not fiscal year end statements, to the absence of
footnotes and year-end audit adjustments); provided that, if the Company notifies the Agent that it wishes to amend any covenant in Article VI
to eliminate the
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effect of any change in Agreement Accounting Principles (or if the Agent notifies the Company that the Agent or the Required Lenders wish to
amend Article VI for such purpose), then the Company's compliance with such covenants shall be determined on the basis of Agreement
Accounting Principles in effect immediately before the relevant change in Agreement Accounting Principles became effective until either such
notice is withdrawn or such covenant or any such defined term is amended in a manner satisfactory to the Company and the Required Lenders.
Notwithstanding anything herein, in any financial statements of the Company or in Agreement Accounting Principles to the contrary, for
purposes of calculating and determining compliance with the financial covenants in Section 6.19 and determining the Applicable Margin and
Applicable Fee Rate, including defined terms used therein, the Recapitalization and any Acquisitions made by the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries, including through mergers or consolidations and including any related financing transactions, during the period for which such
financial covenants and the Applicable Margin and Applicable Fee Rate were calculated shall be deemed to have occurred on the first day of
the relevant period for which such financial covenants and the Applicable Margin and Applicable Fee Rate were calculated on a pro forma
basis acceptable to the Agent.
(ii) The Company shall deliver to the Lenders at the same time as the delivery of any annual financial statement under Section 5.1(i) and
(ii) (x)a description in reasonable detail of any material variation between the application or other modification of accounting principles
employed in the preparation of such statement and the application or other modification of accounting principles employed in the preparation of
the immediately prior annual or monthly financial statements as to which no objection has been made in accordance with the last sentence of
subsection (i) above and (y) reasonable estimates of the difference between such statements arising as a consequence thereof.
(iii) To enable the ready and consistent determination of compliance with the covenants set forth in Article VI hereof, the Company will not
change the last day of its fiscal year from on or about December 31 of each year, or the last days of the first three fiscal quarters in each of its
fiscal years from on or about March 31, June 30 and September 30 of each year, respectively.
(iv) The Company agrees to take all necessary action, including without limitation any necessary acknowledgments or consents from the
Company's auditors as may be required under applicable law, to ensure that the Agent and the Lenders may rely on the audited financial
statements of the Company and its Subsidiaries, including the most recent audited financial statements delivered to the Agent before the
Effective Date and all audited financial statements delivered to the Agent after the Effective Date
(v) For purposes of Article VI (including any baskets or limitations expressed in U.S. Dollars therein) of this Agreement, any Indebtedness,
Investment or other amount made or incurred in any currency other than U.S. Dollars shall be deemed to be the U.S. Dollar Equivalent thereof.
10.10 Severability of Provisions. Any provision in any Loan Document that is held to be inoperative, unenforceable, or invalid in any
jurisdiction shall, as to that jurisdiction, be inoperative, unenforceable, or invalid without affecting the remaining provisions in that jurisdiction
or the operation, enforceability, or validity of that provision in any other jurisdiction, and to this end the provisions of all Loan Documents are
declared to be severable.
10.11 Nonliability of Lenders. The relationship between the Borrowers and the Lenders and the Agent shall be solely that of borrower and
lender. Neither the Agent nor any Lender shall have any fiduciary responsibilities to any Borrower. Neither the Agent nor any Lender
undertakes any
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responsibility to any Borrower to review or inform any Borrower of any matter in connection with any phase of such Borrower's business or
operations. Each Borrower agrees that neither the Agent nor any Lender shall have liability to any Borrower (whether sounding in tort, contract
or otherwise) for losses suffered by any Borrower in connection with, arising out of, or in any way related to, the transactions contemplated and
the relationship established by the Loan Documents, or any act, omission or event occurring in connection therewith, unless it is determined by
a court of competent jurisdiction in a final and non-appealable order that such losses resulted from the gross negligence or willful misconduct
of, or violation of applicable laws or any of the Loan Documents by, the party from which recovery is sought. Neither the Agent nor any
Lender shall have any liability with respect to, and each Borrower hereby waives, releases and agrees not to sue for, any special, indirect or
consequential damages suffered by the Borrowers in connection with, arising out of, or in any way related to the Loan Documents or the
transactions contemplated thereby.
10.12 Confidentiality. Each Lender agrees to hold any confidential information which it may receive from any Borrower pursuant to this
Agreement in confidence, and will not disclose or use for any purpose other than its credit evaluation under this Agreement such confidential
information, except for disclosure: (i) to any Transferee or prospective Transferee to the extent provided in Section 13.4; (ii) to legal counsel,
accountants and other professional advisors to that Lender to the extent necessary to advise that Lender concerning its rights or obligations in
respect of this Agreement; provided that such professional advisor agrees to hold any confidential information which it may receive in
confidence and not to disclose or use such confidential information for any purpose other than advising that Lender with respect to its rights
and obligations under this Agreement; (iii) to regulatory officials to the extent required by applicable law, rule, regulations, order, policy or
directive (whether or not any such policy or directive has the force of law); and (iv) pursuant to any order of any court, arbitrator or
Governmental Authority of competent jurisdiction (or as otherwise required by law); provided, however, that the Lender (or other Person given
confidential information by such Lender) shall provide the Company with prompt notice of any such required disclosure so that the Company
may seek a protective order or other appropriate remedy, and in the event that such protective order or other remedy is not obtained, such
Lender (or such other Person) will furnish only that portion of the confidential information which is legally required. Without limiting Section
10.5, the Borrowers agrees that the terms of this Section 10.12 shall set forth the entire agreement between the Borrowers and each Lender
(including the Agent) with respect to any confidential information previously or hereafter received by such Lender in connection with this
Agreement, and this Section 10.12 shall supersede any and all prior confidentiality agreements entered into by such Lender with respect to such
confidential information. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, confidential information shall not include, and each party to any of
the Loan Documents and their respective Affiliates (and the respective partners, directors, officers, employees, advisors, representatives and
other agents of each of the foregoing and their Affiliates) may disclose to any and all Persons, without limitation of any kind, (i) any
information with respect to the U.S. federal and state income tax treatment of the transactions contemplated hereby and any facts that may be
relevant to understanding such tax treatment, which facts shall not include for this purpose the names of the parties or any other Person named
herein, or information that would permit identification of the parties or such other Persons, or any pricing terms or other nonpublic business or
financial information that is unrelated to such tax treatment or facts, and (ii) all materials of any kind (including opinions or other tax analyses)
relating to such tax treatment or facts that are provided to any of the Persons referred to above, and it is hereby confirmed that each of the
Persons referred to above has been authorized to make such disclosures since the commencement of discussions regarding the transactions
contemplated hereby.
10.13 Nonreliance. Each Lender hereby represents that it is not relying on or looking to any Margin Stock for the repayment of the Loans
provided for herein.
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10.14. USA PATRIOT ACT NOTIFICATION. The following notification is provided to the Borrowers pursuant to Section 326 of the USA
Patriot Act of 2001, 31 U.S.C. Section 5318:
IMPORTANT INFORMATION ABOUT PROCEDURES FOR OPENING A NEW ACCOUNT. To help the government fight the funding of
terrorism and money laundering activities, Federal law requires all financial institutions to obtain, verify, and record information that identifies
each person or entity that opens an account, including any deposit account, treasury management account, loan, other extension of credit, or
other financial services product. What this means for a Borrower: When a Borrower opens an account, if a Borrower is an individual, Agent
and the Lenders will ask for such Borrower's name, residential address, tax identification number, date of birth, and other information that will
allow Agent and the Lenders to identify such Borrower, and, if such Borrower is not an individual, Agent and the Lenders will ask for such
Borrower's name, tax identification number, business address, and other information that will allow Agent and the Lenders to identify such
Borrower. Agent and the Lenders may also ask, if a Borrower is an individual, to see such Borrower's driver's license or other identifying
documents, and, if a Borrower is not an individual, to see such Borrower's legal organizational documents or other identifying documents.
ARTICLE XI
THE AGENT
11.1 Appointment; Nature of Relationship. Bank One is hereby appointed by the Lenders as the Agent hereunder and under each other Loan
Document, and each of the Lenders irrevocably authorizes the Agent to act as the contractual representative of such Lender with the rights and
duties expressly set forth herein and in the other Loan Documents. The Agent agrees to act as such contractual representative upon the express
conditions contained in this Article XI. Notwithstanding the use of the defined term "Agent," it is expressly understood and agreed that the
Agent shall not have any fiduciary responsibilities to any Lender by reason of this Agreement or any other Loan Document and that the Agent
is merely acting as the contractual representative of the Lenders with only those duties as are expressly set forth in this Agreement and the other
Loan Documents. In its capacity as the Lenders' contractual representative, the Agent (i) does not hereby assume any fiduciary duties to any of
the Lenders, (ii) is a "representative" of the Lenders within the meaning of Section 9-105 of the Uniform Commercial Code and (iii) is acting as
an independent contractor, the rights and duties of which are limited to those expressly set forth in this Agreement and the other Loan
Documents. Each of the Lenders hereby agrees to assert no claim against the Agent on any agency theory or any other theory of liability for
breach of fiduciary duty, all of which claims each Lender hereby waives.
11.2 Powers. The Agent shall have and may exercise such powers under the Loan Documents as are specifically delegated to the Agent by the
terms of each thereof, together with such powers as are reasonably incidental thereto. The Agent shall not have any implied duties to the
Lenders, or any obligation to the Lenders to take any action thereunder except any action specifically provided by the Loan Documents to be
taken by the Agent.
11.3 General Immunity. Neither Agent nor any of its directors, officers, agents or employees shall be liable to the Borrowers, the Lenders or
any Lender for (a) any action taken or omitted to be taken by it or them hereunder or under any other Loan Document or in connection herewith
or therewith except to the extent such action or inaction is determined in a final non-appealable judgment by a court of
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competent jurisdiction to have arisen from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of such Person; or (b) any determination by the Agent
that compliance with any law or any governmental or quasi-governmental rule, regulation, order, policy, guideline or directive (whether or not
having the force of law) requires the Advances and Commitments hereunder to be classified as being part of a "highly leveraged transaction".
11.4 No Responsibility for Loans, Recitals, etc. Neither the Agent nor any of its directors, officers, agents or employees shall be responsible for
or have any duty to ascertain, inquire into, or verify (i) any statement, warranty or representation made in connection with any Loan Document
or any borrowing hereunder; (ii) the performance or observance of any of the covenants or agreements of any obligor under any Loan
Document, including, without limitation, any agreement by an obligor to furnish information directly to each Lender; (iii) the satisfaction of
any condition specified in Article IV; (iv) the validity, enforceability, effectiveness, sufficiency or genuineness of any Loan Document or any
other instrument or writing furnished in connection therewith; (v) the value, sufficiency, creation, perfection or priority of any Lien in any
collateral security; (vi) the existence or possible existence of any Default or Unmatured Default; or (vii) the financial condition of any
Borrower or Guarantor or any of their respective Subsidiaries. The Agent shall not have any duty to disclose to the Lenders information that is
not required to be furnished by the Borrowers to the Agent at the time, but is voluntarily furnished by the Borrowers to the Agent (either in its
capacity as the Agent or in its individual capacity).
11.5 Action on Instructions of Lenders. The Agent shall in all cases be fully protected in acting, or in refraining from acting, hereunder and
under any other Loan Document in accordance with written instructions signed by the Required Lenders (or all Lenders if required under
Section 8.2.1), and such instructions and any action taken or failure to act pursuant thereto shall be binding on all of the Lenders and on all
holders of the Obligations. The Lenders hereby acknowledge that the Agent shall not be under any duty to take any discretionary action
permitted to be taken by it pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement or any other Loan Document unless it shall be requested in writing to
do so by the Required Lenders. The Agent shall be fully justified in failing or refusing to take any action hereunder and under any other Loan
Document unless it shall first be indemnified to its satisfaction by the Lenders pro rata against any and all liability, cost and expense that it may
incur by reason of taking or continuing to take any such action.
11.6 Employment of Agents and Counsel. The Agent may execute any of its duties as Agent hereunder and under any other Loan Document by
or through employees, agents, and attorneys-in-fact and shall not be answerable to the Lenders, except as to money or securities received by it
or its authorized agents, for the default or misconduct of any such agents or attorneys-in-fact selected by it with reasonable care. The Agent
shall be entitled to advice of counsel concerning the contractual arrangement between the Agent and the Lenders and all matters pertaining to
the Agent's duties hereunder and under any other Loan Document.
11.7 Reliance on Documents; Counsel. The Agent shall be entitled to rely upon any Note, notice, consent, certificate, affidavit, letter, telegram,
statement, paper or document believed by it to be genuine and correct and to have been signed or sent by the proper Person or Persons, and, in
respect to legal matters, upon the opinion of counsel selected by the Agent, which counsel may be employees of the Agent.
11.8 Agent's Reimbursement and Indemnification. The Lenders agree to reimburse and indemnify (to the extent not reimbursed by a Borrower
and without limiting the obligation of any Borrower to do so) the Agent ratably in proportion to the U.S. Dollar Equivalent of their respective
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Commitments (or, if the Commitments have been terminated, in proportion to the U.S. Dollar Equivalent of their respective Commitments
immediately prior to such termination) (i) for any amounts not reimbursed by the Company for which the Agent is entitled to reimbursement by
the Company or the other Borrowers under the Loan Documents, (ii) for any other expenses incurred by the Agent on behalf of the Lenders, in
connection with the preparation, execution, delivery, administration and enforcement of the Loan Documents (including, without limitation, for
any expenses incurred by the Agent in connection with any dispute between the Agent and any Lender or between two or more of the Lenders)
and (iii) for any liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs, expenses or disbursements of any kind and
nature whatsoever which may be imposed on, incurred by or asserted against the Agent in any way relating to or arising out of the Loan
Documents or any other document delivered in connection therewith or the transactions contemplated thereby (including, without limitation,
for any such amounts incurred by or asserted against the Agent in connection with any dispute between the Agent and any Lender or between
two or more of the Lenders), or the enforcement of any of the terms thereof or of any such other documents, provided that no Lender shall be
liable for any of the foregoing to the extent any of the foregoing is found in a final non-appealable judgment by a court of competent
jurisdiction to have resulted from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the Agent. The obligations of the Lenders under this Section
11.8 shall survive payment of the Obligations and termination of this Agreement.
11.9 Notice of Default. The Agent shall not be deemed to have knowledge or notice of the occurrence of any Default or Unmatured Default
hereunder unless the Agent has received written notice from a Lender or a Borrower referring to this Agreement describing such Default or
Unmatured Default and stating that such notice is a "notice of default". In the event that the Agent receives such a notice, the Agent shall give
prompt notice thereof to the Lenders.
11.10 Rights as a Lender. In the event the Agent is a Lender, the Agent shall have the same rights and powers hereunder and under any other
Loan Document as any Lender and may exercise the same as though it were not an Agent, and the term "Lender" or "Lenders" shall, at any
time when the Agent is a Lender, unless the context otherwise indicates, include the Agent in its individual capacity. The Agent and its
Affiliates may accept deposits from, lend money to, and generally engage in any kind of trust, debt, equity or other transaction, in addition to
those contemplated by this Agreement or any other Loan Document, with the Company or any of its Subsidiaries in which the Company or
such Subsidiary is not restricted hereby from engaging with any other Person.
11.11 Lender Credit Decision. Each Lender acknowledges that it has, independently and without reliance upon the Agent, the Arranger or any
other Lender and based on the financial statements prepared by the Borrowers and such other documents and information as it has deemed
appropriate, made its own credit analysis and decision to enter into this Agreement and the other Loan Documents. Each Lender also
acknowledges that it will, independently and without reliance upon the Agent, the Arranger or any other Lender and based on such documents
and information as it shall deem appropriate at the time, continue to make its own credit decisions in taking or not taking action under this
Agreement and the other Loan Documents.
11.12 Successor Agent. The Agent may resign at any time by giving written notice thereof to the Lenders and the Company, such resignation to
be effective upon the appointment of a successor Agent or, if no such successor Agent has been appointed, forty-five days after the retiring
Agent gives notice of its intention to resign. The Agent may be removed at any time with or without cause by written notice received by the
Agent from the Required Lenders, such removal to be effective on the date specified by the Required Lenders. Upon any such resignation or
removal, the Required Lenders shall
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have the right to appoint, on behalf of the Borrowers and the Lenders, a successor Agent to the Agent. If no such successor Agent shall have
been so appointed by the Required Lenders within thirty days after such resigning Agent's giving notice of its intention to resign, then such
resigning Agent may appoint, on behalf of the Company and the Lenders, a successor Agent for itself. If the Agent has resigned or been
removed and no successor Agent has been appointed, the Lenders may perform all the duties of the Agent hereunder and the Company shall
make all payments in respect of the Obligations to the applicable Lender and for all other purposes shall deal directly with the Lenders. No
successor Agent shall be deemed to be appointed hereunder until such successor Agent has accepted the appointment. Any such successor
Agent shall be a commercial bank having capital and retained earnings of at least $500,000,000. Upon the acceptance of any appointment as an
Agent hereunder by a successor Agent, such successor Agent shall thereupon succeed to and become vested with all the rights, powers,
privileges and duties of the resigning or removed Agent. Upon the effectiveness of the resignation or removal of the Agent, the resigning or
removed Agent shall be discharged from its duties and obligations hereunder and under the Loan Documents. After the effectiveness of the
resignation or removal of an Agent, the provisions of this Article XI shall continue in effect for the benefit of the Agent in respect of any
actions taken or omitted to be taken by it while it was acting as an Agent hereunder and under the other Loan Documents.
11.13 Collateral Management. The Agent is hereby authorized on behalf of all the Lenders, without the necessity of any further consent from
any Lender, from time to time prior to a Default, to take any action with respect to the Collateral or the Collateral Documents which may be
necessary (i) to perfect and maintain perfected the security interest in and liens upon the Collateral granted pursuant to the Collateral
Documents; and (ii) to release portions of the Collateral from the security interests and liens imposed by the Collateral Documents in
connection with any dispositions of such portions of the Collateral permitted by this Agreement. In the event that the Company desires to sell
or otherwise dispose of any assets and such sale or disposition is permitted by this Agreement, the Agent shall, upon timely notice from the
Company and the payment to the Agent of the Net Cash Proceeds of such sale or disposition to the extent required under this Agreement,
release such portions of the Collateral from the security interests and liens imposed by the Collateral Documents as may be specified by the
Company in order for the Company or its Subsidiaries to consummate such proposed sale or disposition, provided that at or prior to the time of
such proposed sale or disposition no Default or Unmatured Default shall have occurred and be continuing, including, without limitation, any
Unmatured Default or Default that would arise upon consummation of such sale or disposition. For purposes of the preceding sentence, the
Company shall give timely notice to the Agent of such sale or disposition, not less than ten Business Days prior to the date of such proposed
sale or disposition. If such sale or disposition would cause a prepayment under this Agreement, the Company shall furnish to the Agent an
Officers' Certificate setting forth in reasonable detail the circumstances of such proposed sale or disposition (including a description of the
Collateral to be sold or otherwise disposed of, the consideration (if any) to be received and such information as may be required regarding
compliance with the relevant provisions of this Agreement, including the amount of any required prepayment hereunder and (if relevant) the
approval of the price of such sale as to the fair market value). The Lenders hereby empower and authorize the Agent to execute and deliver to
the Borrowers on their behalf the Collateral Documents and all related financing statements and any financing statements, agreements,
documents or instructions as shall be necessary or appropriate to effect the purposes of the Collateral Documents. The Lenders hereby
empower and authorize the Agent to execute and deliver to the Borrowers on their behalf any agreements, documents or instruments as shall be
necessary or appropriate to effect any releases of Collateral which shall be permitted by the terms hereof or of any other Loan Document or
which shall otherwise have been approved by the Required Lenders (or, if required by the terms of Section 8.2, all of the Lenders) in writing.
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11.14 Right to Indemnity. The Agent shall be fully justified in failing or refusing to take any action hereunder unless it shall first be
indemnified to its satisfaction by the Lenders pro rata against any and all liability and expense which may be incurred by it by reason of taking
or continuing to take any such action.
11.15 Delegation to Affiliates. The Borrowers and the Lenders agree that the Agent may delegate any of its duties under this Agreement to any
of its Affiliates. Any such Affiliate (and such Affiliate's directors, officers, agents and employees) which performs duties in connection with
this Agreement shall be entitled to the same benefits of the indemnification, waiver, and other protective provisions to which the Agent is
entitled under Articles X and XI.
11.16 Documentation Agent, Syndication Agent, etc. Neither of the Lenders identified or designated in this Agreement as the Documentation
Agent or the Syndication Agent shall have any right, power, obligation, liability, responsibility or duty under this Agreement other than those
applicable to all Lenders as such. Without limiting the foregoing, neither of such Lenders shall have or be deemed to have a fiduciary
relationship with any Lender. Each Lender hereby makes the same acknowledgments with respect to such Lenders as it makes with respect to
the Agent in Section 11.11.
ARTICLE XII
SETOFF; ADJUSTMENTS AMONG LENDERS
12.1 Setoff. In addition to, and without limitation of, any rights of the Lenders under applicable law, if any Default occurs, any and all deposits
(including all account balances, whether provisional or final and whether or not collected or available) and any other Indebtedness at any time
held or owing by any Lender to or for the credit or account of any Borrower may be offset and applied toward the payment of the Obligations
owing to such Lender by such Borrower.
12.2 Ratable Payments. If any Lender, whether by setoff or otherwise, has payment made to it upon its Obligations owing from a Borrower
(other than payments received pursuant to Section 3.1, 3.2, 3.4, 3.6 or 10.7) in a greater proportion than that received by any other Lender on its
Obligations owing from such Borrower, such Lender agrees, promptly upon demand, to purchase a portion of the Advances to such Borrower
held by the other Lenders so that after such purchase each Lender will hold its ratable proportion of Advances to such Borrower. If any Lender,
whether in connection with setoff or amounts which might be subject to setoff or otherwise, receives collateral or other protection for its
Obligations or such amounts which may be subject to setoff, such Lender agrees, promptly upon demand, to take such action necessary such
that all Lenders share in the benefits of such collateral ratably in proportion to their Aggregate Credit Exposure (in accordance with the formula
set forth in the next sentence). In addition to the equalization accomplished by the first two sentences of this Section 12.2, if any Lender
receives the proceeds of any Collateral upon and during the continuance of any Default, including without limitation in connection with any
enforcement of remedies hereunder, in a greater proportion (based on the ratio of such Lender's Aggregate Credit Exposure (as calculated in
U.S. Dollars based on the U.S. Dollar Equivalent of such amount on the date of acceleration of the Obligations pursuant to Section 8.1) to the
sum of the Aggregate Credit Exposure of all Lenders (as calculated in U.S. Dollars based on the U.S. Dollar Equivalent of such amount on the
date of acceleration of the Obligations pursuant to Section 8.1)) than that received by any other Lender, such Lender and all other Lenders
agree to purchase participation interests in other Lenders' Aggregate Credit Exposure and/or take such other reasonable actions and make
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such other equitable adjustments among the Lenders as reasonably agreed to by the Lenders, to ensure that each Lender receives its
proportionate share (based on its U.S. Dollar Equivalent share of the Aggregate Credit Exposure of all Lenders) of all such proceeds of
Collateral. In case any such payment is disturbed by legal process, or otherwise, appropriate further adjustments shall be made.
ARTICLE XIII
BENEFIT OF AGREEMENT; ASSIGNMENTS; PARTICIPATIONS
13.1 Successors and Assigns. The terms and provisions of the Loan Documents shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Borrowers
and the Lenders and their respective successors and assigns, except that (i) the Borrowers shall not have the right to assign their rights or
obligations under the Loan Documents and (ii) any assignment by any Lender must be made in compliance with Section 13.3. Notwithstanding
clause (ii) of this Section, any Lender may at any time, without the consent of the Borrowers or the Agent, assign all or any portion of its rights
under this Agreement, and the Loan Documents to a Federal Reserve Bank; provided, however, that no such assignment to a Federal Reserve
Bank shall release the transferor Lender from its obligations hereunder. The Agent may treat the payee of any Loan Document as the owner
thereof for all purposes hereof unless and until such payee complies with
Section 13.3 in the case of an assignment thereof or, in the case of any other transfer, a written notice of the transfer is filed with the Agent.
Any assignee or transferee of any of the Advances or a Note agrees by acceptance thereof to be bound by all the terms and provisions of the
Loan Documents. Any request, authority or consent of any Person, who at the time of making such request or giving such authority or consent
is the owner of any of the Advances or a holder of any Note, shall be conclusive and binding on any subsequent holder, transferee or assignee
of such Note or of any Note or Notes issued in exchange therefor.
13.2 Participations.
13.2.1 Permitted Participants; Effect. Subject to Section 13.4, any Lender may, in the ordinary course of its business and in accordance with
applicable law, at any time sell to one or more banks or other entities ("Participants") participating interests in any Obligations owing to such
Lender, any Note held by such Lender, any Commitment of such Lender or any other interest of such Lender under the Loan Documents. In the
event of any such sale by a Lender of participating interests to a Participant, such Lender's obligations under the Loan Documents shall remain
unchanged, such Lender shall remain solely responsible to the other parties hereto for the performance of such obligations, such Lender shall
remain the holder of any such Obligations or Note for all purposes under the Loan Documents, all amounts payable by the Borrowers under
this Agreement shall be determined as if such Lender had not sold such participating interests (including without limitation payments with
respect to Non-Excluded Taxes), and the Borrowers and the Agent shall continue to deal solely and directly with such Lender in connection
with such Lender's rights and obligations under the Loan Documents.
13.2.2 Voting Rights. Except in the case of a participation to an Affiliate of such Lender, each Lender shall retain the sole right to approve,
without the consent of any Participant, any amendment, modification or waiver of any provision of the Loan Documents other than any
amendment, modification or waiver with respect to any Obligations or Commitment in which such Participant has an interest which would
require the consent of all Lenders under Section 8.2.1.
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13.2.3 Benefit of Setoff. The Borrowers agree that each Participant shall be deemed to have the right of setoff provided in Section 12.1 in
respect of its participating interest in amounts owing under the Loan Documents to the same extent as if the amount of its participating interest
were owing directly to it as a Lender under the Loan Documents, provided that each Lender shall retain the right of setoff provided in Section
12.1 with respect to the amount of participating interests sold to each Participant. The Lenders agree to share with each Participant, and each
Participant, by exercising the right of setoff provided in Section 12.1, agrees to share with each Lender, any amount received pursuant to the
exercise of its right of setoff, such amounts to be shared in accordance with Section 12.2 as if each Participant were a Lender.
13.3 Assignments.
13.3.1 Permitted Assignments. Subject to Section 13.4, any Lender may, in the ordinary course of its business and in accordance with
applicable law, at any time assign to one or more banks, finance companies, insurance companies or other financial institutions or funds that
are engaged in making, purchasing or otherwise investing in commercial loans in the ordinary course of its business or any other entity
("Purchasers") all or any part of its rights and obligations under the Loan Documents. Such assignment shall be substantially in the form of
Exhibit I hereto (an "Assignment") or in such other form as may be agreed to by the parties thereto. The consent of the Agent, any Issuer and
the Company shall be required prior to an assignment becoming effective, provided that the consent of the Company shall not be unreasonably
withheld or delayed and shall not be required upon and during the continuance of any Default or if such assignment is to another Lender or to
an Affiliate of a Lender. No such assignment may be made to a manufacturing company or any of its Affiliates which is a direct competitor of
the Company, unless a Default has occurred under
Section 7.6. Each such assignment shall be in an amount not less than the lesser of (i) $10,000,000 (or its equivalent in the relevant Agreed
Foreign Currency), or (ii) the remaining amount of the assigning Lender's Commitment (calculated as at the date of such assignment).
13.3.2 Effect; Effective Date. Upon (i) delivery to the Agent of a notice of assignment, substantially in the form attached as Exhibit J hereto (a
"Notice of Assignment"), together with any consents required by Section 13.3.1, and (ii) payment of a $3,500 fee to the Agent for processing
such assignment (provided that such fee shall not be required if such assignment is to an existing Lender or an Affiliate thereof), and such
assignment shall become effective on the effective date specified in such Notice of Assignment. The Notice of Assignment shall contain a
representation by the Purchaser to the effect that none of the consideration used to make the purchase of the Commitment and Loans under the
applicable assignment agreement are "plan assets" as defined under ERISA and that the rights and interests of the Purchaser in and under the
Loan Documents will not be "plan assets" under ERISA. On and after the effective date of such assignment, such Purchaser shall for all
purposes be a Lender party to this Agreement and any other Loan Document executed by the Lenders and shall have all the rights and
obligations of a Lender under the Loan Documents, to the same extent as if it were an original party hereto, and no further consent or action by
the Company, the Lenders or the Agent shall be required to release the transferor Lender with respect to the percentage of the Aggregate
Commitments and Advances assigned to such Purchaser. Upon the consummation of any assignment to a Purchaser pursuant to this Section
13.3.2, the transferor Lender, the Agent and the Company shall make appropriate arrangements so that replacement Notes, if applicable, are
issued to such transferor Lender and new Notes or, as appropriate, replacement Notes, are issued to such Purchaser, in each case in principal
amounts reflecting their respective Commitments, as adjusted pursuant to such assignment. Upon the request of the Agent and such Purchaser,
the Borrowers will take or cause to be taken such other action, if any, as may be required by applicable law to effect such assignment.
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13.4 Dissemination of Information. Each Borrower authorizes each Lender to disclose to any Participant or Purchaser or any other Person
acquiring an interest in the Loan Documents by operation of law (each a "Transferee") and any prospective Transferee any and all information
in such Lender's possession concerning the creditworthiness of the Company and its Subsidiaries, provided that each Transferee and
prospective Transferee agrees to be bound by Section 10.12.
13.5 Tax Treatment. If any interest in any Loan Document is transferred to any Transferee which is organized under the laws of any
jurisdiction other than the United States or any State thereof (in the case of a Transferee which is a Lender to the Company), or of the
jurisdiction in which a Foreign Subsidiary Borrower is located (in the case of a Transferee which is a Lender to such Foreign Subsidiary
Borrower), the transferor Lender shall cause such Transferee, concurrently with the effectiveness of such transfer, to comply with the
provisions of Section 3.6.
ARTICLE XIV
NOTICES
14.1. Notices; Effectiveness; Electronic Communication
(a) Notices Generally. Except in the case of notices and other communications expressly permitted to be given by telephone (and except as
provided in paragraph (b) below), all notices and other communications provided for herein shall be in writing and shall be delivered by hand
or overnight courier service, mailed by certified or registered mail or sent by telecopier as follows:
(i) if to a Borrower, at its address or telecopier number set forth on the signature page hereof;
(ii) if to the Agent, at its address or telecopier number set forth on the signature page hereof;
(iii) if to a Lender, to it at its address (or telecopier number) set forth in its Administrative Questionnaire.
Notices sent by hand or overnight courier service, or mailed by certified or registered mail, shall be deemed to have been given when received;
notices sent by telecopier shall be deemed to have been given when sent (except that, if not given during normal business hours for the
recipient, shall be deemed to have been given at the opening of business on the next Business Day for the recipient). Notices delivered through
electronic communications to the extent provided in paragraph (b) below, shall be effective as provided in said paragraph (b).
(b) Electronic Communications. Notices and other communications to the Lenders may be delivered or furnished by electronic communication
(including e-mail and internet or intranet websites) pursuant to procedures approved by the Agent or as otherwise determined by the Agent,
provided that the foregoing shall not apply to notices to any Lender pursuant to Article II if such Lender has notified the Agent that it is
incapable of receiving notices under such Article by electronic communication. The Agent or the Borrower may, in its respective discretion,
agree to accept notices and other communications to it hereunder by electronic communications pursuant to procedures approved by it or as it
otherwise determines, provided that such determination or approval may be limited to particular notices or communications.
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Unless the Agent otherwise prescribes, (i) notices and other communications sent to an e-mail address shall be deemed received upon the
sender's receipt of an acknowledgement from the intended recipient (such as by the "return receipt requested" function, as available, return email or other written acknowledgement), provided that if such notice or other communication is not given during the normal business hours of
the recipient, such notice or communication shall be deemed to have been given at the opening of business on the next Business Day for the
recipient, and (ii) notices or communications posted to an Internet or intranet website shall be deemed received upon the deemed receipt by the
intended recipient at its e-mail address as described in the foregoing clause (i) of notification that such notice or communication is available
and identifying the website address therefor.
(c) Change of Address, Etc. Any party hereto may change its address or telecopier number for notices and other communications hereunder by
notice to the other parties hereto.
ARTICLE XV
COUNTERPARTS
This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, all of which taken together shall constitute one agreement, and any of the
parties hereto may execute this Agreement by signing any such counterpart. This Agreement shall be effective when it has been executed by
the Borrowers, the Agent and the Lenders and each party has notified the Agent by telex or telephone, that it has taken such action.
ARTICLE XVI
CHOICE OF LAW, CONSENT TO JURISDICTION,
WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL, JUDGMENT CURRENCY
16.1 CHOICE OF LAW. THE LOAN DOCUMENTS (OTHER THAN THOSE CONTAINING A CONTRARY EXPRESS CHOICE OF
LAW PROVISION) SHALL BE CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE INTERNAL LAWS (AND NOT THE LAW OF
CONFLICTS) OF THE STATE OF MICHIGAN.
16.2 WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL. EACH BORROWER, THE AGENT AND EACH LENDER HEREBY WAIVES TRIAL BY JURY IN
ANY JUDICIAL PROCEEDING INVOLVING, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, ANY MATTER (WHETHER SOUNDING IN TORT,
CONTRACT OR OTHERWISE) IN ANY WAY ARISING OUT OF, RELATED TO, OR CONNECTED WITH ANY LOAN DOCUMENT
OR THE RELATIONSHIP ESTABLISHED THEREUNDER.
16.3 Submission To Jurisdiction; Waivers. (a) Each Borrower hereby irrevocably and unconditionally:
(i) submits for itself and its property in any legal action or proceeding relating to this Agreement and the other Loan Documents to which it is a
party, or for recognition and enforcement of any judgment in respect thereof, to the non-exclusive general jurisdiction of any United States
federal or Michigan state court sitting in Detroit, Michigan and appellate courts from any thereof;
(ii) consents that any such action or proceeding may be brought in such courts and waives any objection that it may now or hereafter have to
the venue of any
80

such action or proceeding in any such court or that such action or proceeding was brought in an inconvenient court and agrees not to plead or
claim the same;
(iii) agrees that service of process in any such action or proceeding may be effected by mailing a copy thereof by registered or certified mail (or
any substantially similar form of mail), postage prepaid, to the Company or such Foreign Subsidiary Borrower, as the case may be, at the
address specified in Section 14.1, or at such other address of which the Agent shall have been notified pursuant thereto;
(iv) agrees that nothing herein shall affect the right to effect service of process in any other manner permitted by law or shall limit the right to
sue in any other jurisdiction; and
(v) waives, to the maximum extent not prohibited by law, any right it may have to claim or recover in any legal action or proceeding referred to
in this subsection any special, exemplary, punitive or consequential damages.
(b) Each Foreign Subsidiary Borrower hereby irrevocably appoints the Company as its agent for service of process in any proceeding referred
to in Section 16.3(i) and agrees that service of process in any such proceeding may be made by mailing or delivering a copy thereof to it care of
Company at its address for notices set forth in Section 14.1.
16.4 Acknowledgments. Each Borrower hereby acknowledges that:
(a) it has been advised by counsel in the negotiation, execution and delivery of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents;
(b) none of the Agent or any Lender has any fiduciary relationship with or duty to such Borrower arising out of or in connection with this
Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents, and the relationship between the Agent and the Lenders, on the one hand, and the Borrowers,
on the other hand, in connection herewith or therewith is solely that of debtor and creditor; and
(c) no joint venture is created hereby or by the other Loan Documents or otherwise exists by virtue of the transactions contemplated hereby
among the Lenders or among the Borrowers and the Lenders.
16.5 Power of Attorney. Each Foreign Subsidiary Borrower hereby grants to the Company an irrevocable power of attorney to act as its
attorney-in-fact with regard to matters relating to this Agreement and each other Loan Document, including, without limitation, execution and
delivery of any amendments, supplements, waivers or other modifications hereto or thereto, receipt of any notices hereunder or thereunder and
receipt of service of process in connection herewith or therewith. Each Foreign Subsidiary Borrower hereby explicitly acknowledges that the
Agent and each Lender have executed and delivered this Agreement and each other Loan Document to which it is a party, and has performed
its obligations under this Agreement and each other Loan Document to which it is a party, in reliance upon the irrevocable grant of such power
of attorney pursuant to this subsection. The power of attorney granted by each Foreign Subsidiary Borrower hereunder is coupled with an
interest.
16.6 Judgment. (a) If for the purpose of obtaining judgment in any court it is necessary to convert a sum due hereunder in one currency into
another currency, the parties hereto agree, to the fullest
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extent that they may effectively do so, under applicable law that the rate of exchange used shall be that at which in accordance with normal
banking procedures the Agent could purchase the first currency with such other currency in the city in which it normally conducts its foreign
exchange operation for the first currency on the Business Day preceding the day on which final judgment is given.
(b) The obligation of each Borrower in respect of any sum due from it to any Lender hereunder shall, notwithstanding any judgment in a
currency (the "Judgment Currency") other than that in which such sum is denominated in accordance with the applicable provisions of this
Agreement (the "Applicable Agreed Currency"), be discharged only to the extent that on the Business Day following receipt by such Lender of
any sum adjudged to be so due in the Judgment Currency such Lender may in accordance with normal banking procedures purchase the
Applicable Agreed Currency with the Judgment Currency; if the amount of Applicable Agreed Currency so purchased is less than the sum
originally due to such Lender in the Applicable Agreed Currency, such Borrower agrees notwithstanding any such judgment to indemnify such
Lender against such loss, and if the amount of the Applicable Agreed Currency so purchased exceeds the sum originally due to any Lender,
such Lender agrees to remit to such Borrower such excess.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Borrowers, the Lenders and the Agent have executed this Agreement as of the date first above written.
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EXHIBIT 10(o)

MYERS INDUSTRIES, INC.
$65,000,000 6.08% Series 2003-A Senior Notes, Tranche 1, due December 12, 2010
$35,000,000 6.81% Series 2003-A Senior Notes, Tranche 2, due December 12, 2013

NOTE PURCHASE AGREEMENT

DATED AS OF DECEMBER 12, 2003
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MYERS INDUSTRIES, INC.
1293 SOUTH MAIN STREET
AKRON, OHIO 44301
$65,000,000 6.08% SERIES 2003-A SENIOR NOTES, TRANCHE 1,
DUE DECEMBER 12, 2010
$35,000,000 6.81% SERIES 2003-A SENIOR NOTES, TRANCHE 2,
DUE DECEMBER 12, 2013
Dated as of
December 12, 2003
TO THE PURCHASERS LISTED IN
THE ATTACHED SCHEDULE A:
Ladies and Gentlemen:
MYERS INDUSTRIES, INC., an Ohio corporation (the "Company"), agrees with the Purchasers listed in the attached Schedule A (the
"Purchasers") to this Note Purchase Agreement (this "Agreement") as follows:
SECTION 1. AUTHORIZATION OF NOTES.
The Company will authorize the issue and sale of (i) $65,000,000 6.08% Series 2003-A Senior Notes, Tranche 1, due December 12, 2010 (the
"Tranche 1 Notes") and (ii) $35,000,000 6.81% Series 2003-A Senior Notes, Tranche 2, due December 12, 2013 (the "Tranche 2 Notes," and
together with the Tranche 1 Notes, the "Series 2003-A Notes"). The Series 2003-A Notes together with each Series of Additional Notes which
may from time to time be issued pursuant to the provisions of Section 2.2 are collectively referred to as the "Notes" (such term shall also
include any such notes issued in substitution therefor pursuant to
Section 13 of this Agreement). The Tranche 1 Notes and the Tranche 2 Notes shall be substantially in the form set out in Exhibit 1(a) and
Exhibit 1(b), respectively, with such changes therefrom, if any, as may be approved by the Purchasers and the Company. Certain capitalized
terms used in this Agreement are defined in Schedule B; references to a "Schedule" or an "Exhibit" are, unless otherwise specified, to a
Schedule or an Exhibit attached to this Agreement.
THIS NOTE HAS NOT BEEN REGISTERED PURSUANT TO THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED, OR THE SECURITIES
LAWS OF ANY STATE AND MAY ONLY BE SOLD PURSUANT TO AN EXEMPTION FROM, OR IN A TRANSACTION NOT
SUBJECT TO, THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED, AND APPLICABLE
STATE SECURITIES LAWS.
EXHIBIT 1
(to Supplement)

SECTION 2. SALE AND PURCHASE OF NOTES.
Section 2.1. Series 2003-A Notes. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the Company will issue and sell to each Purchaser
and each Purchaser will purchase from the Company, at the Closing provided for in Section 3, Series 2003-A Notes in the principal amount
specified opposite such Purchaser's name in Schedule A at the purchase price of 100% of the principal amount thereof. The obligations of each
Purchaser hereunder are several and not joint obligations and each Purchaser shall have no obligation and no liability to any Person for the
performance or nonperformance by any other Purchaser hereunder.
Section 2.2. Additional Series of Notes. The Company may, from time to time, in its sole discretion but subject to the terms hereof, issue and
sell one or more additional Series of its promissory notes under the provisions of this Agreement pursuant to a supplement (a "Supplement")
substantially in the form of Exhibit S. Each additional Series of Notes (the "Additional Notes") issued pursuant to a Supplement shall be
subject to the following terms and conditions:
(i) each Series of Additional Notes, when so issued, shall be differentiated from all previous Series by sequential alphabetical designation
inscribed thereon;
(ii) Additional Notes of the same Series may consist of more than one different and separate tranches and may differ with respect to
outstanding principal amounts, maturity dates, interest rates and premiums, if any, and price and terms of redemption or payment prior to
maturity, but all such different and separate tranches of the same Series shall vote as a single class and constitute one Series;
(iii) each Series of Additional Notes shall be dated the date of issue, bear interest at such rate or rates, mature on such date or dates, be subject
to such mandatory and optional prepayment on the dates and at the premiums, if any, have such additional or different conditions precedent to
closing, such representations and warranties and such additional covenants as shall be specified in the Supplement under which such Additional
Notes are issued and upon execution of any such Supplement, this Agreement shall be amended (a) to reflect such additional covenants without
further action on the part of the holders of the Notes outstanding under this Agreement, provided, that any such additional covenants shall inure
to the benefit of all holders of Notes so long as any Additional Notes issued pursuant to such Supplement remain outstanding, and (b) to reflect
such representations and warranties as are contained in such Supplement for the benefit of the holders of such Additional Notes in accordance
with the provisions of
Section 16;
(iv) each Series of Additional Notes issued under this Agreement shall be in substantially the form of Exhibit 1 to Exhibit S hereto with such
variations, omissions and insertions as are necessary or permitted hereunder;
(v) the minimum principal amount of any Note issued under a Supplement shall be $100,000, except as may be necessary to evidence the
outstanding amount of any Note originally issued in a denomination of $100,000 or more;
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(vi) all Additional Notes shall constitute Senior Debt of the Company and shall rank pari passu with all other outstanding Notes; and
(vii) no Additional Notes shall be issued hereunder if at the time of issuance thereof and after giving effect to the application of the proceeds
thereof, any Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing.
Section 2.3. Subsidiary Guaranty. (a) The payment by the Company of all amounts due with respect to the Notes and the performance by the
Company of its obligations under this Agreement will be absolutely and unconditionally guaranteed by the Subsidiary Guarantors pursuant to
the Subsidiary Guaranty Agreement dated as of even date herewith, which shall be substantially in the form of Exhibit 2.3 attached hereto, and
otherwise in accordance with the provisions of Section 9.6 hereof (the "Subsidiary Guaranty").
(b) The holders of the Notes agree to discharge and release any Subsidiary Guarantor from the Subsidiary Guaranty upon the written request of
the Company, provided that (i) such Subsidiary Guarantor has been released and discharged (or will be released and discharged concurrently
with the release of such Subsidiary Guarantor under the Subsidiary Guaranty) as an obligor and guarantor under and in respect of the Bank
Credit Agreement and the Company so certifies to the holders of the Notes in a certificate of a Responsible Officer and (ii) at the time of such
release and discharge, the Company shall deliver a certificate of a Responsible Officer to the holders of the Notes stating that no Default or
Event of Default exists.
Section 2.4. Security for the Notes. (a) The payment of all amounts due with respect to the Notes and the performance by the Company of its
obligations under this Agreement will be secured in accordance with the terms of the Pledge Agreement, which shall be substantially in the
form of Exhibit 2.4(a) attached hereto.
(b) The enforcement of the rights and benefits in respect of the Subsidiary Guaranty and the Pledge Agreement and the allocation of proceeds
thereof shall be subject to the Intercreditor Agreement, which shall be substantially in the form of Exhibit 2.4(b) attached hereto.
(c) If at any time the Company or any Subsidiary shall grant to any one or more of the Collateral Agent or the Bank Lenders additional
Guaranties or other credit support or collateral of any kind pursuant to the requirements of the Bank Credit Agreement (other than collateral
required in respect of letters of credit by the Bank Credit Agreement so long as a default shall have occurred and shall be continuing
thereunder), then the Company or such Subsidiary shall grant to the holders of the Notes the same credit support or collateral or Guaranty so
that the Notes shall at all times be secured on an equal and ratable basis with the Debt outstanding under the Bank Credit Agreement pursuant
to an intercreditor agreement, guaranty agreement or other security documents (which documents shall be in form and substance reasonably
satisfactory to the Required Lenders). The holders of the Notes agree to release any such additional Guaranties, credit support, or collateral and
any Liens created by the Pledge Agreement upon the written request of the Company, provided that (i) any such Guaranties, credit support, or
collateral has been released and discharged (or will be released and discharged concurrently with the release of
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the additional Guaranties, credit support, or collateral securing the Notes) under and in respect of the Bank Credit Agreement and the Company
so certifies to the holders of the Notes in a certificate of a Responsible Officer and (ii) at the time of such release and discharge, the Company
shall deliver a certificate of a Responsible Officer to the holders of the Notes stating that no Default or Event of Default exists.
SECTION 3. CLOSING.
The sale and purchase of the Series 2003-A Notes to be purchased by each Purchaser shall occur at the offices of Chapman and Cutler, 111
West Monroe Street, Chicago, Illinois 60603 at 10:00 a.m. Chicago time, at a closing (the "Closing") on December 12, 2003 or on such other
Business Day thereafter on or prior to December 16, 2003 as may be agreed upon by the Company and the Purchasers. At the Closing the
Company will deliver to each Purchaser the Series 2003-A Notes to be purchased by such Purchaser in the form of a single Series 2003-A Note
(or such greater number of Series 2003-A Notes in denominations of at least $100,000 as such Purchaser may request) dated the date of the
Closing and registered in such Purchaser's name (or in the name of such Purchaser's nominee), against delivery by such Purchaser to the
Company or its order of immediately available funds in the amount of the purchase price therefor by wire transfer of immediately available
funds for the account of the Company to Account Number 076 4084, at Key Bank, N.A., Cleveland, Ohio, ABA Number 041001039, in the
Account Name of "Myers Industries, Inc." If at the Closing the Company shall fail to tender such Notes to any Purchaser as provided above in
this Section 3, or any of the conditions specified in Section 4 shall not have been fulfilled to any Purchaser's satisfaction, such Purchaser shall,
at such Purchaser's election, be relieved of all further obligations under this Agreement, without thereby waiving any rights such Purchaser may
have by reason of such failure or such nonfulfillment.
SECTION 4. CONDITIONS TO CLOSING.
The obligation of each Purchaser to purchase and pay for the Series 2003-A Notes to be sold to such Purchaser at the Closing is subject to the
fulfillment to such Purchaser's satisfaction, prior to or at the Closing, of the following conditions:
Section 4.1. Representations and Warranties.
(a) Representations and Warranties of the Company. The representations and warranties of the Company in this Agreement shall be correct
when made and at the time of Closing.
(b) Representations and Warranties of the Subsidiary Guarantors. The representations and warranties of the Subsidiary Guarantors in the
Subsidiary Guaranty shall be correct when made and at the time of Closing.
Section 4.2. Performance; No Default. The Company and each Subsidiary Guarantor shall have performed and complied with all agreements
and conditions contained in this Agreement and the Subsidiary Guaranty required to be performed or complied with by the
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Company and each such Subsidiary Guarantor prior to or at the Closing, and after giving effect to the issue and sale of the Series 2003-A Notes
(and the application of the proceeds thereof as contemplated by Section 5.14), no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be
continuing. Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary shall have entered into any transaction since the date of the Memorandum that would
have been prohibited by Section 10 hereof had such Sections applied since such date.
Section 4.3. Compliance Certificates.
(a) Officer's Certificate of the Company. The Company shall have delivered to such Purchaser an Officer's Certificate, dated the date of the
Closing, certifying that the conditions specified in Sections 4.1(a), 4.2 and 4.9 have been fulfilled.
(b) Secretary's Certificate of the Company. The Company shall have delivered to such Purchaser a certificate certifying as to the resolutions
attached thereto and other corporate proceedings relating to the authorization, execution and delivery of the Series 2003-A Notes and this
Agreement.
(c) Officer's Certificate of the Subsidiary Guarantors. Each Subsidiary Guarantor shall have delivered to such Purchaser an Officer's Certificate,
dated the date of the Closing, certifying that the conditions specified in Sections 4.1(b), 4.2 and 4.9 have been fulfilled.
(d) Secretary's Certificate of the Subsidiary Guarantors. Each Subsidiary Guarantor shall have delivered to such Purchaser a certificate
certifying as to the resolutions attached thereto and other corporate proceedings relating to the authorization, execution and delivery of the
Subsidiary Guaranty.
Section 4.4. Opinions of Counsel. Such Purchaser shall have received opinions in form and substance satisfactory to such Purchaser, dated the
date of the Closing (a) from Kevin C. O'Neil, General Counsel of the Company, covering the matters set forth in Exhibit 4.4(a) and covering
such other matters incident to the transactions contemplated hereby as such Purchaser or such Purchaser's counsel may reasonably request (and
the Company hereby instructs its counsel to deliver such opinion to such Purchaser), (b) from special counsel for the Company, covering the
matters set forth in Exhibit 4.4(b) and covering such other matters incident to the transactions contemplated hereby as such Purchaser or such
Purchaser's counsel may reasonably request (and the Company hereby instructs its counsel to deliver such opinion to such Purchaser), and (c)
from Chapman and Cutler, the Purchasers' special counsel in connection with such transactions, substantially in the form set forth in Exhibit
4.4(c) and covering such other matters incident to such transactions as such Purchaser may reasonably request.
Section 4.5. Purchase Permitted by Applicable Law, Etc. On the date of Closing each purchase of Series 2003-A Notes shall (a) be permitted
by the laws and regulations of each jurisdiction to which each Purchaser is subject, without recourse to provisions (such as Section 1405(a)(8)
of the New York Insurance Law) permitting limited investments by insurance companies without restriction as to the character of the particular
investment, (b) not violate any applicable law or regulation (including, without limitation, Regulation T, U or X of the Board of
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Governors of the Federal Reserve System) and (c) not subject any Purchaser to any tax, penalty or liability under or pursuant to any applicable
law or regulation, which law or regulation was not in effect on the date hereof. If requested by any Purchaser, such Purchaser shall have
received an Officer's Certificate certifying as to such matters of fact as such Purchaser may reasonably specify to enable such Purchaser to
determine whether such purchase is so permitted.
Section 4.6. Related Transactions. The Company shall have consummated the sale of the entire principal amount of the Series 2003-A Notes
scheduled to be sold on the date of Closing pursuant to this Agreement.
Section 4.7. Payment of Special Counsel Fees. Without limiting the provisions of Section 15.1, the Company shall have paid on or before the
Closing, the reasonable fees, reasonable charges and reasonable disbursements of the Purchasers' special counsel referred to in Section 4.4 to
the extent reflected in a statement of such counsel rendered to the Company at least one Business Day prior to the Closing.
Section 4.8. Private Placement Number. A Private Placement Number issued by Standard & Poor's CUSIP Service Bureau (in cooperation with
the Securities Valuation Office of the National Association of Insurance Commissioners) shall have been obtained for each Series of the Series
2003-A Notes.
Section 4.9. Changes in Corporate Structure. Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary Guarantor shall have changed its jurisdiction of
organization or, except as reflected in Schedule 4.9, been a party to any merger or consolidation, or shall have succeeded to all or any
substantial part of the liabilities of any other entity, at any time following the date of the most recent financial statements referred to in
Schedule 5.5.
Section 4.10. Subsidiary Guaranty. The Subsidiary Guaranty shall have been duly authorized, executed and delivered by each Subsidiary
Guarantor, shall constitute the legal, valid and binding contract and agreement of each Subsidiary Guarantor and such Purchaser shall have
received a true, correct and complete copy thereof.
Section 4.11. Pledge Agreement. The Pledge Agreement shall have been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Pledgor and each other
party thereto, shall constitute the legal, valid and binding contract and agreement of each such party and such Purchaser shall have received a
true, correct and complete copy thereof.
Section 4.12. Intercreditor Agreement. The Intercreditor Agreement shall have been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Collateral
Agent on behalf of each of the Bank Lenders and each of the Purchasers and acknowledged by the Company, the Subsidiary Guarantors and
the Pledgor, and such Purchaser shall have received a true, correct and complete copy thereof.
Section 4.13. Proceedings and Documents. All corporate or other organizational proceedings in connection with the transactions contemplated
by this Agreement and all documents and instruments incident to such transactions shall be satisfactory to such Purchaser
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and such Purchaser's special counsel, and such Purchaser and such Purchaser's special counsel shall have received all such counterpart originals
or certified or other copies of such documents as such Purchaser or such Purchaser's special counsel may reasonably request.
Section 4.14. Conditions to Issuance of Additional Notes. The obligations of the Additional Purchasers to purchase any Additional Notes shall
be subject to the following conditions precedent, in addition to the conditions specified in the Supplement pursuant to which such Additional
Notes may be issued:
(a) Compliance Certificate. A duly authorized Senior Financial Officer shall execute and deliver to each Additional Purchaser and each holder
of Notes an Officer's Certificate dated the date of issue of such Series of Additional Notes stating that such officer has reviewed the provisions
of this Agreement (including any Supplements hereto) and setting forth the information and computations (in sufficient detail) required in order
to establish whether after giving effect to the issuance of the Additional Notes and after giving effect to the application of the proceeds thereof,
the Company is in compliance with the requirements of Section 10.2 on such date (based upon the financial statements for the most recent
fiscal quarter ended prior to the date of such certificate).
(b) Execution and Delivery of Supplement. The Company and each such Additional Purchaser shall execute and deliver a Supplement
substantially in the form of Exhibit S hereto.
(c) Representations of Additional Purchasers. Each Additional Purchaser shall have confirmed in the Supplement that the representations set
forth in Section 6 are true with respect to such Additional Purchaser on and as of the date of issue of the Additional Notes.
(d) Execution and Delivery of Guaranty Ratification. Each Subsidiary Guarantor shall execute and deliver a Guaranty Ratification in the form
attached to the Subsidiary Guaranty.
SECTION 5. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY.
The Company represents and warrants to each Purchaser that:
Section 5.1. Organization; Power and Authority. The Company is a corporation duly incorporated, validly existing and in good standing under
the laws of the State of Ohio, and is duly qualified as a foreign corporation and is in good standing in each jurisdiction in which such
qualification is required by law, other than those jurisdictions as to which the failure to be so qualified or in good standing could not,
individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. The Company has the corporate power and
authority to own or hold under lease the properties it purports to own or hold under lease, to transact the business it transacts and proposes to
transact, to execute and deliver this Agreement and the Notes and to perform the provisions hereof and thereof.
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Section 5.2. Authorization, Etc. This Agreement and the Notes have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of the
Company, and this Agreement constitutes, and upon execution and delivery thereof against payment of the consideration therefore each Note
will constitute, a legal, valid and binding obligation of the Company enforceable against the Company in accordance with its terms, except as
such enforceability may be limited by (i) applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other similar laws affecting the
enforcement of creditors' rights generally and (ii) general principles of equity (regardless of whether such enforceability is considered in a
proceeding in equity or at law).
Section 5.3. Disclosure. The Company, through its agent, McDonald Investments, Inc., has delivered to each Purchaser a copy of a Private
Placement Memorandum, dated October 20, 2003 (the "Memorandum"), relating to the transactions contemplated hereby. The Memorandum
fairly describes, in all material respects, the general nature of the business and principal properties of the Company and its Restricted
Subsidiaries. This Agreement, the Memorandum, the documents, certificates or other writings delivered to the Purchasers by or on behalf of the
Company in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby and the financial statements listed in Schedule 5.5, taken as a whole, do not
contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary to make the statements therein not misleading in
light of the circumstances under which they were made. Since December 31, 2002, there has been no change in the financial condition,
operations, business or properties of the Company or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries except changes that individually or in the aggregate
could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. There is no fact known to the Company that could reasonably be expected
to have a Material Adverse Effect that has not been set forth herein or in the Memorandum or in the other documents, certificates and other
writings delivered to each Purchaser by or on behalf of the Company specifically for use in connection with the transactions contemplated
hereby.
Section 5.4. Organization and Ownership of Shares of Subsidiaries; Affiliates. (a) Schedule 5.4 contains (except as noted therein) complete and
correct lists of (i) the Company's Restricted and Unrestricted Subsidiaries, showing, as to each Subsidiary, the correct name thereof, the
jurisdiction of its organization, and the percentage of shares of each class of its capital stock or similar equity interests outstanding owned by
the Company and each other Subsidiary, and on Schedule 5.4(a)-2 all other material Investments of the Company and its Restricted
Subsidiaries, (ii) the Company's Affiliates, other than Subsidiaries, and (iii) the Company's directors and senior officers.
(b) All of the outstanding shares of capital stock or similar equity interests of each Subsidiary shown in Schedule 5.4(a) as being owned by the
Company and its Subsidiaries have been validly issued, are fully paid and nonassessable and are owned by the Company or another Subsidiary
free and clear of any Lien (except under the Pledge Agreement and except as otherwise disclosed in Schedule 5.4).
(c) Each Subsidiary identified in Schedule 5.4 is a corporation or other legal entity duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under
the laws of its jurisdiction of organization, and is duly qualified as a foreign corporation or other legal entity and is in good standing in each
jurisdiction in which such qualification is required by law, other than those jurisdictions as to
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which the failure to be so qualified or in good standing could not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material
Adverse Effect. Each such Subsidiary has the corporate or other power and authority to own or hold under lease the properties it purports to
own or hold under lease and to transact the business it transacts and proposes to transact.
(d) No Subsidiary is a party to, or otherwise subject to, any legal restriction or any agreement (other than this Agreement, the agreements listed
on Schedule 5.4 and customary limitations imposed by corporate law statutes) restricting the ability of such Subsidiary to pay dividends out of
profits or make any other similar distributions of profits to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries that owns outstanding shares of capital stock
or similar equity interests of such Subsidiary.
Section 5.5. Financial Statements. The Company has delivered to each Purchaser copies of the financial statements of the Company and its
Subsidiaries listed on Schedule 5.5. All of said financial statements (including in each case the related schedules and notes) fairly present in all
material respects the consolidated financial position of the Company and its Subsidiaries as of the respective dates specified in such financial
statements and the consolidated results of their operations and cash flows for the respective periods so specified and have been prepared in
accordance with GAAP consistently applied throughout the periods involved except as set forth in the notes thereto (subject, in the case of any
interim financial statements, to normal year-end adjustments).
Section 5.6. Compliance with Laws, Other Instruments, Etc. The execution, delivery and performance by the Company of this Agreement and
the Notes will not (a) contravene, result in any breach of, or constitute a default under, or result in the creation of any Lien in respect of any
property of the Company or any Subsidiary under, any indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, loan, purchase or credit agreement, lease, corporate
charter or by-laws, or any other agreement or instrument to which the Company or any Subsidiary is bound or by which the Company or any
Subsidiary or any of their respective properties may be bound or affected (except for the Lien created by the Pledge Agreement), (b) conflict
with or result in a breach of any of the terms, conditions or provisions of any order, judgment, decree, or ruling of any court, arbitrator or
Governmental Authority applicable to the Company or any Subsidiary, or (c) violate any provision of any statute or other rule or regulation of
any Governmental Authority applicable to the Company or any Subsidiary.
Section 5.7. Governmental Authorizations, Etc. No consent, approval or authorization of, or registration, filing or declaration with, any
Governmental Authority is required in connection with the execution, delivery or performance by the Company of this Agreement or the Notes.
Section 5.8. Litigation; Observance of Statutes and Orders. (a) There are no actions, suits or proceedings pending or, to the knowledge of the
Company, threatened against or affecting the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary or any property of the Company or any Restricted
Subsidiary in any court or before any arbitrator of any kind or before or by any Governmental Authority that, individually or in the aggregate,
could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
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(b) Neither the Company nor any Restricted Subsidiary is in default under any term of any agreement or instrument to which it is a party or by
which it is bound, or any order, judgment, decree or ruling of any court, arbitrator or Governmental Authority or is in violation of any
applicable law, ordinance, rule or regulation (including without limitation Environmental Laws) of any Governmental Authority, which default
or violation, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
Section 5.9. Taxes. The Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries have filed all tax returns that are required to have been filed in any
jurisdiction, and have paid all taxes shown to be due and payable on such returns and all other taxes and assessments levied upon them or their
properties, assets, income or franchises, to the extent such taxes and assessments have become due and payable and before they have become
delinquent, except for any taxes and assessments (a) the amount of which is not individually or in the aggregate Material or (b) the amount,
applicability or validity of which is currently being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and with respect to which the Company
or a Restricted Subsidiary, as the case may be, has established adequate reserves in accordance with, and where required by, GAAP. The
Company knows of no basis for any other tax or assessment that could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. The charges,
accruals and reserves on the books of the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries in respect of federal, state or other taxes for all fiscal periods
are adequate. The federal income tax liabilities of the Company and its Subsidiaries (other than AC Buckhorn Ltd.) have been determined by
the Internal Revenue Service and paid for all fiscal years up to and including the fiscal year ended December 31, 1999.
Section 5.10. Title to Property; Leases. The Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries have good and sufficient title to their respective properties
which the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries own or purport to own, including all such properties reflected in the most recent audited
balance sheet referred to in Section 5.5 or purported to have been acquired by the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary after said date (except
as sold or otherwise disposed of in the ordinary course of business), in each case free and clear of Liens prohibited by this Agreement, except
for such defects in title or Liens that individually or in the aggregate could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. All
leases under which the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries hold or purport to hold properties are valid and subsisting and are in full force
and effect in all material respects with only exceptions that individually and in the aggregate could not reasonably be expected to have a
Material Adverse Effect.
Section 5.11. Licenses, Permits, Etc. Except as disclosed in Schedule 5.11,
(a) the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries own or possess all Material licenses, permits, franchises, authorizations, patents, copyrights,
service marks, trademarks and trade names, or rights thereto, without known conflict with the rights of others, except any conflicts that
individually or in the aggregate could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect;
(b) to the best knowledge of the Company, no product of the Company or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries infringes in any Material respect
any license, permit,
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franchise, authorization, patent, copyright, service mark, trademark, trade name or other right owned by any other Person; and
(c) to the best knowledge of the Company, there is no Material violation by any Person of any right of the Company or any of its Restricted
Subsidiaries with respect to any patent, copyright, service mark, trademark, trade name or other right owned or used by the Company or any of
its Restricted Subsidiaries which violation could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
Section 5.12. Compliance with ERISA. (a) The Company and each ERISA Affiliate have operated and administered each Plan in compliance
with all applicable laws except for such instances of noncompliance as have not resulted in and could not reasonably be expected to result in a
Material Adverse Effect. Neither the Company nor any ERISA Affiliate has incurred any liability pursuant to Title I or IV of ERISA or the
penalty or excise tax provisions of the Code relating to employee benefit plans (as defined in section 3 of ERISA), and no event, transaction or
condition has occurred or exists that could reasonably be expected to result in the incurrence of any such liability by the Company or any
ERISA Affiliate, or in the imposition of any Lien on any of the rights, properties or assets of the Company or any ERISA Affiliate, in either
case pursuant to Title I or IV of ERISA or to such penalty or excise tax provisions or to section 401(a)(29) or 412 of the Code, other than such
liabilities or Liens as would not be individually or in the aggregate Material.
(b) The present value of the aggregate benefit liabilities under each of the Plans (other than Multiemployer Plans), determined as of the end of
such Plan's most recently ended plan year on the basis of the actuarial assumptions specified for funding purposes in such Plan's most recent
actuarial valuation report, did not exceed the aggregate current value of the assets of such Plan allocable to such benefit liabilities by more than
$2,500,000. The term "benefit liabilities" has the meaning specified in section 4001 of ERISA and the terms "current value" and "present
value" have the meaning specified in section 3 of ERISA.
(c) The Company and its ERISA Affiliates have not incurred any withdrawal liabilities (and are not subject to contingent withdrawal liabilities)
under section 4201 or 4204 of ERISA in respect of Multiemployer Plans that individually or in the aggregate are Material.
(d) The expected post-retirement benefit obligation (determined as of the last day of the Company's most recently ended fiscal year in
accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 106, without regard to liabilities attributable to continuation coverage
mandated by section 4980B of the Code) of the Company and its Subsidiaries is not Material.
(e) The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the issuance and sale of the Notes hereunder will not involve any transaction that is
subject to the prohibitions of Section 406 of ERISA or in connection with which a tax could be imposed pursuant to Section 4975(c)(1)(A)-(D)
of the Code. The representation by the Company in the first sentence of this Section 5.12(e) is made in reliance upon and subject to the
accuracy of each Purchaser's representation in Section 6.2 as to the sources of the funds to be used to pay the purchase price of the Notes to be
purchased by such Purchaser.
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Section 5.13. Private Offering by the Company. Neither the Company nor (based on the letter dated as of December 12, 2003 to the Company
from McDonald Investments, Inc. (the "McDonald Letter") anyone acting on the Company's behalf has offered the Series 2003-A Notes or any
similar securities for sale to, or solicited any offer to buy any of the same from, or otherwise approached or negotiated in respect thereof with,
any Person other than 60 Institutional Investors (including the Purchasers), each of which has been offered the Series 2003-A Notes in
connection with a private sale for investment. Neither the Company nor, based on the McDonald Letter, anyone acting on its behalf has taken,
or will take, any action that would subject the issuance or sale of the Series 2003-A Notes to the registration requirements of Section 5 of the
Securities Act.
Section 5.14. Use of Proceeds; Margin Regulations. The Company will apply the proceeds of the sale of the Series 2003-A Notes for the
repayment of certain bank indebtedness of the Company and its Subsidiaries. No part of the proceeds from the sale of the Series 2003-A Notes
hereunder will be used, directly or indirectly, for the purpose of buying or carrying any margin stock within the meaning of Regulation U of the
Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (12 CFR 221), or for the purpose of buying or carrying or trading in any securities under
such circumstances as to involve the Company in a violation of Regulation X of said Board (12 CFR 224) or to involve any broker or dealer in
a violation of Regulation T of said Board (12 CFR 220). Margin stock does not constitute more than 2% of the value of the consolidated assets
of the Company and its Subsidiaries and the Company does not have any present intention that margin stock will constitute more than 2% of
the value of such assets. As used in this Section, the terms "margin stock" and "purpose of buying or carrying" shall have the meanings
assigned to them in said Regulation U.
Section 5.15. Existing Debt; Future Liens. (a) Except as described therein, Schedule 5.15 sets forth a complete and correct list of all
outstanding Debt of the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries as of October 31, 2003, since which date there has been no Material change in
the amounts, interest rates, sinking funds, installment payments or maturities of the Debt of the Company or its Restricted Subsidiaries. Neither
the Company nor any Restricted Subsidiary is in default and no waiver of default is currently in effect, in the payment of any principal or
interest on any Debt of the Company or such Restricted Subsidiary, and no event or condition exists with respect to any Debt of the Company
or any Restricted Subsidiary, that would permit (or that with notice or the lapse of time, or both, would permit) one or more Persons to cause
such Debt to become due and payable before its stated maturity or before its regularly scheduled dates of payment.
(b) Except as disclosed in Schedule 5.15, neither the Company nor any Restricted Subsidiary has agreed or consented to cause or permit in the
future (upon the happening of a contingency or otherwise) any of its property, whether now owned or hereafter acquired, to be subject to a Lien
not permitted by Section 10.4.
Section 5.16. Foreign Assets Control Regulations, Etc. Neither the sale of the Notes by the Company hereunder nor its use of the proceeds
thereof will violate the Trading with the Enemy Act, as amended, or any of the foreign assets control regulations of the United States Treasury
Department (31 CFR, Subtitle B, Chapter V, as amended) or any enabling legislation or
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executive order relating thereto, or is in violation of any federal statute or Presidential Executive Order, including without limitation Executive
Order 13224 66 Fed. Reg. 49079 (September 25, 2001) (Blocking Property and Prohibiting Transactions with Persons who Commit, Threaten
to Commit or Support Terrorism), or The USA Patriot Act.
Section 5.17. Status under Certain Statutes. Neither the Company nor any Restricted Subsidiary is an "investment company" registered or
required to be registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, or is subject to regulation under the Public Utility Holding
Company Act of 1935, as amended, the ICC Termination Act of 1995, as amended, or the Federal Power Act, as amended.
Section 5.18. Environmental Matters. Neither the Company nor any Restricted Subsidiary has knowledge of any claim or has received any
notice of any claim, and no proceeding has been instituted raising any claim against the Company or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries or any of
their respective real properties now or formerly owned, leased or operated by any of them, or other assets, alleging damage to the environment
or any violation of any Environmental Laws, except, in each case, such as could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse
Effect. Except as otherwise disclosed to each Purchaser in writing:
(a) neither the Company nor any Restricted Subsidiary has knowledge of any facts which would give rise to any claim, public or private, for
violation of Environmental Laws or damage to the environment emanating from, occurring on or in any way related to real properties or to
other assets now or formerly owned, leased or operated by any of them or their use, except, in each case, such as could not reasonably be
expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect;
(b) neither the Company nor any of its Restricted Subsidiaries has stored any Hazardous Materials on real properties now or formerly owned,
leased or operated by any of them or has disposed of any Hazardous Materials, in each case in a manner both contrary to any Environmental
Laws and in any manner that could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect; and
(c) all buildings on all real properties now owned, leased or operated by the Company or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries are in compliance
with applicable Environmental Laws, except where failure to comply could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.
SECTION 6. REPRESENTATIONS OF THE PURCHASER.
Section 6.1. Purchase for Investment. Each Purchaser represents that
(i) it is an "accredited investor" within the meaning of Rule 501(a) of Regulation D of the Securities Act, and (ii) it is purchasing the Series
2003-A Notes for its own account or for one or more separate accounts maintained by it or for the account of one or more pension or trust
funds and not with a view to the distribution thereof, provided that the disposition of such Purchaser's or such pension or trust funds' property
shall at all times be within such Purchaser's or such pension or trust funds' control. Each Purchaser understands that the Series 2003-A Notes
have not been
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registered under the Securities Act and may be resold only if registered pursuant to the provisions of the Securities Act or if an exemption from
registration is available, except under circumstances where neither such registration nor such an exemption is required by law, and that the
Company is not required to register the Series 2003-A Notes.
Section 6.2. Source of Funds. Each Purchaser represents that at least one of the following statements is an accurate representation as to each
source of funds (a "Source") to be used by it to pay the purchase price of the Series 2003-A Notes to be purchased by it hereunder:
(a) the Source is an "insurance company general account" within the meaning of Department of Labor Prohibited Transaction Exemption
("PTE") 95-60 (issued July 12, 1995) and there is no employee benefit plan, treating as a single plan all plans maintained by the same employer
or employee organization, with respect to which the amount of the general account reserves and liabilities for all contracts held by or on behalf
of such plan, exceeds ten percent (10%) of the total reserves and liabilities of such general account (exclusive of separate account liabilities)
plus surplus, as set forth in the NAIC Annual Statement for such Purchaser most recently filed with such Purchaser's state of domicile; or
(b) the Source is either (i) an insurance company pooled separate account, within the meaning of PTE 90-1 (issued January 29, 1990), or (ii) a
bank collective investment fund, within the meaning of the PTE 91-38 (issued July 12, 1991) and, except as such Purchaser prior to the
execution and delivery of this Agreement has disclosed to the Company in writing pursuant to this paragraph (b), no employee benefit plan or
group of plans maintained by the same employer or employee organization beneficially owns more than 10% of all assets allocated to such
pooled separate account or collective investment fund; or
(c) the Source constitutes assets of an "investment fund" (within the meaning of Part V of the QPAM Exemption) managed by a "qualified
professional asset manager" or "QPAM" (within the meaning of Part V of the QPAM Exemption), no employee benefit plan's assets that are
included in such investment fund, when combined with the assets of all other employee benefit plans established or maintained by the same
employer or by an affiliate (within the meaning of Section V(c)(1) of the QPAM Exemption) of such employer or by the same employee
organization and managed by such QPAM, exceed 20% of the total client assets managed by such QPAM, the conditions of Part I(c) and (g) of
the QPAM Exemption are satisfied, neither the QPAM nor a person controlling or controlled by the QPAM (applying the definition of
"control" in
Section V(e) of the QPAM Exemption) owns a 5% or more interest in the Company and (i) the identity of such QPAM and (ii) the names of all
employee benefit plans whose assets are included in such investment fund have been disclosed to the Company in writing pursuant to this
paragraph (c) prior to the execution and delivery of this Agreement; or
(d) the Source is a governmental plan; or
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(e) the Source is one or more employee benefit plans, or a separate account or trust fund comprised of one or more employee benefit plans,
each of which prior to the execution and delivery of this Agreement has been identified to the Company in writing pursuant to this paragraph
(e); or
(f) the Source does not include assets of any employee benefit plan, other than a plan exempt from the coverage of ERISA; or
(g) the Source is an insurance company separate account maintained solely in connection with the fixed contractual obligations of the insurance
company under which the amounts payable, or credited, to any employee benefit plan (or its related trust) and to any participant or beneficiary
of such plan (including any annuitant) are not affected in any manner by the investment performance of the separate account.
If any Purchaser or any Additional Purchaser or any subsequent transferee of the Notes indicates that such Purchaser or any Additional
Purchaser or such transferee is relying on any representation contained in paragraph (b), (c) or
(e) above, the Company shall deliver on the date of issuance of such Notes and on the date of any applicable transfer a certificate, which shall
either state that (i) it is neither a party in interest nor a "disqualified person" (as defined in Section 4975(e)(2) of the Code), with respect to any
plan identified pursuant to paragraphs (b) or (e) above, or (ii) with respect to any plan, identified pursuant to paragraph (c) above, neither it nor
any "affiliate" (as defined in Section V(c) of the QPAM Exemption) has at such time, and during the immediately preceding one year,
exercised the authority to appoint or terminate said QPAM as manager of any plan identified in writing pursuant to paragraph (c) above or to
negotiate the terms of said QPAM's management agreement on behalf of any such identified plan. As used in this Section 6.2, the terms
"employee benefit plan", "governmental plan", "party in interest" and "separate account" shall have the respective meanings assigned to such
terms in Section 3 of ERISA.
SECTION 7. INFORMATION AS TO COMPANY.
Section 7.1. Financial and Business Information. The Company shall deliver to each holder of Notes that is an Institutional Investor:
(a) Quarterly Statements -- within 60 days after the end of each quarterly fiscal period in each fiscal year of the Company (other than the last
quarterly fiscal period of each such fiscal year), duplicate copies of,
(i) a consolidated balance sheet of the Company and its Subsidiaries as at the end of such quarter, and
(ii) consolidated statements of income, changes in shareholders' equity and cash flows of the Company and its Subsidiaries, for such quarter
and (in the case of the second and third quarters) for the portion of the fiscal year ending with such quarter,
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setting forth in each case in comparative form the figures for the corresponding periods in the previous fiscal year, all in reasonable detail,
prepared in accordance with GAAP applicable to quarterly financial statements generally, and certified by a Senior Financial Officer as fairly
presenting, in all material respects, the financial position of the companies being reported on and their results of operations and cash flows,
subject to changes resulting from year-end adjustments, provided that delivery within the time period specified above of copies of the
Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q prepared in compliance with the requirements therefor and filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission shall be deemed to satisfy the requirements of this Section 7.1(a);
(b) Annual Statements -- within 120 days after the end of each fiscal year of the Company, duplicate copies of,
(i) a consolidated balance sheet of the Company and its Subsidiaries, as at the end of such year, and
(ii) consolidated statements of income, changes in shareholders' equity and cash flows of the Company and its Subsidiaries, for such year,
setting forth in each case in comparative form the figures for the previous fiscal year, all in reasonable detail, prepared in accordance with
GAAP, and accompanied
(A) by an opinion thereon of independent certified public accountants of recognized national standing, which opinion shall state that such
financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the companies being reported upon and their results of
operations and cash flows and have been prepared in conformity with GAAP, and that the examination of such accountants in connection with
such financial statements has been made in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, and that such audit provides a reasonable
basis for such opinion in the circumstances, and
(B) a certificate of such accountants stating that they have reviewed this Agreement and stating further whether, in making their audit, they
have become aware of any condition or event that then constitutes a Default or an Event of Default under a financial covenant, and, if they are
aware that any such condition or event then exists, specifying the nature and period of the existence thereof (it being understood that such
accountants shall not be liable, directly or indirectly, for any failure to obtain knowledge of any Default or Event of Default under a financial
covenant unless such accountants should have obtained knowledge thereof in making an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing
standards or did not make such an audit),
provided that the delivery within the time period specified above of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for such fiscal year (together
with the Company's annual
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report to shareholders, if any, prepared pursuant to Rule 14a-3 under the Exchange Act) prepared in accordance with the requirements therefor
and filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, together with the accountant's certificate described in clause (B) above, shall be
deemed to satisfy the requirements of this Section 7.1(b);
(c) SEC and Other Reports -- promptly upon their becoming available, one copy of (i) each financial statement, report, notice or proxy
statement sent by the Company or any Subsidiary to public securities holders generally, and (ii) each regular or periodic report, each
registration statement (without exhibits except as expressly requested by such holder), and each prospectus and all amendments thereto filed by
the Company or any Subsidiary with the Securities and Exchange Commission and of all press releases and other statements made available
generally by the Company or any Subsidiary to the public concerning developments that are Material;
(d) Notice of Default or Event of Default -- promptly, and in any event within five Business Days after a Responsible Officer becomes aware of
the existence of any Default or Event of Default or that any Person has given any notice or taken any action with respect to a claimed default
hereunder or that any Person has given any notice or taken any action with respect to a claimed default of the type referred to in Section 11(f), a
written notice specifying the nature and period of existence thereof and what action the Company is taking or proposes to take with respect
thereto;
(e) ERISA Matters -- promptly, and in any event within five Business Days after a Responsible Officer becomes aware of any of the following,
a written notice setting forth the nature thereof and the action, if any, that the Company or an ERISA Affiliate proposes to take with respect
thereto:
(i) with respect to any Plan, any reportable event, as defined in Section 4043(c) of ERISA and the regulations thereunder, for which notice
thereof has not been waived pursuant to such regulations as in effect on the date thereof; or
(ii) the taking by the PBGC of steps to institute, or the threatening by the PBGC of the institution of, proceedings under Section 4042 of ERISA
for the termination of, or the appointment of a trustee to administer, any Plan, or the receipt by the Company or any ERISA Affiliate of a notice
from a Multiemployer Plan that such action has been taken by the PBGC with respect to such Multiemployer Plan; or
(iii) any event, transaction or condition that could result in the incurrence of any liability by the Company or any ERISA Affiliate pursuant to
Title I or IV of ERISA or the imposition of a penalty or excise tax under the provisions of the Code relating to employee benefit plans, or the
imposition of any Lien on any of the rights, properties or assets of the Company or any ERISA Affiliate pursuant to Title I or IV of ERISA or
such penalty or excise tax provisions, if such liability or Lien, taken together with any other such liabilities
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or Liens then existing, could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect;
(f) Notices from Governmental Authority -- promptly, and in any event within 30 days of receipt thereof, copies of any notice to the Company
or any Subsidiary from any federal or state Governmental Authority relating to any order, ruling, statute or other law or regulation that could
reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect;
(g) Supplements -- promptly and in any event within 10 Business Days after the execution and delivery of any Supplement, a copy thereof; and
(h) Requested Information -- with reasonable promptness, such other data and information relating to the business, operations, affairs, financial
condition, assets or properties of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or relating to the ability of the Company to perform its obligations
hereunder and under the Notes as from time to time may be reasonably requested by any such holder of Notes.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event that one or more Unrestricted Subsidiaries shall either (i) own more than 10% of the total
consolidated assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries, or (ii) account for more than 10% of the consolidated gross revenues of the Company
and its Subsidiaries, determined in each case in accordance with GAAP, then, within the respective periods provided in Section 7.1(a) and (b)
above, the Company shall deliver to each holder of Notes that is an Institutional Investor, unaudited financial statements of the character and
for the dates and periods as in said Sections 7.1(a) and (b) covering such group of Unrestricted Subsidiaries (on a consolidated basis), together
with a consolidating statement reflecting eliminations or adjustments required to reconcile the financial statements of such group of
Unrestricted Subsidiaries to the financial statements delivered pursuant to Sections 7.1(a) and (b).
Section 7.2. Officer's Certificate. Each set of financial statements delivered to a holder of Notes pursuant to Section 7.1(a) or Section 7.1(b)
hereof shall be accompanied by a certificate of a Senior Financial Officer setting forth:
(a) Covenant Compliance -- the information (including detailed calculations) required in order to establish whether the Company was in
compliance with the requirements of Section 10.1 through
Section 10.3, Section 10.4(l) and Section 10.5 hereof, inclusive, during the quarterly or annual period covered by the statements then being
furnished (including with respect to each such Section, where applicable, the calculations of the maximum or minimum amount, ratio or
percentage, as the case may be, permissible under the terms of such Sections, and the calculation of the amount, ratio or percentage then in
existence); and
(b) Event of Default -- a statement that such officer has reviewed the relevant terms hereof and has made, or caused to be made, under his or
her supervision, a review of the transactions and conditions of the Company and its Subsidiaries from the
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beginning of the quarterly or annual period covered by the statements then being furnished to the date of the certificate and that such review
shall not have disclosed the existence during such period of any condition or event that constitutes a Default or an Event of Default or, if any
such condition or event existed or exists (including, without limitation, any such event or condition resulting from the Material failure of the
Company or any Subsidiary to comply with any Environmental Law), specifying the nature and period of existence thereof and what action the
Company shall have taken or proposes to take with respect thereto.
Section 7.3. Inspection. The Company shall permit the representatives of each holder of Notes that is an Institutional Investor:
(a) No Default -- if no Default or Event of Default then exists, at the expense of such holder and upon reasonable prior notice to the Company,
to visit the principal executive office of the Company, to discuss the affairs, finances and accounts of the Company and its Subsidiaries with the
Company's officers, and (with the consent of the Company, which consent will not be unreasonably withheld) its independent public
accountants, and (with the consent of the Company, which consent will not be unreasonably withheld) to visit the other offices and properties
of the Company and each Restricted Subsidiary, all at such reasonable times during normal business hours and as often as may be reasonably
requested in writing; and
(b) Default -- if a Default or Event of Default then exists, at the expense of the Company, to visit and inspect any of the offices or properties of
the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary, to examine all their respective books of account, records, reports and other papers, to make copies
and extracts therefrom, and to discuss their respective affairs, finances and accounts with their respective officers and independent public
accountants (and by this provision the Company authorizes said accountants to discuss the affairs, finances and accounts of the Company and
its Subsidiaries), all at such times and as often as may be reasonably requested.
SECTION 8. PAYMENT OF THE NOTES.
Section 8.1. Required Payments. (a) The Notes shall not be subject to any required prepayments prior to the final maturity thereof (as set forth
in subsections (b) and (c) below) except in connection with an acceleration of the Notes pursuant to Section 12.1 hereof.
(b) The entire principal amount of the Tranche 1 Notes shall become due and payable on December 12, 2010.
(c) The entire principal amount of the Tranche 2 Notes shall become due and payable on December 12, 2013.
Section 8.2. Optional Prepayments with Make-Whole Amount. The Company may, at its option, upon notice as provided below, prepay at any
time all, or from time to time any part of, the Notes of any Series, in an amount not less than 10% of the aggregate principal amount of the
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Notes of such Series then outstanding in the case of a partial prepayment (or such lesser amount as shall be required to effect a partial
prepayment resulting from an offer of prepayment pursuant to Section 10.5), at 100% of the principal amount so prepaid, together with interest
accrued thereon to the date of such prepayment, plus (except in the case of any prepayment pursuant to Section 10.5) the Make-Whole Amount
or other premium determined for the prepayment date with respect to such principal amount of each Note of the applicable Series then
outstanding. The Company will give each holder of Notes of the Series to be prepaid written notice of each optional prepayment under this
Section 8.2 not less than 30 days and not more than 60 days prior to the date fixed for such prepayment. Each such notice shall specify such
date, the aggregate principal amount of the Notes of the applicable Series to be prepaid on such date, the principal amount of each Note held by
such holder to be prepaid (determined in accordance with Section 8.3), and the interest to be paid on the prepayment date with respect to such
principal amount being prepaid, and shall be accompanied by a certificate of a Senior Financial Officer as to the estimated Make-Whole
Amount or other premium due in connection with such prepayment (calculated as if the date of such notice were the date of the prepayment),
setting forth the details of such computation. Two Business Days prior to such prepayment, the Company shall deliver to each holder of Notes
of the Series to be prepaid a certificate of a Senior Financial Officer specifying the calculation of such Make-Whole Amount as of the specified
prepayment date.
Section 8.3. Allocation of Partial Prepayments. In the case of each partial prepayment of the Notes pursuant to the provisions of Section 8.2
(excluding any prepayment resulting from an offer of prepayment pursuant to
Section 10.5), the principal amount of the Notes of the Series to be prepaid shall be allocated among all of the Notes of such Series at the time
outstanding in proportion, as nearly as practicable, to the respective unpaid principal amounts thereof. All regularly scheduled partial
prepayments made with respect to any Series of Additional Notes pursuant to any Supplement shall be allocated as provided therein.
Section 8.4. Maturity; Surrender, Etc. In the case of each prepayment of Notes pursuant to this Section 8, the principal amount of each Note to
be prepaid shall mature and become due and payable on the date fixed for such prepayment, together with interest on such principal amount
accrued to such date and the applicable Make-Whole Amount or other premium, if any. From and after such date, unless the Company shall fail
to pay such principal amount when so due and payable, together with the interest and Make-Whole Amount or other premium, if any, as
aforesaid, interest on such principal amount shall cease to accrue. Any Note paid or prepaid in full shall be surrendered to the Company and
cancelled and shall not be reissued, and no Note shall be issued in lieu of any prepaid principal amount of any Note.
Section 8.5. Purchase of Notes. The Company will not and will not permit any Affiliate to purchase, redeem, prepay or otherwise acquire,
directly or indirectly, any of the outstanding Notes except upon the payment or prepayment of the Notes of any Series in accordance with the
terms of this Agreement (including any Supplement hereto) and the Notes. The Company will promptly cancel all Notes acquired by it or any
Affiliate pursuant to any payment, prepayment or purchase of Notes pursuant to any provision of this Agreement and no Notes may be issued
in substitution or exchange for any such Notes.
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Section 8.6. Make-Whole Amount for the Series 2003-A Notes. The term "Make-Whole Amount" means with respect to a Series 2003-A Note
an amount equal to the excess, if any, of the Discounted Value of the Remaining Scheduled Payments with respect to the Called Principal of
the Series 2003-A Note of the applicable Tranche, over the amount of such Called Principal, provided that the Make-Whole Amount may in no
event be less than zero. For the purposes of determining the Make-Whole Amount, the following terms have the following meanings:
"Called Principal" means, with respect to a Series 2003-A Note, the principal of the Series 2003-A Note of the applicable Tranche that is to be
prepaid pursuant to Section 8.2 or has become or is declared to be immediately due and payable pursuant to Section 12.1, as the context
requires.
"Discounted Value" means, with respect to the Called Principal of a Series 2003-A Note, the amount obtained by discounting all Remaining
Scheduled Payments with respect to such Called Principal from their respective scheduled due dates to the Settlement Date with respect to such
Called Principal, in accordance with accepted financial practice and at a discount factor (applied on the same periodic basis as that on which
interest on the Series 2003-A Note is payable) equal to the Reinvestment Yield with respect to such Called Principal.
"Reinvestment Yield" means, with respect to the Called Principal of a Series 2003-A Note, 0.50% plus the yield to maturity implied by (i) the
yields reported, as of 10:00 A.M. (New York City time) on the second Business Day preceding the Settlement Date with respect to such Called
Principal, on the display designated as "PX-1" on the Bloomberg Financial Market Screen (or such other display as may replace "PX-1" on the
Bloomberg Financial Market Screen) for actively traded U.S. Treasury securities having a maturity equal to the Remaining Average Life of
such Called Principal as of such Settlement Date, or (ii) if such yields are not reported as of such time or the yields reported as of such time are
not ascertainable, the Treasury Constant Maturity Series Yields reported, for the latest day for which such yields have been so reported as of
the second Business Day preceding the Settlement Date with respect to such Called Principal, in Federal Reserve Statistical Release H.15 (519)
(or any comparable successor publication) for actively traded U.S. Treasury securities having a constant maturity equal to the Remaining
Average Life of such Called Principal as of such Settlement Date. Such implied yield will be determined, if necessary, by (a) converting U.S.
Treasury bill quotations to bond-equivalent yields in accordance with accepted financial practice and (b) interpolating linearly on a straight line
basis between (1) the actively traded U.S. Treasury security with the maturity closest to and greater than the Remaining Average Life and (2)
the actively traded U.S. Treasury security with the maturity closest to and less than the Remaining Average Life.
"Remaining Average Life" means, with respect to any Called Principal, the number of years (calculated to the nearest one-twelfth year)
obtained by dividing (i) such Called Principal into (ii) the sum of the products obtained by multiplying (a) the principal component of each
Remaining Scheduled Payment with respect to such Called Principal by (b) the number of years (calculated to the nearest one-twelfth year) that
will elapse
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between the Settlement Date with respect to such Called Principal and the scheduled due date of such Remaining Scheduled Payment.
"Remaining Scheduled Payments" means, with respect to the Called Principal of a Series 2003-A Note, all payments of such Called Principal
and interest thereon that would be due after the Settlement Date with respect to such Called Principal if no payment of such Called Principal
were made prior to its scheduled due date, provided that if such Settlement Date is not a date on which interest payments are due to be made
under the terms of the Series 2003-A Note, then the amount of the next succeeding scheduled interest payment will be reduced by the amount
of interest accrued to such Settlement Date and required to be paid on such Settlement Date pursuant to Section 8.2 or 12.1.
"Settlement Date" means, with respect to the Called Principal of a Series 2003-A Note, the date on which such Called Principal is to be prepaid
pursuant to Section 8.2 or has become or is declared to be immediately due and payable pursuant to Section 12.1, as the context requires.
SECTION 9. AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS.
The Company covenants that so long as any of the Notes are outstanding:
Section 9.1. Compliance with Law. The Company will, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to, comply with all laws, ordinances or
governmental rules or regulations to which each of them is subject, including, without limitation, Environmental Laws, and will obtain and
maintain in effect all licenses, certificates, permits, franchises and other governmental authorizations necessary to the ownership of their
respective properties or to the conduct of their respective businesses, in each case to the extent necessary to ensure that non-compliance with
such laws, ordinances or governmental rules or regulations or failures to obtain or maintain in effect such licenses, certificates, permits,
franchises and other governmental authorizations could not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material
Adverse Effect.
Section 9.2. Insurance. The Company will, and will cause each of its Restricted Subsidiaries to, maintain, with financially sound and reputable
insurers, insurance with respect to their respective properties and businesses against such casualties and contingencies, of such types, on such
terms and in such amounts (including deductibles, co-insurance and self-insurance, if adequate reserves are maintained with respect thereto) as
is customary in the case of entities of established reputations engaged in the same or a similar business and similarly situated.
Section 9.3. Maintenance of Properties. The Company will, and will cause each of its Restricted Subsidiaries to, maintain and keep, or cause to
be maintained and kept, their respective properties in good repair, working order and condition (other than ordinary wear and tear), so that the
business carried on in connection therewith may be properly conducted at all times, provided that this Section shall not prevent the Company or
any Restricted Subsidiary from discontinuing the operation and the maintenance of any of its properties if such
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discontinuance is desirable in the conduct of its business and the Company has concluded that such discontinuance could not, individually or in
the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
Section 9.4. Payment of Taxes and Claims. The Company will, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to, file all tax returns required to be filed
in any jurisdiction and to pay and discharge all taxes shown to be due and payable on such returns and all other taxes, assessments,
governmental charges, or levies imposed on them or any of their properties, assets, income or franchises, to the extent such taxes and
assessments have become due and payable and before they have become delinquent and all claims for which sums have become due and
payable that have or might become a Lien on properties or assets of the Company or any Subsidiary not permitted by Section 10.4, provided
that neither the Company nor any Subsidiary need pay any such tax or assessment or claims if (i) the amount, applicability or validity thereof is
contested by the Company or such Subsidiary on a timely basis in good faith and in appropriate proceedings, and the Company or a Subsidiary
has established adequate reserves therefor in accordance with, and where required by, GAAP on the books of the Company or such Subsidiary
or (ii) the non-filing or nonpayment, as the case may be, of all such taxes and assessments in the aggregate could not reasonably be expected to
have a Material Adverse Effect.
Section 9.5. Corporate Existence, Etc. Subject to Sections 10.5 and 10.6, the Company will at all times preserve and keep in full force and
effect its corporate existence, and will at all times preserve and keep in full force and effect the corporate existence of each of its Restricted
Subsidiaries (unless merged into the Company or a Wholly-Owned Restricted Subsidiary) and all rights and franchises of the Company and its
Restricted Subsidiaries unless, in the good faith judgment of the Company, the termination of or failure to preserve and keep in full force and
effect such corporate existence, right or franchise could not, individually or in the aggregate, to have a Material Adverse Effect.
Section 9.6. Additional Subsidiary Guarantors. The Company will cause any Subsidiary (other than a Foreign Subsidiary which is a borrower
under the Bank Credit Agreement) which is required by the terms of the Bank Credit Agreement to become a party to, or otherwise guarantee,
Debt in respect of the Bank Credit Agreement, to enter into the Subsidiary Guaranty and deliver to each of the holders of the Notes
(concurrently with the incurrence of any such obligation pursuant to the Bank Credit Agreement) the following items:
(a) a joinder agreement in respect of the Subsidiary Guaranty;
(b) a certificate signed on behalf of the Company by the President, a Vice President or another authorized Responsible Officer of the Company
by which the Company makes representations and warranties to the effect of those contained in Sections 5.4, 5.6 and 5.7, with respect to such
Subsidiary and the Subsidiary Guaranty, as applicable; and
(c) an opinion of counsel (who may be in-house counsel for the Company) addressed to each of the holders of the Notes satisfactory to the
Required Holders, to the effect that the Subsidiary Guaranty by such Person has been duly authorized, executed
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and delivered and that the Subsidiary Guaranty constitutes the legal, valid and binding contract and agreement of such Person enforceable in
accordance with its terms, except as an enforcement of such terms may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent conveyance and
similar laws affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights generally and by general equitable principles.
Section 9.7. Designation of Subsidiaries. The Company may from time to time cause any Subsidiary (other than a Subsidiary Guarantor) to be
designated as an Unrestricted Subsidiary or any Unrestricted Subsidiary to be designated a Restricted Subsidiary; provided, however, that at the
time of such designation and immediately after giving effect thereto, (a) no Default or Event of Default would exist under the terms of this
Agreement, and (b) the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries would be in compliance with all of the covenants set forth in this Section 9
and Section 10 if tested on the date of such action and provided, further, that once a Subsidiary has been designated an Unrestricted Subsidiary,
it shall not thereafter be redesignated as a Restricted Subsidiary on more than one occasion. Within ten (10) days following any designation
described above, the Company will deliver to you a notice of such designation accompanied by a certificate signed by a Senior Financial
Officer of the Company certifying compliance with all requirements of this Section 9.7 and setting forth all information required in order to
establish such compliance.
SECTION 10. NEGATIVE COVENANTS.
The Company covenants that so long as any of the Notes are outstanding:
Section 10.1. Consolidated Adjusted Net Worth. The Company will not, at any time, permit Consolidated Adjusted Net Worth to be less than
the sum of (i) $224,696,119 plus (ii) 50% of Consolidated Net Income (if positive) on a cumulative basis for each fiscal quarter ending after
September 30, 2003.
Section 10.2. Limitation on Debt. The Company will not permit:
(a) the Consolidated Leverage Ratio to exceed (i) 4.0 to 1.0 on or prior to March 31, 2004; (ii) 3.75 to 1.0 after March 31, 2004 and on or prior
to September 30, 2004; and (iii) 3.5 to 1.0 after September 30, 2004; and
(b) Priority Debt of Restricted Subsidiaries to exceed 15% of Consolidated Adjusted Net Worth.
Compliance with this Section 10.2 shall be determined as of the last day of each fiscal quarter and on each day on which the Company or any
Subsidiary incurs Debt (other than revolving credit Debt under the Bank Credit Agreement); provided that in the case of any such incurrence,
compliance shall be determined as of the last day of the fiscal quarter immediately preceding such incurrence but after giving effect to the Debt
then proposed to be incurred and the application of the proceeds thereof.
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Section 10.3. Consolidated Interest Coverage Ratio. The Company will not permit the Consolidated Interest Coverage Ratio to be less than
2.25 to 1.0 determined as of the end of the most recently ended fiscal quarter.
Section 10.4. Limitation on Liens. The Company will not, and will not permit any of its Restricted Subsidiaries to, directly or indirectly create,
incur, assume or permit to exist (upon the happening of a contingency or otherwise) any Lien on or with respect to any property or asset
(including, without limitation, any document or instrument in respect of goods or accounts receivable) of the Company or any such Restricted
Subsidiary, whether now owned or held or hereafter acquired, or any income or profits therefrom, or assign or otherwise convey any right to
receive income or profits, except:
(a) Liens for taxes, assessments or other governmental charges that are not yet due and payable or the payment of which is not at the time
required by Section 9.4;
(b) any attachment or judgment Lien, unless the judgment it secures shall not, within 60 days after the entry thereof, have been discharged or
execution thereof stayed pending appeal, or shall not have been discharged within 60 days after the expiration of any such stay;
(c) Liens incidental to the conduct of business or the ownership of properties and assets (including landlords', carriers', warehousemen's,
mechanics', materialmen's and other similar Liens for sums not yet due and payable) and Liens to secure the performance of bids, tenders,
leases, or trade contracts, or to secure statutory obligations (including obligations under workers compensation, unemployment insurance and
other social security legislation), surety or appeal bonds or other Liens incurred in the ordinary course of business and not in connection with
the borrowing of money;
(d) leases or subleases granted to others, easements, rights-of-way, restrictions and other similar charges or encumbrances, in each case
incidental to the ownership of property or assets or the ordinary conduct of the business of the Company or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries,
provided that such Liens do not, in the aggregate, materially detract from the value of such property;
(e) Liens securing Debt of a Restricted Subsidiary to the Company or to a Wholly-Owned Restricted Subsidiary;
(f) Liens existing as of the date of Closing and reflected in Schedule 10.4;
(g) Liens incurred after the date of Closing given to secure the payment of the purchase price incurred in connection with the acquisition,
construction or improvement of property (other than accounts receivable or inventory) useful and intended to be used in carrying on the
business of the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary, including Liens existing on such property at the time of acquisition or construction
thereof, provided that (i) the Lien shall attach solely to the property acquired, purchased, constructed or improved; (ii) at the time of
acquisition, construction or improvement of such property,
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the aggregate amount remaining unpaid on all Debt secured by Liens on such property, whether or not assumed by the Company or a Restricted
Subsidiary, shall not exceed the lesser of (y) the cost of such acquisition, construction or improvement or (z) the Fair Market Value of such
property (as determined in good faith by one or more officers of the Company to whom authority to enter into the transaction has been
delegated); and (iii) at the time of such incurrence and after giving effect thereto, no Default or Event of Default would exist;
(h) any Lien existing on property of a Person immediately prior to its being consolidated with or merged into the Company or a Restricted
Subsidiary or its becoming a Restricted Subsidiary, or any Lien existing on any property acquired by the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary
at the time such property is so acquired (whether or not the Debt secured thereby shall have been assumed), provided that (i) no such Lien shall
have been created or assumed in contemplation of such consolidation or merger or such Person's becoming a Restricted Subsidiary or such
acquisition of property, (ii) each such Lien shall extend solely to the item or items of property so acquired and, if required by the terms of the
instrument originally creating such Lien, other property which is an improvement to or is acquired for specific use in connection with such
acquired property, and (iii) at the time of such incurrence and after giving effect thereto, no Default or Event of Default would exist;
(i) Liens granted by the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries in connection with Permitted Securitization Transactions; provided that (i)
such Liens shall extend solely to the Receivables transferred or sold and (ii) the obligations secured by such Liens do not constitute Debt of the
Company or any Restricted Subsidiary other than a Receivables Subsidiary;
(j) any extensions, renewals or replacements of any Lien permitted by the preceding subparagraphs (f), (g) and (h) of this
Section 10.4, provided that (i) no additional property shall be encumbered by such Liens, (ii) the unpaid principal amount of the Debt or other
obligations secured thereby shall not be increased on or after the date of any extension, renewal or replacement, and (iii) at such time and
immediately after giving effect thereto, no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing;
(k) in addition to Liens permitted by the preceding subparagraphs (a) through (j), inclusive, of this Section 10.4, Liens securing Senior Debt of
the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries; provided that the Company shall make effective provision pursuant to an intercreditor agreement
and other security documents (which documents shall be in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Required Holders) pursuant to
which the Notes shall be equally and ratably secured with such Senior Debt; provided further that any pledge of additional shares of Subsidiary
stock pursuant to the Pledge Agreement or any pledge agreement substantially similar to the Pledge Agreement and which is subject to the
terms of the Intercreditor Agreement shall not require the approval of the Required Holders; and
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(l) Liens securing Priority Debt of the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary, provided that the aggregate principal amount of Priority Debt
shall not exceed 20% of Consolidated Adjusted Net Worth and any such Priority Debt, shall be permitted by Section 10.2.
Section 10.5. Sales of Assets. The Company will not, and will not permit any Restricted Subsidiary to, sell, lease or otherwise dispose of any
substantial part (as defined below) of the assets of the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries (including without limitation the sale or transfer
of assets in a sale and leaseback transaction or a securitization transaction or a sale of equity interest in any Subsidiary); provided, however,
that the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary may sell, lease or otherwise dispose of assets constituting a substantial part of the assets of the
Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries if such assets are sold in an arms length transaction and, at such time and after giving effect thereto,
no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing and an amount equal to the Net Proceeds received from such sale, lease or
other disposition shall be used within 365 days of such sale, lease or disposition, in any combination:
(1) to acquire productive assets used or useful in carrying on the business of the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries and having a value at
least equal to the value of such assets sold, leased or otherwise disposed of; or
(2) to prepay or retire Senior Debt of the Company and/or its Restricted Subsidiaries, provided that (i) the Company shall offer to prepay each
outstanding Note in a principal amount which equals the Ratable Portion for such Note, and (ii) any such prepayment of the Notes shall be
made at par, together with accrued interest thereon to the date of such prepayment, but without the payment of the Make-Whole Amount. Any
offer of prepayment of the Notes pursuant to this Section 10.5 shall be given to each holder of the Notes by written notice which shall be
delivered not less than 30 days and not more than 60 days prior to the proposed prepayment date. Each such notice shall state that it is given
pursuant to this Section and that the offer set forth in such notice must be accepted by such holder in writing and shall also set forth (i) the
prepayment date, (ii) a description of the circumstances which give rise to the proposed prepayment and (iii) a calculation of the Ratable
Portion for such holder's Notes. Each holder of the Notes which desires to have its Notes prepaid shall notify the Company in writing delivered
not less than 5 Business Days prior to the proposed prepayment date of its acceptance of such offer of prepayment. Prepayment of Notes
pursuant to this Section 10.5 shall be made in accordance with Section 8.2 and Section 8.4 of the Note Agreement.
As used in this Section 10.5, a sale, lease or other disposition of assets shall be deemed to be a "substantial part" of the assets of the Company
and its Restricted Subsidiaries if the book value of such assets, when added to the book value of all other assets sold, leased or otherwise
disposed of by the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries during the period of 12 consecutive months ending on the date of such sale, lease or
other disposition, exceeds 10% of the book value of Consolidated Total Assets, determined as of the end of the fiscal quarter immediately
preceding such sale, lease or other disposition; provided that there shall be excluded from any
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determination of a "substantial part" any (i) sale or disposition of assets in the ordinary course of business of the Company and its Restricted
Subsidiaries,
(ii) any transfer of assets from the Company to any Wholly-Owned Restricted Subsidiary or from any Restricted Subsidiary to the Company or
a Wholly-Owned Restricted Subsidiary, and (iii) any sale or other disposition of Receivables in a Permitted Securitization Transaction.
Section 10.6. Merger, Consolidation. The Company will not, and will not permit any of its Restricted Subsidiaries to, consolidate with or merge
with any other corporation or convey, transfer or lease substantially all of its assets in a single transaction or series of transactions to any
Person; provided that:
(1) a Restricted Subsidiary of the Company may (x) consolidate with or merge with, or convey, transfer or lease substantially all of its assets in
a single transaction or series of transactions to, the Company or a Wholly-Owned Restricted Subsidiary so long as in any merger or
consolidation involving the Company, the Company shall be the surviving or continuing corporation, or (y) convey, transfer or lease all of its
assets in compliance with the provisions of Section 10.5; and
(2) the foregoing restriction does not apply to the consolidation or merger of the Company with, or the conveyance, transfer or lease of
substantially all of the assets of the Company in a single transaction or series of transactions to, any Person so long as:
(a) the successor formed by such consolidation or the survivor of such merger or the Person that acquires by conveyance, transfer or lease
substantially all of the assets of the Company as an entirety, as the case may be (the "Successor Corporation"), shall be a solvent corporation
organized and existing under the laws of the United States of America, any State thereof or the District of Columbia;
(b) if the Company is not the Successor Corporation, such Successor Corporation shall have executed and delivered to each holder of Notes its
assumption of the due and punctual performance and observance of each covenant and condition of this Agreement and the Notes (pursuant to
such agreements and instruments as shall be reasonably satisfactory to the Required Holders), and the Company shall have caused to be
delivered to each holder of Notes (A) an opinion of nationally recognized independent counsel, to the effect that all agreements or instruments
effecting such assumption are enforceable in accordance with their terms and (B) an acknowledgment from each Subsidiary Guarantor that the
Subsidiary Guaranty continues in full force and effect; and
(c) immediately after giving effect to such transaction no Default or Event of Default would exist.
Section 10.7. Nature of Business. The Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries will not engage in any business, if, as a result, when taken as a
whole, the general
E-1-28

nature of the business of the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries would be substantially changed from the general nature of the business
conducted by the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries on the date of this Agreement as described in the Memorandum.
Section 10.8. Transactions with Affiliates. The Company will not and will not permit any Restricted Subsidiary to enter into directly or
indirectly any Material transaction or Material group of related transactions (including without limitation the purchase, lease, sale or exchange
of properties of any kind or the rendering of any service) with any Affiliate (other than the Company or another Restricted Subsidiary), except
upon fair and reasonable terms no less favorable to the Company or such Restricted Subsidiary than would be obtainable in a comparable
arm's-length transaction with a Person not an Affiliate.
SECTION 11. EVENTS OF DEFAULT.
An "Event of Default" shall exist if any of the following conditions or events shall occur and be continuing:
(a) the Company defaults in the payment of any principal or Make-Whole Amount, if any, on any Note when the same becomes due and
payable, whether at maturity or at a date fixed for prepayment or by declaration or otherwise; or
(b) the Company defaults in the payment of any interest on any Note for more than five Business Days after the same becomes due and
payable; or
(c) the Company defaults in the performance of or compliance with any term contained in Section 10 (other than Section 10.7 and Section 10.8)
or any covenant in a Supplement which specifically provides that it shall have the benefit of this paragraph (c); or
(d) the Company defaults in the performance of or compliance with any term contained herein or in any Supplement (other than those referred
to in paragraphs (a), (b) and (c) of this Section 11) and such default is not remedied within 30 days after the earlier of (i) a Responsible Officer
obtaining actual knowledge of such default and (ii) the Company receiving written notice of such default from any holder of a Note (any such
written notice to be identified as a "notice of default" and to refer specifically to this paragraph (d) of Section 11); or
(e) for any reason any provision of the Subsidiary Guaranty ceases to be in full force and effect, including, without limitation, a determination
by any Governmental Authority that the Subsidiary Guaranty is invalid, void or unenforceable and which, in each case, could reasonably be
expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, or any Subsidiary Guarantor shall contest or deny in writing the enforceability of any its
obligations under the Subsidiary Guaranty; or
(f) any representation or warranty made in writing by or on behalf of the Company or by any officer of the Company in this Agreement, the
Pledge Agreement or any Supplement or in any writing furnished in connection with the transactions
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contemplated hereby or thereby proves to have been false or incorrect in any material respect on the date as of which made; or
(g) (i) the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary is in default (as principal or as guarantor or other surety) in the payment of any principal of or
premium or make-whole amount or interest on any Debt other than the Notes that is outstanding in an aggregate principal amount of at least
$10,000,000 beyond any period of grace provided with respect thereto, or (ii) the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary is in default in the
performance of or compliance with any term of any instrument, mortgage, indenture or other agreement relating to any Debt other than the
Notes in an aggregate principal amount of at least $10,000,000 or any other condition exists, and as a consequence of such default or condition
such Debt has become, or has been declared, due and payable before its stated maturity or before its regularly scheduled dates of payment, or
(iii) as a consequence of the occurrence or continuation of any event or condition (other than the passage of time or the right of the holder of
Debt to convert such Debt into equity interests), the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary has become obligated to purchase or repay Debt
other than the Notes before its regular maturity or before its regularly scheduled dates of payment in an aggregate outstanding principal amount
of at least $10,000,000; or
(h) the Company, any Material Subsidiary or any Subsidiary Guarantor (i) is generally not paying, or admits in writing its inability to pay, its
debts as they become due, (ii) files, or consents by answer or otherwise to the filing against it of, a petition for relief or reorganization or
arrangement or any other petition in bankruptcy, for liquidation or to take advantage of any bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium
or other similar law of any jurisdiction, (iii) makes an assignment for the benefit of its creditors, (iv) consents to the appointment of a
custodian, receiver, trustee or other officer with similar powers with respect to it or with respect to any substantial part of its property, (v) is
adjudicated as insolvent or to be liquidated, or (vi) takes corporate action for the purpose of any of the foregoing; or
(i) a court or governmental authority of competent jurisdiction enters an order appointing, without consent by the Company, any of its Material
Subsidiaries or any Subsidiary Guarantor, a custodian, receiver, trustee or other officer with similar powers with respect to it or with respect to
any substantial part of its property, or constituting an order for relief or approving a petition for relief or reorganization or any other petition in
bankruptcy or for liquidation or to take advantage of any bankruptcy or insolvency law of any jurisdiction, or ordering the dissolution, windingup or liquidation of the Company, any of its Material Subsidiaries or any Subsidiary Guarantor, or any such petition shall be filed against the
Company, any of its Material Subsidiaries or any Subsidiary Guarantor and such petition shall not be dismissed within 90 days; or
(j) a final judgment or judgments at any one time outstanding for the payment of money aggregating in excess of $5,000,000 are rendered
against one or more of the Company, its Restricted Subsidiaries or any Subsidiary Guarantor and which judgments
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are not, within 90 days after entry thereof, bonded, discharged or stayed pending appeal, or are not discharged within 90 days after the
expiration of such stay; or
(k) if (i) any Plan shall fail to satisfy the minimum funding standards of ERISA or the Code for any plan year or part thereof or a waiver of
such standards or extension of any amortization period is sought or granted under Section 412 of the Code, (ii) a notice of intent to terminate
any Plan shall have been or is reasonably expected to be filed with the PBGC or the PBGC shall have instituted proceedings under Section
4042 of ERISA to terminate or appoint a trustee to administer any Plan or the PBGC shall have notified the Company or any ERISA Affiliate
that a Plan may become a subject of any such proceedings, (iii) the aggregate "amount of unfunded benefit liabilities" (within the meaning of
Section 4001(a)(18) of ERISA) under all Plans, determined in accordance with Title IV of ERISA, shall exceed $5,000,000, (iv) the Company
or any ERISA Affiliate shall have incurred or is reasonably expected to incur any liability pursuant to Title I or IV of ERISA or the penalty or
excise tax provisions of the Code relating to employee benefit plans, (v) the Company or any ERISA Affiliate withdraws from any
Multiemployer Plan, or (vi) the Company or any Subsidiary establishes or amends any employee welfare benefit plan that provides postemployment welfare benefits in a manner that could increase the liability of the Company or any Subsidiary thereunder; provided that any such
event or events described in clauses (i) through
(vi) above, either individually or together with any other such event or events, could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
As used in Section 11(j), the terms "employee benefit plan" and "employee welfare benefit plan" shall have the respective meanings assigned to
such terms in Section 3 of ERISA.
SECTION 12. REMEDIES ON DEFAULT, ETC.
Section 12.1. Acceleration. (a) If an Event of Default with respect to the Company described in paragraph (h) or (i) of Section 11 (other than an
Event of Default described in clause (i) of paragraph (h) or described in clause (vi) of paragraph (h) by virtue of the fact that such clause
encompasses clause (i) of paragraph (h)) has occurred, all the Notes of every Series then outstanding shall automatically become immediately
due and payable.
(b) If any other Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, any holder or holders of more than 50% in aggregate principal amount of the
Notes of any Series at the time outstanding may at any time at its or their option, by notice or notices to the Company, declare all the Notes of
such Series then outstanding to be immediately due and payable.
(c) If any Event of Default described in paragraph (a) or (b) of
Section 11 has occurred and is continuing with respect to any Series of Notes, any holder or holders of Notes at the time outstanding affected
by such Event of Default may at any time, at its or their option, by notice or notices to the Company, declare all the Notes of such Series held
by such holder or holders to be immediately due and payable.
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Upon any Note's becoming due and payable under this Section 12.1, whether automatically or by declaration, such Note will forthwith mature
and the entire unpaid principal amount of such Note, plus (i) all accrued and unpaid interest thereon and (ii) the Make-Whole Amount or other
premium determined in respect of such principal amount (to the full extent permitted by applicable law), shall all be immediately due and
payable, in each and every case without presentment, demand, protest or further notice, all of which are hereby waived. The Company
acknowledges, and the parties hereto agree, that each holder of a Note has the right to maintain its investment in the Notes free from repayment
by the Company (except as herein specifically provided for) and that the provision for payment of a Make-Whole Amount or other premium by
the Company in the event that the Notes are prepaid or are accelerated as a result of an Event of Default, is intended to provide compensation
for the deprivation of such right under such circumstances.
Section 12.2. Other Remedies. If any Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, and irrespective of whether any Notes have
become or have been declared immediately due and payable under Section 12.1, the holder of any Note at the time outstanding may proceed to
protect and enforce the rights of such holder by an action at law, suit in equity or other appropriate proceeding, whether for the specific
performance of any agreement contained herein or in any Note, or for an injunction against a violation of any of the terms hereof or thereof, or
in aid of the exercise of any power granted hereby or thereby or by law or otherwise.
Section 12.3. Rescission. At any time after any Notes of any Series have been declared due and payable pursuant to clause (b) or (c) of Section
12.1, the holders of not less than 51% in aggregate principal amount of the Notes of the affected Series then outstanding, by written notice to
the Company, may rescind and annul any such declaration and its consequences if (a) the Company has paid all overdue interest on the Notes
of the affected Series, all principal of and Make-Whole Amount or premium, if any, on any Notes of the affected Series that are due and
payable and are unpaid other than by reason of such declaration, and all interest on such overdue principal and Make-Whole Amount or
premium, if any, and (to the extent permitted by applicable law) any overdue interest in respect of the Notes of the affected Series, at the
Default Rate, (b) all Events of Default and Defaults, other than non-payment of amounts that have become due solely by reason of such
declaration, have been cured or have been waived pursuant to Section 17, and (c) no judgment or decree has been entered for the payment of
any monies due pursuant hereto or to any Notes. No rescission and annulment under this Section 12.3 will extend to or affect any subsequent
Event of Default or Default or impair any right consequent thereon.
Section 12.4. No Waivers or Election of Remedies, Expenses, Etc. No course of dealing and no delay on the part of any holder of any Note in
exercising any right, power or remedy shall operate as a waiver thereof or otherwise prejudice such holder's rights, powers or remedies. No
right, power or remedy conferred by this Agreement or by any Note upon any holder thereof shall be exclusive of any other right, power or
remedy referred to herein or therein or now or hereafter available at law, in equity, by statute or otherwise. Without limiting the obligations of
the Company under Section 15, the Company will pay to the holder of each Note on demand such further amount as shall be sufficient to cover
all costs and expenses of such holder incurred
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in any enforcement or collection under this Section 12, including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys' fees, expenses and disbursements.
SECTION 13. REGISTRATION; EXCHANGE; SUBSTITUTION OF NOTES.
Section 13.1. Registration of Notes. The Company shall keep at its principal executive office a register for the registration and registration of
transfers of Notes. The name and address of each holder of one or more Notes, each transfer thereof and the name and address of each
transferee of one or more Notes shall be registered in such register. Prior to due presentment for registration of transfer, the Person in whose
name any Note shall be registered shall be deemed and treated as the owner and holder thereof for all purposes hereof, and the Company shall
not be affected by any notice or knowledge to the contrary. The Company shall give to any holder of a Note that is an Institutional Investor
promptly upon request therefor, a complete and correct copy of the names and addresses of all registered holders of Notes.
Section 13.2. Transfer and Exchange of Notes. Upon surrender of any Note at the principal executive office of the Company for registration of
transfer or exchange (and in the case of a surrender for registration of transfer, duly endorsed or accompanied by a written instrument of
transfer duly executed by the registered holder of such Note or its attorney duly authorized in writing and accompanied by the address for
notices of each transferee of such Note or part thereof), the Company shall execute and deliver not more than 5 Business Days following
surrender of such Note, at the Company's expense (except as provided below), one or more new Notes (as requested by the holder thereof) of
the same Series (and of the same tranche if such Series has separate tranches) in exchange therefor, in an aggregate principal amount equal to
the unpaid principal amount of the surrendered Note. Each such new Note shall be payable to such Person as such holder may request and shall
be substantially in the form of the Note of such Series originally issued hereunder or pursuant to any Supplement. Each such new Note shall be
dated and bear interest from the date to which interest shall have been paid on the surrendered Note or dated the date of the surrendered Note if
no interest shall have been paid thereon. The Company may require payment of a sum sufficient to cover any stamp tax or governmental charge
imposed in respect of any such transfer of Notes. Notes shall not be transferred in denominations of less than $100,000, provided that if
necessary to enable the registration of transfer by a holder of its entire holding of Notes, one Note may be in a denomination of less than
$100,000. Any transferee, by its acceptance of a Note registered in its name (or the name of its nominee), shall be deemed to have made the
representation set forth in
Section 6.2, provided that such holder may (in reliance upon information provided by the Company, which shall not be unreasonably withheld)
make a representation to the effect that the purchase by such holder of any Note will not constitute a non-exempt prohibited transaction under
Section 406(a) of ERISA.
The Notes have not been registered under the Securities Act or under the securities laws of any state and may not be transferred or resold unless
registered under the Securities Act and all applicable state securities laws or unless an exemption from the requirement for such registration is
available.
Section 13.3. Replacement of Notes. Upon receipt by the Company of evidence reasonably satisfactory to it of the ownership of and the loss,
theft, destruction or mutilation of
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any Note (which evidence shall be, in the case of an Institutional Investor, notice from such Institutional Investor of such ownership and such
loss, theft, destruction or mutilation), and
(a) in the case of loss, theft or destruction, of indemnity reasonably satisfactory to it (provided that if the holder of such Note is, or is a nominee
for, an original Purchaser or another holder of a Note with a minimum net worth of at least $50,000,000, such Person's own unsecured
agreement of indemnity shall be deemed to be satisfactory), or
(b) in the case of mutilation, upon surrender and cancellation thereof,
the Company at its own expense shall execute and deliver not more than five Business Days following satisfaction of such conditions, in lieu
thereof, a new Note of the same Series (and of the same tranche if such Series has separate tranches), dated and bearing interest from the date to
which interest shall have been paid on such lost, stolen, destroyed or mutilated Note or dated the date of such lost, stolen, destroyed or
mutilated Note if no interest shall have been paid thereon.
SECTION 14. PAYMENTS ON NOTES.
Section 14.1. Place of Payment. Subject to Section 14.2, payments of principal, Make-Whole Amount or premium, if any, and interest
becoming due and payable on the Notes shall be made in New York, New York at the principal office of Bank One, N.A. in such jurisdiction.
The Company may at any time, by notice to each holder of a Note, change the place of payment of the Notes so long as such place of payment
shall be either the principal office of the Company in such jurisdiction or the principal office of a bank or trust company in such jurisdiction.
Section 14.2. Home Office Payment. So long as any Purchaser or Additional Purchaser or such Purchaser's nominee or such Additional
Purchaser's nominee shall be the holder of any Note, and notwithstanding anything contained in Section 14.1 or in such Note to the contrary,
the Company will pay all sums becoming due on such Note for principal, Make-Whole Amount or premium, if any, and interest by the method
and at the address specified for such purpose for such Purchaser on Schedule A hereto or, in the case of any Additional Purchaser, Schedule A
attached to any Supplement pursuant to which such Additional Purchaser is a party, or by such other method or at such other address as such
Purchaser or Additional Purchaser shall have from time to time specified to the Company in writing for such purpose, without the presentation
or surrender of such Note or the making of any notation thereon, except that upon written request of the Company made concurrently with or
reasonably promptly after payment or prepayment in full of any Note, such Purchaser or Additional Purchaser shall surrender such Note for
cancellation, reasonably promptly after any such request, to the Company at its principal executive office or at the place of payment most
recently designated by the Company pursuant to Section
14.1. Prior to any sale or other disposition of any Note held by any Purchaser or Additional Purchaser or such Person's nominee, such Person
will, at its election, either endorse thereon the amount of principal paid thereon and the last date to which interest has been paid thereon or
surrender such Note to the Company in exchange for a new Note or Notes pursuant to
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Section 13.2. The Company will afford the benefits of this Section 14.2 to any Institutional Investor that is the direct or indirect transferee of
any Note.
SECTION 15. EXPENSES, ETC.
Section 15.1. Transaction Expenses. Whether or not the transactions contemplated hereby are consummated, the Company will pay all
reasonable costs and expenses (including reasonable attorneys' fees of one special counsel for the Purchasers or any Additional Purchasers and,
if reasonably required, local or other counsel) incurred by each Purchaser and each Additional Purchaser and each other holder of a Note in
connection with such transactions and in connection with any amendments, waivers or consents under or in respect of this Agreement
(including any Supplement) or the Notes (whether or not such amendment, waiver or consent becomes effective), including, without limitation:
(a) the costs and expenses incurred in enforcing or defending (or determining whether or how to enforce or defend) any rights under this
Agreement (including any Supplement) or the Notes or in responding to any subpoena or other legal process or informal investigative demand
by any Governmental Authority issued in connection with this Agreement (including any Supplement) or the Notes, or by reason of being a
holder of any Note, and (b) the costs and expenses, including financial advisors' fees, incurred in connection with the insolvency or bankruptcy
of the Company or any Subsidiary or in connection with any work-out or restructuring of the transactions contemplated hereby and by the
Notes. The Company will pay, and will save each Purchaser, each Additional Purchaser and each other holder of a Note harmless from, all
claims in respect of any reasonable fees, costs or expenses if any, of brokers and finders (other than those retained by the Purchasers).
Section 15.2. Survival. The obligations of the Company under this
Section 15 will survive the payment or transfer of any Note, the enforcement, amendment or waiver of any provision of this Agreement, any
Supplement or the Notes, and the termination of this Agreement or any Supplement.
SECTION 16. SURVIVAL OF REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES; ENTIRE AGREEMENT.
All representations and warranties contained herein or in any Supplement shall survive the execution and delivery of this Agreement, such
Supplement and the Notes, the purchase or transfer by any Purchaser or any Additional Purchaser of any such Note or portion thereof or
interest therein and the payment of any Note may be relied upon by any subsequent holder of any such Note, regardless of any investigation
made at any time by or on behalf of any Purchaser or any Additional Purchaser or any other holder of any such Note. All statements contained
in any certificate or other instrument delivered by or on behalf of the Company pursuant to this Agreement or any Supplement shall be deemed
representations and warranties of the Company under this Agreement; provided, that the representations and warranties contained in any
Supplement shall only be made for the benefit of the Additional Purchasers which are party to such Supplement and the holders of the Notes
issued pursuant to such Supplement, including subsequent holders of any Note issued pursuant to such Supplement, and shall not require the
consent of the holders of existing Notes. Subject to the preceding sentence, this Agreement (including every Supplement) and the Notes
embody the entire agreement and understanding
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between the Purchasers and the Additional Purchasers and the Company and supersede all prior agreements and understandings relating to the
subject matter hereof.
SECTION 17. AMENDMENT AND WAIVER.
Section 17.1. Requirements. (a) This Agreement (including any Supplement) and the Notes may be amended, and the observance of any term
hereof or of the Notes may be waived (either retroactively or prospectively), with (and only with) the written consent of the Company and the
Required Holders, except that (i) no amendment or waiver of any of the provisions of Section 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6 or 21 hereof or the corresponding
provision of any Supplement, or any defined term (as it is used in any such Section or such corresponding provision of any Supplement), will
be effective as to any holder of Notes unless consented to by such holder of Notes in writing, and (ii) no such amendment or waiver may,
without the written consent of all of the holders of Notes at the time outstanding affected thereby, (A) subject to the provisions of Section 12
relating to acceleration or rescission, change the amount or time of any prepayment or payment of principal of, or reduce the rate or change the
time of payment or method of computation of interest or of the Make-Whole Amount or premium on, the Notes, (B) change the percentage of
the principal amount of the Notes the holders of which are required to consent to any such amendment or waiver, or (C) amend any of Sections
8, 11(a), 11(b), 12, 17 or 20.
(b) Supplements. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the Company may enter into any Supplement providing for the
issuance of one or more Series of Additional Notes consistent with Sections 2.2 and 4.14 hereof without obtaining the consent of any holder of
any other Series of Notes.
Section 17.2. Solicitation of Holders of Notes.
(a) Solicitation. The Company will provide each holder of the Notes (irrespective of the amount of Notes then owned by it) with sufficient
information, sufficiently far in advance of the date a decision is required, to enable such holder to make an informed and considered decision
with respect to any proposed amendment, waiver or consent in respect of any of the provisions hereof, any Supplement or of the Notes. The
Company will deliver executed or true and correct copies of each amendment, waiver or consent effected pursuant to the provisions of this
Section 17 to each holder of outstanding Notes promptly following the date on which it is executed and delivered by, or receives the consent or
approval of, the requisite holders of Notes.
(b) Payment. The Company will not directly or indirectly pay or cause to be paid any remuneration, whether by way of supplemental or
additional interest, fee or otherwise, or grant any security, to any holder of Notes as consideration for or as an inducement to the entering into
by such holder of Notes of any waiver or amendment of any of the terms and provisions hereof or any Supplement unless such remuneration is
concurrently paid, or security is concurrently granted, on the same terms, ratably to each holder of Notes then outstanding even if such holder
did not consent to such waiver or amendment.
Section 17.3. Binding Effect, Etc. Any amendment or waiver consented to as provided in this Section 17 applies equally to all holders of Notes
and is binding upon them and upon each
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future holder of any Note and upon the Company without regard to whether such Note has been marked to indicate such amendment or waiver.
No such amendment or waiver will extend to or affect any obligation, covenant, agreement, Default or Event of Default not expressly amended
or waived or impair any right consequent thereon. No course of dealing between the Company and the holder of any Note nor any delay in
exercising any rights hereunder or under any Note shall operate as a waiver of any rights of any holder of such Note. As used herein, the term
"this Agreement" and references thereto shall mean this Agreement as it may from time to time be amended or supplemented.
Section 17.4. Notes Held by Company, Etc. Solely for the purpose of determining whether the holders of the requisite percentage of the
aggregate principal amount of Notes then outstanding approved or consented to any amendment, waiver or consent to be given under this
Agreement or the Notes, or have directed the taking of any action provided herein or in the Notes to be taken upon the direction of the holders
of a specified percentage of the aggregate principal amount of Notes then outstanding, Notes directly or indirectly owned by the Company or
any of its Affiliates shall be deemed not to be outstanding.
SECTION 18. NOTICES.
All notices and communications provided for hereunder shall be in writing and sent (a) by telefacsimile if the sender on the same day sends a
confirming copy of such notice by a recognized overnight delivery service (charges prepaid), or (b) by a recognized overnight delivery service
(with charges prepaid). Any such notice must be sent:
(i) if to a Purchaser or such Purchaser's nominee, to such Purchaser or such Purchaser's nominee at the address specified for such
communications in Schedule A to this Agreement, or at such other address as such Purchaser or such Purchaser's nominee shall have specified
to the Company in writing pursuant to this Section 18;
(ii) if to an Additional Purchaser or such Additional Purchaser's nominee, to such Additional Purchaser or such Additional Purchaser's nominee
at the address specified for such communications in Schedule A to any Supplement, or at such other address as such Additional Purchaser or
such Additional Purchaser's nominee shall have specified to the Company in writing,
(iii) if to any other holder of any Note, to such holder at such address as such other holder shall have specified to the Company in writing
pursuant to this Section 18, or
(iv) if to the Company, to the Company at its address set forth at the beginning hereof to the attention of Chief Financial Officer, with a copy to
the General Counsel, or at such other address as the Company shall have specified to the holder of each Note in writing.
Notices under this Section 18 will be deemed given only when actually received.
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EXHIBIT 21
Myers Industries, Inc.
Direct and Indirect Subsidiaries
As of March 15, 2004
NORTH AND CENTRAL AMERICAN OPERATIONS
ATP Automotive, Inc.
- Michigan Rubber Products, Inc.
- WEK Automotive, Inc.
Ameri-Kart Corp.
Ameri-Kart (MI) Corp.
Buckhorn Inc.
- Buckhorn Limited
- Buckhorn Canada, Inc.
- Buckhorn of California, Inc.
- Buckhorn Rubber Products Inc.
Dillen Products, Inc.
Eastern Tire Equipment & Supplies, Limited
Grower Express Trucking, Inc.
JMKO Corp.
- AC Buckhorn LLC (50%)
Listo Products, Ltd.
MYEcap Financial Corp.
MYELux, LLC
- MYELux International Finance, S.e.c.s. (GP 98.67%)
MYELux International Finance, S.e.c.s. (LP 1.33%)
Myers Industries International, Inc.
- Myers de El Salvador S.A. De C.V.(75%)
-- Orientadores Comerciales S.A.
-- Myers de Panama S.A.
-- Myers TSCA, S.A.
Myers de El Salvador S.A. De C.V. (25%)
Myers Missouri, Inc.
- AC Buckhorn LLC (50%)
Myer's Tire Supply (Canada) Limited
Myers Tire Supply Distribution, Inc.
Patch Rubber Company
- Kwik Patch Private Ltd. (30.98%)

Delaware
Michigan
Delaware
Kansas
Michigan
Ohio
UK
Ontario, Canada
Ohio
Missouri
Nevada
Quebec, Canada
Ohio
Missouri
Missouri, USA
Yukon Territory
Ohio
Ohio
Luxembourg
Luxembourg
Ohio
El Salvador
Guatemala
Panama
Panama
El Salvador
Missouri
Missouri
Ontario, Canada
Ohio
North Carolina
India

REPORTED OPERATING DIVISIONS OF MYERS INDUSTRIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Akro-Mils (of Myers Industries, Inc.)
Dillen Products (of Myers Industries, Inc.)
Molded Solutions (of Buckhorn Rubber Products Inc.)
Myers Tire Supply (of Myers Industries, Inc.)
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Akron, Ohio
Middlefield, Ohio
Mebane, NC
Akron, Ohio

EXHIBIT 21, continued
MYERS INDUSTRIES, INC.
DIRECT AND INDIRECT SUBSIDIARIES
As of March 15, 2004
EUROPEAN AND DANISH OPERATIONS
MYELux International Finance, S.e.c.s.
- Myers International Holding, S.a.r.l.
-- Allibert-Buckhorn Europe, SAS
--- Allikhorn, SAS
--- Atelier de Transformation des Matieres Plastiques, SA.
--- SCI de la Plaine
--- Holdiplast SA
--- Allibert Equipement, SAS
---- Allibert Anshan Cuves SARL (10%)
---- Allibert Contenitori SpA
---- Allibert Contentores-Sistemas de Armazenagem, S.A.
---- Allibert Buckhorn UK Limited
----- Allibert Manutencion S.A.
---- Allibert Equipement Sprl
---- Allibert Transport und Lagertechnik GmbH
--- Allibert Transport und Lagertechnik Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH
--- Allibert Transport und Lagertechnik GmbH & Co Kg

Luxembourg
Luxembourg
France
France
France
France
France
France
China
Italy
Portugal
UK
Spain
Belgium
Austria
Germany
Germany

raaco International A/S
- raaco Benelux B.V.
- raaco France
- raaco Germany
- raaco Great Britain
- raaco Sweden

Denmark
Netherlands
France
Germany
UK
Sweden
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EXHIBIT 23(a)
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
We consent to the incorporation by reference of our report dated February 12, 2004, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of
Myers Industries, Inc. included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2003, in the following Registration
Statements and in the related Prospectus:
NUMBER
------------------------333-71852
333-90637
33-47600
33-50286

DESCRIPTION OF REGISTRATION STATEMENT
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Registration Statement (Form S-8) pertaining to the Myers Industries, Inc. 2001 Restricted
Stock Plan
Registration Statement (Form S-8) pertaining to the Myers Industries, Inc. 1999 Incentive Stock
Plan and the Myers Industries, Inc. Amended and Restated Employee Stock Purchase Plan
Registration Statement (Form S-8) pertaining to the Myers Industries, Inc. 1992 Stock Option
Plan
Registration Statement (Form S-3) pertaining to the Myers Industries, Inc. Dividend
Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP
AKRON, OHIO
MARCH 15, 2004

EXHIBIT 23(b)
Statement Regarding Consent of Arthur Andersen LLP
Section 11 (a) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), provides that if part of a registration statement at the time it
becomes effective contains an untrue statement of a material fact, or omits a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the
statements therein not misleading, any person acquiring a security pursuant to such registration statement (unless it is proved that at the time of
such acquisition such person knew of such untruth or omission) may assert a claim against, among others, an accountant who has consented to
be named as having certified any part of the registration statement or as having prepared any report for use in connection with the registration
statement.
On June 13, 2002, the Registrant decided to no longer engage Arthur Andersen LLP ("Arthur Andersen") as its independent public accountants
and appointed Ernst & Young LLP to serve as its independent public accountants for the fiscal year 2002. In 2002, Arthur Andersen ceased
practicing before the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Commission"). As a result, the Registrant has been unable to obtain Arthur
Andersen's written consent to the incorporation by reference into registration statements filed with the Commission by the Registrant of their
audit report with respect to the Registrant's consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2001, included in the Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003.
The absence of such consent may limit recovery by investors on certain claims. In particular, and without limitation, investors may not be able
to assert claims against Arthur Anderson under Section 11(a) of the Securities Act for any untrue statements of a material fact contained in the
financial statements audited by Arthur Andersen or any omissions of a material fact required to be stated therein. Accordingly, investors would
be unable to assert a claim against Arthur Andersen under Section 11(a) of the Securities Act because it has not consented to the incorporation
by reference of its previously issued report into registration statements filed with the Commission by the Registrant.

EXHIBIT 23(c)
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
We consent to the incorporation by reference of our report dated March 15, 2004, with respect to the financial statements of Myers Industries,
Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2003, in the Registration
Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-90637) pertaining to the Myers Industries, Inc. 1999 Incentive Stock Plan and the Myers Industries, Inc.
Amended and Restated Employee Stock Purchase Plan.
ERNST & YOUNG LLP
Akron, Ohio
March 15, 2004

EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION PER SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2003
I, Stephen E. Meyers, Chief Executive Officer of Myers Industries, Inc., certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Myers Industries, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this annual report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;
4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e); and 15d-15(e) for the registrant and we have:
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;
b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrants most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant's other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
controls over financial reporting.
Date: March 15, 2004
---------------------

/s/ Stephen E. Myers
---------------------------------Stephen E. Myers, Chief Executive Officer

EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION PER SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2003
I, Gregory J. Stodnick, Chief Financial Officer of Myers Industries, Inc., certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Myers Industries, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this annual report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;
4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e); and 15d-15(e) for the registrant and we have:
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;
b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrants most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant's other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
controls over financial reporting.
Date: March 15, 2004
---------------------

/s/ Gregory J. Stodnick
---------------------------------Gregory J. Stodnick, Chief Financial Officer

EXHIBIT 32
CERTIFICATIONS
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of Myers Industries, Inc. (the Company) on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2003, as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the Report), I, Stephen E. Myers, Chief Executive Officer of the Company,
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and to my knowledge:
(1) The Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the period ended December 31, 2003 which this certification accompanies fully
complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Stephen E. Myers, Chief Executive Officer Dated: March 15, 2004
In connection with the Annual Report of Myers Industries, Inc. (the Company) on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2003, as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the Report), I, Gregory J. Stodnick, Vice President-Finance (Chief Financial
Officer) of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
and to my knowledge:
(1) The Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the period ended December 31, 2003 which this certification accompanies fully
complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Gregory J. Stodnick, Vice President-Finance Dated: March 15, 2004

